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PARTI.

The works that have boeen chiefly consulted in. the
preparation of this book are: * Hinduism,” Indian
Wisdom,” and # Hindu Epic Postry * by Monier Williams :
" ¢ Baddhism” by Rhys Davids; Islam” by Stobart:

Elphinston’s Talboys, Wheeler’s and Marshman’s Histories
of India: Keane’s “ Mughal Empire”; Grant Duff’s and
Waring’s Histories of the Mahrattas. .
' : . D. 8.
January 1881, -

.PART IL

The works that have been chiefly consultéd in the
preparation of this book aere: Talboys, Wheeler’s and
Marshman’s Histories of India ; Grant Duif’s and Waring's
Histories of the Mahrattas ; Ma.lcolms “ Central Indm »
and “ History of the Sikhs” ; Murray's ¢ History of India’
Kay's “Sepoy War” and Malison’s  History of the Indian
Mautiny.”

D.S.
June 1881.



coumm&}k

Early Hindu Perlod— ’ i faga
Introduction .. e e - w1
Chapter L En.rly Vedic Times ... . B

» II. The Brahmanas and the Upamshads w 6
. III. Laws of Manu s o e . 9
»e* IV. The Ramayana e ® s w11
" V. The Mahabharata ...~ w 13
» VI. Scythian, Persian and Greek Invaewns w16
» VII. The Indo-Scythiane-~The Guptas w 18
”» 'VIIL. Buddha and Buddhism ... we 20
» IX. Progressof Buddlnsm,—'l‘he kmgdom of
Magadha .. e s e 23
" X. Deoline of Bnddhxsm e e 26
" XI. Revival of Brahmanism—The Jains w 27
» XII. Early Hindu Kingdoms ... i . 28
»  XLII. Early History of the Dakhan . 30
Early Muhammadan Period—
Chapter » I Rise of the Muhammadan Power e 82
» 41 IL The House of Ghazni . e . 34
w ;74 TIL. The Houee of Ghori ... e an . 38
» IV. The Slave Kings ... ves o 4l
» ¢ _V- The House of Khilji... " - . 43
» VI. The Taghlak Dynasty . o . 47
,, VII. The 8ayyid and Lodi ies . . 50
»w VIIL Eistory of the Dakhan ... . . 02
The Portuguese In India we e o we 56
The Mughgl Perlod—
Chapter L. Rise of the Mughal Empire w 61
" II. Afghan Power restored—Sur Dynnsty . 64
» III. Akbar wes e [y (L1 we 65
» IV. Jahangir ... w 69
" V. Sbah Jahan - . w 78
”» VI, Aurangzeb ... we 76
» VIL. Decline and fall of the Mnglml Empu's w81
» VII. History of the Rajputa ... s w 85
\

The History of the Mahrattas—

Chapter I. Sivaji «. . ™ ™ w 89
" II. From the death of Slvap to the tlnrd
battle of Panipat . e 95



vi CONTENTS,
“The History of the Mahrattas—(Oontinued.) Pag
Chapter III. From the third battle of Panipat to the
treaty of Salbai ... o 10
» IV. From the treaty of Salbai ﬁo the tree.ty
of Basin ... . s . ee s 10
s V. The Second Mahratia War ... . o 11
» V1. The Third Mahratta War ... e 11
British India— ‘ .
Chapter I, Early English Voyages ... . 12
II. The English in Madras o 12
» III. Tbhe Enghsh triamphant in the Ka.mnt.lc.-. 12
» IV, Affairs in the Karnatic - s e 13
» 'V. Decline of the FrenchPower in the Karnatic 13
» VI. The English in Bengal .. 13
» VII. Mir Kasim e . . 14
»  VIIL, Clive’s Second Admmlstrahon . 14
”» 1X, Haidar Ali—The First Maisar War,.. we 18
» X. Bengal: Warren Hastings ... e e 15
XI. The Second Maisur War ... e 15

The Governors-General of British India—
Chapter XII.
T XI

Warren Hastings ... . 16
Lord Cornwallis—The Third Ma.lsur War-.. 16
The Permanent Revenne Settiement e 17
Sir Jobn Shore e 17

. The Marquis of We;llesley—The Fourth

Maisur War 4 ) .17

‘Lord Cornwallis—Sir George Barlow .. 18

Lord Minto [Ty (1) o "e e 18
The Mavquis of Hastingg8 e " w 18
The Marquis of Hastings—The Pindari
War ... Ve e aes w 19
Overthrow of the Peshwas ve e . 19
Lord Amherst —The first Burmese War ... 20
Lord William Bentinck-Social Reforms ... 20
Lord Auckland—The first Afghan War ... 20
Lord Ellenborough—The second Afghsn

War ... ew e o 21
Lord Hardinge—The first Sikh War .21
Lord Dallmugie—The gecond Sikh War ... 22
Material Progress ... - v e 22

Lord Canning--The Sepoy Mutmy we 22
Eventa subsequent; to the Mnhny ~Imperial
Rule ... e e o 23




HISTORY OF INDIA.

—o0iJ00—
INTRODUCTION.
Ancient pame, Pregent population.
Earliest inhabitants, - ‘Languages.
The Aryans. Sanskrit,

- .

1. Ancient name.—The name genérally given by early
Hindn writers to India is Bharata-Varsha, * the land of
Bharata.”” This Bharata is said to have been a celebrated
king, who reigned over a vast extent of territory in
ancient days. . ‘

2. The Aborigines.—Of the Aborigines almost nothing
i8 known. Driven,as they doubtless wers, before the con-
quering invaders into the jungles and mountainous - dis--
tricts, they are still to be found there, leaving in a state
almost of nature. The Konds in Central India, the Bhils
in Rajputana, the Santals in Bengal, the Todas in South-
ern India, and many .others are generally regarded as
aboriginal tribes.

8. The Turanlans—The first swarms of strangers that
entered the country were the ancestors of the four great
races of Southern India, speaking thé four languages,

2 Tamll, Telugu, Malayalam and Kanarese. Differences of

* » " opinion exist a8 to the nation to which those strangers
belonged. Though some suppose they were Aryans, the
opinion now most generally held is, that they were Tura-
nians of Mongollan and Scyth!dn descent, that they came-

from Tartary and Tibet, and eutered India by the passes

of the Himalaya mountains. They have been called Dra~
vidlans, from Dravida, the name of that part of South

Inidia peopled by them. Though evidently of a different

race from the Aryans, they would seem to have been
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greatly influenced by the latter after coming into contact
with them, so much so, that their religion, manners and
customs now very much resemble those of the people of

Aryan descent. .

4. The Aryans.—Following those Turanians came, pro-

; bably at some period between 2000 B.c. ‘and 1500 B.c., a

people, who called themselves Arya, that is,  noble.” Their
home was in the platean of Central Asia, somewhere near
the source of the river Oxus. They were a brave and en-
terprising people; and we find, that as they increased in
numbers, they began to look out for better and richer
lands to dwell in. Many of them went west and became
the ancestors of the European nations. Others came south
and took up their abode at first on the banks of tbe river
Sindhu (Indus); and their Persian neighbours, naming
them after the river on whose banks they bad settled, call-
ed them Hindus. After a time they crossed the Sindhan
and took possession of the country on its eastern bank.
But they were not allowed to-do so unopposed. The ori-
ginal inhabitants of the couniry, who were called Raksha-
sas, Plshachas and Dasayas, were goon up in arms against
the invaders, ard many fierce fights wonld seem to have
taken place. Steadily, though slowly, the Aryans conti-

‘| nned to advance. They took possession of the district be-

tween the Drishadvati and Sarasvati, and named it, Brah~-
mavarta, ‘abode of the gods,” There they settled quietly
for some centaries, and it was probably during this period
that the Mantras were composed. More territory was
then needed. Onward the Aryans pressed 4ill they reached
the Ganges, and to this new province they gave the neme
Brahmarshidesa. During the next two centuries they took
possession of new territory, which extended as far as the
modern Allahabad, and which they called Madhya-desa.
Nor did they stop there. They continued their conguests,

" nntil they had over-run the valley of the Ganges and

occupied Central India. The whole of this country was call-
ed by the Hindn writers Aryavarta, ‘abode of the Aryans.’
It inclnded all the provinces, “as far as the eastern and
a6 far as the western oceans between the two mountains,”
(The Himalaya and the Vindhya monntains). This part
of India the Persians called Hindustan, ¢ the land of the
Hindus,® while that portion of the country south of the
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Vindhya range began to be known as the Dakhan, When
the Greeks invaded the country, they dropped the aspirate
in Hindu, and called the people. Indot, 'Hence the name:
Indla, now applied to all that country lying between
the Himalayas and Cape Comorin, the Indus and the
Brahmaputra. . ‘ o .

B. The Perslans, Greeka and Parsis.—Various other
nations afterwards came into India. The Persians under
Darlus Hystaspes, king: of Persia, entered India about
820 B. . ; and the Greeks, under Alexander the Great
in-327 B.¢. 1In the seventh cgntury A. p. another element.
was added to the population. A little band of Parss
immigrants, who had been. driven from their native land
by the Khalif Omar, Ilgnded on the west coast and settled
down at Surat. They are at the present day about
seventy thousand in number; and from their intelligence
and enterprising epirit, they form an important eom-
munity in Bombay, and other parts of the west coast.

8. The Muhammadans.—Next, but at a great dis-
- tance of time, came the Muhammadans. By degrees
they conquered the country and obtained e¢omplete
political supremacy. Nevertheless they were not only
unable to uproot the habits and customs of the Aryans,
but they themselves adopted to a great extent the lan-
guage and habits of the people they conquered. Probably
not more than one-half of the Muhammadans in India
at the present day are of foreign descent. They may
be divided into four classes—Sayyids, who claim to be
descended from the prophet; Mughals, descendants of
the Tartar conquerors of India; Pathans, of Afghan
descent; Sheiks, including all that do not belong to any
one of the other three classes.

7. Other natlons.—Other elements have since been
introduced into the population of India. The Portuguese,
the Dutch, and the Danes have each had & footing in
India. The French and the Engitsh bave also come
into the country. But even at the present day, when
the supremacy of England is greater than that ever
possessed by Mnghal, “ the great bulk of the population
is essentially Hindu, and the moral ‘influence of what
may be called the Indo-Aryan race is still paramount.”

8. Population and Languages.—The population ,of
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India at the present day is abont two hundred and forty
-millions. This immense population is not made up of
one, but of many natious, speaking a great many dif-
ferent languages. Thus: '
Hindi, and Hindustani, '

spoken by about 100,000,000 in Hindustan,

Bengali » 87,000,000 in Bengal.

Marathi » 15,000,000 in the Dakhan and Konkan.

Gujarati » 7,000,000 in Gujarat.

Panjabi s 12,000,000 in the Panjab.

Kaghmiri » 2,000,000 in Kashmir,

Sindi » 2,000,000 in Sindh,

Uriya »” 5,000,000 in Orissa.,

Tamil » 15,000,000 in Sounthern India and
Ceylon.

Malayalam . 4,000,000 on the Malabar Coast and
in Travancore.

Kanarese » 9,000,000 in Maisur and Kanara.

Telugu » 16,000,000 in the Northern Circars and

: the Nizam’s territery.
Gond » 2,000,000 in the Oentral Provinces.

‘Over and above the languages already mentioned,
there are various other dialects, such as those of the
Todas, Koles, Khonds, RaJmahals, &c., but those are
dialects spoken only by insignificant tribes. If, however,
we include those, and the languages spokén by the
various tribes on the frontiers of India, as the Nepalese
" of Nepal, the Pushtu of Afghanistan, the Assamese
of Assam, &c., we find that in all India, there are certainly
not fewer than one hundred languages and dialeots of
languages spoken.

9. Sanskrit.—Thoogh the Hindus are thus divided
into 8o many nations, speaking so many different lan-
guages, there is but one sacred language, one sacred
literature common to all Hindus and greatly revered by
them. ¢ Tbat language is Sanskrit, and that literature is
Sanskrit literature.”



RARLY VEDIC TIMES, 5

CHAPTER 1.

Eariy Vepic Tiues.—1500 B.c. To 1200 B.C.

The Vedas. ; . Religion.
Rishis. No caste distinction,
The Mantras, Social condition.}

Ir has been said, that notwithstanding the many poli-
tical changes that have taken place in India, the moral
influence of the Indo- Aryan race has remained paramount.
What then was the earliest religious system of this
people? What the nature of their government and of
their social life ? .

10. The Vedas.—The earliest religions system of the
Hindus is to be found in the Vedas, books written in the
Sanskrit language. The word Veda means knowledge,
and is applied to divine, unwritten knowledge. The Vedas
are said to have issned from God (Brahma) himself, and
to be eternal with God; to have been communicated . by
God to certain holy men called Rishis; and by constant
oral repetition, to have been handed down by them to a
sect of teachers, who were called Brahmans, and who be-
came the repositories of the divine word. The Vedas are
the compositions of different poets, who lived at different

times ; but the exact date of the composition of any of '~

them cannot be determined. There are four Vedas,
called the Rig-Veda, the Yajur-Veda, the Sama~Veda and
the Atharva-Veda. These again may be divided into
three parts ; the Hymns or Mantras, written probably at
different dates between 1500 B.¢. and 1200 B.¢. ; the Upa-
nishads written between 800 B.c. and 500 B.c. and ‘the
Brahmanas written after the sixth century B.c.

1. The Mantras.—Tbe Mantras were written before
the Aryans had entered on that series of conquests which
was to lead to a complete revolution in the whole social
and religious systems of the people. They are, therefore,
very interesting to us, as they throw light on the pature
of the religion and of the social condition of the ancestors
of the Hindus.

Religion—The Aryans were a pastoral and agricultural
people. The increase of their flocks and the yield of their
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crops depended very much on the elements; hence their
religion consisted of « the worship of the elements.” The
Mantras are addressed to deities a8 manifested in the
forces of nature; to Indra, the god of the sky, the god
of rain, the chief god of Vedic worshippers—to Agnt,.
the god of fire—~and to Swurya, the sun, the third of the
Triad. Altogetber there are thirty-three gods mentioned
—eleven in heaven, eleven in earth, and eleven in mid-
gir—but this may simply mean, that each god of the
Triad was capable of eleven modifications. In those early
Mantrae, there is no allusion to trapsmigration, nor is
there any interdiction to foreign travel, Idols were not
worshipped in those early days, and there was no caste
distinction. ’
Social Condition.—The Aryans in those earliest times
possessed chariots, houses, ships andunailed armour, which
shows that they had a certain amount of civilization.
Their system of government was apparently of a patriar-
_chal character. The head of the family was the chief

" * "and also the priest of the tribe.

.

CHAPTER 11.
Tuar BRAHMANAS AND THE UPANISHADS.

800 B.c. T0 500 B.C.

Brahmans, l Sacrifices.

The Brahmanag. The Upenishada.

12. The rise of the Brahmans.—In the quite early
Vedic times the father was the head and also the priest of
the family or tribe. 'When the Aryans crossed the Saras-
vati, intent on the acquirition of further territory, and
found themselves stubbornly opposed by the black com-
plexioned sborigines,—the Dasyas, Pishachas snd Rsk-

- sbasas—a different order of things would have to be in-

stitoted. To obtain united action im the field, it wounld be
necessary that the various tribes should be united under a
leader or chief. The chieftain of the most pewerful clan
would natorally besppointed comnmnderalso of the smaller
clans that united with it, and he would thus become the
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Raja or king over all. Engaged 50 much in war, he and his
fighting men wonld bhave bat little time, and, being often
10 doubt absent from their families, little opportunity of
attending to domestic religious ceremonies, Hence woald
arise the necessity for a certain number of each tribe being
set apart to conduct religious rites and offer up sacrifices.
.What position those beld in the tribe we do not know.
Probably, at first, they would be regarded as inferior to
the fighting men ; bmt, by degreeg they were destined to
form themselves into & class or caste, to claim superiority
to all the rest of the kribe, and, as Brahmans, to have that
superiority acknowledged.

13. The Brahmanas.— With the lapse of those centuries
‘from the esrly Vedic times, and the rise and growth of,
this priesthood, many changes were introduced into the
religion of the country, especially with reference to the
sacrifices offered to the gods, and the objects for which
those sacrifices were offered. The Brahmanas eontain the
ritual to be observed at sacrifices, together with explana-
tions cf the origin and import of such sacrifices, In the
earliest Vedic times, sacrifices consisted of butter and the
juice of the soma plant; but now, animal and probably
even human sacrifices were offered. Human sacrifices
were certainly offered for a long time to propitiate the
goddess Kall. The Brahmans, however, do not seem to
have looked on such sacrifices with favonr, and borses,
goats, oxen and sbeep were substituted. The object for
which those sacrifices were offered was expiation for sin.
The Brahmaus officiated as priests and they soon came to
be regarded as the medinm of communication between God
and man. Tbe number of sacrifices continued to increase.
Thousands of vietims were daily brought to the altar, and,
88 the ritual belonging to the sacrifices was of the most
complicated kind, the necessity for a complete organization
of priests incressed with the increase in the number of
sacrifices. The Brahmans, therefore, continned steadily
to grow in power and inflaence, and though no doubt.
opposed again and again by the fighting men, (Kshatriyas),
the latter bad finally either to acknowledge their supre-
macy or die. Tbe legend of Parasu Rama extirpating the
whole race of the Kshatriyas twenty-one times is evidently
an exaggeration. . .
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14. The Upanishads.-~The power thus acquired by the
Brabmans was exercised in a very despotic way. Laws
were introduced, the whole tendency of which was to exalt
the Brabmans over the other classes, and indeed to regard
the otber classes as being made for the good of the Brah- -
mans alone. But a change was to follow. The public
mind began to turn against the Brahmans and Brahmanism.
Men began to look within themselves and to ask, ¢ What
am I ?” « Whence have I come P © What shall I be after
death P and so to try to think out for themselves the
great problems of life by the aid of their réason. It was
during this period of mental activity that the Upanishads,
a collection of religious tracts full of philosophical specu-
lations, and forming the third part of the Vedas, were
composed. At the same time six schools of philosophy
arose in the land, and those we will simply name.

"The Nyaya founded by Gautama.
The Vaiseshika . by Kanada.
The Sankbya » by Kapila.
The Yoga » by Patanjali.
The Mimamsa » by Jaimini.
The Vedanta » by Badarayana or Vyasa.

Contemporaneous with those schools, there appeared a
man, who was to found a religious system that for a time
was almost tq supersede Brahmanism, and to become the
royal, if not the pational religion of India; that was
destined to spread over the greater part of Asia; and that
now has its followers two-fifths of the human race.
This man was named Gautama Sakya Muni, afterwards
called Bu’gdba, ¢ The enlightened one.

*
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7 CHAPTER III.
Brasmanic or Heroic. PEr1op—Laws oF MaNv.
800 B.c. 10 500 B.C,

Four Castes, - Adminigtration of Justice. - -

Government, Bocial position of women.

Revenue,. Divisions of a Brahman’s life,

15. Code of Manu,’600 B.C.—The book perhaps next
in age to the Vedas, and certainly next in importance, as
giving us an insight into the intellectual condition, man-
ners and costoms of a considerable part of the Hindu
race at & very remote tim:e, is the Code of Manu. The.
exact date of its eomposition is unknown, but it was

- probably compiled abont 500 B.c, The anthorship, too,
18 wrapt in obscurity, thongh it is generally ascribed do
the sage Manu. Written during tbe Brahmanic period,
it reveals to us the rules by which the Brahmans were
enabled to obtain supremacy, and to establish and perpetu-
ate a system of caste, in which all classes should hold
a subordinate place to themselves.

18. The four castes.—It was declared that there were:
only four pure castes. Brahmans, priests ; Kshatrlyas,
warriors ; Valsyas, agriculturists; and Sudras, servants.
The first three of those classes constituted the * twice-
born,”so called, because at a certain age they were invested
with a sacred string, in token of their receiving a second.
or spiritnal birth. The Brahmans, as having sprung from
the month of the Creator, and as being in possession of
the Vedas, were the lords of all classes. They were de-
clared to be possessed of a divine nature, and often sssnmed
a pre-eminence little short of divine. The Kshatriyas
wore held in high estimation ; but as the Rajah had always
a Brabman minister as his adviser, and had to act as
directed by him, frequently jealousies and disputes arose,
that led to wars between the two highest classes. The
Valsyas also had their privileges. They, too, were called
the * twice-born ;”” but all their domestic rites, to be duly

- performed, bad to be superintended by the Brahmans.

The fourth class, Sudras, was probably to some extent
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made up of those of the Turanlans that had not been
driven into Southern India by the Aryans. They occupied
the lowest place in the social scale. They were servants,
buat not slaves ; and though they were in theory prohibited
from ever amassing riches, still the Puranas make mention
of dynasties of Sudra kings, and even' Manu notices the
existence of these,

17. Government.—The government was of a patri-.
archal eharacter. The Raja was Rdja by divine right, and
his power was absolute. The country was divided into
districts, over which Governors. were placad, and those
Governors were ontrasted with absolute Power by the Raja.
Under those Governors were subordinate Governors in a
regular chain. The highest Governor was lord over a
thousand towns, the next over one hundred, the next over
tweuty, the next over ten, and the lowest ruled over one
town,

18. Revenue.—The revenue of the Raja was obtained
by levying tazes on land, on the produce of lahour, on
certain metals and commedities added to capital stock, and
on purchases and sales. °A kind of poli-tax, a small tax
levied annually on every head of the population, was also
imposed. The poorest classes who were muable to pay
taxes gave the Raja one day’s work every month.

19. Village System.—The administration of the vil-
lages resembled very much the village system of the pre-
sens day.  The headman settled with the Raja the sam
to be paid as revenue. This amount he apportioned out
amongst the villagers, and he was responsible to the Raja
for its collection, as also for the good conduct of the vil-
lagers. Iureturn for this, he received from the Raja a
piece of land rent-free, and some times also a salary. He
acted aleo as arbiter, settled all dispates amongst the
villagers and received fees from them. Under the head-
.man were other officials, who were paid in a similar
manner. * :

20, Adminlstration of Justice.—Justice was adminis-
tered by the Reja in person assisted by Brahmans. The
Criminal Code was very severe on Sudra offenders, but
Brahmans were treated with great leniency. The punish-
ment for a crime was graduated according to the caste ta
which the offender belonged. For example, a Kshatriya
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insulting a Brabman was fined one hundred panas, a
Vaisya doing the same had to pay one hundred and fifty
panss, a Sudra doing the same received corporal punish-
ment.

21. Social position of Women~—Women in the Code
of Manu occupied 8 position of complote eubordination.
" The wife was made at all times to feel her dependence on
her husband, and she had to reverence him even as a
god. A widow was not allowed {0 remarry; but there
is no allusion {p safi. .

22, Divisions of a Brahman’s Iife.—Rules were laid
down for regulating a Brahman’s life from his birth to his
death. His life was-divided into four stages as he became-
firet, s religious student, second, a honseholder, third, an
anchorite or hermit, living in the jungles and submitting
to severe penance, fourth, a religious mendicant or sanynsi,
one who gives up the world and devotes himself entirely
to contemplation.

CHAPTER 1V.
Tae Hzroic Pxeriop.~800 B.c. To 500 B.C.

The Ramayana,

23. The Hindus, by the time the eventsrecorded in the
Ramayana took place. were divided into many clans, but
only two of those occupy a prominent place in history.
The one had its capital, at Ayodhya, near the present
Oudh ; the other had its capital, first at Prayag (Allaka-
bad), and afterwards st Hastinapura, near the modern
Dehli. Two races of kings are described as baving reigned
over those two states from time immemorial, the kings of
Ayodhya tracing their descent from the sun—the kings of
Prayag, from the moon. The socia? and political history of
those two kingdoms is to be found in the two eelebrated
epic poems, * The Ramayana” and “theMahabharata

24. The Ramayana.—The Ramayana, “the adventures
of Rama,” is said to have been compiled by Vaimiki. The
hero of the poem is Rama His father Dasaratha was
the fifty-sixth in descent from Ikshvakn, the grandson of

2=
Tz
Fiat
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Surya, (the sun). Dasaratha, having no heir, had recourse
to a great Putrakamesbti, “sacrifice in desire of a son,”
and in answer the gods promised him four sons. At this
time, Ravana, chief of the Rakshasas, having by long
penance obtained from the gods Brahma the boon “that
neither gods, genii, demons nor giante should be able to
vanquish him,” was committing such havoe, that “even’
the universe was in danger of being destroyed.” As
Ravana had not, however, asked to be preserved from
man, Vishnu agreed to become mortal tq free the earth
from this monster, and, accordingly, four sons were born
to Dasaratha, each possessing a portion of the nature of
Vishnu ; Rama, possessing a half ; Bharata, a fourth ; and
Lakshmana and Satrughna, each an eighth part, Rama
and Lakshmana speot their youth at the hermitage of the
sage Visvamitra. At that time, Janaka, king of Mithila,
waa about to hold a great assembly and to give away his
daughter, Sita, in marriage, to any one that could string
the bow of Siva. The two brothers set out thither, and
Rama, having succeeded in bending the bow, obtained
Sita in marriage and returned with her to Ayodhya.-

25. Dasaratba then resolved to inaugurate Ramaas bia
successor. When Kaikeyl, mother of Bharata, heard of
this, she determined in the interests of her owm gson to
prevent it. She reminded Dasaratha that he had pro-
mised in former years to grant her any two favours she
might ask, and ghe desired him now to fulfil his promise,
by banishing Rama for fourteen years and installing Bha-
rata as heir-appareut. As such a promise could not be
broken, Rama went into banishment, accompanied by his
wife, Sita, and his brother, Lakshmana. Dasaratha died
from grief. Bharata, thareupon, went in search of Rama
to ask him to return aud take up the Government; but
Rama refused and continued his wanderings through the
forests of Dandaka as far sonth as the Godaveri, In his
journeyings he met the sister of Ravana, and she, having
been slighted by Rama, called on her brother to avenge her
wrongs. Ravana crossed over from Ceylon in bis aerial car
and carried off Sita. Rama set out in search of his lost wife,
and, discovering where she was, resolved to attack Ravana.
Sugriva, kiog of the monkeys, Hanuman, his general, and
Vibhishana, brother of Ravana, joined him. They crossed
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into Ceylon, and Rama, with the terrible bow of Brahma,
shot Ravana dead. Rama and Sita then returned o
Ayodhya. Rama ascended the throne. Bub the people
were displeased with him for taking back Sita. after she’
had been so long in Ravana’s palace. In public assembly
she called on the gnddess earth to witness her innocence,
and the earth opened and received her.. Rama counld not
stay behind her. He offered the kingdom to each of his
brothers in succession, but they each refased it and said
they would follow him. They accordingly set out to
the river Sarayu, and, having descended into the water,
entered their own body Vishna. ‘

CHAPTER V.
Tae Heroic Periop.

The Mahabharata. “T_he Great war.”

28. The Mahabharata.—T his poemisin celebration of
the lunar kings, as the Ramayana is of the solar. The pro-
genitor of the race was Budha, who reigned at Hastina-
pura. He was the son of Soma, the Moon, and must not be
confonnded with Buddha. * The enlightened one.” From
Buddha, througha long line of descent,came Dhritarashtra
and Pandu, sons of Vyasa, the supposed author of the
poem. Dhritarashtra was theelderof the two, bat as he was
blind, he renounced the throne in favour of Pandu, “ The

ale.” Moanwhile, Dhritarashtra married Gandhari, and
had one hundred sons, the eldest of whom was Duryodhana,
“ The hard to subdue.” They were called Kurus, or
Kauravas. Pandu had five sons. Three, by his first wife
Pritha or Kunti, viz, Yudhishtira,  Firm in Battle,”
Bhima, “ The terrible,”and Arjuna, * The Shining One ;”
and two by his second wife, Madrl, viz., Nakula, The
Mangoose,” and Sahadeva, * The Creeper.”” They were
called Pandus or Pandavas. Panda died, and,as the people
wished Yudhishtira to be associated with Dhritarashtra in
the Government, Duryodhana prevailed on the latter, fo
send the Pandavas away to Varanavata (Allahabad). A

2

.
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house was made ready for their reception. The walls were
plastered with mortar, composed of oil, fat and lac, the
Kauravas intending, when their cousins were asleep, to
set fire to the building. The Pandavas were informed of
the treachery, and escaped by an underground passage
when the building was set on fire. For a long time they
wandered through the country, and at last, disguised as
Brahmans, they betook themselves to the Svayamvara,
% choice of the maiden,” of Draupad}, daughter of Drupada,
king of Panchala. Thither the sons of Dhritarashtra and
a great concourse of snitors had also gone. A large amphi-
theatre having been erected for the spectators, a bow was
produced, and Draupadi promised to accept as her husband
the person that should shoot five arrows simultaneoumsly
from the bow through a revolving ring into a target some
distance beyond. Suitor after suitor tried to bend the
bow, but in vain. Atlength Arjuna advaunced, disguised
as a Brahman, andaccomplished the feat. The rage of
the other snitors knew no bounds. A terrible fight ensued ;
bub it ended in Arjuna keeping possession of the field.
Draunpadi then became the common wife of the five bro-
thers. Now that the Pandavas had secured a powerful ally
in the king of Panchala, Dhritarashtra gave up one-half
of the kingdom of Hastinapura to them, and they built
8 capital for themselves at Indraprastha, the modern
Dehli. Before long, Yudhishtira was induced by the
Kauravas to play at dice. He staked his Kingdom, and
even his wife, and lost all. An agreement was then come
to, that the kingdom should be given up to Duryodhana
for twelve years, that for those twelve years the Pandavas
with Dranpadi should live in the woods,and that, during
the thirteenth year, they should live under false names
and assnme a disgnise. At the end of the thirteenth year
they returned and asked for the restoration of their king-
dom; but found it was only to be obtained by force of arms.
Both sides then looked out for allies. Ancestors of almost
all the Hindu Princes of earlier timesjgined theone sideor
the other. Krishna, king of Dwaraka, (now worshipped
as an incarnation of Visbnu), who had accompanied f.be
Pandavas in their banishment, joined them. The oppesing
armies met on the plain of Kurukshetra, “ the field of the
Kauravas.” As the hosts advanced, “ the earth shook
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chafed by wild winds, the sands upcurled to heaven and
spread a veil before the sun, thunder rolled, lightnings
flashed, blazing meteors shot across the darkened sky,
yet the chiefs, regardless of these portents, pressed on to
mutual slaughter, and peals of shouting hosts comming-
ling shook the world.” Thée Pandavas were victorious.
Yudhishtira ascended the throne and celebrated an Aswa-
medha,* “ horse sacrifice,” as an assertion of his authority .
over all India. The conquered princes were summoned,

that they might pay their homage to the conquerors, and

eat of the flesh of the horse that had been sacrificed after

the custom of the Kshatriyas. But Yudhishtira was very

unhappy. Hehad taken partin the death of his kinsmen,

and that weighed heavy on his heart. His kingdom,
riches, even life itself had no attraction for him. He

recounced his kingdom and set out on a journey to .the

Himalaya mountains, accompanied by his brothers and

Draunpadi. One by one these fell off, till Yudhishtira alone

was left. Indra then appeared to him, and took him

to heaven, where he obtained that happiness and peace

which he conld not find on earth.

® The primitive idea of the Aswamedha was that a warrior should
let & horse go free for a year, and if it wandered into the territory
of oiher rajas, he should fight those rajas for sapremacy. At the
. end of the year the horse was sacrificed, and all the rajas that had
been conquered came to the feast, acknowledged the supremacy of -
the conqueror, and ate of the slaughtered animal.
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CHAPTER VI.
ScyruiaN, PERsIAN, AND GrEEk INVASIONS.

600 B.c. T0 325 B.C.

' The Takshaks, Alexander the Great,
Nanda. Porus,
Darius Hystaspes. Pattala.

27. The history of the various kingdoms of India for
many centuries after the Great War, is involved in hope-
less obscurity. A long list of kingsis mentioned, bus
nothing of historical interest with reference to them.
We learn, however, that the Hindus were not left in
undisturbed possession of the Jand they had conquered—
that as they themselves had invaded India and taken
possession of the coantry, so other foreiguers followed
and in their turn tried to wrest the country from them.

28. The Scythians.—The first swarms of new invaders
were of Scythian origin, and, as at the same time that
one branch went south into India another swarm went
west into Scandinavia, we are able to determine the date
with a little more certainty. The invaders were called
‘ by the Hindus Takshaks or Serpents
probably because their national emblem
was a serpent. They overthrew the king-
dom of Magadba, and ten generations of Takshak kings
reigned there before they were expelled. The last of the
race was Nanda, who was succeeded by his illegitimate
son Sandracottus (Chandragupta), the founder of the
Mauryan dynasty.

29, Darlus Hystaspes.—The next invaders came

from the west, from Persia,while Darius was king

518 of that country. Having extended his conquests

B.c. a8 far east as the Indus, Darius sent his admiral

Skylax on an explanatory voyage down theriver to
the sea. On hearing from Skylax of the wealth of the
country he had passed through. Darius crossed the Indus
and occupied a part of India. How much of the country
he conquered canpot be determined, but it must have
been considerable, as his Indian province furnished about

. 6th century
B, C,
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one-third of the whole revenue of the Persian Empire,
and it may be noted that this was paid not in silver but in
gold.

80. Alexander the Great.—The Persian authority in
India was destined to be overthrown in the 4th century
B.c. Alexander the Great was then King of Macedorl.gz
He was a man of boundless ambition, and one of the.
greatest generals the world has ever seen. Invading.’
Persia, Alexander soon conquered it. After subduing the
kingdom of Bactria, which consisted of Afghanistan and a
large part of Central Asia, he appeared on the banks of the
Indne. Crossing the Indus at Attock with one hundred
and twenty thonsand men, he marched into the )
Paujab to Taxilla. The Hindu Chief, Taxllles, 327
at once yielded, and placed his kingdom at the  B.c.
disposal of Alexander. The other chiefs of India
were not disposed so to receive this foreign invader,
Chief among those was Porus, whose kingdom lay between
the Jhelum (Hydaspes), and the Chenab (Acesines). He
gathered his forces together, collected a great number of
-elephants on the eastern bank of the Jhelum and awaited
the advance of Alexander. The latter, finding it impossi-
ble to force a direct passage across the river, had recourse
to stratagem. Leaving the main body of his army on the
bank opposite the army of Porns, he led eleven thousand
of his veteran troops in the darkness of the night gen
yriles up the river’s bank, and crossed at an undefended
part. In the early morning he attascked the enemy.
Porus and his army fought long and well, but they bad at
last to yield to the superior discipline of Alexander’s troops.
The elephants and other spoil fell into the hands of the
conqueror. - Porus, too, was compelled to surrender; but
Alexander, admiring his valor, restored his kingdom to
him and aftegwards even added to it. Porus, thereafter,
remained faithful to his generons conqueror. Alexander
crossed the Chenab, and then the Ravee (Hydraotes).
There he met a second Porus, but he, unlike the first of
that name, fled at the sight of the conqueror, which so dis-
gusted the latter, that he transferred the kingdom to his -
namesake, who had fought so well at the Jhelum. The
Cathael, & people of the Panjab, were next attacked by
Alexander, and their city was taken. Onward still he led
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his men, till he reached the Beas (Hyphasis). The mighty
kingdom of Magadha lay in front of him. Its magnifi-
cent capital, Patali-putra, (Palibothra,the modern Patna),
& city nine miles in length, was within a fow days’ march.
Sandracottus, an offshoot of the royal house of Magadhsa,
whom he had met at Taxilla, had told him of it and nrged
him to capture it. ' Could he advance thither and plant
his standards on its battlements, all Hindustan would be
at his feet. But a new and unexpected difficulty presented
itself. His soldiers who had been faithful and submissive
80 long, who had endured such hardships among the
snows of the mountains of Kabul, and who had been ever
ready to advance at their General’s command, now refused
to obey his orders. Worn out with the fatigues of eight
campaigns, they desired to be led home. The conqueror
entreated them to advance, but in vain. He flattered and
threatened ; but menaces and flattery were equally power-
less to change the resolution of those'men. Nothing was
left for it but Alexander must turn his back on Indis.
‘When he reached the Satlej be built a fleet and sailed
down the river. On his way he 1aid the foundation of
several cities, the chief of which was Pattala.
325 Sending part of his troops hy sea under the
B.c. charge of his admiral Nearchus, he marched
with the remainder back to Persia. Two years
later Alexander died from the effects of jungle fever
canght in the marshes of Babylon. .

CHAPTER VI
Tue Inpo-ScyrEians—TaE GUPTAS.
323 B.c. TO 435 A.D.

Seleucus, The Indo-chthians.
Chandragupta. The Guptas,
Alliance with Beleucns, Vikramaditya,

The Graeco-Bactrians. Battle of Kabror,

SI. Seleucus,—On the death of Alexander, the king-
dom he had set up fell to pieces. The most eastern por-
tion, including Bactria, was taken possession of by bis
general Seleucus, and he resolved to complete the con-
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quests begun by his great predecessor Alexander. He
invaded India and marched against the kingdem of
Magadha. Meanwhile a change had taken place in- the
dynasty that rnled over that kingdom. At the time of
Alexander, the Takshak line of kings was still ruling.
Nanda the Rich was king. But, during the confusion con-
sequent on Alexander’s invasion and his subsequent with-
drawal from India, this Nanda and all his legitimate
family were killed by his minister Chanikya, who after-
wards tried to atone for the crime by such severe penance,
that the ‘remorse of Chanikya’ is still an emblem of
penitence.

82, Chandragupta.—On the death of Nanda, Sandra-
cottns, now generally regarded as one with Chandragupta
ascended the throne. He was an illegitimate son of Nanda, -
by a barber womaun, and was, therefore, a Sudra. He
would appear to have been driven from court in his father’s
time, as we have seen that he was with Alexander at
Taxilla, urging him to attack his father’s kingdom. With
him began that Mauryan line of kings, under whose rule
Magadha wasto attain to the bighest power and influence.
‘We bave no details of the war between the invaders under
Selencns, and Cbandragupta; but in the end the latter
drove the Greeks out of India, and extended the kingdom
of Magadba as far as the Indus. Chandragupta is thus

.8aid *“to bave brought the whole world nnder one um-
brella,” that is, to have bronght the whole of Hindustan
under one sovereignty. This is of course an exaggerated
way of speaking, as there were many independent states
in Hindustan during this time. All that is meant is, that
the power of Chandragnpta was very great. Subse-
quently, Chandragupta entered into an alliance with
Seleucus, married his danghter and received a Greek
ambassador, named Megasthenes, at his court. Itis to
this Megasthenes we are indebted for most of‘the infor-
mation we possess respecting India at this period. )

88. The Indo-Scythlans.—The Indo-Scythjans, hav-
ing advaunced eastward to the Oxnus, swept dpwn i1 succes-
sive waves on Afghanistan and the Panjab, driving before
them into India the Grmco-Baetrian tribes, and taking
possession of the country of Bactrin. Little is known
of their history. They would appear, however, to have
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been a brave and intelligent people, and during the reign
of Kanishka, founder of the last dynasty, their empin
was very extensive. Kanishka’s kingdom extended fron
Kabul to the Hinda-Kush; over Yarkand and Kokan
down over the plains of the Ganges as far as Agra; ove
Rajputana, Sindh and Gujarat, and throngh the whole o
the Panjab. Kanishka was a gealous Buddhist and during
bis reign a council was held at Kashmir, at which the thres
Baskets, i.e., commentaries, were probably drawn up.
84. The Guptas.—The dynasty of Kanishka was sue
cceded by a new and strange people, called the Guptas
tbat had grown up in India. The Hindcs called then
Mlechas or barbarians. They were probably descendant
of the Greco-Bactrians that had fled before the Indo
Scythiang into India, and they made common cause witl
the Hindu Rajput kings against the Indo-Scythians
The sllied army was commanded by the celebrated Vikra.
maditya, king of Ujjain. A great battle wai
78  fought at Kahror. The Indo-Scythians wer
Ap. totally defeated, and from this time they dis
appear from bistory. Of the farther history of
the Guptas little is known. One branch exercised domi.
nion in one shape or another in Gujarat, until the yea
319 a.p., when it was supplanted by the Vallabhi Rajas
Another branch ruled at Kanouj, and conquered Magadhs
in 436 A.p.; but it was afterwarda supplanted by the

Bajputs. Jor s/esdly tromr~ton
CHAPTER VIIL

Boppea ANp BuppHIsSM.—477 B.C.

Parentage. Proclaims a New Religion.
Penance, Death of Buddha,
The Bartree. Councils.
Salvation by love and self- The Buddhist System.
- control.

85. Gautama Sakya Muni.—Gautama was the family
name of Buddha. His father Suddhodana was Raja of the
Sakyas, an Aryan tribe that bad eettled at Kaplla-Vastu
on the banks of the Rohint (Kobana), about one hundred
miles to the north-east of Benares. His mother Maya-
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devi was a daughter of the Raja of the Koliyans, a tribe
living on the opposite bank of the same river. Gautama,
therefore, belonged to the Kshatriya casté, which alone
would disqualify him in the eyes of the Brahmans-for
setting up as a religions teacher.

86. The Bo-tree.—Many wonderful stories are told
of his birth and childhood. He was married when quite
young to the beautiful, lotus-coloured Gopa. In his twenty-
ninth year, ten years after his marriage, and while his son,
Rahula, was but an infant, he suddenly left wife, child
and home and gave himself up entirely to religious and
philosophical study. The reason he assigned for this step-
was, that an angel had appeared to him in four visions
under the forms of & man broken down by age, of a sick
man, of a decaying corpse, and of a hermit. On seeing
those visions, he exclaimed, *youth, health and life itself
arc but transitory dreams ; they lead to age and diseace,
tbey end in death and corruption.” Believiog in trans-
migration, he gaw that evils wonld belong not ouly to an
individual life, but might run on to an eternity in a chain
of successive existences. Heresolved to betake himself to
the forests of Uruvela, near the modern Gaya, and gave
himself up to the severest penance, hoping by that means
to work out salvation from successive births, and to obtain
that peace of mind be longed for. He was rednced to a
living skeleton ; but he continued as unbappy as ever.
He, therefore, ceased to believe in the Brahmanical doe~
trine that peace and happiness of mind could be secured
by self-mbrtification, and gave np his penance. ' Finally,
while sitting under the shade of a tree at Gaya—henceforth
to be known as the Bo-tree, * the tree of wisdom’’—after a
great mental struggle, he obtained that peace he had been
in gearch of, aud found that it was to be gained by self-
control and love to others. ‘

87. Gautama’s New Faith.—Buaddha retnrnéd to Ben-
ares, and fearlessly preached his new doctrines. Within five
months he had sixty followers. Calling them together he
told them to go and preach the Buddhist religion to all men
without esception. How different this from the Vedic
religion, which was confined entirely tothe Aryans, and
which, instead of sending out apostles to proclaim its doc-
.trines to all nations, refused to admit even the conquered
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tribes of India as converts, except under very degradin,
conditions |

88. Converts.—The next convert was Bimbisara, a
that time the most powerful chieftain in the eastern valle;
of the Ganges, and to his conversion a great importanc
was attached. His capital was Rajagriha, and hiskingdom
Magadha, extended about one hundred miles south from th
Ganges, and one hundred miles east of the Soma. Duriny
the greater part of every year Buddha travelled abou
teaching and preaching. On one occasion he visited Kapi
lavastu and converted the whole of his family, the Sakyas
Buddhism thus continued rapidly to spread- Shortly afte
Buddha's death, which is generally regarded as havin,
taken place in 477 B. C., a council of five hundred member

was held at Rajagriha under the presidency ¢

477 Maha Kasyapa, one of the first members of th

B.C order. One hundred years later, a second coan
cilconsisting ofsevenhundred members was bel
at Valsall. Ata coancil held in the eighteenth year o
the reign of Asoka at Patna, and which was attended b,
one thousand memberss Buddhism became the state religior
Another coancil was held in the beginning of the Christia
era at Kashmir by Kanishka, the powerful king of north
western India, and he, too, proclaimed Buddhism to be th
state religion of his empire.

89. Buddhism,—The Buddhist system was to a larg
extent a social reform. Its teaching was that of th
highest morality. It recognized no system of caste: ba
declared all men to be equal, and fo be equally capable ¢
being saved. *“To cease from all sin, to get virtue, t
cleanseone’s own heart, this is the religionof the Buddhas.
To be good in thonght, word acd deed in this life woul
lead to a higher lifein the next birth. Freedom frou:
continuons chain of transmigration conld be effected onl,
by the uprooting of every desire, passion and affection, b;
leading the life of a religions mendicant, and by raisin,
one’s mind above all that was worldly. He that coul
‘accomplish this would be freed from any further births
and would enter into Nirvana, i.c., would be annihilated
“ for the parts and powers of man mast be diss’olved."
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'CHAPTER IX.

) Prooress oF Buppmism.
KixnepoM oF MacapBa—TrHE MavrRvan Dynasty.
315 B.c. T0 436 A.D.

Magadha, : Asgoka.

The Takshak dynasty. Buddhist Missions
The Manryan dynasty. The Andra dynasty,
Chandragupta. ’

40. Kingdom of Magadha.—The spread of Buddhism:
in India is closely connected with the growth of the king-
dom of Magadbha. The kingdom of Magadha was in
existence as early as the times of the Maha-
bharata. Sahadeva was then king. Thirty-fifth 550
in succession from him was Alata Satru, the B.C,
contemporary of Buddha. The fifth in succession to
from Ajata Satrn was succeeded by the Takshak 477
dynasty, that roled for ten generations under the  B.C
pame Nanda., The last Nanda, surnamed the
Rich, was murdered, and his illegitimate son, Chandra-
gupta, bringing with him a band of robbers from the Pan-
jab, whither he had fled, an exile from his father’s
court, seized Pataliputra, (Palibothra or Patna), 315
and placed himself on the throne of Magadha. B.C.
He was the first of the Mauryan Dynasty. to
Neither Chandragupta nor his gon Bindusara 291
were Buddhists ; but the third of the race, Asoka, B.C
or as he called bimself, Priyad45in, openly pro- .
fessed the Buddhist faith, and &t a council held at Patna
nnder hig presidency, in the eighteenth year of his
reign, be proclaimed Buddhism to be the state 263
religlon. After his conversion, which took place B.C.
in the tenth year of his reign, Asoka became a to
zealons Buddhist. He founded monasteries and 223
built h8spitals at his own expense, and published  B.c
edicts thronghout his empire, enjoining on all his ‘
subjects observance of the Buddhist doctrines ; obedience
to parents, kindness fo children, mercy to inferior ani-
mals; suppression of anger, passion, cruelty or extrava-
gance; generosity tolerance and charity. These edicts
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are still to be seen engraven on pillars and rocks through-
.out the country, and the great distances they are from
one another show us how extensive-the kingdom of
Magadha must have been under Asoka. The pillars are
at Dehll, and Allahabad; the rocks near Peshawar, in
Gujarat, in Orissa and on the road between Dehll and
Jalpur. Not content with spreading the Buddhist faith in
his own kingdom, he sent; missionaries into more distant
parts of Indias—to Chola, Pandya, Kerala and Kash-
mir—and to other countries, as Bactria and Siam. He
sent his brother Mahindo and his sister: Sangamitta
to Ceylon. By them the king of Ceylon was converted,
and thus was laid the foundation of Buddhism in that
"country. - , :

41, Asoka’s successors.—Asoka’s successors were
likewise Buddhists: Under them the kindom of Maga-
dha rose to the highest position. A royal road -was con- °
structed from Palibothra to the Indus, and another, across
the desert of Sindh to Broach, at that time the most
commercial city on the west coast. They encouraged
learning with the greatest munificence, and songht to dis-
seminate education by means of the vernacularlanguages.

. The Mauryan dynasty ended in the year 195 B.c.

195 By that time Buddhism had become the prevail-

B.C. ing religion, and had gained more ground than it
probably ever held either before or afterwards.

42. The Sanga Rajas.—The Mauryan dynasty was

succeeded by the Sanga Rajas. They, too, were
‘195 Buddhist, and it was probably during their

BC. sway, that the many rock-cut cave temples and

to monasteries found in India as at Katak, Kach,

86 and Adjanta were fashioned. The monasteries

B.c. were called Vikaras. Hence the name Bihar, 80

called from the great number of monasteries that
were built in that district. After the Sanga Rajas, came
the Buddhist kings of the Kanwa dynasty, who ruled
Magadha till 31 B.c. The.Andra dynasty followed till
436 A. p. By this time many other kingdoms had attained
to considerable power in the country; the kingdom:of
Magadba had fallen from its pre-eminent position ; and
with its fall, Buddhism bad also begun to decline.
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‘CHAPTER X.
Decuing of Booparsm—195 B.c. 7o 1100 AD.

. Buddhism, Hiouen Thsang.
The Agnikulas. . Sindhanma.,
Fa Hian, Buddhism extinet.

43, Buddhism.~—At the beginning of the Christian era -

Buddhism had not so many followers as during the rule
" of the later kings of the Mauryan dynasty. It was still,
no doubt, the state religion of Magadba, though probably
it" ceased to be so under the Andrs dynasty that rnled
there from 31 B.c. to 436 a.p. It was also the state religion

of the large empire in the north-west of India and Afghan-

istan, whose king, Kanishka, held a Buddhist council at

Kashmir. Butone Buddhism is said to be the state reli-y# N

‘gion, it is not to be inferred from this that all the people
in those countries were Buddhists. . This was not the case,
and it is even questionable, whether, when Buddhism had
reached its greatest power, a majority of the people belong-
ed to that faith, At all times they were many followers
of the Brahmanic faith in the conntry, and, about the be-
ginning of the Christian era, there were many powerful
kingdoms, notably that of Ujjain, in which Brabmanism
was in the ascendant. What was it that led to the decline
of Buddhism, and to the revival of Hinduism ? There is
a Hindu legend with reference to this question.

44. The Agnikulas,—The Brahmans had found ount
they had made a mistake in extirpating the Ksbatriyas,
that had fought for them and established them in the land.
New enemies to their faith had arisen in the Buddhists,
and they had now no power to free themselves from those,
The holy sages that dwelt at the summit of Mount Abu
accordingly carried their complaints fo the sea of curds,
on which the Creator was floating on the back of a hydra.
Brahmarthen commanded them to recreate the Ksbatriya
race that had been extirpated by Parssu Rama, They
roturned, and purified the “fountain of fire” with water
taken from the Granges, whereupon, up sprang four warri-
ors called the Agnikulas or generation, of fire. They clear-
ed the land of the Rakshasas, i.e., the Buddhists, and
re-established the Brahmanic faith. From those Agniku-
las many of the modern Rajputs claim to be descended.

3

TUER
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45, Chinese pligrims.—Such is the story of the cause
that led to the overthrow of Buddhism. Itis of course &
myth. But there were, at the period with which we are
now dealing, several powerful Rajput states in India, and
generally speaking, though not always, those states favour-
ed the Brabmans, Of the struggle that must have been
carried on between the twq faiths during the next three
or four centuries, we have no information. But in 400 a.p.
the Chinese, to whom Asoka had sent Buddhist missiona-
ries, and who in large numbers had embraced the Buddhist
faith, in their turn sent pilgrims to India, to collect and
take back to China revised copies of the Buddhist Scrip-
tures. It is from those pilgrims that we learn the extent
to which Buddhism was followed in the fifth and seventh

centuries after Christ. The first pilgrim that ar-

400 rived in India was Fa Hian. He found Buddhist
a.p. monks and monasteries in all the towns he pass-
ed through on his way from Kabul to Patalipu-

tra ; but Brahman priests and Hindu temples were scarce-
1y less numerons. The sovereigns of the different kingdoms
east of Rajputana were all firmly attached to the law of
Buddha. Two centuries later, another pilgrim

-.629 arrived from China. His name was Hiouen
AD. Theang. He found the great monastery that
648 Kanishka had built at Peshawar deserted; but the
Ap. people there were still mostly Buddhists. Siladitya
was reigning at Kanouj. He was the most power-

ful monarch-in all India at that time, and was known as
Maharaje Adhiraj or lord paramount. He was a zealous
Buddhist and held a council at Kanouj in 634 He was
well read himself in the holy books ; but he favoured the
Brahmans also, and was tolerant of their religion. In his
capital were one hundred Hindu temples as well as one
hundred Buddhist monasteries. Kapila Vasta was in ruins,
and even in Benares there were only four monasteries to
one hundred Brahmauist temples. In Magadha and Vai-
pali Buddhism was still flourishing ; and fifty monasteries
were occupied by one thousand monks. Buddhism seems,
however, to have become very'corrupt, for of the people
at one place Hiouen Thsang visited, he says, they were no
better than the  heretics,” 2.6., the Brahmans among whom-

they lived.



¥rom this it appears that Budd
below the point it stood at in Fa Hian
the Panjab and Gujarat it was still
Throughout the rest of India, Buddhism
held its own against Brabmanism only in thoee states in
which it was supported by powerful kings. The corrup-
tions that had crept into 1t hastened its downfall A
fierce persecution of the Buddhists followed. It is said
that at the instigation of Kumarila Bhatta, a learned
Brahman, king Sindhanma issned a decree in these words:
“ Let those who slay not, be slain; the old men among
the Buddhists, and the babe, from the bridge of Rama to'
the snowy mountaina.” The learned Brahman, Sankara
Charyar, who is now held in sach veneration, is said to
have been the means of extirpating the Buddhists in
Telingansa, while Khandoba cleare® the Mahratta country.
The result of all this was thaf, in the eleventh century
after the birth of Christ, the only kings of India that sup-
ported the religion of Gautama were the kings of Kashmir
and Orissa, In the twelfth century, after the Mohamma-
dans had entered India and conquered Kashmir, there were

- no Buddhists left except those who joined the Jain sect.

CHAPTER XI.
Puranic Periop.~600 ap. 70 800 A.p.
Revival of Brahmanlsm.—The Jains.
Sacrifices. The Puranas,
The Trimurti. I The Jain faith.

46. The struggle for centuries betweon Brahmanism and
Buddhism thus ended in the complete triumph of the for-
mer, and in the extinction of the latter in India. In the
struggle, and to be successful in the straggle, much of the
old Brahmaboic faith was given up, and many of the Bud-
dhist doctrines were embodied in the new religion. Animal
sacrifices wers abolished. The doctrine of the power of
faith and good works to hasten on the progress of final
freedom from successive births was adopted. Deliverance
by faith is generally associated with the worship of Vishnu;
deliverance by good works with the worship of Siva.
This deliverance does not secure entrance to Nirvana or,
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annihilation, as the Buddhists believed, but absorption into
the godhead. Popular interest and sympathy for the new
religion was secured by a most elaborate and exciting
ceremonial. The old triad of the Wfarly Aryans was revived
in the Tri-murti, Brahma, Vishnu and Siva. The popular
“heroes of the Ramayana and the Mahabbarata were traced
through the Brahmauns, to be the descendants of the sun
and the moon, and made objects of worship. Vishnu, the
most popular god of the Tri-murti, was said to have
appeared in the flesh. Rama and Krishna were accepted
as aveiars, incarnations of Vishnu.

47. The Puranas.—The Puranas, religious books of the
Brahmans, written probably about 800 a.p., when Bud-
dhism bad become very corrupt, are devoted to the religion
of the revival of Brahmanism, and to,the interpretation of
the beliefs of the vari®is religious sects into which the
Hindus are now divided.

48. ‘The Jalns.—On the fall of Baddhism, the Jain faith
for a short period had a large number of followers. The
Jaius occupy @& middle position between Brahmans and
Buddhists. They retain the caste system and acknowledge
the gods of the Brahmans, but they deny the divine-
aunthority of the Vedas. They are tender to aun extraordi-
nary degree of animal life. They worship certain saints,
whom they call Tirtankaras; and they regard these ag
higher than the gods. They do not believe in a supreme
being, and regard life and matter as eternal. The Jains
are divided into -two sects—Digambaras, sky-clad, and
Swetambaras, white-robed; They are now to be found
in small numbers in Gujsrat, Mhairwara and Maisur.

CHAPTER XII.
. EarrY Hixpo KiNapons.

The Rajput and other States.
The Andra dynasty. ] Kanouj.
Vikramaditya. Gujarat.

49." The Andra dynasty.—The Andra was the greatest
of all the Rajput dynasties. A branch of this family reign-
ed over Magadha from 31 B.c. to 436 o.p. Other branches

. roled at Warangal in Telingana, and at Ujjain in Malwa.
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80. Vikramaditya—Malwa.—The greatest of the Andra
line of kings was Vikramaditya. He was a descendaut of
the Agnikula chieftains and was king of Uljain. Heled
the combined armies of ‘the Rajputs andyGuptas against

-the Sakas (Scythians), and, utterly defeating them in the
battle of Kahror, secured independence for his *
country. He established the Brahmanie faith, %8
invited learned Brahmans to his kingdom from  a.p.
all parts of India, and rewarded them with rich
presemts. - The most distinguished of those Brahmans was
Kalldasa, $he author of the famous drama, Sakuntala. In
retarn, the Brabmans have lauded Vikramaditya in the
most extravagant way, and ascribed to him the most extra--
ordinary powers. To perpetuate his name, an era was begun
from his reign, and this era is still current throughout all
the countries north of the Narbada.. Tbat he
begau his reign in 56 B.c, and fought the battle 56 .
of JKabror in 78 A.p. is impossiblee. We must, s.c.
therefore, suppose that there were several kings
of this name, and that the conquests of all the others bave
been assigned to the greatest of them. King Bhoja and
otber successors of Vikramaditya extended their power
over a great part of Central India. Malwa was after-
wards conquered by the Raja of Gujarat, but regained its
independence, and was finally subdued by the Muhamma-
dans in 1231 a.p. .

sl. Kanou).—Of all the ancient Hindu kingdoms no
one has attracted more notice than KanouJ. Its ancient
name was Panchala. Its sovereigns for some time were
Guptas. They conquered Magadhba and extended their
kingdom as far as Orlssa. At the beginning of the twelfth
century, Kanouj was under a Rajput king, who claimed to
be lord paramount of the Rajpats. He quarrelled with
the Raja of Dehli, and invited Mubammad Ghori to*lead
an army against that city. He suffered for bis treachery.
The Muhammadans after capturing Dehli attacked
Kanounj itself. The Raja was defeated and slain, and his
capital plandered. The Rajput princes fled into
Rajputana or Rajasthan, “ the land of the Raj- 1094
puts or Rajas,” and there fonnded the dynasty of  a.p.
Jodhpur, which is still in existence. There were.
many. other kingdoms that played a part in the early
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history of Hindustan, and those it will be sufficient only
to name. There was Gujarat, Krishna’s kingdom-—after-
wards ruled by the Gehlot family of Rajputs, who, on
being driven out of Gujarat by the Persians in 524 B.c.
founded the kingdom of Mhairwara which still exista.
There were the other Rajput kingdoms of Dehli and Ajmir,
and the kingdom of Gaur, under the Pat dynasty and,
subsequently, under a line of kings celled Sena ; but those
kingdoms are of little importance historically. They were
overthrown by Muhammad Ghorl. : .

CHAPTER XIIIL

Earry HisTORY OF THE DAKHAN.

Early Inhabitants. Kerala. _
Pandya. Telingana.
Chola. Salivahana,

52, Early inhabitants,.—Of the early inhabitants” of
the Dakhan little is known. The traditions and records
of the Peninsula all point to & period when the natives
were not Hindus. They are spoken of as mountaineers
and foresters, or goblins and demons; but the fact, that
the Tamil language was formed and perfected before the
introdnetion of Sanskrit into his part of the country,
would tend to show, that the early inhabitants possessed
a high degree of civilization before the Hindu colonists
settled in their midet. The most ancient kingdoms were
Pandya and Chola, both of which were founded by persons
belonging to the agricultural class.

63. Pandya.—Pandya was named after its founder,

Pandion, and may have flourished as early as
500 the fifth century before Christ. It occnpied the
B.0«  districts of Madura and Tinnevelly. The seat
of the government was Madura. The wars
of the Pandyan kings were chiefly with the kingdom of
_ Chola, Sometimes both kingdoms were united, and again
they would. become separate states. The line of the
Pandyan kings ended with Pandya or Sundara, in_the
13th century, when it wassncceeded bythe Muhammadans,
then by a new line of Pandyas, then by the Nayak kings,
who were conquered by the Nawab of Arcot in 1736,
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54. Chola.—The kingdom of Chola was of greater ex-
tent than Pandya. It embraced all the Tamil Country,
and abont the eighth century,its kings ruled over a part
of Telingana. Kanohl (Conjeeveram) was the capital.
The last raja was overthrown by Venkaji, the brother of
the famous Sivall. He was the founder of the present
Tanjore famlly.

65,  Other States.—Many other states existed at dif-
ferent periods. Chera (Travancore and Coimbatore),
which was subverted in the tenth century. Kerala (Mala-
bar and Canara), peopled by brahmans at the beginning
of the Christian era, and under their rule till the ninth
century, when the people revolted against theit prince, who
bad become a Mnhammadan, and the kingdom was broken
ap into many petty states, the chief of which was that
under the Zamorin of Calicut. This state was in exis-
tence when Vasoo de Gama landed on the west coast,
and the rale of the Zamorin was not finally overthrown
till 1766. Telingana, with its eapital Warangal, was
ruled snccessively by a branch of the Andra dynasty, by
the Chola Rajas and the Ganapat! Bajas, until it was
merged in the kingdom of Golkonda in 1435.

56. One of the most noted of the Dakhan kings waa
Salivahana. He is said to have been the son of a potter,
to have headed an insurrection, and, thereafter, to
have ruled at Patna on the Godaveri. Theeraof 78§
Salivabana, which is still in use in the Dakban, a.p.
was named after him. .

Leading Dates of the Hindu Period.

Scythian (Takshak) invasion.........6th century B.c.
Invasion of Darius Hystaspes ......518 B.c.
Deathof Baddha ...................c....477 B.C.
Invasion of Alexander the Great......327-355 B.C-
Battle at the Jhelum.............c.......327 B.C.

The Mauryan Dynasty .........ccec0....315-195 B.C.
Chandragupta ... ..cccceeeeeeon oee...315-291 B.C.
ASOKS eeeuvronceriesencosssannsesassencans 0. 263-223 B.C.
Era of Vikramaditya ...---............56 B.C.
Battle of Kahror ...........o.ccee.000ea 78 2D,

Era of Salivabana ........c.cceccee.s-78 4D,
Hiouen Thsang visits Indis .........629-648 a.n.




EARLY MUHAMMADAN PERIOD.

CHAPTER 1.

Rise oF THE MuBEAMMADAN PowER.
Muhammadan Arabs in India.
570 a.p; o 1001 a.p.

Mohammad. . l Sindh subdued,,
Muhammadan conquests. Sindh recovered by the Rajputs.
57. Muhammad.—Muhammad was born in the antumn
of the year 570. His father Abdulla, though
570 head of one of the tribes of Koralsh, was poor,
TO and died before Muhammad was born. - When
632 Mubhammad was six years old his mother died,and
a.p.  the little boy was banded over to the charge
_of his uncle Abu-Talib, who treated him as his
own son, and through good report and bad report in after
years ever befriended him. In his youth, he accompanied
his nncle’s camels in the loug trading expeditions under-
taken at that time by Arab merchants. Naturally of a
reflective mind and of a melancholy disposition, the sights
he would witness and the stories he would hear, when
on those journeys, would make a lasting impression apon
him. TIn his twenty-fifth year he entered the service of
Khadlja, a rich widow of Mecca. She soon became fasci-
nated with the handsome bearing and noble features of the
youth, and an arrangement was quickly effected by which
she became his wife. ~Muohammad, by his marriage,
was raised to & position of affluence equal to that of the
other chiefs of the house of Koraish, As he advanced in
years, hiscontemplative tendencies increased, and, in order
that he might indulge the more in. meditation ecd prayer,
he frequently retired with his wife to the cave of Mount

Hira.

58. Muhammadanism.—Dissatisfiedwith the gross ido-
latrous worship of his own countrymenat the Ka'ba equally
" dissatisfied with Judalsm, withitsritual and bleeding sacri-
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fices ; and in his journeyings having seen Christianity
only in a corrupt form, with its followers paying adora-
tion to saints and images, he thought that there was need
of reformations and that the faith of man shonld be res-
tored to its original purity, which consisted of the worship
of the one God. Finally he declared that he was com-
missioned by God to proclaim this doctrine,

69. Muhammadan Conquests.—His first convert was
his wife. For the next two years he met with little
success. His enemies began to persecute him, and he was
finally obliged to flee from Mecca to Medina. The year
of his flight is called the Hijra, and from it the
Mghammadans make their computations. Until 622
the flight to Medina, Muhammad had declared  a.p.
that only persuasion, was to be nsed in furthering
his cause., But now he affirmed he was authorized to
employ force, and this, not only to compel conversion, but
also to exterminate unbelievers. The success of this new
doctrine was complete, for while Mubammad in
his first expedition had but nine followers ; before 632
his death, he bad reduced all Arabia under his  a.D.
control, and the idea of subduing the world had
taken possession of the Muhammadan mind. On the
death of Muhammad his followers continued their con-
quests. Within six years Egypt was subdued. Northern
Africa and Spain were over-run. Within a century after
the death of Muhammad the Mubammadans had pene-
" trated into the heart of France. )

We may mention here the course adopted by the Mu-
hammadans when invading a country. On approaching
the city they called on the people to embrace the Muslim
faith or pay tribute. If they refused, the city was stormed
all the fighting men in it wert put to death and their
wives sold as slaves. The trading part of the community
was unmolested. If the city agreed to pay tribute, the in-
habitants were allowed to have all their former privileges,
and to enjoy the free exercige of their own religion.

60. The first Muhammadan Invaslon of India,.—
While the Muhammadans were thus advancing on
the west, they were not slothful in the east. Persla 636
was invaded, and its power broken in the great  a.p.
battle of Cadesia. Subsequently, the “ victory
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of victories” gained by the Muhammadans on the plain of
Nahavend reduced Persia to fribute or the “ Faith.” In
664 an Arab force advanced as far as Kabul. Various
plundering expeditions followed, Early in the

711 eighth century Hajjaj, the Governor of Basra,
a.p. sent his nephew Muhammad Kasim against
Sindh, with the view of making a permanent con-

quest. The expedition was successful. Sindh for a time
- was conquered and became tribuiary, but only
750 for a time. The Musalman Arabs were again
A.p..  driven out of the country by the Ralputs. The
Hindos recoveréd the lost territory, and remain-

ed in possession of it for abont two hundred and fifty years.

CHAPTER IL

Tae Hovss ov Grazst—976 a:n. 10 1186 A,

The Turks in India. .
Lahore annexed to Ghasni,

Alptigin,
Sabaktigin. Somnath captured.
Mahmud of Ghazni. Death, character.

His twelve expeditions. Overthrowofthe House of Ghazni

61. House of Ghaznl.—The Muhammadan Arabs
had been driven out of India; but now, a new

1000 and most powerful Muhammadan people, was to
A.D. enter the land and take possession. Transoxiana
and Khorasan, had revolted against the Khalif of

Bagdad and become independent. For more than a century
the house of Samant had ruled over those states, and, under
Abdul Malik, the fifth prince of the house, Alptigin, rose
into importance. This Alptigin was g Turki slave, and it
is said of him, that he was originally employed “ to amuse
his master by tumbling aud tricks of legerdemain.”” Prov-
ing himeelf to be & man of ability and integrity, Alptigin
was raised by his master to be governor of Khorasan, bat
having incurred the displeasure of the smccessor of his
patroo, he was deprived of his government, and, to save his
life, fled with his adherents to Ghaznl and establisbed a
Muhammadan Government there. On his death, Sabak-
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tigin, who had originally been a slave from Turkistan,
bat who had risen to be the head of the Government,
married, the daughter of Alptigin and- succeeded to the
throne. He wag the founder of the House of Ghazni.
62. Sabaktigin.—875—996.—Scarcely had Sabaktigin
ascended the throne, when, Jelpal, Raja of Lahor, advanced
with an army against him ; but the Hindus interpreting a
shower of wind and rain and thunder as an evil omen,
forced their Rajd to enter into a treaty, whereby he pro-
mised to give fifty elephants and & large sum of money to
Sabaktigin. Jeipal no sooner found himself safe in his
own territory than he refused to send the money; and,

-calling ih the aid of the Rajas of AJmir, Dehll, Kalinger
and KanouJ, he awaited the arrival of Sabaktigin, who
advanced to the Indus to compel him to fulfil his promise.
Jeipal and his allies were .utterly defeated. The whole
country as far as the Indus was taken possession of by
Sabaktigin, and a governor was appointed over Peshawar.

63. ‘Mahmudof Ghaznl.—996 —1080.— Onthe deathof.
Sabaktigin, his son, the celebrated Sultan Mahmud, ascen-
ded the throne. Before his death he conquered.all Persia’
and a great part of India, but as he never removed the
seat of his government from Ghazni, he is always known
in history as Mahmud of Ghaznl.. Two motives seem to
have actnated this. man in life,—the glory to be obtained,
by establishing the Muhammadan faith in new countries,
and the desire of amassing immense wealth. For the ac-~
complishment of this double object, he fwelve times invaded
India.

64. The first Invasion,—The first invasion was direct-
ed against Jelpal of Lahor. The opposing armies
met near Peshawar. Jeipal, having been defeated, 1001
resigned his throne in favour of his son Anangpal ~ A.D.
and ascended the funeral pile. The second expedi-

. tion was against the Raja of Bhatia; the third, against
the chief of Multan. In the fourth expedition the Rajas
of Gwallor, Ujjain, Kalinger, Kanou}, Dehlf, and Ajmir:
united their forces to oppose bim, but in a battle 1008
fonght near Peshawar, the armies of Mabmud
were again successful,and the victory was followed
up by the plundering of the rich temple of Nagarkot.
The sums of money obtained by Mahmnd at this and other
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temples were enormously great though no doubt not so

' great as stated by Ferishta, the Mubammadan
1010 historian. In the fifth invasion Multan was taken ;

40, and in following year, in the sixth expedition,

Thaneswar was captured and the temple plun-
dered. The next two expeditions were against Kashmir
and Transoxlana.

The ninth Invasion.—The ninth expedition into India
wes on a much larger scale. Collecting an army of a
hundred thousand horse and twenty thousand foot, Mah«
mud resolved to penetrate into the heart of Hindustan.
He set out from Peshawar, and, keeping close to the
mouuntains, crossed the Jumna and arrived suddenly at the -
magnificent and wealthy city of Kanou). The Raja, taken
by surprise and nnable to uer resistance, at once surren-
dered and secured the friendship of the conqueror. Mah-
mud next attacked Muttra. When he had plundered the
city, broken the idols and profaned the temples, he return-
ed to Ghazni laden with treasure. '

The tenth Invaston.—The tenth expedition was directed

against Jelpal II. son of Anangpal. He had

1022 opposed Mahmud on his march to Kanouj. His

A.p. kingdom was now wrested from him and Lahor

was annexed to Ghaznl, This was the first

instance of tbe Muhammadans establishing themselves

permanently east of the Indus, and the date is important,

as marking the foundation of the future Muhammadan

empire in India. The eleventh expedition was against
Transoxlana. ‘

The twelfth Invasion.—The twelfth and most celebrated

expedition was against Somnath. The temple of

1022 Somnath,situated in Gujarat, was therichest, most

AD. frequented, most famous place of worship in all
: India. Tf Mahmud could advance thither and
pillage and destroy this sacred shrine, in addition to the
riches he might obtain, great glory might be gained, and
his name be handed down to posterity as one of the greatest
seonrges of the enemies of  the faith. ” To reach Somnath,
he bad to cross a desert three hundred and fifty miles
broad. With twenty thousand camels and an immense army
Mahmud left Ghazni, and through many difficulties pushed
on till he reached the doomed city. The Hindus opposed a
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determived resistance to the invaders. Again and again
were the Muhammadans driven back from the walls, but
at length, with a shout and irresistible charge, they rush-
ed in, and temple and gods fell into their hands. Mahmud
eotered the temple. The Brahmuns offered him large
sums of money not to destroy the idol. But Mahmud had
no greater ambition than to be handed down in history as
a “ breaker of idols” Somnath, an idol five yards highs,
was smashed to pieces, and then if is said it was found to
be filled with jewels- The real object of worship at Som-
nath was a eylinder of stone, so the story of the finding of
the jewels is prohjably a fabrication. Mahmud retired to
Ghazpi-the year following, and died there in the

year 1830 at the age of sixty-three. Before his 1030
death, he is said to have ordered all his riches to  a.D.
be laid ont before him, and to have wept that he

was 80 soon to leave them.

65. Mahmud’s character.—Mahmud was the most dis-
tinguished warrior of his time. He had all the elements
of greatoess—prudence, activity, courage to the very high-
est degree. His success in arms has gained him the high-
est military reputation, while the good order that prevail-
ed in his kingdom, notwithstanding his frequent absznce
from it, proves that he had great taleuts for Government.
The founding the Uaiversity of Ghagni, and the large sums
of money he gave to learned men, mark him out as one of the
most liberal sapporters of litcrature and arts of any age.

1¢ is of bat iittle interest to trace the subsequent his-
tory of the house of Ghazni. The dynasty continued for the
next one hundred and fifty years—a period marked by in-
ternecine wars, and much suffering to the people, Bahram,
the last of the Ghaznivede dynasty, having put Katb-ud-
din, & member of the Ghorlan family, to death under
circumstances of the greatest ignomwiny. Ala-ud-din,
brother of the murdered prince, vowed a bitter revenge.
Marching to Ghaeni, he set fire to the city, pulled down
all the monnments of the Ghaznivede kings, and pat the
inhabitants to death. Bahram fled. Ala-ud-dio mounted
the throve. And when Muohammad Ghori, his 1186
nephew, defeated the grandson of Bahram and AD
captured Lahor, the whole empire was transfer- -
red from the House of Ghazni to the House of Ghori.

4
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CHAPTER 1IL.
Tre Housk or GHORI
MuHaMMADAN AFGHANS CONQUER HIRDUSTAN.
1173 a.p. 10 1206 a.0.

Ghor. : Bakhtiyar Khilji.

Muohammad Ghori. . Conquest of Bihar and Ben-

Defeated at Thaneswar. gal. -

Dissensions amongst the Hin- | Kingdom®broken up into se-
dus. veral states. ’ -

Dehli taken. Kutb-ud-gjn, firet emperor of

Kanouj taken, Dehli.

Tue country that gave birth to the family thit over-
threw the house of Ghagni was situated im the Hinda Knsh.
It was called Ghor, from a fort of that name between
Ghazni and Herat. The founder of the family was viz-
wud-din Husain, a man of Afghan origin. His son, Ala-ud-
din, as we have seen, drove Bahram from the thronpe.
Ghias-ud-din succeeded Ala-nd-din. He was a weak
though amrable prince, and, considering the territory of
Ghor sufficient for himself, he banded over to his brother,
‘Shahab-ud-din, the renowned Muhammad Ghori, the
‘throne of Ghazni.

66. Muhammad Ghori—1186—1206.—O0n the capture
of Lahor and the fall of the Ghaznivede dynasty, Muham-
mad Ghori bad no rivals left. But he was not content
with the empire he had acquired. Mahmud of Ghazni
had invaded India, bad thereby amassed immense wealth
and gained for bimself a glorious name. Muhammad
Ghori would follow the example of the great Mahmud,
and add to his power and wealth by invading and, if
possible, conquering Hindustan.

87. Dissonsions among the Hindus.—The Hindus
were but ill-prepared to meet such aninvader. They were
divided into two irreconcilable parties, headed respectively
by the Rajas of KanouJ and Gujarat and the Raja of
Dehtt and AJmir. The jealousies and wars ever arising
between thoee parties, tended to weaken both ; and now,
when they should have united to oppose the common ene-
my, the Raja of Kanonj looked on with delight, when be
saw the throve of the Raja of Dehli imperilled. The
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result was, both were ntterly overthrown, and Hindustan
was conquered by the Muhammadans from the Indus te
the Bay of Bengal.

68. Muhammad Ghorl Invades Indla.—Muhammad
Ghori invaded India for the first time in 1189. He was
met in battle by Prithvi, Raja of Dehli and Ajmir, near
Thaneswar, where 80 many battles were after-
wards to be fought, and was so completely defeat- 1191
ed, that it was with difficalty he made good his AD.
escape across the Indus with the mere wreck of
his army. But this defeat only made Muhammad Ghori
the more resolved to aooomphsh his great object, the con-
quest of Hindustan. " Enraged at the cowardice his nobles
had showed iun this battle, Muhammad Ghori thought that,
by publicly disgracing them, he wonld make them more
valiant in the futare. His pumshment was a novel one.
He ordered bags of barley to be tied round their wecks,
and sent them through the streets of Ghazni, compelling:
them to eat, as they went along, after the manner of
donkeys. They were afterwards restored to favour, and
anotber opportunity was given them of recovering their
character.
~ 69. Dehll taken.—T'wo yeara lator, Muhammad Ghori
again appeared at the head of a large army, composed of
. Tartars, Turks and Afghans. Prithvi Raja once more

. advanced against him. The opposing armies once
more met at Thaneswar;but with a very different 1193
result. The Hindas were ntterly routed. Prithvi a.D.
Raja and many other chiefs were taken and slato,
and the Muhammadan power was firmly estabhshed in
India Ajmir fell into the hands of the conqueror.
Mahammad Ghori returned to Ghagni, carrying the spoil
with him. Katb-ud-din, who was originally a slave, was
left behind as Viceroy, and he followed wp his master’s
victories by taking Mirath and Dehll. The latter town
became the seat of the Government.

70. Hindustan conquered.—Next year Muhammad
returned, and advanced on Kanou]. Jalchand, the Raja,
had now caumse to repent his treachery in holding back
while Prithvi and others were fighting for their indepen-
dence. The combined strength of Dehli and Kanoaj might
have been sufficient to repel the invaders; but neither of
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them singly was a match for Muhammad Ghori. Jaichand
shared the fate of his refative, the Raja of Dehli. - His
army was routed at Chadrawar, and he himself slain. The
defeat of the Raja of Kanouj opened up the way for the
conquest of Bihar and Bengal. Within two years Bakh-
tiyar Khilji, a slave that had risen to a commandin the
army, over-ran the holy land of Magadha and plundered
the city of Bihar. The same general entered Bengal, which
submitted without a struggle. The capital was

1203 changed from Nuddea to Gaur, and remained
A.D. under the Muhammadans till 1765 Hindu tem-
ples were plundered and destroyed all along the

valleys of the Jumna and the Ganges, and mosques,
palaces and caravansaries built with the materials. When
on an éxpedition to Khorasan, Muhammad Ghori was
cruelly wurdered, while asleep in his tent, by a band of
Gakkars, & wild tribe living in the mountains north of the
Panjab. Within a period of little more thau ten

1206 years bhe had subdued the whole of Hindustan;

a.0.  with the exception of Malwa, and established a

permavnent Muhammadan Governmesnt there.

71. RaJputana.—It was at this time the Rajpat princes,
_ driven from their kingdoms, retired with their followers
into that region lying between the Indus and the Chambal,
which is known as Rajputana or Rajasthan, the land of
the Rajputs or Rajas. (Para 51.)

72. Dehll made the capital.—Muhammad left no sons.
The kingdom was soon broken up info separate states.
Bakhtlyar Khilil laid hold on Bibar and Bengal; while

Kutb-ud-din set np bis throne at Dehli, and
1206 formed Dehli into an independent kingdom.
AD. Kutb-uddin is-therefore, regarded as the first
of the liné of Muhammadan emperors that reigned

there, and the date 1206 should be remembered.
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CHAPTER_IV.
" Tae Stave Kings.

Tre SLAVES OF THE SULTANS OF GHor.
1206 a.pe T0 1290 A.D.

Kautb-ad-din, Nasxir-ud-din.

Chenghiz Kbhan, Balban,

The Mughals. Death of Prince Mahmud.
Kutb Minar. The Tartars and the Khiljis.
Rezia Sultan. Contest for the throne,

78. Kutb-ud-din.—1208-—1210.—The lifel of Kuth-ud-
din affords a good example of the manner in which many
Turki slaves rose to sovereignty in Asia. He was bought
originally by a man of wealth at Inshapur, and, having
received from him a good education, was afterwards pre-
sented to Mohammad Ghori. He so distingunished bimself
in Muhammad’s service, that the latter left him in charge
of the conquered territories of Debli and Kanouj, when he
himself returned to Ghor. On the death of Muhammad
Ghori, Kutb-ud-din ascended the throme of Dehli, and
after a veign of four years, during which he gained the
reputation of being & virtnous and just ruler, he was
succeeded by his son, Aram, who was soon dethroned
by Altamsh, his brother-in-law.

74. Altamsh—1210—1286.—1It was in this reign, that
Chenghiz Khan, with his Tartar hordes, burst on the
Mohammadan kingdoms west of the Indus, and laid waste
all the country as far west as the Caspian Sea- Those
Tartars oe Mughals, that were again and again to be the
scourge of Europe and Asia, are described “as agly no-
mades with yellow complexions, high cheek bones, flat
noses, small eyes and large mouths. They were covered
with vermin, and their smell was detestable. They plun-
dered towns and villages and carried off women and
children to serve as slaves.” Altamsh captured Gwallar,
that had revolted; took Ujjain and destroyed ifs celebrated
temples erected by Vikramaditya 1200 years before; and
annexed Malwa to the throne of Dehli. In this reign the
Kutb Minar evas erected or finished near Dehli. It was
80 named, after Kntb-ud-din, & celebrated Muhammadan
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saint. It is in the form of a minaret, two hundred and
forty-two feet high, and is one of the highest columns in
the world. Altamsh died in 1236. His worthless son was
deposed after a reign of seven months, and Rezia, sister of
the deposed king, raised to the throne with the title of
Sultan. :

75. Rezia—1236—1239.—Rezia was 2 woman of con-
siderable talents for business, and for a time she raled well,
introducing many salutary reforms inte the internal gov-
ernment -og the kingdom. She showed & preat partiality,
however, for one of her slaves. This irritated the nobles,
who rose in revolt and took her prisoner. She was given,
in charge to Altunia, the leader of the conspiracy, and he
afterwards married her. In an attempt to regain the
throne, Rezia was taken prisoner and put to death along
with her husband. The two following reigns occupy six
years, after which Nazir-ud-din, grandson of Altamsh, who
had been long kept in confinement, ascended the throne.

76. Nazir-ud-din—1245—1266.—Nazir-ud-din selected
Ghias-ud-din Balban, & Turki slave, as his prime minister.
He proved himself to be one of the ablest statesmen of the
time. Under his administration Gbazni was annexed to
the throre of Dehli, and the other Hindu states were re-
duced to a complete state of subjection. The private life
of Nazir-und-din was that of & hermit. His personal ex-
penses were met from the sale of books, which he copied
with his own bands. His meals were cooked by his wife,
and, thongh she complained that she burnt her fingera in
eooking, he refused to allow her a servant. He was a
great patron of Persian literature. ‘

77. Balban—1266—1287.—On the death of Nazir-ud-
din, Balban, who was already in possession of all the
powers of king, ascended the throne, The only serious
rebellion he had to encounter was that of Tughral,
Governor of Bengal. - Against this rebel be marched in
person, and having utterly defeated bim, put him ard every
member of his family to the sword. In another expedi-,
tion against Mewat, Balban put & large number of persons
to death, Though excessively cruel, he has gained the re-
putation of being a liberal and enlightened morarch. Many
of the princes of those kingdoms west of the Indus, whose
territories had been over-ran by the Mughals, fled to his
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Court, and were received and entertained by him. At one
time he bad as many as fifteen princes [depending on his
bounty. Following those princes came many learned 'men ;
and as Mubammad, Balban’s son, was exceedingly fond
of literatare, they too had a ready welcome given them.
. The Mughals again crossed the Indus. Prince Muhammad
was sent with an army against them. He gained a
complete victory, but was himself slain. Balban, who was
now in his eightieth year, was so affected by the news of
his son’s death that he is said to bave died of & broken
heart. His snceessor, Kalk-u-bad, ‘was a youth solely
addicted to pleasure. A contest for power arose between
the Tartar mercenaries who had becowe converts to the
Muslim faith, and who possessed conmsiderable political
power at Dehli, and the chiefs of the Khilji tribe. The
Tartars were defeated. Kaik-u-bad, the young king, was
assassinated, and Jalal-ud-din, chief of the family of
Khill, ascended the throne. ‘

CHAPTER V.

Taz House or KmiLy1,—1209 a.n. To 1320 a.p.
+ The Khiljis. . Malik Kafur.
Jalal-ud-din’s Government. Intermarriages,
First invasion of the Dakban] The Dakhan over-run.
by the Muhammadans, The Bellal dynasty ended.
Alp-ud-din, Mubarak, -
Gujarat subdued, Khusraz Khan,
Rajputana subdaed. Growth of the Hindu power.,

78. The Khiljis.—The Khiljis were a Tartar family
that had settled in Afghanistan. From an early time they
seern to have been closely connected with the Afghans;
so much so, that they efterwards came to be regarded as
Afghans or Pathans.

79. Jalal-ud-din—1290-1295.—Jalal-ud-din wasseven-
ty years of age when he assumed the reins of government.
He almost immediately put to death the infant son of the
Iate king. This, however, was the only act of cruelty
committed by him during his reign. He went, indeed, to
the other extreme, in beiug too lenient to his personal
enemies and to the enemies of the State. The resnlt was,
the anthority of his government was weakened, and crime
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increased thronghout the country. His reign, however, is
a memorable one, for in it took place the first of those
expeditions by which the Dakhan was finally rendered
subject to the Muhammadan arms.

80. FirstInvasion ofthe Dakhan.—Ala-ud-din,nephew

of Jalal-ud-din and Governor of Korah and Oudh,
1294 resolved toinvade the Dakhan. He was a man of
A.D.  great vigour and ability, but thoroughly unscru-
pulous. At the head of eight thousand men he
marched south, and suddenly presented himself before the
walls of Deogirl (Daulatabad), the capital of Ramdéo, Raja
of Maharashtra. The Raja was quite unprepared to meet
8o sudden an attack, and, Ala-ud-din, having given out
that his force was only the advance guard of a mighty
army led by the king in person, Ramdeo was glad to make
peace by paying an enormous tribute, and Ala-ud-din
returned, laden with money and jewels. Elichpur and its
dependencies were likewise given up to the king of Dehli.
When Jalal-ud-din heard of the success of Ala-ud-din who
- had set out on this expedition without his permission, he
went to meet him to receive the plunder. His nephew
induced him to come and bave an interview with him alone,
and while the old man was clasping Ala-ud-din’s band
and speaking words of love and tenderness to him, he
was stabbed by assassins who bad been concealed for-the
purpose. :

81. Ala-ud-din—1295—13816.—Ala-ud-din advanced to
Dehli and put the young princes to death. His govern-
ment was very different from that of his predecessor. A
mau of iron will and great energy, he quickly put down
the rebellions that arose in the early- part of his reign.
Two years after he ascended the tbrone, he led his army

against Gujarat, whose Raja bad asserted his in-
1297 dependence, and subdued it. Again and again

A.n,  he bad to encounter the Mughals, who,”on_ one

occasion, advanced even as far as Debli.

82, Rajputana Invaded.—Ala-ud-din next turned his
attention to Rajputana. He had already practically gone
round it. He had passed its eastern border on his way to
Deogiri He had subdued the land west of it when he
conquered Gujarat, and on the north he had more than
once driven back the Mughals. But into the heart
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of Rajpatana be had not yet ventured. Now he resolved
to do so. To this land the Rajput princes had retired on
the overthrow of their kingdoms by Muhammad

Ghori, and had tbere formed a kind of feudal 1303
suzerainty, having one supreme chieftain, called  a.p.
the Maharaja Adhtraj, whom all the other Rajas

had to assist in war when called on to do so. A prince of
Kanouj had founded a state in Mhairwara. Another, a
prince of Ayodbya, bad founded a state at Chitor. At
this time the Raja of Chitor was the acknowledged sunze-
rain of all the Rajput princes, as at the present day his
descendant, the Rana of Udaipur, is the acknowledged
head of the Hindus. Chitor was in the centre of Rajputaua.
Thither, Ala-nd-din led his troops. Bat he met with a
resistance, such as he bad not experienced from the
weaker Hindas of tne sonth, and which, from the self-
devotion of the Rajputs, has rendered the siege of Chitor
remarkable in history. When the Rajputs could wo
longer bold out, the ladies of the nobles and the queen,
rather than be exposed to the violence of the iuvaders,
mouunted the funeral pile, performing the terrible rite
known as johur. The men, rushing out against the
enemy sword in band, perished almost to a man. The
few that escaped fled to the Aravali Hills., -

83, Maharashtra subdued.—Those disturbances in
Hinduostan had prevented Ala-ud-din from making fur-
ther incursions into the Dakban. But in 1306 an army
was assembled under Mallk Kafur, a slave captared
at the siege of Gujarat. With this army, Malik Kafur
over-ran the Mabratta country, took Deogiri and forced
the king to yield submission to the throne of Debli. In
this expedition, Dewal Devl, danghter of the Raja of
Gujarat, was captured and taken to Debli. Khizr Khan,
the Kiog’s eldest son, was 8o captivated with her beanty,
that he married her—an interesting fact, as showing that
even at this early time intermarriages took place between
the Mobammadans and the Hindus.

84. South India over-run.—Three years later Kafar
led an expedition into Telingapa ; captured War- :
angal, the capital ; and condemned the Raja to 1306
pey permanent tribute. The next expedition was  4.p.
directed against Karnata, which was under the
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- Bellal family. After a great battle, Dwara Samudra,
the capital, was taken and the Raja made prisoner. The
invaders continued their advance on the Coro-
1311 mandel Coast as far as Rameswaram, where Kafur
Ap. erected a mosque in memory of his victories. - He
then returned to Dehli, laden with riches, the

plunder of the Dakhan.

85. Death ofAla~ud-din.—By this time Ala-ud-din
had fallen into ill-health and become very irritable and
suspicious. Some of his Mughal converts baving entered
into a conspiracy against him, he pnt no fewer than
fifteen thousand of them to death. Rebellions broke out
in different parts of his kingdom. Gujarat revolted. Hamir,
son of the Raja, recovered Chitor, Insurrections broke
out in the Dakhan. While matters stood thus the king
died ; it is supposed, was poisoned. The anprincipled
Kafur immediately put out the eyes of the two eldest sous
of the late king and tried to murder the third. A terrible
retribution awaited bim- Within thirty-five days  after
Kafur had seized the government, he fell by the hands of
an assassin. .

86. Mubarak—1316—1320..—Mubarak, the third son,
was then placed on the throne, and showed bis ingratitude
to the two officers who bad been insfrumental in raising
him to power, by putting them both to death. His cruel
character was further seen in his depriving his infant
brother of sight; and when he had marched into the
Dakban and captured the rebel, Harpal, he ordered him
to be flayed alive, The following years of Mubarak’s life
were spent in the most shameless and odious debanchery.
The Government was entrusted to a favorite slave, Khus-
rau Khan by name, who had no soaner strengthened him-
self by appointing creatares of his own to the most import-
ant offices of the state than he murdered his raaster, and
took possession of the vacant throue. .

87. Khusrau Khan.—This Khusran Khan was a Hin-
du convert of the lowest caste, and though he was pro-

claimed Sultan, under a Muhammadan vame, he

1310 scems still to have favoured the Hindus. All
AD. the adherents of the old Mahammadan dynas?y
were massacred. Hindu idols were set up m

the mosques, and the princes, Dewal Devi, was taken
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into his own harem. Had be been a man of high caste,
and been able to gather around bim the Hindu chiefs, the
Mubhammadan power might have been imperilled. But the-
Hindu nobles could have no sympathy with a man of his
low birth ; and when Ghazl Khan Taghlak, Governor of’
the Panjab, marched on Dehli with his soldiers trained
in the wars against the Mughals, he soon routed the dis-
orderly rabble that surrounded Khusrau, put the usurper
to death, and ascended the throne ander the title of Ghi
ud-din, the first of the Taghlak dynasty. .

" CHAPTER VI.

TrE TagHLAK DYNAsT?~~1320 A.p. TO 1414 A;J.

Ghiaa-ud-din. - ¢ Revolts,
Mohammad Taghlak. Firuz Shah,
Character. Anarchy.
Invasion of China. Tamerlane,
The State bankrupt, Extent of the Empire,
Inhabitants of Dehli removed |

to Deogiri.

+ " 88, Ghias-ud-din Taghlak Shah—I320—1325.—Ghias-
ud-din Taghlak was the son of a Turki slave. He set np
his court at Taghlakabad, a strong fort a few miles from
Dehli, and not at Dekls itself. This is a fact that onght
to be remembered, for it would seem to show that the
Hindu parties in Dehli were still powerful, and that the
Turk bad begun te fear the Hindu. * The four years du-
ring which Gbias-nd-din Taghlak occupied the throne,
were spent by him in restoring order in the internal ad-
ministration of the country. On his return from Bengal,
whither he had gone to settle disturbances that bad arisen
in that Province, his son, Ulugh Khan, whom he had left
a8 Viceroy during his absence, received him most royally
in & wooden palace erected for the occasion. Whether it
was an accident or not, most probably the latter, no sooner
bad Ulugh Khan retired from the building than it fell,
and both his father and younger brother perisbed.

;, 89. Muhammad Taghlak—1325—1351.—Ulugh Khan
ascended the throne unnder the title of Muhammad Bin
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Taghlak. The character of this man was a compound of
the highest virtues, and the grossest and most horrible
vices. He is admitted to have been the most eloquent
and accomplished prince of his time—a man, regular in
his devotions and temperate in his living, a liberal sup-
porter of learning, and in war a brave and gallant soldier.
Yet, with all those talents and accomplishments,  so little
died be hesitate to shed the blood of God’s creatures, that
when be took vengeance, it seemed as if he wished to
exterminate the human family.” Mubammad Taghlak,
having reduced the Dakhan, next formed the mad project
of conquering the world. An army of one hundred thousand
men was sent throngh the passes of the Himalayas acainst
China, but only a few returned to tell of their defeat and
sufferings, and- those few were put to death by order of
the king.  The Mughals appeared again in India during
this reign, 'and Mohammad Taghlak bought them off with
the treasures carried to Dehli by Ala-ud-din. /]

90. Paper money.—The cost ofthe expedition to China
and the large bribes given to the Mughals emptied the
treasury. Muhammad Taghlak bad heard that the Chirrese
used paper money. He resolved to do the sume. Copper
counters were struck, and the people were ordered to
receive them as gold money. Kxport trade for a short
time increased to an enormous extent. Merchants were
delighted to pay for their goods in base copper counters
and sell them for gold in other lands, but no merchant
would carry his goods to India. Consequently, aftera
time, trade was paralyzed and the conntry ruined. Tribute
was paid in copper, and almost every honse soon became a
mint for issuing false counters. Loads and loads of coun-
ters weretaken to Taghlakabad, and, in the treasury there,
there was neither gold nor silver to give in exchange for
them. Maohammad Taghlak’s position wasworse than ever.
His demands on the people became greater and greater,
1ill in despair theryots left their rice-fields and took refuge
in the jungles, Where they lived by rapine. Muhammad
Taghlak took a terrible revenge. Ordering out his army,
ag if for a hant, he surrgunded a large extent of country,

- and then driving all the people within this circle towards
the centre, he ordered them to be slanghtered. Again
"and again this species of hut was indulged in. Famine
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followed, and misery beyond description. Tn the midst of
this, all the inhabitants of Dehli were ordered to remove
to Deogiri. It was a long journey. Deogiri lay more
than seven hundred miles away. The unfortunate people
had to cross mountains, ford rivers, and penetrate through
jungles on their way thither. Worn out with fatigne and
famine they died of in thousands, and the few that
arrived at Deogiri were reduced to such misery, that ab
last Mohammad allowed the survivors to return to their
old homes, Ty

91. Revolts.—Revolts burst out in different parts of
the empire. *Bengal took up arms and gained its
independence. The country on the Coromandel 1340
coast followed in 1347 with similar success. Two  A.D,-
independent principalities were established there,
the powerful Hioda kingdom of Vijianagar and the Bah-
mini kingdom. Muhammad died at Tatta in 1351, * leaving
the repntation of being one of the most accomplished

“princes and most infamous tyrants, that ever adorned or
disgraced human natare.”

92. Flruz Shah—I1351—1388.—Firuz Shah, nephew of
the late king, succeeded. His reign was on the whele a
peaceful one, and is best remembered in connection with
the construction of public works. Chief among these was
the canal bet ween the Jumna snd the Kagear, two hundred
miles of which have since been restored by the British
Government. ’

93. Anarchy.—On the death of Firiz, anarchy broke
out anew end the land was deluged with blood. Within
the next ten years no fewer than four kings occupied thé
throne. Gujarat, Malwa, Kandesh and Jaunpur threw off
the yoke of Dehli, and Dehli itself was torn by factions.
While the country was in this tate of confusion, the
Mughals, under the command of Timur (Tamerlane),
entered India by Kabul. Timur marched onwards, mas.
sacring the inhabitants as he advanced. On one occasion,
no fewer than one hundred thousand prisoners were put
to death, as he found it ingonvenient to have to
feed g0 many. Dehli was Yeached and captured, 1399
and the inhabitants were put to the sword. But  aD.
permanent conquest was not Timur’s ambition,

He returced by Mirath, leaving the country in a state of

5
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anarchy, famine and pestilence, The last of the Taghlak
. dynasty was Mabmud. He died in 1412,

CHAPTER VII.

Tae Saxvip axp Lopr DyNastIEs.
1414 a.p. T0 1526 a.p.

Khizr Xhan, " Buhlol Lodi.
Mabhammad. Jaunpur conquered.
Ala-nd-din. Bihar recovered.
The empire reduced to Dehli, Revolts.

and its environs. First battle of Panipat.

94. Khizr Khan—1414—1421.—Khizr Khan, a descen-~
dant of the Prophet and a native of India, was Goveruor of
Maultan. In 1414 he assumed authority at Dehli and
affected to reign in the name of Timur. As a descendant
of Muhammad he was a Sayyid, and hence he is known as
the first of the Sayyid dynasty. He annexed his own
principality of the Panjab to Dehli, but was unable to sub-
due any of the states that bad revolted and asserted their
independence. '

95. Muhammad—1483—1440.—During the reign of -
Muhammad, the third of this dynasty, the Sultan of Jaun-
pur seized some of the territory of Dehli, and the king of
Malwa attacked the capital itself.

96. Ala-ud-din—1440—1450.—Ala-ud-din, the son of
Muhammad, was a very weak prince, and, during his
reign, the kingdom of Dehli was still further reduced. In
1450 Ala-ud-din retired on a pension to Budaon, and
Buhlol Lodi, the first of the Lod! dynasty, ascended the
throne. .

. @7. Extent of the kingdom of Dehll.i—In the earlier
part of the reign of Muhammad Taghlak, the kingdom of
Dehli extended to the Bimalayas in the north and from the
Industo the Bay of Bengal, and included all the Coromandel
coast, except Orissa, as far weWt as a line roughly drawn
from Bombay to Rameswaram. Within little more than a
century, this extensive kingdom was so broken up b\y the
misrule of its emperors, and eonsequent revolts of its
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snbjects, that, at the end of the Sayyid dynasty, all that
remained of it was the town of Dehli and a few miles of
territory around if. v

98. Buhlol Lodl—1450—1488.—Bghlol Lodi was a
man of a different stamp from the later kings of the
Sayyid dynasty. The great object of his reign was to
extond his kingdom, and restore Dehli to something like
its former pre-eminence. Jaunpur had become the rival
of Dehli, and a stroggle for smpremacy was carried on
between those two states for $hirty-six years with varying
success. Dehli finally proved the stronger. “ The king
of the East,” as the ruler of Jaunpur was. called, was
forced to flee into Bengal, and his kingdom was annexed.
On the death of Bahlol Lodi the kingdom of Dehli extend-
ed from the Punjab to Bengal. In the next reign, Bihar
was recovered.

89, Ibrahim—1517—1526.—Ibrahim, the last of the
Lodi line, succedeed. He alienated the nobles by his
cruelties and haughty bearing. Bihar rose in revolt and
gained its independence. Daulat Lodi, the Governor of
the Panjab, took up arms; and having asked Babar and
his Mughals to comé to his assistance, they invaded
Hindustan. The opposing armies met at Panlpat, 1526.
Ibrahim was defeated and slain. The Afghan rule in
India for a time was at an end, and its place was taken -
by that of the Mughals.
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CHAPTER VIIIL

‘HishorY or TEE DAKHAN DURING THE EARLY
MunramMmapany PErioD.
1350 a.p. 10 1565 A.p.
The Bahmini Kingdom.—Vijianagar.
Rise of the Bahmini kingdom. The Saltan marries thedaugh-

The Babmini kingdom broken [  ter of Dera Raj.
up into five kingdoms. Tirmal Raj.

Rise of Vijianagar, Battle of Talikota,

Maassacre of Hindus. .

Tre Dakhan bas more than once been mentioned in con-
nection with the history of the Afghan and Turki rale
io Hindustan. It may be well to gather together those
scattered references, so that a clearer snotion of the condi-
tion of Southern India in the beginning of the sixteenth
century may be formed. )

100. Early Afghan conquests.—At the time of the
earliest Mubammadaninvasions,the Dakhan and the South-
ern Peninsula were divided into several states. Ramdeo,
the first Mahratta prince we read of, was ruling at Deogiri ;
the Andra dynasty at Warangal in Telingana; while
€arther south, the Bellal Rajas carried on their Government
at Dwara Samudra in Maisur. We have seen how Ala-ud.

din Khilji, at the head of eight thousand cavalry,

1294 suddenly presented himself before Deogiri, and
4.p. compelled Ramdeo to pay him tribute, and to give -

up to Dehli the territory of llichpur; how Malik

Kafur, during the same reign, again and again led his

armies southwards, plundering and destroying the

1306 temples, until he had over-run the whole country

A.p. as far south as Ramesvaram ; how Kafur over-

to threw the Bellal Rajas, and took their capital;

1312 how he compelled Warangal to become tributary,

_aA.p, and how, when Muhammad Taghlak ascended

the throne, almost all Southern India was under

the Mohammadan power. From the reign of Muhammad

Taghlak two very powerful states date their origin. The

one was the Mubammadan Babmini kingdom, the other,

the powerful Hindu kingdom of Vijianagar.
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10l. Rise of the Bahminl Kingdom.—The founder of

this kingdom was Najar Khan, an Afghan, the
slave of a Brahroan called Gango. Heading some

rebels that bad fled from Gujarat to the Dakhan,

he set np a separate independent kingdom at Kai-
barga, and assumed the title of Sultan Ala-ud-
din Hasan Gango Bahmini. The latter two
names he adopted no doubt out of gratitude to

1347
AD.

to
1526
A,

his old master. The Bahmini kingdom lasted for more
than one hundred years, when it was broken up into five
separate kingdom with independent Saltans. These were
Bedar in the centre, Barar and Ahmadnagar on the north,
and Bljapur and Golkonda cn the sonth.

102. Rise of Vijlanagar.—On the capture of Warangal

by the Muhmmadans many of the Hindus fled
from the place, and founded a town on the Tun-
gabhadra and called it Vijianagar. The city
grew to such an extent during the next centory
that it was twenty-four miles in circnmference,
and ita roins are still of great interest. The Raja

1336
A.D-
to
1565

A.D.

of Vijianagar, Krishna Ral having refnsed to acknow-
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ledge himself a vassal of the Saltan of Kalbarga, the
latter vowed he would not-rest till he had put to death
thousands of the infidels (Hindus). He invited the
country and put man, woman and child to the sword.

- Krishna Raj, on the entreaty of the Brahmans, who said
he had offended the gods, at last yielded, and both he and
the Sultan were so horror-stricken with the sight of so
much bloodshed, that they resolved for the fature that
mone but the fighting men should be elain in war, -

‘108. Dera Ra).—In 1400 Dera Raj invaded the Sultan’s
territory. But one evening, when he was giving a great
dancing entertainment in a large pavilion in his camp,
eight of the Sultan’s followers entered in the disguise of
danging girls, and stabbed the son of the Maharaja to the
heart. - The lights were pat ont and the murderers escaped.
In the darkness, and while all in the camp was in a state
iof confusion, the Sultan’s army fell upon the Hindus and
massacred them in great numbers. The Sultan afterwards
.married the daughter of Dera Raj, and the festivities
attendant thereon, formed one of the great events of the
period. . . :

104.  Tirmal Ra}—On the dismemberment of the
Bahmini kingdom, and the consequent comparative weak-
ness of each of the separate states into-which it was
divided, the power of Vijianagar increased. -The Sultans
fought amongst themselves, and Vijiansgar was called .in
to assist the one side against-the other. Nothing could
be more pleasing to the Hindus than this. With their
strong religious animosity and national antipathy to the
Afghans, how the Hindus must bave gloried in seeing
Muhammadan killing Mohammadan, and how readily must

they have joined in assisting in their destruction | When

the mad Tirmal was Maharaja, the Mohammadans were
admitted into the capital to help him against his own
subjects who had rebelled against him, and he himself
became the vassal of the Sultan of Bijapur. This exaspe-
rated the nobles. Headed by Ram Raj they prevailed on ,
Tirmal to bribe the Muhammadans to leave the country, .
"and then they marched to Vijianagar. Tirmalcommitted
suicide, and Ram Raj mounted the throne. . .
105. Fall of Vijlanagar.~The Srltans discovered their
fally. They saw that if they were to be & permanent
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power in Southern India, they must unite, and put an end
for ever to the Hindn kingdom. The Hecisive battle was
fought at Talikota. The Mabaraja was slain,

and Vijianagar, the metropolis of the last of the 1565
Hindn empires, was taken and plundered. The a.p,
empire of Vijianagar, fell fo pieces. Many of the

princes that held their estates from Vijianagar on military
tenare declared themselves independent, and many petty
Hindu principalities were set up under petty princes, who
had besn commanders in thearmy, and who, subsequently,
became zemindara or poligars.” The brother of Ram Raj,
settled at Chandragiri, and it was from him the English
received a grant of the site of Ma.dra.a in 1639.

Leading Dates of the Early Muohammadan Period.

A.D.
Sindh conquered by the Arabs.............. 711
Sindh. recovered by the Rajputs... 750

Sabaktigin, founder of the .'E{ouse of
Ghazni. seeeerveriernirneevecnneneecisivereeen. 975

Mahmud of Ghazni... e erererenenes  996-—1030
Mahmud’s first expedltxon into Tndia. . 1001
Lahor annexed to Ghazni..:.... 1022
Somnath plundered (twelfth expedl-

L2001 R cereeeeneres 1024
First battle of Thaneswsr me vessenaenneeses 1191
Second battle of Thaneswar......... 1193

Bengal subdued by Muhammad Ghon.._ 1203 :
Sultan Regia. .........e00.. crerennees 1236—1239
First invasion of the Da.khan oo 1294 .
Ala-ud-din attacks: Ra.]puta.na.. vresemiass 1303

The south of the Peninsula conquered.... 1309—1311-
Timar invades India......ccceereevnverennnne. 1399

The Bahmini Kingdom........ccccu0vseunn... 1347—1526
Kingdom of Vijianagar........e,e.eevioeeree 1336—1564
First battle of Panipat.... .. 1526,
Battle of Talikota.... 1565
Madras granted to the Enghsh cenereen, 1633
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Early voyages. Alphongo Albuquerque.
The Nayars, - Defence of Diu.

Vasco de Gama. Decline of the Portuguese
Alvarez Cabral, Power.

106. Early voyages.— While the Peningula was in this
distracted condition, the Pdifuguese, a people new to
India, landed on the Malabar coast. The nations of wes-
tern Europe, at the end of the fifteenth centnry, were strong-
1y actuated by a desire for maritime enterprise, and espe-
cially by a desire to find out a way to India by Sea. For
centuries all goods passing from India to Europe had to be
conveyed by the Red Sea, through Egypt to Alexandria
and shipped thence to Venice or Genoa. The trade was
entirely in the hands of Arab Muhammadans, who were
known as Moors, and the Sultan of Egypt realized a large
revenue from the transit duties on the goods that passed
through his country, If another route to India conld be
discovered, the nations in the west of Europe might be

enriched . by trading with the east. - Fleet after
fleet was, therefore, got ready for sea. The Spa-
niard sent a flset under Columbus, who sailed
*west until he reached the islands of the New
World, now known as the West Indies. Some
years before, Bartholomew Diaz, a Portugnese, had sailed
with a small fleet round the south of Africa, and,

1487 from the tempestuous wedther he had experien-
A.p.  ced, had called the most southern part of that
continent the “ Cape of Storms.” But the king

of Portugal, considering this discovery hopeful of his find-
ing a passage to India by that route, gave it the name of
the Cape of Good Hope, the name by which it is still
known. Ten years elapsed before the Portu-

1497 guese took advantage of the discovery they had
Ap. made. InJuly 1497 a fleet of three ships under
the. command of Vasco de Gama set sail from

Lisbon, and, havingtdoubled the Cape of Good Hope, an.

1492

-

chored off Callcut on the 28th May 1498, sxxty seven years

before the battle of Tallkota.
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107. The Nayars.—The people on the western coast

were very different from those living on the platean of

‘ the Dakhan; aud, separated from the Dakhan by the
Ghats, they seem to have known bat little of the civil and
internecine wars that were raging east of those mounntains.
They were a dark-complexioned race, and were more or
less under the Brahmans. They were called Nayars, and
they occupied much the same position relatively to the
agriculturists amongst whom they lived, as the Rajputs

. did to the ryots in northern India- The country was
distributed among twelve petty Rajas, known as the
twelve kings of Malabar, and- those held their Jand on

. fendel tenare from the Zamorin of Calicut who was head
over all.

108, Vasco de Gama.—To the Zamorin of Calicut,
Vagco de Gama sent a message, announcing his arrival ag
an ambassador from the king of Portugal. The Zamorin
at first received bim very favorably; but the Moors,
seeing that the monopoly of the trade which they had so
long enjoyed wonld be taken away from them, if the
Portoguese were to get a footing in the land, rdpresented
to the Zamorin that Vasco de Gama was not an ambas-
sador from a king, buf a pirate chief, who, having with
his crew been driven ont of Enropean waters, had come
into Asia to carry on his depredations there. The Za-
worin bad given Vasto de Gama a house for his goods,
and the goods had been landed, but now—so much in-
fluence did the Moors possess—the men placed ‘in charge
of the merchandise could neither buy nor sell, and, when
they made representations to the Zamorin, they soon found
themselves prisoners. ¥asco de Gama, in turn, )
seized several Nayars and retained them as pri- 1499
soners till his men were released. When thiswas  a.D.
done, Vasco de Gama returned the principal =~
captives ; but detained several and took them back with
him to Portugal, which he reached in 1499.

109. Alvarez Cabral.—The success of Vasco de Gama
inspired the Portuguese with the ntmost enthusiasm.

+ No time was lost in equipping another fleet eufficiently
strong to maintain snpremacy in all the eastern seas, and
Alvarez Cabral, & distinguished admiral, was appointed
to the command. The fleet arrived off Calicut, and again
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the Zamorin at first received the Portuguese graciously
and even allowed them to build a factory. But the Moors.
were as hostile as ever, and, while they had no difficulty -
in securing cargo for their ships, Cabral could neither
buy nor sell in Calicut. Enraged at this,and having
made representations to the Zamorin without avail,
Cabral seized one of the ships of the Moors that had just
been filled with rich merchandise, and transferred its
~ valuable contents to his own vessels. This was just what
the Moors had wanted. Vasco de Gama had carried off .
as prisoners several of the inhabitants ; Cabral had seized
one of the ships of the Moors and taken its cargo. What
further evidence did the Zamorin and the Nayars in Cali-
cut require to prove that those foreigners were pirates ?
The whole town was soon up in arms. The factory was at-
tacked and taken ; fifty of the Portugnese were slain ; and
the booty was divided, the Zamorin receiving his share.
Cabral took his revenge. He seized several of the Moorish
ships in the harbour, transferred their cargoes to his own
ships, made the crews prisorers, set fire to Calicut in
several places and then sailed. for Cochin. The Raja of
_ Cochin, who had a hereditary fend with the
1501 Zamorin, thonght those strangers would be useful
A.p, allies in agsisting him to free himself from hig
. vassalage. Cabral, accordingly, received a hearty -
welcome. An agreement was entered inbo by which the
Portuguese were allowed to erect a fort at Cochin, and
they bad no difficulty in securing cargo.. After visiting
* Cannanore, Cabral retarned to Portugal in 1501.

110. Alphonso Albuquerque—1506-—1519.—0ther
expeditions followed. One of those, commanded by
Francisco Almeyda, with the title of Vieceroy of India,
sailed from Portugal in 1505.  But the real founder of the
Portugunese supremacy in the east was Alphonso Albu-
querque, who succeeded Almeyde as Viceroy. He per-
ceived, that to maintain & Permanent footing, it woula be
necessary for the ‘Portuguese nof only to have factories

in the towns on the coast, but to have a city and
1506 territory of their own, where they might establish -
AD. acapital and safely moor their ships. Calicut
was attacked, but the Portuguese after suffering

groat loss bad to withdraw. The town of Goa, situated on
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a fertile island tweuty-three miles in cmeumfGréhe@ neﬁ
attracted Albuquerque’s attention. Thé\Sul ‘that
place was absent on a war expedition. bq
could capture Goa, he would have a secure
his fleet and would obtain a centre from which
he might extend his conquests. Goa fell into 1510
his bands, and he immediately proceeded to a.n.
fortify it in the strongest way. Albuquerque
then began to realize his dreams of conquest, and within
a few years established the Portugnese snpremacy on the
seas from Ormaz o the Moluccas. In 1515 Albuquerque
was deprived of his office by his ungrateful ‘sovereign and
died when approaching Goa. .Before his death

the Portugnese conquests had reached their ut- 1519
most limits, and few events of importance mark  a.p.
the subsequent annals of thaf people in the east.

The policy of building forts, first adopted at Cochin, was
followed. One fort. was built at Basin, another at Diu,
‘others in the Konkan, others at Mangalore and Onore,
while another was built on $he Hugll.

L. . Defence of Diu—The Portuguese thus %bsorbed
the whole trade in the East, and, as the merchandise was
conveyed round the Cape of Good Hope and not as former-
ly through Egypt, the revenue of the Sultan of that coun-
try euffered greatly. On two occasions a fleet was sent
from Suez to put down the Portuguese. On the second occa-
sion the Torks were joined by the Sultan of Gujarat,
and Diu was attacked. The combined armies nnmbered
twenty-seven thousand men. The Portugueso were only
six hundred strong. The Portuguese displayed the
utmost bravery, the women vying with themenin 1538
courage and enthasiasm. While the men wereen-  A.D.
gaging the enemy, the women employed them-
selves in repairing the wall§ that were shattered by the
enemies’ cannon. But each succeeding attack reduced
their number. At last, when only forty men were left
capaple of bearing arms, and the garrison was redueed
to snch extremities that they were on the point of surren.
dering, to their intense joy they saw the Sultan’s fleet sail
away for Egypt.

112, Decline of the Portuguese power.—From the
close of the sixteenth century the power of the Portuguese
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declined. The Dutch freed themselves from the yoke of
Spain and sooh became the first naval power in Europe.
Despatching a fleet into the eastern seas they took the:
Moluccas and established their snpremacy there. Persia
geized Ormaz. Shah Jahan utterly overthrew the power
of the Portuguese in Bengal; while, on the west coast
they were forced to pay tribute to the Mahrattas in 1662.
And when they lost Basin in 1739, their power was effect-
ually crippled in India. The only places in India now
belonging to Portugal are Goa, Din, and Daman.

Leading Dates.

AD,
Bartholomew Diaz doubles the Cape of Good Hope,., 1487
Vasco de Gama arrives at Calicut..s....,...eceverene.. 1498

Albugquerque takes Gof......coivereraneseceniarirenieenns 1510
Death of Albuquerque...... crrerereennersesssernnessiocenss 1019
Din attacked by the Turks.......coeerrerrernseraen,iiens 1538
Basin captured by the Mahrattas..eei.e.iiieersneriese, 1739

‘



RISE OF THE MUGHAL EMPIRE.

CHAPTER 1.
1526 a.p. 10 1540 4.D.

Indian kingdoms. Humayun,

Religious differerces. . Sher Shah.

Babar’s conquests. Flight of Humayun,
Babar’s character.

118. Babar—1526--1530.—Babar, the founder of the
Mughal Empire in India, was a lineal descendant of Timur
and Chenghiz Kbhan. He was born in 1482. When only
twelve years of age he inherited the kingdom of Khokan.
He snbsequently took Kabul and founded a kingdom in
Afghaunistan. For years Babar kept his eyes fixed steadily
on Indis, watching for an opportunity to pounce upon it
gnd make it his prey. A fitting time at length came. In

525 a feeble monarch sat on the throne of Dehli. Daulat
Lodi, the governor of the Panjab, asked Babar to come to
his assistance against the Emperor; while the Rana of
Chitor promised tbat if Babar would attack Dehli, he
would attack Agra. The invitation was accepted, and by
the victory at Panipat Babar came into possession of
Dehli. The Rauna of Chitor expected that Babar, like his
ancestors, wonld retire with the immense booty he had
obtained, and the way would thus be opened up for bim to
re-establish the ancient Rajput power in Hindustan. Bat
. Babar bad po such intention. He had a far more ambi-
tious end in view. He had entered India, and he meant
to stay and found an empire there.

114, Indlan kingdoms to be subdued,—The difficulties
that Babar and his successors had to encounter in accomp-
lishing such a task were enormous. The kingdom of Dehli
was now comparatively insignificant. It consisted only
of the districts to the north-west of Dehli and a parrow
tract of Jand along the Juomna as far as Agra. To the
sonth and west of Hindustan were the powerful Afghan
kingdoms of Gujarat, Khandesh and Malwa; the strongest
of which was Gujarat, which conquered and united to

6
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itself the kingdom of Malwa a month after Babar ascend-
ed the throme. On the east were the Afghan
1526 kingdoms of Jaunpur, Bihar and Bengal. In
A.p.  Rajputana, the Rajput states under their snzerain,
the Rana of Chitor, formed a most powerful
rival ; while the south of the Peninsula was in the hands
of the Saltans of the Bahmini kingdom, and the Maha-
raja of Vijlanagar.
115. Religlous differences.—The Mughals were Ma-
. hammadans. bat Muohammadans of a very loose type.
They still adhered to a certain extent to their ancestral
worship of the “elements,” fire,.air, earth, and water.
And when the Afghan states saw Babar, on entering India,
unite with the “infidel’” Rana of Chitor, to attack the
« faithfol” at Dehli, they could conceive of no more un-
holy alliance. The Afgbans, as faithful followers of the
Prophet, could have no sympathy with the Mughals ; while
the Hindns eould only look on Mughal and Afgban alike,
as enemies to their religion and their country. This reli-
gious difference, between the Afghan states in India ang
the Mughals, should be carefully borne in mind, as it will
explain to a considerable extent, how rival Muhammadan
powers fought with such intense bitterness -against each
other, and, to some extent, what led to the decline of the
Mughal Empire. '
116. Babar's conquests.—The Rana of Chitor, Sanga
by name, assisted by his feudal lords of Mhairwara, Jai-
pur and others, resolved to try issnes with the
1527 Mughals, and, if possible, to drive them out of
ADp. India. But at Sikrt, near Agra, Babar gained
a complete victory. In the beginning of the
following year Chanderl was stormed, the Rajputs were
slain to a man, and the Mughal empire was established in
India. While Babar was thas subduing the Hindus, his
son, Homayun, was no less busy against the Musalman
princes. Within a few montha the whole country as
far as Jaunpur wasreduced. Bengal and Bihar were next
attacked, and they submitted to the conqueror.
1530 Thuos, within four years, Babar was enabled to
AD.  bring the whole of Hindustan, with the excep-
tion of Gujarat, under the AMughal power. Babar
died in 1530.
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117. Character of Babar.—The character of Babar is
made known in his memoirs, which were written by him.
self. He was a man of the most daring spirit, and had the
greatest physical endurance. On one occasion he is said to
have ridden & hundred and sixty miles in two days, and,
thereafter, to have swam across the Ganges. He was fond
of gay companions, and in adversity was never dispirited.
In the midst of his wars, he found time to write Persian
poetry, which has been admired for its elegance. His
death was remarkable. Hgmayun, his son, was sick.
-Babar prayed that the sick#fess might be ‘transferred to
himself. Strange to say, as' Humayun recovered Babar
sickened and died. ’

118. Humayun—1530—1540.—Humayun in the third
year of his reign turned his arms against Gujarat. Bahadur
Shah was then reigning. He was the most powerful mo-
narch that ever ruled over that conntry. He had conquered
Malwa and absorbed it into Gujarat. Khandesh, Ahmad-
- nagar and Barar had become his vassals, Chitor had been
besieged by him; the women had -again performed the
johur; and in the attack and massacre which followed, as
many as thirty-two thousand Rajputs had fallen. The
widow of the Rana that had invited Babar was one of those
that mounted the funeral pile. Before her deatb, she
secured the escape of her child and sent a bracelet to Hu-
mayun, Humayun accepted the gift, and by that pledged
himself to be her protector. He thus went to war with &
brother Muhammadan for the sake of a Hindu princess.
Bahadur Shah was defeated, the fortress of Champanir,
which contained his treasury, was captured, and his king-
dom was wrested from him; but in the following year he
recovered all. Bahadur Shah was afterwards killed in an
affray with the Portaguese at Diu.

119. Sher Shah.—A new and even more powerful enemy
awaited Humayun on his retprn to Agra. Sher Shah, an
Afghan of the Sur family, had taken possession of Bengal.
Humayun advanced against him and captured the fort of
Chunar, which commanded  the line of communication
between Bengal and Hindustan. Gaur fell before him;
but the rains setting in, he was unable to advance farther,
and his soldiers died off from fover and dysentery. When
the rains were over, Sher Shah igsued from his hill fortress
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of Rahtas, whither he had carried his treasures, and
coming up with Humayun at Baxar, defeated him,
1533 The emperor plunged inio the river, reached the
Ap. other side, and arrived at Dehli with only a few
followers. Assembling an army, he again mef
Sher Shah at Kanou, and was again defeated. Humayun
fled to his brother Kamran at Lahor, thence through the
desert of Sindh to Amarkot, where he arrived accompani-
ed by only seven followers., At Amarkot his son Akbar was
born. From Amarkot Humayun proceeded to Persia,
which he reached in 1544. He was joined there by his
General, Balram Kbhan. Akbar was sent to Kandahar,

CHAPTER II.

AFGHAN POWER RESTORED—SUR DYNAsTY—HUMAYON.
1540 A.p. T0 1555 Ap.

Sher Shah. Battle of Sarhind.
Reforms. Humayun returns.
Raisin captured. . Death of Humayun.

120. ' Sher Shah—1540—1545.—On the defeat of Hu-
mayun at Kanou, Sher Shah advanced to Debli and
sscended the throme. Thus was the Mughal Empire,
established by Babar, overtbrown, and the Afghan power
re-established in Hindustan. SHer Shah reigned for five
years, and during that time so laboured for the good of
the country, that his reign is one of the brightest periods in,
Indian History. He introduced the most salutary reforms
into almost every part of the civil administration, and con-
structed a grand frank road from the indus to Bengal,
gome two thonsand miles in length, with caravanseries at
short stages, and wells at intervals of & mile and a ‘half,
He built mosques for the use of the *faithful,” and he is
said to have been the first to introduce the Persian chapar,
or mounted postal messengers, for the conveyance of the
mails. One act of his reign has left a stain on his charac-
ter: He was besieging the fort of Ralsin in Malwa. The
garrison surrendered on. condition that their lives should
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be spared, but Sher Shah slaughtered them almost to a
man. While besieging Kalingar in Bundeikhand,

he was killed by the explosion of a magazine. 1545
His second son succeeded and followed very much  a.p,
in his father’s footsteps in working for the good

of the country ; but bis saccessors were weak and profli-
gate. Under the last of the dymasty, Hemu, a Hindu,
became Minister and advanced the Hindus to rank and
power. The Afghan nobles rebelled, and the way was
thus made easy for the return of Humayun.

121. Humayun returns.—It is unnecessary to follow
Humayun doring bis many years” wanderings. He re-
erossed the Indus in 1555, aud, defeating Sikandar, *
the last of the Sur dynasty, at Sarhind, advanced to
Dehli and Agre, and mounted the thronme he had losb
fifteen years before. Humayun was destined to reign
but & very short time. 'While descending the stair leading
from the terrace of his palace, be heard the call to prayers.
He sat down on the steps #ill the crier wasdone. He then
arose leaning on his staff. The staff slipped on the polished
marble. Humayun fell headlong over the parapet, and
died from the effects of his fall.

CHAPTER III.

Tae MueHaL EMPIRE IN ITS zmmrn’
AxBAR, 1586 A.p. To 1605 a.p.

Second battle of Panipat. Other conquests,
Akbar’s policy. Character,
Invades Rajputana. - Religion,”
Intermarriages with Rajputa. Todar Mall,
Chitor destroyed. Reforms,

122, The Mughal Power restored.—Hemu, the Hindu,
was in Bengal when Humayun died. When the news
reached him, he thought a golden opportunity had arrived
for re-establishing the ancient Bindu sovereignty, and ad-
vanced at once with a largearmy. Dehliand Agra opened
their gates to him. Axbar, now a boy of only thirteen
yeara of age, wasin the Panjab with Bairam Khan, his
father’s faithful friend and most distinguished general
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Akbar was proclaimed Emperor, and Bairam Khan was
appointed regent. The Mughal army was in a bad way.
The men of which it was composed were mere adventurers,
and bhad little unity of feeling amongst themselves, except
the desire of each to secure as moch plunder as possible
for himself., Still, the iron will of Bairam kept them in
order, and, backed by the opinion of the boy king, Akbar,
he resolved to try issues with Hemu. The two armies
met at Panipat. The Mughals were victorious. Hemu
was taken prisoner. Bairam Khan asked Akbar to kill
Hemu ard win the title of Ghazl-ud-din, *“ Champion of
the. Faith,” but Akbar declined to do eo, and Bairam, "

. slew him with his own sword. Thus, fora second
1556 time, on the field of Panipab, was the battle for

4.D.  Mughal supremacy fought; and for a seeond time

the Mughal was victortous.

128, Akbar—1556—1605.—For the next four years,
Bairam Khan ruled well. But, becoming overbearing or
Akbar thinking him so, the latter resolved to take the
reins of government into his own hands. He issued a
proclamation that no orders were to. be obeyed but what
came from himself. as Padishah. Bairam Khan saw
that his power was at an end, and he resolved to go on a
pilgrimage to Mecca. But he was not allowed to depart.
An Afghan stabbed him in revenge for the slaughter of
his father. , . :

124. Akbar’s poliey.—Thekingdom of Dehli was still of
very limited extent. It consistedeonly of 2 small country
around Dehli, and the Panjab. The Mughals were disor-
gaunised and weak in numbers, and they were not likely to
be strengthened by fresh recruits from Tartary., From
such a small beginning, and with such a limited force,
Akbar was to establish an empire. With clear insight,
he saw that to consolidate an empire, the Hindns must be
reconciled to the Mughals, Thé memory of the cruelties
inflicted on their race by the Afghans—of temples plun.
dered, idols broken, and defenceless women and children
massacred, would at any time stimulate them to revenge
their former wrongs. The Mughals were Mubammadans,
and, though of a very loose type, they conld not always be
' depended on 'to fight against Muhammadan Afghbans. -
Could Akbar gain the Hindus to his side, they would be
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of immense value in helping him to extend his empire
and to pant down rovolts.

126, Akbar Invades Rajputana,~Akbar, during the
first few years of his reign, was almost exclusively engag-
ed in suppressing rebellions of his nobles. He next inva-
ded Rajputana. -The Rajput states were formed on a
fendal basis. Thelandowners held their lands in .
return for military service. The vassal was under 1567
his lord, the lord under the Raja, the Raja nnder  a.p.
the Rana, who was head over all. The Rana at
this.time was Udal Singh of Chitor, Around his banner
gathered Btharl Mall, Raja of Jaipur, Maldeo, Raja . of
Jodhpur, and many others, and for five years the strife
between Hindu and Mughal continued. Jaipur and
Jodhpur were defeated.” Then Akbar made known his
policy, He, as Padishah, would become Suzerain, 7. ¢.,
the highest chieftain of the Rajputs, and they wounld hold
their Jands under him. Every Raja considered it an honor
to receive a danghter of the Rana in‘marriage, and an
equal honor to give one of his daughters to the Rana,
Akbar received a daughter of Jaipur, and a danghter of
Jodhpur in marriage, and they, in turn, received Akbar’s
danghters in wedlock. Now that the Rajputs were related
to Akbar by marriage, they were raised to high positions
in the State. The Rana of Chitor, however, would enter
into no suoh infamouns alliance, an alliance cohtrary alike
to all caste laws and religions ; nor would he acknowledge
Akbar as his Suzerain, , Akbar, therefore, laid siege to
Chitor. The old story was repeated. Chitor had.to yield.
Udal Singh, himself, escaped to the Aravall hills, and
there founded Udalpur. But, though the City of Chitor
was laid in rnine and deserted,it was never forgotten.
To this day the Rana never twists his beard, because of an
oath taken by Udai Singh, that he would never do so till
he had retaken the city.

126. Other conquests.—Akbar next proceeded to the
subjugation of the Afghan states. Gujarat was taken.
Bengal, which under Daud Khan had asserted its inde-
pendence, was subdued. Orissa, which from time imme-
" morial bad been ruled by Gajapatis, but which had been
lately conquered by Sulalman, father of Dand Khan and
king of Bengal, was made tributary to Dehli. Kashmip
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was added to the Mughal empire. Ahmadnagar after
being heroically defended by the celebrated Chand Bibl,
aunt of the infant Sultan, Bahadur Nizam Shah, fell
before him. Barar in the Dakhan was subdned. Akbar
would have conquered Golkonda and Bijapur also, but he
was suddenly recalled to Dehli by the revolt of his son
Jahangir.

127. Akbar's character—Akbar hag been described as
a tall and handsome man, of a fair complexion—remark-
able for strength and courage, fond of exercise and delight-
ing in hunting and every kind of sport. He was beyond
doubt the greatest of all the Mubammadan rulers. It is
said of him, that he never fought a battle that he did not
win, nor besieged a town that he did not take. But, though
great as & warrior, he was perhaps greater as a statesman,
and his fame rests more on the far-seeing policy he adopt-
‘ed and on the excellent instituiions he established, than
on the conquests he made.
. 128. Religion.—Akbar is deseribed by Muhammadan
writers a3 a Muohammadan, but if so, be was' a Muham-
madan of a very unorthodox kind. His wmarrying the
daughters of Rajputs was coutrary to the teaching of the
Koran, and, though probably before they entered the
harem, they confessed to there “ being no God but God,
and . Mohemmad being his Prophet,” still, when once
edmitted, they were allowed to have Brahman priests,
end to set up idols and sacrifice to them. He appointed
Hindus to the highest offices nnder the crown, and there«
by foreshadowed the srystem of religlous equality now
prevalent in India. Under the inflaence of Abul Fazl,
8 very learned man, who rose to be minister, men of all
religions were invited to his Court, and allowed to discuss
religious questions. The Ulama, an assembly of Muham-
madan divines, was broken up, and Akbar professed the
highest respect for Christianity. Afterwards, under the
influence of the same Abul Fazl, he founded a new reli-
gion, known 28 the Divine Faith, and sllowed Himself to
be worshipped as & god, as a ray of the Divine San. Bat
before Akbar’s death in 1605 Abul Fasl was assassinated
aud Akbar returned to the Muhammadan faith. '

129. Revenue Settlement.—Todar Mall, the great
financier of the age, was appointed to make a revenue



EHUSRAT. ‘ | 69

settlement, <.e., to fix the annual amount to be paid by the
bolders of land. All lands under the Mughals were divided
into two kinds—Kulisa lands, the rents of which were
paid: direct to the Emperor, and Jaghirs, which were given
to the servants of the crown, governors, grandees and
others, who paid a fixed rent to the Emperor; and retained
whatever surplus they might be able to collect. Under
the supervision of Todar Mall, all the land was carefully
measured and divided into three classes according to its
fertility.  All arbitrary taxes were abolished, and the rent
fixed to be paid by the cultivator to the State was ome-
third the value of the produce,

180. Other reforms.—Jaghirs were abolished, and the
soldiers were paid in cash and not by assignments of land.
Jazyia, a capitation tax on infidels, was discontinued ; sati
discouraged ; and the practice of reducing captives to sla-
very abolished. These reforms are all recorded in the
Ain-1-Akbari, “ Laws and Regulations of Akbar,” written
by the learned Abul Fazl. -

CHAPTER 1IV.
- JAHANGIR. 1605 A.p TO 1627 A.D.
Character. Shah Jahan in the Dakhan.-
Khusran. Shah Jahan rebels.
Malik Ambar, Mahabat Khan,
Nur Jahan. Sir T. Roe.

1381, Jahanglr—1805-—1827.—Akbar was succeeded by
‘his son Salim, who ascended the throne under the title of
Jahangir, ‘ conqueror of the world.” His mother was Jodh
Bai; the danghter of Maideo, Raja of Jodbpur. Jahangir
wag a drunkard. He was barsh and cruel, and enjoyed
seeing his victims tortured; yet he prided himself in
giving ready access to all who had complaints to make,
and in seeing that justice was done to them. ' Jahangir
was g much stricter Muhammadan than his father.

132, Khusrau.—Khusran, the son of Jahangir, was
Akbar’s favourite. His mother was a grand.daugbter of
Blhari Mall of Jaipur.  Kbhusrau was fond of the Rajputs
sud strongly inclined towards Christianity. Being afraid
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of his father, he fled to Lahor. A large army, composed
chiefly of Rajputs, came to his aid. Jahangir followed
him. Khusran was betrayed and sent to his father in
chains. Jabangir then took a terrible revenge. Seven
hundred of Khuosran’s followers were impaled in a line
leading to the gates of Lahor. The wretched Khasran
was led through this line of victims to hear their shrieks,
and see their agonies, and the sad sight made a life-long
impression upon him. His own life was spared, but he
was kept a prisoner till his death in 1621.
- 138. ' Nur Jahan.—During this period an event took
place that" influenced the whole reign of Jahangir. He
married Nur Mahal, afterwards known as Nur Jahan, “ the
light of the world.” Nur Mahal was of the most humble
origin. Her parents were so poor, that they were unable
to support her, aud fhey left the little child on the road-
side to die, or to be taken care of, according as any person
might take pity on her or not. A rich merchant, passing
along the road, observed the child, took her and brought
her up as his own. As he wasa man of infleence, Nur
Mabal through him obtained frequent admission to Akbar’s
harem, and Jabangir having seen her, was smitten with
ber beauty. Abkar, fearing that evil might follow from
this, gave her in marriage to Sher Khan, an Afghan, and
presented him with a jaghir in Bengal. Nur Mahal wis
thus removed from Jabangir’s sight. But, though remov-
ed from him, she was not forgotten. When he ascended
the throne he took means to have Sher Khan put to death,
and then he married the widow. From this time her
ascendancy became nnbounded. Her father, a
1611 very able and upright man, was made prime
A.D. minister ; her brother, Asof Khan, was raised to
a high rank in the army; Jahangir would take
no step without consulting her ; and what she willed, was
law. Her life was one continnous scheming to refain this
ascendancy, and, if possible, fo fix the succession to the
throne in her own family, N
134. Shah Jahan in the Dakhan.—Meanwhile Jaban-
gir’s attention was drawn to the Dakhan. On the captore
of Abmadnagar by Abkar, Mallk Ambar, an Abyssinian
noble of great ability, had founded a new capital at
Kharkd, afterwards known as durangabad and raled there
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in the name of the young prince of the fallen house of.
Ahamadnagar. Bijapur and Golkonda had joined him.
The combined forces had recaptured Abmadnagar and
driven the Moghal army as far north as Burhanpur. Shah
Jahan was sent into the Dakban against them.

. Before going thither he stood in the -highest fa- 1616
voar. He had married a niece of Nur Jahan; he  a.n.
bad highly distinguished himself in a war against
the Rajpute, in which he had compelled the Rana of Udai:
pur to render submission to the throne of Dehli. He had
been declared to be the heir-apparent to the throne. His
conduct of the warin the Dakhan was completely success-
ful. He drew away Bijapur and Golkonda from 162
their alliance with Malik Ambar, defeated Malik 1
Ambar in the finld, and compelled him to giveup ~ 2°™*
a considerable extent of territory an¥ pay a large sum of
money to the emperor.

135. Shah Jahan rebels.—About this time Jahangir
fell ill, and immediately there was a general plotting and
scheming as to who should be his saccessor in the case of
his death. Khusrau, who was with Shah Jahan, died,—it
is supposed was put to death at the instigation of the la-
ter. Shah Jahan had shown such great ability and deci-
sion of character, tbat Nur Jahan felt that, if he were: to
succeed Jahangir, ber ascendancy would.be lost. Be-’
sides, Shahryar Jabangir's youngest son, bad married
her daughter by her first husband. He was more closely
related to her than Shah Jabhan, who bad married a niece,
She would, therefore, oppose Shah Jaban and support
Shabryar. Jabangir nominated Bulaki, son of Khusrau,
as his successor. Nur Jaban’s power was soon felt. Shah
Jahan was ordered to send a large force to Lahor, to be
under the command of Shabryar, who was going against
Persia, and his officers had instructions from Jabangir
himself to leave the Dakhan. Shah Jaban marched te
Agra and tried fo seize the treasury. Jahangir hastened
from Lahor. The father and son met in battle near Dehli,
and the son was defeated. Shah Jaban’s subsequent
exploits wero of the most varied kind. At one time, we
read of him suddenly pouncing npon Bengal, plundering
Dacca and laying all the country waste ; at another time;
flying for an asylum to Bijapur or Golkonda. .
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138. Jahangir, a prisoner.~~Meanwhile, dissensions
broke out in the imperial army. Nur Jahan hated the
Rajputs. She now turned against Mahabat Khan, who
supported the claims of Parwiz, Jahangir's second son. If
we except Asof Khan, the queen’s brother, Mahabat Khan
was perhaps the most distinguished sabject of the realm,
and a man heloved by the people. NurJahan determined
on his overthrew. . Ho was summoned to appear before
the Emperor, and, when he arrived, the Emperor wounld
pot see him. Knowing well what that meant, he formed
the daring resolve to seize Jahangir, and thus subvert Nur
Jahan’s projects. He fell upon Jahangir by surprise ab

~ the Jhelum and took him prisoner; but treated
1626 him with the atmost respect, and all orders con-
A-p. tinned to be issmed in his name as Emperor.
Nur Jahan*was completely baffled. The king was
now beyond her influence. She tried to rescue him, and in
the attempt nearly lost her life. Subsequently, however,
Jahangir made his escape. Mahabat Khan felt all was
lost, and ag Parwiz bad just died, he fled to the
1627 Dakhan and joined Shah Jahan. Jahangir died
A.p.  the following year, on his way from Kashmir to
Lahor, in the siztieth year of his age.

187. SIr T. Roe, English Ambassador.—It was dar-

ing this reign, that Sir T. Roe was sent by James 1. as
1615 English ambassador to thesgreat Mughal. He
was received with much honor, and bas given us

a description of the manners of the court, and of
the state of the country at the tIme of bis visit. He des-
cribes the Durbar Hall as resembling an English theatre.
All the grandees had to prostrate themselves on approach-
ing the Emperor. Sir T. Roe was present at a greab
party on the evening of Jabangir's birth-day, when the
drinking was excessive. Jabangir on that occasion scat-
tered rupees among the rabble, and gold and silver
almonds among the nobles, who scrambled for them like
children. He accompanied the imperial camp into Raj-
putans, and he describes the camp as a moving city.
There were the imperial pavilions and the pavilions of the
pobles and lgng streets of shops, like the bazaars of & city,
and, as at the different stages these were all arranged in
the same order, there was no confnsion. The cities of the

A.D.
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Dakhan he found much deserted, and altogether the coun. -
try was notb in such a ‘prosperous condition as it had been
in the time of Akbar. ‘

CHAPTER V.
Sasn JAHAN-=1627 A.p. 'm0 1658 a.p.
Shoh Jahan, emperor, Contest for the throne,
~Khan Jahan rebels, 8hah Jahan, a prisoner,
Massacre of the Portuguese: The Taj Mahal,
Bhah Jahan’s sons, : The peacock throne.

138, Shah Jahan—I1627—1658.-~Asof Khan at once
sent off messengers to Shah Jahan, his son-in.law, to
acquaint him with the news of Jahangir’s death, And, in
the meantime, that his actiong might have the appearance
of legal authority, and that he might thereby be. able to
thwart Nur Jahan, who was in favour of Shahryar, he
proclaimed Bulakl, the nominee of Jahangir, emperor, and
placed Nuor Jahan in counfinement. ' He then marched to
Labor, defeated Shahryar, and put him to death. Shah
Jahan, on receiving the news. of the death of his father,
hastened to Agra, accompanied by Mahabat Khan. On
arriving there, he was proclaimed emperor; all the members
of the Babar famlly, except Shah Jahan’s children, were
put to death, and the highest honours were conferred on
Mahabat Kban and Asof Khan, for the part they had
taken in helping him to thd throne. Nur Jaban retired
into private life, and was allowed a pension of about twenty-
five lakhs per annum.

139, Khan Jahan Lodl rebels.—The -early part of
Shah Jahao's reign was disturbed by Kban Jahan, an
Afghan, who bad & command in the army. A first, he
refused to acknowledge Shah Jahan as Emperor but
afterwards returned to obedience, and was removed from
the Dakban to Malwa. Subsequently, however,
becoming suspicious that the emperor was aiming 1637
at his life, he rose in rebellion, and marching into  A.D.

. the Dakhan, persnaded the king of Ahmadnagar
to join him. Shah Jahan advanced against them in per-
son. Khan Jahan was overtaken at Bundelkhand and

7
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slain. Bijapur and Golkonda were reduced and com-
pelled to pay tribute. And Shaji, the father of Sivajl, who
had set up 2 king on the throne of Ahmadanagar, having
submitted, the kingdom of Ahmadnagar was brought to
an end. .

140. Massacre of the Portuguese,—Shah Jahan hated

the Portuguese. 'When he rebelled against his father and
entered Bengal, he bad asked them to assist him, but
"they had refused. He mnow fook his revenge. They
had been permitted by Akbar to establish a settlement
on the Hugli. It was reported to him, that they were
mounting cannon on their fort: He ordered the settle-
ment to be captured. The men, on refusing to become
Muhammadans, were massacred, and the women were
made slaves. )

141. Shah Jahan’s four sons.—Shah Jahan had peace
in his own kingdom during the greater part of his reign.
In 1657 he fell dangerously ill. The country was at once
in a ferment. Shah Jahan had four sons, all of whom were
governors of provinces, and it was known there would be
a contest among them for the throne. KEach had a dis-
tinctive charvacter. Dara, the eldest, as heir-apparent,
resided at the Court. He was frank and generous, but
impatient of opposition, and he treated the Rajputs in an
overbearing way. Shuja was governor of Bengal, and a
man wholly addicted to pleasure, but well-disposed to the
Rajputs. Aurangzeb was governor of the Dakhan. He
was a perfect contrast to his elder brothers. He was
cautious, ever on the watch to gaiu friends, brave, a per-
fect master in the art of dissimulation, and he professed
to be very religious. Morad was governor of Gujarat.
He was stupid and self-willed, and abandoned himself to

" gonsual pleasures. Dara was a freethinker, Shuja a shiah,
and Aurangzeb and Morad were sunnis. The war, which
followed, became to a considerable extent a religious war,

142. Fratricldal war.—Shuja was the first to take

the field. He was defeated by Dara and driven back with
the wreck of his army to Bengal. Morad took np arms
in Gujarat, and Aurangzeb determined to use his dull-
headed brother, as a means to work his own way to the
crown, He wrote him, telling him that, #s sunnis, they
should unite, and try to prevent an infidel like Dara or a
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heretic like Shuja from gaining the throne. He himself
had no desire for empire. All he wished was to see a good
and true Muhammadan at the head of the Government, and
then he would go on s pilgrimage to Mecca. The simple
Morad believed him. The two armies were united, and soon
on the march through Rajputava to Agra. On their way, they
encountered Jaswant Singh of Jodhpur, who was in favonr
of Dara, at Ujjain. He was assisted by a Muhammadan
army ; but the Musalman soldiers would not fire a gun on
such a devout Mohammadan a8 Aurangzeb, and Jaswant
Singh’s own Rajputs were cut to pieces. Morad and Au-
rangzeb met Dara within a day’s march of Agra. Dara’s
army was composed of Rajputs and Muobammadans. The
Muohammadans held back. The Rajput leader was slain.
Dara’s elephant was wounded and he was compelled to
alight. The Muhammadan commaunder gave ont that Dara
was killed, and the soldiers retreated. Dara was forced to
gallop off to Agra with osly a handful of men, and fled
thence to the Panjab. Aurangzeb congratulated Morad on
baving gained the kingdom, and returned thanks to heaven
for the victory. The victorious army then marched to
Agra, and made Shab Jahan a prisoner. Aurangzeb feign-
ed to be making preparations for Morad’s corona-~
tion, Suddenly the announcement was made that 1658
Morad had been found drunk, and that, as a  a.pn.
drunkard was unfit to reign, he had been sent a
prisoner to the fort of Gwaliar. Aurangzeb was, there-
upon, proclaimed Emperor amid the acclamations of hig
soldiers.

143. Death of Shah Jahan.—Shah Jahan lived as a
" prisoner in his palace at Agra for eight years
longer. He died in December 1666. Shah Jahan 1666
will live in history in connection with his public  &.p.
works. The Ta) Mahal at Agra, a mausoleum
of white marble decorated with mosaics, built in honoor
of his favourite wife, Mumtaz Mahal, danghter of Asof
Kbhabo, is unsurpassed in the world for chasteness of design
and richness of material. Shah Jahan did not live at
Dehlt, but he built the new city there, and set up the
peacock throne, which was considered one of the wonders
of the world. On the whole, Shah Jaban was a good and
wise ruler. The empire had peace during the greater
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part of his reign, and the people were contented and pros-

perous. He made a revenue settlement in the Dakhan,
similar to that of Todar Mall.

CHAPTER VI
AvraNezes 1658 a.p. 10 1707 D,

Contest for the throne. The Mahrattas.

Aurangzeb, emperor. The Dakhan invaded.
Treatment of the Rajputs. Bijapur and Golkonda sub-
Persecution of the Hindus, duoed.

Fails ta subdue Udaipar. Later years,

Akbar’s rebellion, Death,

Cunning artifice, Character,

144. Aurangzeb—1658—1707.—Aurangzeb was pro-
claimed Emperor at Dehli, but he was not crowned till &
year later. He had still much cruel work to do before
he could establish himself firmly on the throne. Dara
and Shuja were still at liberty, and were gathering armies
to contend with Aurangzeb for the crown. Shuja advan-
ced from Bengal. Aurangzeb and Mir Jumla, accom-
panied by Jaswant Singh, set out to meet him. The
armies came up with each other near Allahabad. Jaswant
Singh suddenly went over to Shnja’s side, and attacked
Aurangzeb'’s baggage ; but, Shuja not coming to his assist-
ance in time, Aurangzeb was victorious. Jaswauf Singh
hastened back to Rajputana, and Shuja fled to Bengal. The
latter was puarsued by Mir Jumla, and forced to flee with
his family to Arakan, where he perished miserably. Aurang-
zeb then went in pursuit of Dara, whom Jaswant Singh
had promised to assist- Meanwhile, Anrangzeb forgave -
the Rajput Raja his past treachery, and satisfied all his
demands. When the time came for action, Jaswant Singh,
deserted Dara, who was forced to flee to the Panjab. Dara
fell into the hands of an Afghan, who betrayed him to his
brother, and he was sent to Dehli in chains. There he
was tried and condemned to death as & infidel ; and, after
being paraded through the streets that the people might
see him, his head was struck off. Aurangzeb feigned to
be very sorry, and even wept when the head was brought
to him. Sulaiman, Dara's son, was also captured and, sent
a8 a state prisoner to Gwaliar. Thus, by acts of the vilest
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treachery and bloodshed, and by the help of the Hindus,
Aurangzeb overcame his brothers, and was installed at
Dehli as Padishah of the Mughal empire.

145. Aurangzeb’s policy.—Had Aurangzeb followed
the policy of Akbar, and united the Mughal and the Raj-
put still more closely, he might have consolidated his
empire, and reigned the undisputed monarch of the whole
of India. Bat, though the Rajputs had been chiefly instrn-~
mental in raising him to the throne, he hated them with
all the zeal of a religious bigot, and, by his subsequent
oppressions, converted them from being his staunchest
friends into his most bitter enemies, and thereby paved the
way for the decline and fall of the Mughal empire. The -
dream of Anrangzeb’s life, now that he was firmly planted
on the throne, was the destruction of idolatry, and the estab-
lishment of Mubammadanism thronghont the length and
.breadth of the land. His zeal was strengthened by the
revolt of the Satnarainas near Narnul. They were a sect
of Hindu devotees that considered themselves to be nnder
the special protection of the Almighty, #nd, therefore, to
be invincible. Auarangzeb wrote some texts of the Koran,
with his own hand and attached them to his
standards. His soldiers, considering themselves 1676
thereby protected from the spell, rushed on the  a.p.
Hindus and defeated them. -

146. Religlous persecutions.—Aurangzeb then began
his religions persecutions. He degraded the Rajputs. All
Hindus employed mnnder government wera compelled
either to embrace the Muslim faith or lose their appoint-
ments. Idols were overturned, pagodas destroyed, and
mosques built with the materials. Even in the holy city
of Benares the most sacred temples were levelled to the
ground, mosques erected in their places, and the images
used a8 steps for ¢ the faithfol’ to tread on. Hindus were
not allowed to celebrate their festivals, and jazyia, a tax on
infidels that had been abolished by Akbar, was revived.
All the viceroys in the provinces had instructions to act
in the same manmer. No fax could possibly be more
unpopalar than this jazyia, and the imposition of it led to
the most fatal consequences to the empire. :

147. Rajputanainvaded.—Jaswant Singh and Jai Singh
were dead. Aurangzeb proceeded fo introduce his perse-
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cuting measures into Rajputana. Jalpur, bound to the
house of Dehli by many intermarriages, at once submitted
and paid jazyia, and the widow of Jaswaut Singh, after an
appearance of resistauce, also yielded. The,Rana of Udal-
pur had been left undisturbed for years. Anrangzeb next
came down upon him. But he was made of the same stern
stuff as his ancestors, and refused to yield. Driven from
Udaipur, he took refuge in the Aravall Hills, and there
for years defied the whole army of Aurangzeb. The mighty
Mughal army, divided into three parts, under the com-
mand of Aurangzeb’s three soms, took possession of the
plaing; but into the fastnesses of the Rajput prince they
dared not ventnre. Years were spent, treasores wasted, and’
‘theMughal strength was reduced, but tono purpose. Finally
Akbar, Aurangzeb’s son, rebelled, and Aurangzeb, ntterly
hamiliated, was forced to withdraw his troops and leave
the Rajputs to worship their gods free from molestation.

" The Raui of Jodhpur would seem to have been at the -
bottom of this rebellion. She evidently had repented sub.- -
mitting to Aurangzeb, and noew sent an army of fifty

- thousand Rajputs to Akbar’s aid. Aurangzeb had recourse
to conning artifice of which he was such a master. Early
in his reign, when he sent an army of Mnhammadans and
Rajputs under the command of his eldest son, Shah Alam,
against the celebrated Sivajf, he had instrncted Shah
Alam to raise a sham rebellion, with the view not only of
trying to entrap Sivaji, but also to test the fidelity of
the troops to the emperor. On that occasion, the Raj-
put leaders to a man declared in favour of Shah Alam,
and the nature of the rebellion having been disclosed
they were either killed or sent into exile. This sham
rebellion was of good service to Aurangzeb now. He sent
a letter by a messenger, giving the messenger instructions
that he should allow himself to be taken prisoner by the
Rajputs. The letter, therefore, fell into the hands of
the Rajput leaders. The purport if it was to show that
this rebellion of Prince Akbar’s was also a sham, that he
was in collnsion with Aurangzeb, and that the object of it
was the destruction of the Rajpiits. The memory of Shah
Alam’s trick was still fresh in their minds. The Rajputs
at once deserted Akbar, who fled into the Konkan to tha
Mahrattas and subsequently retived to Persia.
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148. Rise of the Mahrattas.—The history of the
Mahrattas will be given in detail in snbsequent chapters.
Meanwhile some mention must be made of them here.
The founder of the Mahratta power was Sivaji. Gather.
ing arcund him a band of bardy dariug men like himself,
he captured fort after fort, until his power so increased,
that he proolaimed himself Raja of the Mahrattas. At
first, he was & source of infinite trouble to the Sultans of
Bijapur and Golkonda, pouncing down upon their tersi-
tory, destroying villages and carrying off plunder before
ever they had time fo collect their forces to oppose hira,
Bijapor was glad to make peace with him by surrendering
certain territories and fortresses. Sivaji then advanced
against the Mugbals, and so bold were he and his fol-
lowers, that they would even attack and plunder
#Abe Moghal camp. Sivaji was now dead, and his 1683
son, SambhaJl, was on the thronme. It was to A.D.
Sambbaji, Prince Akbar fled.

149, Aurangzeb Invades the Dakhan.-—-Auravgzeb
resolved the crush this new Mabratta power, and
to reduce to submission the other kingdoms of 1683
Sonthern India. In 1683 he left Dehli, and he a.D.
was destined never to return thither. His army
was magnificent beyond all former example. His camp was
supplied with every lexury that conld be procured. * The
canvas walls, which surrounded the emperor’s personal
encampment, were twelve hundred yards in circumference,
- and the tents contained halls of audience, counrts, cabinets,
mosques, oratories and baths, adorned with the finest
silks and velvets, and cloth of gold.” Probably not fewer
than one million persons were assembled in his camp.

With such an unwieldy army, Aurangzeb marched
into the Dakhan. He continued his old snicidal policy.
Instead of making friends with the Hindus of
the South, and thereby seouring their aid against 1686
Bijapor and Golkonda, he at once levied jazyia, A.D.
aod stirred np their hatred. He sent forty thou-
sand of his army under his son, Mngzzam, into the Mah.
ratta country, but only a remnant of it retarned.

He captured Bljapur in 1686, and from this date 1688 -
Bijapur disappears from- history. The following  a_p.
year Golkonda was taken, and the whole of the



80 MUHAMMADAN INDJIA.

Karnatic and Tellngana was over-ran, except the coun~
try of the Mabrattas and the principality of Tanjore. The
.Mughal power had now reached its greatest height. From
this time we must date its decline and fall,

150. Death of Aurangzeb.—The remaining years of
Aurangzeb’s life were spent in camp, fighting with the
Mahrattas and putting down plots among his own generals.
He would seem.indeed to have been afraid to return to
Dehli, and leave the command of the army to his sons.
He knew the means he had taken to seize his father’s
throne, and he feared his sons might treat him in like
manner. All commands were, therefore given by himself,
and he kept himself in direct communication with his
subordinates in the provinces. Aa Aurangzeb increased
in years, his government began to languish. His army
became disorganized. The Luxury of the camp was demo-
ralizing to the soldiers. And though Aurangzeb secured
the person of Sambhaji, and put him to a cruel death,
and took’ Sahu, Sambhaji’s son, captive, this only stirred
the Mahrattas up the more against him. His army could
make little way against those free-booters. His soldiers
could not venture into the defiles of the Konkan where the
Mahrattas took shelter and they were ever being taken by
surprise the Mahrattas when on the plains. Aurangzeb
was compelled at last to retreat. He retired to Ahmad.

nagar, closely followed by the victorious Mabrat-
1707 tas. At Ahmadnagar, Aurangzeb died. His last
AD. moments were very sad. His last words wero, .
“Y have committed many crimes, I know not
with what punishment I may be visited.”

151. Aurangzeb’s character.—From a strictly Muham.
meadan point of view Aurangzeb was a great and good
man. His zeal for the Faith of Islam and his persistent
persecution of idolaters must give him a high place in the
estimation of Muhammadans, and may lead them even to
regard him ag the greatest of the Maghal emperors. In
personal bravery, military talents and devotion to busi-
ness, he was probably as great as Akbar, But his suspi-
cious nature, the want of confidence in those around him,
his attempts to manage all the details of his governmert
himself, made him most anhappy, and tended to weaken,
if not to nundermine his empire. The manner in which
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Aurangzeb allowed the Mahratta power to rise reflects:
little credit on his statesmanship ; on the overthrow of the
kingdoms of Golkonda and Bijapur, whose resources he
might have secured to put down those predatory warriors,
was a grave political blunder. His oppressior of the
Rajputs and his forcing jazyia on Southern India make
his policy & marked contrast to that of Akbar, Akbar
won the Hindus to his side. Aurangzeb, by his persecn-
tions, drove them into open enmity. And when he died;
he left the Maghal empire, which, in the middle of his
reign, had rigen to its greatest height and reached its
widest extent, weakened and disunited thronghout, ‘with
the Rajputs and Mahrattas strong and self-reliant, hover-
ing on its borders and resolved on its downfall.

CHAPTER VII.
DzcrLine aND Farr or T MueHAL EMPIRE.
1707 a. v. T0 1762 . D.

Bahaduar Shah. The Rohillas, .

The Sikhs, . Ahmad Shah’s invasion.

The Nizams of the Dakban,| The third battle of Panipat.
Family of Oadh. The Afghans in the ascendant.
The Sayyids,  king-makers.’] The British appear on the
Mubammad Shah. gcene, )

Nadir Shah’s invasion. Bahadur Shah.

. 162. Bahadur Shah—1707—1712.—When Aurangzeb
died, the usual fratricidal war that followed the death of
almost every Mughal emperor broke out. Shah Alam, the
eldest son, eventually succeeded under the title of Bahadur
Shah ; and Zulfikar Khan, who had been viceroy of . the
Dakhan in the reign of Aurangzeb, and to whose influence
Bahadur Shah greatly owed his elevation, was appointed
prime-minister. Babadur Shah reigned for five years.
The early part of his reign was disturbed by the Rajputs,
who refused to pay jazyisa, and asserted their independence,
Bahadur Shah wag forced, however, to leave them alone, .
as all the resonrces of the empire were required against -
another people, the Sikhs, whose history will be given in
a subsequent chapter. About this time, also, arose Nizam-
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ul-mulk, the founder of the dynasty of the “ Nizams of
the Dakhan,” aud Saadut All Khan, the founder of the
royal family of Oudh. The English; too, appeared on the
scene. They were quietly founding Fort William at the
mouth of the Ganges, and were soon to have new rights
and privileges granted to them. On the death of Bahadur
Shah, Jghandar Shah, a debauched young prince, was
placed on the throne, and all the family of Bahadur Shah
were put to death, excopt 6ne Farrukh Slyar, & grandson,
who fortunately escaped the general massacre and retired
to Bengal, where his father had been viceroy.

158, Farrukh Siyar—1718—1719.—Jahandar Shah had
not been twelve months on the throne, when his openly
shameless and depraved life turned the people from him,
and Farrokh Siyar, taking advantage of this, raised the
standard of revolt. He was joined by two Sayyids of
power and influence. The one, Sayyld Husain All, was
governor of Blhar, the other, Sayyld Abdulla, of - Allaha-
bad. By their belp a large force was collected, and they
marched to Dehli. A great battle was fought near Agra.
Jahandar Shah and his minister, Zulfikar Khan, fled to
Dehlj, followed by Farrukh Siyar, who entered the town
in triumph, put the king, his minister and all the grandees
that might be likely to give him trouble to the sword,
and amidst the acclamations of the multitude ascended
the throne. He reigned for six years, and during that
time struggled continuously to throw off the yoke of
the Sayyids, and to rule as an independent monarch. But
the power that raised him to the throne was not to be
shaken off. On the other hand, the Sayyids, discover-
ing that Farrukh Siyar was plotting their destruction,
surrounded his palace, dragged him from the zenana, and
‘put him to death. The Sayyids were now all-powerful, and,
within & few months, two infant kings were placed by them
on the throne, only to pass away the one after the other
into an untimely grave. The Sayyids,  the King-makers”
as they have been called, next raised Muhammad Shah to
the imperial dignity, and he was the last emperor that sat
.on the peacock throne.

154. Muhammad Shah—1719—1748.—The Sayyids had
hitherto been all-powerful, but now Nizam-ul-mulk and
Saadat All Khan uniting against them, they were soon
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got ont of the way. Hussain Ali was assassinated. Sayyid
Abdulla was defeated at Shahpur between Dehliand Agra.
Nizam-ul-mulk, after occupying the office of vazir for a
short time, retnrned to the Dakhan, where be virtnally set
up an independent state. Saadat Ali Khan established
himself as sovereign of Oudh. The whole of Mnhammad
Shah’s reign is a history of plots and connterplots between
his viceroys, and of inroads made'on the empire® by the
Mabhrattas. The latter, indeed, became so powerful, that
the Imperial Government paid them ° Chauth,’ one-fourth
part of the revenue, to keep them away from Dehli.

155. Invasion of Nadir Shah,—While the country was
in this pitiable condition, Nadir Shah crossed the Indus
and skook the empire to its very centre. Originally a free-
booter, he had usurped the throne of Persia and conquer-
ed Afghanistan. He now invaded India, and coming
up with the Maghal army at Karnal, gained a complete
victory. Plander, not conquest, however, was the object
of his invasion, and when Muhammad Shah offered him a
large sum of money ifhe would leave thekingdom,
he willingly consented to do so and advanced to 1739
Dehli to receive the treasure. Then there took  a.p.

- place one of those frightful massacres that make
one shudder at the depravity and cruelty of man’s nature.

166. Massacre at Dehlt,— Nadir Shah was magnificent~
ly entertained by Mubammad Shah and lodged in the
palace. From some nnknown canse, a report was spread
abroad that he had died. The people of Dehli at once
rose against his soldiers and several were killed. Next
day, Nadir Shah, enraged at seeing the dead bodies of his
men, let loose his army on the city, and man, woman and
child were unmercifully put to the sword. Nadir Shah
sat in a mosque while.the deadly work went on, and not
until Mehammad Shah, sick withthe sight of the dead, and
heart broken at hearing the groans of the dying, begged
of bim to bave mercy, did Nadir Shah give ordera to his
soldiers to desist. The number of the slain can never be
known ; bns it was many thonsanda. The city was plan.
_"dered. The peacock throne and all the palace jewels be-
came the spoil of the conqueror. *The treasury of Saadat
Ali Xhan, who bad been so insulted by Nadir Shah, that
in very shame he had poisoned himself, was confiscated,
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and Nizam-ul-mulk and all the grandees were compelled
to pay large contributions to the conqueror. The amonnt
of money that the invader carried away was immense.
He gave all his soldiers three months’ pay, and for a year
remitted all taxation thronghout the Persian empire.

157. Extent of the empire in 1748.—The invasion of
Nadir Shah inflicted a mortal blow on the Mughal empire.
Mubammad Shah lived $ill 1748, but he was an emperor
almost only in name. The only provinces that remained
in the occupation of the Government were part of the np-
per Duab and the districts south of the Satlej. Bengal,
Orissa and Bihar had come in to the possession of a Tartar,
Allvirdl Khan by name, and his successors now raled there.
Oudk was under its own king, and the Rohillas, under
Muhammad All, an, Afghan, had set np an independent
state in Rohllkhand in 1744 The Panjab had been.
surreiidered to Ahmad Shah. Gujarat was overran by the
Mahrattas. The south of India bad been recovered by the
inndus, except these portions belonging to the Nizam’s

amily.

158. Invasion of Ahmad Shah Abdall—During the
raigns of three successors of Mubamwad Shah, Ahmad
Shah invaded India six times. He was the chief of the

Afghan tribe, Abdali, and on the death of Nadir

1747 Shah, had laid hold of the kingdom of Kandahsr.

A.p. In his first invasion he was defeated ab Sarhind.

The Mahrattas, in their turn, under the cele

brated Raganath Rao, invaded the Panjab, which in a

subsequent expedition bhad been ceded to Ahmad Shah.

The struggle was a struggle between nationalities. The

Jats joined the Mahrattas. The viceroy of Oudh

1761 and the Rohillasaided Ahmad Shah. At Panipat

A.D.,  (the third battle of Panipat), the armies met, and

the Mabrattas sustained snch a erushing defeat,

that their power was overthrown, and all hope of their

becoming the paramount power in India was at an end.

In the campaign they lost no fewer than two hundred

thousand men. Abmad Shah advanced to Dehli, and

having placed the Afghana in power, returned to Kandahar
and never visited India’ again.

159. Shah, Alam 11.—1761—1808.—The Afghan power
was now, apperently, in a fair way of being restored; bnt
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four years before the battle of Panipat, another great
battle, Plassey, bad been fought and wou by the -
English in Bengal, and since that time the Eng- 1757
lish had been steadily adding to their conquests.  a.p.
While Afghan and Hindu were fighting for ‘
supremacy at Panipat, Shah Alam II, son of Mubammad
Shab, was vainly trying to oppose the English in Bihar,
Shah Alam Il afterwards became a pensioner of the
English, and resided at Allahabad. Meanwhile, the
struggle between the Hindu and the Afghan went on,
till in 1771 the Mahrattas, under Mahadaji Sindia, again
. entered Dehli and drove Zablta -Khan, the Afghan raler;
from the ¢ity. Shah Alam ll-immediately left the English
protection and put himself into the hands of Sindia.
From this time the. Mahrattas remained masters of Dehli
till 1803, with the exception of an inter¢al of a few months
in. 1788, witen Ghulam Kadlr, son of Zabita Khan, obtained
possession of the city. On that occasion, Shah Alam’s
eyes were put out, because Ghulam Kadir thought he
was concealing his treasure. In 1803 Shah Alam was finally
rescued from the hands of the Mahrattas by General Lake,
and left to dwell in the palace, supported by an handsome
pension from the British Glovernment. His grandson,
Bahadur Shah, was found guilty of taking part in the
mutiny of 1857 and in the massacre of the English ; and
he, the last nominal emperor of Dehli, was transported to
Rangoon, where he died in 1862,

CHAPTER VIIL

History or THE RaJPUTS,

Rajputs, Kshatriyas. Bajputs of Rajputana.
Two families. Subdued by Akbar,
Fendal government, Later history,

Early Rejput kingdom, - Ram fingh,

180.. The Ralputs claim fo be Kehatrivas.—The Raj-
puts are divided into two families, the children of the sun
and the children of the moon. The former were sove-
reigns of Ayodhya and Kanouj, and had a blazing sun ag
their ensign. The latter were sovereigns of Dehll and

. 8 .
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Pataliputra, and had » crescent as their ensign. They were
born soldiers, and as has often happened in other eountries,
they gradmally became divided into eeparate clans, the
members of each clan being bound to each other and to
their hereditary chiefs by many memories of defeats and
victories. The chiefs held thesame relation to the Raja
a8 his vassals did to himself. Their land was held on
a kind of feudal tenure. For example, when they took
possession of new territory, the Raja would first set apart
so much for himself, then divide the rest among the
chiefs, who in turn distributed it amongst the vassals, In

return, the vassals had to take up arms when called onby .

the chiefs, and the chiefs when summoned by the Rajas.
The effect of this clanship was, that the Rajputs were not
a migratory people, but, when defeated in war and forced
to move, they left their country in a body. In the early
period of Indian history, the Hindu states were probably
all governed by Rajas or Rajputs. About the beginning
of the Christian era, there were the kingdoms of Ujjain,
with the celebrated Vikramaditya as king; the kingdoms
of Kanouj, Dehli; and many others. At the time of
Muhammad Ghorl’s invasion, there were four very power.
ful Rajput states. in India. The clan of Timaras held
Dehli; the Chouchans, Ajmir; the Rahtors, Kanouj;
and the Baghilas, Gujarat. The history of the overthrow
of those kingdoms by Muhammad Ghori and his successors
has already been given. .

161. Rajputana.—On the overthrow of their kingdoms,
the Rajputs left in a body, and retiring into the wilds and
fastnesses of Rajputana, founded mnew states, and grew to
such power, that they influenced the history of India for
generations thereafter,” They were frequently defeated by

the early Muhammadan kings, and, at the battle

1527 of Sikri, their power was so shaken, that they
A.p. ‘never afterwards tried to conquer Hindustan;
but they were not subdued until the reign of

Akbar. During his reign, the three most powerful Rajput
states were Chitor, Jaipur and Jodbpur. -Jaipuor and Jodh-
pur were easily conquered, and danghters of the Rajas
were given in marriage to Akbar, who was then regarded
a8 lord paramount.of those Rajput princes. They, in
furn, were raised to high rank in the army.. Chitor was
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taken and sacked. The women performed the johur, and
the men, putting on saffron garments, perished almost toa
man. Bat the Rana fled to the Aravali hills and founded
the city of Udaipur, which from that time was to give the
name to his house. He was finally conquered, but would
have no interchange of marriages between hia family and
the Great Moghal.  Nor could he regard with any other
feeling than that of -detestation the other Rajput chiefs,
who, 1n violation of all the runles of caste, had so degraded
themselves.. This interchange. of marriages between the
Muoghals and -the Rajputs led to serious consequences,
when, on the fall of the Mughal empire, the Rajputs were
enabled to throw off their allegiance, and unite again into
their old confederacy. The BRana of Udaipur, as lord
paramount, was required ..to .give his daughters to the
other Rajas. - For a long time he refused to have anything
to do with the degenerate prinoes ; but finally agreed, on
the condition that the son of his danghter should succeed
to the throne, in preference to the elder son of any other
wife, The latter history of the Rajputs is one of incessant
wars, arising chiefly out .of this stipulation made by the
Rana of Udaipur; and a history of incursions ‘made into
their territory by the Mahrattas, with the nsnal plundering
and burning and laying waste the country. In 1818 the
English Government .took. the . Bajput states under its
protection, though it refused to interfere with the internal
administration. In 1835. a fearful tragedy took place in
Jaipur. The minister murdered the Baja, and an English
officer was . agsassinated. in. the streets of Jaipur. The
English interfered and. placed the infant son of the mur-
dered Raja on the thronme, under a Council of Regency.
Since then the Rajput states have had peace and pros-
perity, and in the mutiny in 1857 this infant prince, now
became Maharajah Ram Singh, rendered most valuable aid
to the English*by placing his whole army at the disposal
of the Government. Ho died in 1880.
]
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HISTORY OF THE MAHRATTAS.

CHAPTER I. 4

) ..
Sivain—1627 a.p. 10 1680 a.p.™

\ o
Maharashtra, ' Suarat attacked:
Sivaji’s birth and childhood.| Sivaji visits ,e@.‘
Siva]i takeg Torna, Sivaji beoomeé\lgiﬂ?
" Afzul Kban killed, Invades the Karhg WC

Bhaista Khan at Puna, Sivaji’s death.

182. Maharashtra,—Maharashtra, (¢he greatm

the country of the Mahrattas, mbraced that mouufain.
ons district lying between the Central Provinces and the
Arablan Sea. Its northern boundary extended from near
Surat, eastwards along the Satpura mountains, as far as
the Wain Ganga, east of Nagpur; the eastern boundary
followed the Wain Ganga and the Wardha as far south as
Mantkdrug, while a waving line drawn from Manikdrug to
Mahur and theuce to Goa marked the sonthern houndary.
On the west it was bounded by the sea.

163. The Konkan.—The Konkan formed that part of
Maharashtra which lay between the Ghats and the sea,
and extended from Stvadasagarh to the Taptl. Itisin
great payt a wild, rugged and mountainous country, inter-
spersed with thick jungles and intersected by numerous
rivers. Towering above the mountains and rising some-
times to & height of fonr hundred feet are huge basaltic:
rocks, which the Mahrattas formed into strong forts known
a8 the Mahratta Hlll Forts. Access to those forts was

- most difficult, The roads throughont the conntry generally
were but rongh footpaths ; while those leading to the forts
ran along narrow passes and defiles, sometimes so precipi-
tous, that it was with the utmost difScunlty a horseman
could walk along them. - -

1684, Slvajl.—When Ala-ud-din invaded. the Dakhan
and captured Deoglrl, Ramdeo, & Mahratta prince, was
veigning there. Until the rise of Siva)l, however, the
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Mahratfas play but an insignificant part in history. This
Sivaji was the son of Shall, a member of the Bhonsle
family. According’ to Mabratta legend, the goddess
Bhawani appeared unto Shaji’s father, and informed him,
that one of his family would become a king, that he would
destroy all who molested the Brahmans or violated the
temples of the gods, and that his posterity would reign for
twenty-five generations. Shaji himself occupied a very

high position at the court of Ahmadnagar, and, on the
overthrow of that kingdom, obtained a high place at the
court of Bijapur. He took part in the wars of Malik Ambar
against the Mughals, and greatly distinguished himself
in the wars of Bijapur against Mahabat Khan. Sivaji was
born in the fort of Sacner, and was brought up at Puna,
under the care of Dadaji Kundeo, 3 Brahman.

1627 Sivaji was educated in true Mahratta fashion. He

_AD. could never write his own name; but he was a
splendid archer, well skilled in the nse of the spear
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the sword and the javelin, and he excelled in horseman-
ship. His Brahman tutor took the nutmost care to instruct
him in all the ceremonies of the Hindn faith, and in the
observances rendered necessary by the rules of caste.
Nothing pleased Sivaji as a boy more than to listen to the
story of the Ramayana or the Mababharata, and often
would he long to emulate the exploits of the heroes of those
poems. From about his sixteenth year he began to
associate with lawless characters and freebooters, and, as
he was of a free, happy and jovial disposition, he scon
became very popular amongst them,

. 165, Sivall takes several forts.—Sivaji comwenced
his work of plundering ‘and conquest by taking

the fort of Torna. While digging amongst its 1646
ruins, he came upon a large quantity of gold a.p.
that had been secreted there 2t a: very remote :
time. This good luck he attributed to the favour of
the goddess Bhawani. With the money he purchased
arms and ammunition, and built another. fort to the
south-east of Torna, and called it Rajgarh. Kondaneh
and Gopa next fell into his hands, and by the most artful
treachery he got possession of Purandhar. Duoring the
next two years fort after fort was seized, aund, though
the government of Bijapur was quite aware of what.
Sivaji was doing, still they do not seem to have thought his
incursions of so much importance as to render it necessary.
to send an armed force against him. It seems strange
that the government of Bijapar should bave remained so
inactive, and should have allowed Sivaji to go on increas-
ing in sftength, when they could easily have orushed him ;
still more strange, that Aurangzeb, when the Mahrattas
invaded the Mughal territories, should have acted very.
much in the same impassive way.  Both had canse ta
regret their inactivity. They allowed & predatory power;
small at first, gradually to increase in strength until
Bijapur was compelled to pay it tribute, and Aurangzeh
was forced to flee before it ont of the Dakban.  Sivaji
next captured Calllan, and made the governor prisoner,
When the news of this reached Bijapur all was excitement
and anxiety. Adil Shah, the sultan, becoming suspicious
that Shaji was in league with Sivaji, summoned him from
his jaghir in the Karnatic, and cast him into a stone
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dangeon, the door of which was built up, only a small
opening being left to admit light and air. Shaji was
then informed that. unless Sivaji surrendered within a
certain time, this opening would be closed for ever.

166. Afzul Khan Klilled.—Sivaji up to this time had
carefully avoided making inroads into the Maghal terri-
tory. His force was yet comparatively weak. He might
meet with disaster. Bijapur might awake from its torpor
and crush him. It would be of great advantage to bim
in such an extremity fo be on friendly terms with the,
Emperor. This far-seeing policy served him in good stead
now. He at once applied to Shah Jahan to intercede
on bebalf of his father; with the result that Shaji was
set at liberty, and Sivaji raised to the command of five
thousand horse. Aurangzeb bad been appointed viceroy
of the Dakhan, and had determined on the overthrow of
Bijapur. On the return of Aunrangzeb to Dehli conses
quent on the illness of Shah Jahan, the government of
Bijapur was set free to mse all its resources to crush the
Mahrattas, and it resolved to do so. An army of five
thousand horse and seven thousand choice infantry, with
artillery, under the command of Afzul Khan, an officer
of the highest rank, advanced against Sivaji. When
Sivaji heard of his approach, he ‘sent the most humble
messages. He was very sorry for his past conduct. He
oonld not possibly oppose such & distingnished genersl as
the Khan. If the Khan would assure him of his favour
and pardon he would surrender the whole country. He
begged Afzul Kban, to meet him at some place and hold a
conference. Afzul Kban, thrown off his guard, consented.
. They met. During the customary embrace, Sivaji strack
the ‘wagnakh or tiger’s claws, a small stepl instrument
with hooked blades which he held concealed on the fingers
of his left hand, into the bowels of Afzal Khan, and then
stabbed him to the heart with his dagger. His troops, wha
were in ambush, rushed on the troops of Bijapur and cut
them to pieces. This treachery and the suoccess that
followed greatly raised Sivaji in the estimation of the

Makrattas, and the horses, elephants, treasure
1662 aud baggage, which fell into his hands, greatly

A.D.  strengthened his position. Sivaji’s possessiona

now included the whole of the Konkan, from
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Kallian to Goa; and the Ghat Mahta, from the Bhima to
the Wardha; the greatest breadth of his territory being
about one hundred miles.

. 187. Sivajl attacks the Mughals.—Sivaji resolved to
attack the Mughals. Witha large army, commanded by
himself and Morar Punt, the Peshwa, t.e., Prime Minister,
he invaded the Mughals dominion, and his cavalry swept

- through the country striking terror whergver they went.
. Shalsta Khan, the viceroy of the Dakhan, was ordered to
punish Sivéji for this daring incursion. He at-once ad-
vanced into the Mahratta country, took Puna, and set np
his residence in the very house in which Sivaji was brought
up, Then was performed by Sivaji one of those most
daring feats, which struck with wonder the minds of his
countrymen, and which they delight to exult over even in
the present day. Sivaji with a few followers mingled,
unobserved, with & crowd that was following a marriage
procession in Puna, and during the night when all was
quite, they attacked the honse of Shaista Khan. Shaista

Khan escaped with the loss of one of his fingers,

and Sivaji and his*men retired before the 1664

.Mughal troops could be gathered fogether to  a.n.
intercept them. Sivaji next attacked Surat, plun- |
dered the city for six days, and earried off its treasure to

Raigarh. The plunder on this occasion might have been .

greater, had it not been for the gallant opposition of the

English and the Portugnese, who not only protected their

own property, but also saved a part of that belonging to

the natives, Sivaji now assumed the title of Raja, and

struck coins in his own name. . .

168. Agreement of Purandhar.~—Sivaji having built a
fleet, waylaid the Mughal ships on their way to Mecca,
and exacted Hbavy ransoms from the rich pilgrims. This
roused the religious wrath of Aurangzeb. Hitherto he
had affected to despise Sivaji, whom he called #a moun-
tain rat.” Hebad allowed Sivaji to make namerous in-
cursions and to plunder Surat, without sending a sufficient
force to crash him, Probably he was afraid to do so—
afraid to entrust a large army to & General who might use
the army against himself, Probably he was afraid to leave

Dehli, 28 Shah Jahan was stillalive there, and doring his

shsence a party might arise and re-instate him on the
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throne. Bat this sacrilege of plundering pilgrims on the
way to Mecca could nof be overlooked. A large army was,
therefore, sent under Jal Singh and Dilir Khan against
Sivaji, Jai Singh leaving his son at Court as a hostage for
his good condact. Sivaji was soon reduced to difficulties,
and forced to enter into a treaty at Purandbar, by which
he had to surrender all the territory he had taken from the
Maughals. In retnrn he was allowed certain assignments
on the territory of Bijapur, whieh consisted of one-fourth -
or one-tenth of the revenue, and whieh Bivaji termed
<hauth and sirdeshmukhl.
169. €ivall at Dehll.—Sivaji thereafter joined Jai
Singh and fought against Bijapur, and so distinguished
himself in the Emperor’s service, that Aurangzeb
1666 invited him to Court. Sivajiaccepted the invita-
ap. tion and set out for Dehli, accompanied by five
hundred ehoice horsemen. On his arrival there,
he thought he was treated withigreat indignity when he
was ranked only amongst those that commanded five
thousand troops. He resented this and soon found him-
self a prisoner. But by the help of the son of Jai Singh,
he got himself conveyed out of the palace in a basket and
escaped. He arrived at Ralgarh in December 1666.
170. Sivajl Raja.—Sivaji immediately took up arms
against the Mughals. Jaswant Singh of Jodhpur and Sul-

‘tan Muazzam, viceroy of the Dakhan, were ent against

him ; but, by a lavish distribution of gold, Sivaji soon ob-

tained the most favonrable terms from them, and there-

after attacked Bijapur and Golconda and compelled them

to-pay tribute. Sivaji then determined to assume the

ensigns of royalty, and was crowned at Raigarh

1674 with the most solemn rites, and ceremonies. He

A.D. was weighed against gold and the money was

- given to the Brahmans. Large sums were distri-

buted in charity. The titles Sivaji assamed were of the

-most lofty and pretentious kind, and in public he appear-
-ed in all the state and display of royalty.

171. .Sivall Invades the Karnatlc.—Sivaji then under-

took the most important expedition of his life, the

1678 invasion of the Karnatic. The professed object

A.D.  of this invasion was fo obtain from his brother,

Venkajl, one-balf of his father's estates and
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jewels, which he claimed by the law of inheritance. On
his way south he visited Kutb Shah at Golkonda, and
entered into a treaty offensive and defensive with him
against the Mughals. . He passed Madras on- his way to
Jinji, which surrendered to him ; while another division
of his army laid siege fo, and captured Vellore. Verkaji
was soon brought to terms, and agreed to divide the jewels
and sbare the, revenue with Sivaji. On Sivaji’s return
march, Musaud Khan of Bijapur implored his aid against
the Mughals, who under Dilir Khan, had infested :
his capital. Sivaji did not feel himself equal to 1679
engage in battle with so strong an enemy; but  ap.
laid siege to the fort of Jalna near the Godaverd
and plundered it. On his way to Raigarh with the booty
Sivaji was intercepted by the Mughals; but by desperate
fighting and personal bravery, he was enabled to get clear
away and reached Putta in safety. /. e

- 172, Death of Sivajl.—eSivaji’s mind was now oppressed
with domestic tronbles. His son, Sambhalji, a wild, licen-
tions youth, deserted to the enemy, and was received with
marked distinction by .Dilir Khan, who tried to use him
as a 'means of dividing the Mahrattas into two factions, the
one following she father, and the other, the son. Aurang-
zeb disapproved of this and ordered Sambhaji to be senf
a prisoner to Dehli; but Sambhaji was allowed to make
his escape, and althongh Sivaji apparently became recon-
ciled to him, he was shat up in the fort of Panalla. Sivaji
died at Raigarh on the 5th April 1680, in the. fifty-third
year of his age.

! CHAPTER II.

Frou THE DearH oF Sivasr 70 THE BaTTLE OF PaNIPAT.
’ 1680 a.p, To 1761 a.r.

Sambhaji Raja. Policy of Baji Rao.
Saha Raja. . Basin captured.
Balaji Viswanath, First Balaji Baji Rao.
Peshwa. Battle of Udgir.
Baji Rao, Second Peshwa. The third battlé of Panipat,

. 173. Sambha/l—1680—1689.—On the death of Sivaji,
a party of the nobles placed Raja Ram, Sivaji’s younger



96 THR HAHRATTAS.

son, on the throne. But Sambhall, escaping from his place
of confinement, soon gathered together a party, put Soyera
Bai, the mother of Raja Ram, to death, and cast Raja Ram
into prison.~ As had been predicted by Sivaji, mach evil
to the Mahratta power soon followed. The Mahraita offi-
cers that had supported Baja Ram were beheaded. Annaji
Dath, a Brahman, and one of the most distinguished of
Sivaji’s ministers, was put to death ; while the celebrated
Morar Punt, the Peshwa, waa thrown into prison. Sam-
bhaji, throngout his reign, was completely -under the in-
fluence of his minister, Kulushah a man totally devoid of
the gualities necessary for such a high station. The rain-
ous consequences that followed weakened for & $ime the
Mahratta power.

174. Sambhali's character and death.—Sambhajj,
though possessing none of the genius of his father, was
not wanting in ability, nor was he deficient in military
valour. He distinguished himself on more than one ocea~
sion in his wars against the Portuguese at Goa, and also
at the siege of Jinjira, which he tried to take by storm.
But, when not actually in the field, he gave himself up to
the most idle and wicked dissipation. Owing to his lavish
prodigality and the incapacity of Kulusha im the manage-
ment of the finances of the kingdom, the ryots were over-
burdened with taxation and they fled from the villages.
The soldiers, left with their pay in arrears, took to plander-
ing. While the leaders, disgusted with Sambhaji’s bar-
barous cruelties and vices, were estranged from him.
During the reign of Sambhaji, Aurangzeb invaded the

1680 Dakban, 1683, and sent an army under Muazzam
into the Konkan ; but this army was powerless to

AD.  gislodge the Mahrattas from their forts. The

T0 Mahrattas, in turn, laid waste the plains; and

1689 pestilence and famine forced the Mughals to re-
4D treat. On the fall of Bijapur and Golkonda,
thonsands of Mahrattas who had been employed in the
service of those two kingdoms were let loose on the coun-
try. Had Sambbaji possessed any thing like the eapacity
of his father, they might readily have been indaced to join
him ; the Mughal camp might have been imperilled ; and
Aurangzeb might scon have had canse to regret his mistake,
in reducing the only two powers in the south of India, that
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were able to kéep the Mahrattas in check. But Sambhaji,
instead of taking advantage of the opportunity now laid
open to him of extending his power, and crippling the
Mughals, spent his time in riotous debauchery, until one
day he was taken by surprise while drunk at Sengameswar,
and, along with his minister, Kulusha, was carried off as a
prisoner to Aurangzeb. Anrangzeb offered to spare bis life
if he would become a Muhammadan. « Tell the Emperor,”
said he, “ if he will give me his daughter I will do so.”
No words more insulting could be addressed to a Muham-
madan. Aurangzeb, stirred with anger, ordered a red hot
iron to be drawn across Sambhaji’s eyes, his fongue to be
cat out, and his head to be severed from his body. Sivaji,
(afterwards known by the nickname, Sahu), Sambhaji’s
son, a little boy of six years of age, was earried off to Dehli
and brought up at the Moghal Court.

176. Contests with the Mughals.—The cruel end of
Sambhaji, instead of striking terror into the Mahrattas,
roused their vengeance, and drew the leaders more closely
togother. They held & Council, at which Raja Ram was
appointed regent, and a unanimous resolution was arrived
a8 to revenge the foul murder- Raja Ram was to ‘speed
to Jin}i, and carry on the war there, while the other
leaders were to defend the forts in the Konkan. Aurangzeb
sent Zulfikar Khan in pursnit fof RaJa Ram. Jinji was .
besieged, but treachery and corraption had crept into
the Mughal army to a terrible extent, and Zulfikar Khan,
having a private understanding with Raja Ram, carried
on the siege in the most leisurely fashion. When at last
he could no louger delay taking the fort with-
out bringing disgrace and ruin upon himself, he 1698
contrived to allow Raja Ram to escape. Aurang-. A.D.
zeb advanced in person against Satara and cap-
tured it. About the same time Raja Ram' died, and his
widow, Tara Bal, assnmed the reins of Govern-
ment. The struggle between the Mahrattas and 1707
the Mughals was continued. - Before the death. a.p.
of Aurangzeb which took place in 1707, the
Mughal armies had become so disorganised that they were
forced to retire from before the Mabrattas.

176. Sahu—I1708—1748.—Tara Bai continued to rule
in the name of her son, Sivaji, until 1708, In that

9
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year Sahu was set at liberty, and, thongh Tara Bai affect-
ed fo believe that he was an impostor, and took the field
against him, her supporters were easily allured from her
side, and Sahu had little difficulty in advancing to Satara,
and placing himself on the throne, Sahn was a manof a
very different stamp from either his father or his grand-
father. Brought up in the imperial zenana at Dehli,
rendered effeminate by indulging in  all the luxury of
that laxarious Court, he was little fitted to reign over
such a predatory and warlike people as the Mabrattas.
During the first fives years of his reign anarchy pre-
vailed, and the Mahratta power, from its own internal
dissensions. and disunions, must bave fallen to pieces,
had there not arisen one amongst them; who was able
to re-unite the different parties, to bring order out of
confasion, and to establish a settled system of govern-
) ment in the country. This man was Balajt
1714 Viswanath. He was appointed Peshwa in 1714
A.D.  and, as he was the first to raise this office to be
the supreme power in the Mahratta kingdom, he

. is known in history as the first Peshwa.
. 177. Bala}l Viswanath, first Peshwa—1714—1720.—In
the hands of Balaji Viswanath and his able snccessors,
Sahu became a mere puppet. Sabu was fond of fishing
and hawking and honting. He hated business. If his
ministers showed him due respect and professed obedience
to him, that was all he cared for. The Brahman ministers,
therefore, paid him the most profound reverence, and
professed the utmost submission. All orders were issued
in Sabu’s name, and made to appear as if they emanated
from him. At the same time, the Peshwa and his
ministers became the real anthority. It was the Peshwa
that issned-commissions to the leaders to collect chanth
in Malwa, Gujarat and the Dakhan. It was the Peshwa
that entered into a treaty with the Emperor, whereby
the latter is supposed to have paid tribute to the Mah-
rattas in order to preserve his territories around Dehli,
from being pilandered. The Peshwa was a Brahman,
and all the offices in the state were held by Brahmans,*
and became hereditary. Thus, a powerfnl Brahmanical
hierarchy grew up around the king, which retained in
its own hand all the power of the state, and afterwards
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assumed kingly power. While Balaji Viswanath was
Peshwa, the Mahratta power was considerably extended.
He joined Sayyld Hussain All Khan and marched to
Dehli against Farruk Siyar. In return for his services,
he received the right to collect chauth throughout the
Dakhan, and was made absolute sovereign of the
districts possessed by Sivaji at the time of his death.
Balaji died in 1720 soon after the Sayyids had been
overthrown in the battle of Shahpur, and was succeeded
by his son Bajl Rao, the second and greatest of the
Peshwas. :

178. Bajl Rao, second Peshwa—1720—1740.—Baji
Rao inherited all his father’s ability as a statesman, and
having been trained to habits of bausiness and bred a
soldier, he was enabled duaring his administration to
extend considerably the Mahratita power. His policy was
to keep the Mahratta chiefs constantly employed far off
from Satara collecting chauth, and as they did this under
commisgions they received from Satara, and had to render
accounts to the Peshwa, they all became bound to the
central power, while individually they were each of them
80 weak, that they were unable to disturb. the Government
to any extent. It was during this fime that those
Mahratta families, who afterwards established themselves
as independent powers, began to come into notice. The
family of the Gaikwar of Baroda arose in Gujarat ; Holkar
and Sindia in Malwa ; and the Bhonsle family, the same
family to which Sivaji belonged, established themselves in
Barar.

179. Ba)l Rao's policy.—During the whole the ad-
ministration of Baji Rao, the Mahrattas were divided more
or less into parties. Sahn was Rajs, but Sambhajl, son
of Raja Ram, had set up a rival court at Kolhapur. The
able and wily Nizam-ul-mulk, the founder of the Nizams
of the Dakhan, took advantage of this, and, by supporting
Sambhaji, hoped, by dividing the Mahrattas into two
factions, to establish his own power more firmly in the
Dakhan. But Baji Rao was more than a match for

*Nizam-ul-mulk. Baji Rao’s great aim was to extend the
Mahratta power in Hindustan. He saw the weak, dis-
ordered state into which the Mughal power bad fallen.
Ho saw the jealousy, if not hatred, that existed between
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Nizam-ul-mulk and the Court at Dehli. He tried to
arouse a spirib of ambition in Sahu, and in an eloquent
speech delivered in his presence said. “ Now ia our time to
drive strangers from the land of the Hindus, and to acquire
immortal renown. By directing our efforts to Hindustan,
the Mahratta flag in your reign shall fly from the Krishna
to Attock.” “You shall plant it on the Himalayas,”
exclaimed the Raja, “you are indeed a noble son of a
worthy father.”

180. Conventlon of Seronjl.—The Mahrattas invaded
Malwa and Gujarat, and levied contributions. Mulhar Rao
Holkar made incursions beyond Agra, while Baji Rao.
himself advanced to Dehli. The attempts of the Emperor
to check the Mahrattas were of the most feeble kind, and
the demands of the Mahrattas increased as their power
increased. A right to ldvy chauth in the Dakhan was
conceded to Baji Rao. Buf to grant one thing to Baji
Rao only made him demand more. The Court at Dehli
was, therefore, forced to bestir themselves, and, to put
forth their strength to snppress this irrepressible enemy.
Nizam-ul-mulk was recalled to Dehli, and the fullest
powers were granted him to drive the Mahrattas from
Malwa and Gujarat. But Baji Rao came up with him at

“-Bhopal, snrrounded his army und forced him to
1738 sign a convention at Seronje, by whick® Nizam-
A.Dp. ul-mulk promised ‘fo grant to Baji Rao the
whole of Malwa, and the complete sovereignty of
the territory between the Chambal and the Narbada; to
obtain a confirmation of this from the Emperor, and to
pay a subsidy of fifty lakhs of rupees to cover the Peshwa’s
expenses "—an agreement which Nizam-ul-mulk never
kept. Shortly after this Nadir Shah invaded India.
at the pame time the Mahrattas captured Basin, and
thereby crippled the Portugnese power. Baji Rao subse-
quently invaded the Dakhan, but with little success. A
few months thereafter he died.

181. Balajt Baji Rao, third Peshwa—1740—I1761—
Baji Rao left two sons, Balaji Baji Rao, and Raganath
Rao (Raghobs), afterwards so well known in the wars
with the English. Balaji Baji Rao succeeded as Peshwa,
but not ‘without opposition. The Bhonsle family, es-
pecially, were anxzious to put an end to the Brahman
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supremacy. Sahn had acknowledged himself a vassal of
the emperor, and Balaji Baji Rao, to strengthen his own
position, obtained from the emperor confirmation in
his office of Peshwa. Sahu died in 1748. Immediately
there waes intriguing as to who was to be his successor.
Tara Bai produced a child, Raja Ram, whom she declared
to be the son of Sivaji II. The widow of Sahu, fearing
the power Tara Bai would have as regent, were Raja Ram
placed on the throne, supported the family of Kolhapur;
while Balaji Baji Rao resolved to take advantage of those
dissensions to secure the power to himself. Tara Bai had
great influence amongst the Mahrattas. Raja Ram was a
lineal descendant of the great Sivaji, and would, therefore,
be supported by many of the leaders on that account,
Balaji Baji Rao resolved to support Rajs Ram, to set
aside Tara Bai as regent, and to gain the whole power of
the state into his own hands. Raja Ram was appointed
king. Balaji Baji Rao then produced a deed, purporting
to have been signed by Sabu, granting to himself the
guardianship of the Mahratta kingdom, so long as he kept
a descendant of Sivaji on the throne. The Government
was removed from Satara to Puna. Tara Bai, wild with
rage, refused to acknowledge Balaji Baji Rao as regent,

.'stirred up Raja Ram to assert his independence, -and

when she found him too feeble for her purpose, cast him
into a dungeon in Satara, and kept him there till her
‘death in 1761. ‘ :

182. The Peshwa, really the soverelgn.—Balaji Baji
Rao was now sovereign in reality, thongh he continued to
reign under the old name of Peshwa. Dauring the reign of
Balaji Baji Rao, the Mahratta power attained its greatest
limits and received its most crushing blow. The Bhonsle
family over-ran Orissa and penetrated into Bengal.
Mulhar Rao Holkar entered Bundelkhand; and Raga-
nath Rao marched into Lahor in trinmph. Maisur and
the Karnatlc were invaded by the Peshwa in person, and
tribute was levied from both. Geriah, a pirate fort, on
the west coast, was reduced by the English and the
Mahrattas. Salabat Jang and Nizam Ali were
defeated in the great battle of Udglr, and com- 1760
pelled to give up to the Mahrattas the forts of  a.p,
Daulatabad, Asirgarh and Bijapur ; the posses-
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sion of Ahmadnagar, and the greater part of the province
of Aurangabad. The Muhammadan power in the Dakhan
wis thus reduced to the narrowest limits, and over the
whole of the imperial territory chauth had been promised
by Muhammad Shah. ‘
183. Ahmad Shah Abdall.—The Mahratta power had
now reached its zenith. The conquest of the
1760 Panjab, and the capture of Lahor brought in upon
A.p.  the Mahrattas an enemy that shook their king-
dom to its centre, and this date may be taken
as marking the beginning of the decline and fall of the
Mahratta power. Ahmad Shah Abdali had secured to
himself the Panjab and Multan, and had appointed his
son viceroy. When he heard of Lahor having been cap-
tured by the Mahrattas, he collected a large army and
marched into India to recover his lost possessions. Coming
up with Mulhar Rao Holkar, he forced him to retreat.
Sweeping on to Dehli and crossing the Jumna, he took
Sindia by surprise, and destroyed two-thirdg of his army.
When the news of those disasters reached the Dakhan,
Sivadas Rao, the hero of Udgir, was appointed to the
command, and set ont with twenty thousand horse and ten
thousand artillery and infantry, to recover the last reputa-
tion of the Mahrattas in Hindustan. The war became
a war of nationalities—of religions. Were the Hindus or
the Afghans to be the rulers of India ? The Rajputs,
Pindaris and Jats flocked in vast numbers to the Mahrattas
standards. The Rohillas and Shuja-ud-daulah; viceroy of -
Oudh, joined Ahmad Shah., The two armies met at Pani-
pat. The Mahratta army consisted of fifty-five thousand
horse, fifteen thousand infantry, and two hundred thou.
sand Pindaris and followers, with two hundred guns. The
Muhammadan army consisted of forty-seven thousand
horse, thirty-eight thousand foot, and seventy guns. The
Mahrattas took up an entrenched position and waited to
be attacked : but Ahmad Shah declined to do so. Instead
of that, he practically blockaded the Mahratta
17681 forces, and reduced them to the nutmost extremi-
A,p.  ties from want of provisions. At last Sivadas
Rao wrote to Shuja-ud-daulah of Oudh, “The
cup is now full to the brim and cannot hold another drop,”
and the Mahrattas prepared to conquer or die. From
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early morning till afternoon the battle raged with the nt-
most fary, and for a time it seemed as if the Hindus were
to be victorious. But the Afghans were stronger physi-
cally than the Hindus of the South and in the close, pro-
tracted, hand to hand struggle that took place the Hindus
were over-matched, Viswas Rao, the son of Balaji Baji
Rao, was killed, and Sivadas Rao, disappeared, never to be
heard of again. The Jats deserted the Mabrattas in a
body. Mulhar Rao, Holkar treacheronsly withdrew his
forces from the field. The battle was lost. Thounsands of
the Mahrattas were cut down in the flight. Many took
refuge in the village of Panipat. Next morning the village
was surrounded. The fugitives were taken, drawn up in
line aud beheaded. The women and children were carried
off as slaves. As many as two hundred thousand Mabrattas
perished in the campaign. There was wailing and mourn-
ing in every Mahratta home, and a gloom overhung the
whole of Mahrashtra. When the sad news reached Balaji
Baji Rao, it broke his heart. He died in 1761, and with
him passed away all hope of the Mahrattas becoming the
paramonnt power in - India.

CHAPTER IIL

From TR THIRD BATTLE oF PaANIPAT TO THE TREATY
oF SaLBAl, 1762 A.p. To 1782 aA.D.

Madu Rao’ Fourth Peshwa. Treaty of Purandhar,
Ahalya Bai: Firgy Mahratta War, .
War with Haider Ali. Retreat of the English.

Narayana Rao, Fifth Peshwa. | Convention of Wargam.
Mada Rao Narayava, Sixth | Basin captured.

Peshwa, | Lahor and Gwaliar taken.
Treaty of Surat. Treaty of Salbai.

184. Madu, Rao, fourth Peshwa—1761—1771,.—Madu
Rao, son of Balaji Baji Rao, was at once raised to the office
of Peshwa, and, as he was only seventeen years of age, his
uncle, Raganath Rao, was appointed regent. Batin less
than four years, Madu Rao, assumed the reins of Govern-
ment. Raganath Rao, was made a prisoner, and was nob
released until a shord time before Madu Rao’s death in 1772.
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185. Ahalya Bal.—Mulhar Rao Holkar, the founder of
the Holkar family, died in 1766. He first brought himself
into notice by his bravery and ability in 1724, and during
the next forty years attained to high rank, and played
a distinguished part in the Mahratta history. His only
son died before him and his grandson outlived him but
a short time. Ahalya Bal, the widow of the former,
thereby became the lawful heir. She appointed Tukaiji
Holkar, an experienced Silidar, but no relation of the
family, to the command of the army, while she herself
took under her own management the civil administration.
She was one of the most remarkable women that ever
lived. Under her rale Indor rose from a petty village to
a large and flourishing city. She is now worshipped in
Malwa as an incarnation of the deity.

186. Mahadajl Sindla.—About the same time, 1761,
Mahadeji Sindia became the head of the Sindia family.
He was an illegitimate son of Ranoji, the founder of the
family, who came into notice along with Mulhar Rao
Holkar in 1724.. Mahadaji was wounded at the battle of
Panipat. After the treaty of Salbai, (as we shall see), he
became virtually independent and for years was the great
rival of the celebrated Nava Farnavis. He died in 1794.

187. ‘The Mahratta power revives.—During the reign
of Madu Rao the Mahratta power recovered much of its
lost prestige throughout India. He led an important ex-
pedition into the Karnatic and distinguished himself in a
war against Haidar Ali. Haidar Ali was defeated in the
field, and forced to restore to the Mabrattas a large extent
of territory, and to pay thirty-two lakhs of rapees. In
1769 a Mahratta army again crossed the Chambal, and
forced the Rajputs and the Jats to pay fribute. Rohil-
khand was over-run by a large army under Sindta. Shah
Alam II, the nominal emperor of Dehli, left the English
protection for that of the Mahrattas, and the latter seized
all that remained of the power of the once mighty Mughal.
Madua Rao died in 1772,

188. Narayana Rag, fifth Peshwa—1772——1773.——Madu
Rao was succeeded by his yonnger brother. Narayana Rao.
But, within a year he was murdered, and Raganath Rao,
his pncle, who had been kept a prisoner in the palace
at Puna for some time previously, ascended the throne.
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Whether the murder of Narayana Rao was instigated by
Raganath Rao is still a mystery ; but suspicion was so
strong against him, that Ram Shastri, a distinguished mi-
nister, refused to serve under him and retired from Puna.

189. Raganath Rao, nominal Peshwa.-—Those distrac-
tions at Puna induced Nizam Ali of Haidarabad again to
take the field. But Raganath Rao and Mudsji Bhonsle of
Barar defeated him, and compelled him to cede territory
yielding twenty lakhs per annum. The Nizam, however,
having first worked on Raganath Rao’s feelings handed
him his seal and asked him to take as much more territory
as he wished. Raganath Rao, not to be out-done in genero-
sity, returned the seal and all the territory that had been
ceded. By this unwise.act he lost an opportunity of
knitting the Mahratta chieftains to his canse, which he
could have done, had he distributed amongst them the
territory he had thus acquired in war.

180. Madu Rao, Narayana, sixth Peshwa.—Raganath
Rao soon had cause to regret the blunder he had made.
News reached him that the. widow of the murdered
Narayana Rao had given birth fo a posthumous child, that
the infant, Madu Rao Narayana, had been raised to the
throne, and that a Council of Regency had beer formed
with the celebrated Nana Farnavis ateits head. Raganath
Rao hastened back and defeated the forces sent by the
Council of Regency against him. Instead, however, of
marching to Puna and taking possession of the- throne,
which he could easily have done, he foolishly withdrew of
Malwa and Gujarat, and finally applied to the Englieh at
Bombay for help. By this time the English had become &
great power in India. The small piece of land granted to
them by Raja Ram of Chandragiri in 1639, a8 a site for
Fort St. George, had been greatly added to, and the
Northern Circars had likewise come into their possession.
In Bengal, their power extended over the Lower Provinces,
and on the west coast they had received Bombay from the
Portuguese.

191. Treaty of Surat—The English were desirous of
acquiring territory, and when Raganath Rao offered to
give them Salsette and Basin, as also the terri-
tory and revenue of Broach, to meet theexpenses 1775
of the war, the Bombay Government concludeda  a-p.
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treaty at Surat, and prepared to assist in res&oriilg Raga-
nath Rao, to the throne. . i ’

192. Treaty of Purandhar.—The Bombay "Govern-
ment had made this treaty without consulting the Govern-
ment at Calcutta, which, by the Regulating Act, with
Warren Hastings as Governor-General and a Council,
had recently been made the Supreme Government in
1774 India. The latter declined to ratify the treaty of

AD Sarat. They pronounced it impolitic, dangerous,
*  unauthorized and unjust, and another treaty was
made with the Councll of Regency at Puna, and signed
1776 al Purandhar, by which only Salsette was ceded

2 to the English, and the cause of Raganath Rao

was abandoned. But peace with the Mahrattas
was hardly possible now. The Directors in England
approved of the treaty of Surat and condemned that of
Purandhar. Nana Farnavisreceived a Frenchman at his
courb, furnished with presents from the King of France.
As England was on the eve of a war with that country,
Warren Hastings resolved on war ostensibly to place
Raganath Rao on the throne, but in reality to defeat the
designs of the French, This war is known as the first
Mahratta War.

193. Convention of Wargam.—The Bombay Govern-

ment were delighted ab seeing their original policy now
being carried out. They resolved not to wait for

1778 the force that Hastings had despatched from
A-p.  Bengal, but to invade the Mahratta country at
once. The arrangements for conducting Raga-

nath Rao to Puna and placing him on the throne were
intrusted to a Committee, consisting of Mr. Carnac and
Mr. Mostyn, Members of the'Bombay Council, and Colonel
Egerton the Commanding Officer. The army left Bombay
in November 1778, and early in January advanced to
within eighteen miles of Puna. Meanwhile, Sindia had
arrived there, had united the different factions, and, with
thousands of Mahratta horse, he came up with the British
at -Talegaon. The Bombay-army consisted of only two
thonsand six hundred British troops. Mr. Mostyn had
died before ‘the army left Bombay, and Colonel Egerton,
in consequence of ill-health, was obliged to hand over the
command of the army to Colonel Cockburn, Mr. Carnac
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proposed & retreat, and, under cover of the night, ihe
British army began to retire: The resnlt was disastrous.
No sooner had the retreat begun than clonds of Mahrattas
came sweeping on and attacked the rear. ' Fortunately
there was one brave and able officer in the English army,
and be, Captain Hartley, so gallantly withstood the
repeated charges of the Mahrattas, that they were unable
to break the English line. The retreating army reached
Wargam. Hartley showed his superiors how they might
safely effect their retreat to Bombay. But Colonel Cock~
burn declared it to be impracticable. ~ The Committee
entered into negotiations with the Mahrattas and signed
the ¢ Convention of Wargam,” by which all the
possessions the Epglish had received from the 1779
- Mahrattas were to be restored. Broach wastobe  a.p.

- given to Sindia. The army on its way from

Bengal was to be ordered to-advance ne further, and two
hostages were given.

194. " The war renewed.—The utmost indignation was
felt both in India and in England at this convention. The
persons who concluded the peace were dismissed the
service, and the Governor and Court of Directors im-
mediately annulled the treaty, as having been concluded
without anthority from them. Meanwhile, Colonel God-
dard bad marched his army from Bengal, and had srrived
at Surat. He had distinct powers given him as envoy
of the Bengal Government ; and the entire anthority over
the army was intrusted to him. At first he tried to enter
on negotiations, but the Court of Puna, elated with their
past success, assumed so’lofty a tone that no other conrse
was left open than war, and, on this occasion, the British
were 1o longer auxiliaries to Raganath Rao but principals,
On the first of January Goddard crossed the Tapti,
and before the end of the month carried Ahmada- 1780
bad, the capital of Gujarat, by storm. Holkarand  a.D.
Sindja crossed the Narbada with twenty thousand
horse. Goddard went against them. Bat they wonld not
ficht. They would draw themselves np in live as if to
give battle, and, on the first fire, wonld gallop off and
be soon cut of sight. Goddard, thinkiog they bad been
defeated, would pursne, only to find them drawn wup in
battle order in some new sitaation. For some montha the
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army under Goddard was in this way harassed and drawn
fruitlessly through the conntry. But towards' the endjof
the year Basin was captored, and the whole combined
11th December force of the Mahrattas,ghat came to the re-

" lief of that town, was defeated by Hartley.

195. Retreat of the English.—While the English
armies were thus successfol and were recovering some-
what of their lost reputation, a terrible enemy burst on
the Madras Presidency and carried fire and sword almost
to the very gates of Fort St. George. Haidar Ali of
Maisur had formed ad alliance with the Nizam and the
Mahrattas against the English, and as now the greatest
number of troops that the latter could collect would be
necessary to protect their interest in the sounth, an attempt
was made by Goddard to enter into negotiations with Nana
Farnavis, to bring the bar to an end. The Court at Puna .
delayed. Goddard, thinking to overawe them, warched
with six thonsand men into the Konkan and threatened
Pona. The Mahrattas laid waste the country, harassed
Gobdard’s rear, cut off his convoys and intercepted his
baggage, so that it was with the utmost difficulty he made
good his retreat to Bombay. i

196. The English trlumphant.—Meanwhile, the genius
of Hastings, the Governor-Geueral, came to the rescae.
Hoe resolved to carry the war into the very heart of India
Captain Popbam with two thousand four hundred men
was gent across the Jamna. The fort of Lahor was taken
by storm. Gwaliar, the strongest fortress in the empire,
‘was next attacked. Under cover of night Popham mounted
the scarped rocks and scaled the walls. Before morning
this fortress, hitherto considered impregnable, was in his
haods. In furtherance of the same policy, another army
nnder Colonel Carnac was sent into Malwa ; and Sindia,
taken by surprise, was defeated with great loss.

197. Treaty of Salbal.—Those successes greatly added
to the reputation of the English, and as Hastings by a
large bribe succeeded in withdrawing Mudaji Bhonsle of
Barar from the other Mahratta leaders, Sindia thought it
wise to make friends with the English, and through his
mediation a peace was concluded at Salbat, by which the
territories were fixed as in the treaty of Purandbar. Raga-
nath Rao was granted a pension of three lakhs per annum,
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.and. was allowed o chogse a place of residenge. Broach
was bestowed on Sindia fomark the sense which the Eng-
Jish.eotertained . of his popduct at Wargam, and

.of the humane pnd kingd freatment he had given 1782
to the hosteges. Al Europpans except the Por-  a.p,
tngnese were to,be excluded from fhe Mabratta
wonntny, and Haidar wag fio be compelled ta relinquish the
derritories he jhad racently taken -from the English and
from-the Nawab of Arcot. [This Treaty is knownnp the
“Treaty of ,$albal.

{GHAPTER LV.

FroM TBE TRRATY ;07 :S8ALBAI Po -EnE TREATY.OF BASIN,
1782 a.p. 70 1802 A.p.

Bindia jtakes Dehli. Death .of:Mahadaji Sindia.
-Ghulsm Kadir. Battle of Knrdla, s
_Bindia snd Nana Farnavis gach| Baji Bso 1L thelast Pashya.

scheming for supreme power.| Baitle of Puna . ’

Bindia appointed Deputy to the] Treaty of Bagin.

Peshwa by ShahAlam II.

198. Mahadali Singdla.~—For many yearsafter the treaty
.of Salbai, -the relatians of the Mabrattas -fo .the ;English
qwere of & friendly,chazanter. But dnring this period the
Mabratta histony.is manked by .the rapid rige of sexeral of

the Mahratta tleaders and -especially.of Mahadaji:Sindia.
He bad alréady.pver-run Bungelkhand, had compelled the
‘Rajputs to psy-tribpie, and, when Sheh Alam II. sought
.his proteotiop, Agra and Dehll had fallen-into his.hands.
In 1700 Sindia wes ﬁppaimed Deputy of (khe ~Emperor to
the Peshwa, Ha -thps held by autbority the emepptive
pamer in Hindustan, and a.mnk bigher tban-all the minis-
bars.of the Peshwa’s Conrt. Sp.elated was ,Bindia by his
_gnocess, that he demanded chanth-even-from the English
in Bengal,;a.olaim ;thatwes indignautly wefused, and.the
impropriaty «f which Sindia bad fo.eaknowledge. Butall
.this power and territory mhiohiSindiahad acquired bronght
with it its frpubles. £le .vequired money to keep uphis
Army, god o defray the expanses -of Shab Alam’s hoyge-
hold. -To meet thia antlay he.sequestrated she jaghirs of
10
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many Muobammadan  chiefe, and taxed the Rajputs so
beavily, that they rore sgainst him and drove him eut
of Rajputapa. The Mubammadans, headed by Ismael Beg
and Ghulam Kadir son of the Robilla chieftain, Zabitah
Kban, took up arms, captured Dehli and obtained pos-
session of the Empercr’s person. Ghulam Kadir put ont
the Emperor’s eyes with a dagger; every member of the
royal family was dishonored and degraded, and
1788 some were starved to death. Such atrocities
A.p. were too much for Ismael Beg. He went over
to Sindia, The Mabratta army advanced to Dehli,
where they were received with the greatest joy. The
Emperor’s person was secured, and Ghulem Kadir taken

and put to a horrible death.

199. Nana Farnavis and Sindla,—The scheming for
power between Sindia and Nana Farpavis continned. The
aim of the latter was to cement the Mahratta confederacy
under the authority of the Peshwa, which at this time
meant under himself ; while the whole conduct of Sindia
showed thbat he wanted to set np an independent state,
if not to be supreme in the empire. Sindia’s indepen-
dence had already been ackoowledged by the Euglish.
He bad acted the part of a mediator between the English
and the Court of Puna, an8 become guarantee of a peace
(Salbai) honorable to the Mabrattas. He had Shah Alam.
nnder his protection. He had been appointed Shah
Alam’s Deputy to the Peshwa, and the office had been made
hereditary. His army, disciplined by M. de Boigne, a
Frenchman, was the finest in India. And though Sindia

tended this force belonged to the Emperor, this thin
veil did not deceive Nana Farnavis, Holkar and the other
Mahratta leaders. Sindia resolved to go to Punae

1790 The professed object of the visit was to invest the

" AD. Peshwa with the insignia of tbe office of Vakil-I-
Mutlag, or supreme Deputy, a dignity first con-

ferred on the great Nizam-ul-Mulk by Mubammad Shah.
But Sindia meant, if poseible, to overtbrow the Brahman
influence, and to make bimself supreme in Maharashtra.
The pomp and grandeur displayed at the ceremony of
investiture was beyond anything ever witnessed in Puna,
Sindia himself affected the utmost humility, declaring
himself to be only fit to carry the Peshwa’s slippers, and
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desiring to be addressed by no higher title than that of
Patell. headman of a village. At the same time he was
trying to ingratiate himself with the Peshwa, and to prevail
on him to desert Nana Farnavis and pat himself under
his protection. Sindia’s career, however, was suddenly
brought to a close. He was attacked by fever and died
on the 12th February 1794. He was succeeded by his
nephew, Daulat Rao Sindla.

200. Battle of Kurdla—Nana Farnavis was again
sapreme in directing the affairs of the Peshwa. A dispute
arose between him and Nizam Ali, because the latter had
not paid the tribate agreed upon after the battle of Udgir.
For the last time the Mahratta chiefs assembled under the
Peshwa’s banner, and at Kurdla the Nizam was defeated.
Nana Farnavis had now reached the zenith of
his power. But the Mahratta confederacy had lost 1795
its cohesion. From this time the leaders began to A.D.
act for themeelves, and to set up independent .
states. A romantic friendship had been formed between
Madu Rao, the Peshwa, and Baji Rao, the son of Raganath
Rao. After Madu Rao, Baji Rao was the nearest heir
to the throne. Nana Farnavis plactd Baji Rao in confine-
ment. In a fit of grief Mada Rau threw himself from the °
terrace of his palace and died in two days.

201. Baji Rao Il.——the last of the Peshwas—I1796==
1818.—On the death of Madn Rao, the Court at Puna
became a complete net-work of political intrigne; but in
December 1796,Baji Rao was at last seated on the masnad.
In 1300, Nana Farnavis died, and with him departed * all
the wisdom and moderation of the Mahratta Government.”
Disorders became everywhere prevalent. Baji Rao was
completely nnder the control of Danlat Rao Sindia. Jas-
want Rao, thongh an illegitimate som, had succeeded
Takaji Holkar. He united to his fortunes Amir Khan,
an Afghan adventurer, invaded Malwa and plundered
Ujjain. Sindia retaliated by advancing against lodor.
Jagwant Rao, with a force of thirty thonsand men, hurried
on to the relief of his capital. But he was thoroughly
defeated, and Indor was completely plundered. Had
Sindia followed up his victory, the power of Jaswant Rao
might have been annihilated. Buat he failed to do so, and
Jaswant Rao, quickly gathering aronnd him an army of
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ddring brigiuds and frée-booters that delighted in plutdes;

cithe dp with thy tidited forcos of the Peshw4 and' Sindia

_ netit' Pund. The' Battle® wha' ohd of the itiost:

1801 obstitate ever fought in' Irdid: Holka¥ ghined

A6, 4 cbniplete vittory. THe whole of Sitdia’s guns;

: Bagigage and storss fell'itits his hatds. Bajl 46,

fled’ to- Basid’ shd pht himself into thy' Hands of the
English. .

204! Treaty'of Basif.==AT Huyiw, Biji Rdo' entered
irfth s treaty with the Eoglish. Thd chief terms wers : (1)
a stibsidiaty force Wiy  to bs pefuisnently stationed in the
Poshwi's teititory; and districtl yisldihg tweuty-six lakhs:
of riipées’ weté to'be dbsigied by tHe Peshwh for its miain:
tenancs': (2) do Edropeati of 4 nation hostile to ttie English
was to be’entertiined by the Pestwa’; (3) ths Peshwa’

_ gaveé'up’ his’ claitis to* Surat, and sttmitted the
1802 adjustwent of kis claitiy’ od tHe Nizaw ard the
AD.  Galkwir to Boglish'arbitrdtion; (4) the Peshwi
. boutd hinisslf t6 be the' faithful ally of ths'
Enylish: 'Ths' Eaglish; on' the other hadd, promissd’ to:
protéct hirh snd ' bisKingdom.

"Meatiwhile the Eaglish likd been called it to settle affairs”
in Gufarat. Govind Rao had died and thers was d' disputd’
about the saccesioh: Barvdk' was' taken and Gujatat
broaghit dudérthe Boplish protectivn;

: CHAPTER V.
Tar SétoNp' MaaBATTA" WAR:- 1802- a.p. To 1808 A:p:

Sin’dia»and Bhensle refuse to| Battle of Assaic
acknowledge the Treaty of| Battle of Argam..

Basin. . _ Treaty of Deogadii.
The Secoiid MbHratth wir, Dehli taken.
The Marquis of- Wellesloy. Battle of Lagwati.
Plan of the campaigu: Gujarat captured.
General- Wellesley takes- Ah-| Treaty of Sirji Adjengaon.
madnagar.

508. Results of the treaty of Bastri.—THe t‘re‘;aty'of
Bsisin was a tdrning point in the history of India. It
ndavoidably led' Enzlsnd into the greatest war shie hag ever
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maged in India, gnd, by her trinmphant success in that
mpr, her supremacy in the land wap establighed. By that
dxeaty, the Peshwahad sacrificed his independence, and had
acknowledged Epgland as » paramannt pawer. It was
hardly ta be eapeated that Sindis and the pther Mahratja
leaders, none of whom. had heen consplted, wonld accept
#uch s treaty. Danlat Rae Sindia hed heen following the
-policy of his.distinguished nncle, Mahadaji, and had hoped
to.overthyow the Peahwa’s,power.and estpblish himself head
of the Mahratta empire. Raghnji Bhonsle of Barar, like
his predecessars, bad mo Jove for the Brabman enpremacy,
snd boped that, pe descendants of the great Sivaji, his
family might obtain the power in Maharashira, Bat
thongh bath Sindia and Bbonale Ipved the Peshwa but
lijtle, they Joved the English still less, for they saw that
+4be growth of thal power wanld ngt only frustrate all their
Jopes of future aggrapdizement, but might evep lead to
their own .averthrow .and Jgss of ,independence, -They,
therefore, refused .to sccept thedreaty of Basin, Sindia
erossed the Narbada .gnd joined Raghbuji Bhonsle. War
‘was deelared. Holkar remajned ;inactive watching the
isene of evepts. Meapwhile, General Wellesley, who had
-maxched to Puna.and xesivstated Baji Rap.on the throne,
had heen inwested with full.powers as Political Agent.of the
«Goxernor-Genersal and .Compmander:in~-Chief of the Britigh
troops in the Nakhan.
A04 The gpoond Mahratta war—The campaign was
ssyanged by the Marqnis.of Wellesley on .2 scale \hitherto
mnknown in the annals of the Fnglish in India. General
Wellesley, brother of the Governor,Ge¢neral, .encamped
near Ahmadnagar with an.army of.eight thonsand nine
hundred and thirty men ; Colopel Stevenson.an’the Gaga-
wer} with seven thonsand nipe hundyed gnd twenty men;
while General Stewart, with geven thonsand ,eight hun.
_ «dred gnd twenty-aix men, formed a-covering foyce botween.
. the Krishna and the Tungabhadra. At Cawnpur, a force,

fen thousand five hundred strong, was placed npder Gene-
el Lake, to.attack Sindia’s possessiqns jn Hindustan, At
Allahahad three thousand five hundred men .ware ready to
ach.on Bundelkhand. While anarmy, five thousand two
bundred and sixteen strong, .was destined for the invagion
of Katak s and another, seven thousand threp,hapdred and
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fifty-two etrong, was sent into Gujarat to take Broach.
The Mabrattas were, therefore, to be attacked on all sides.

205. Bhonsle defeated.—On the 8th August 1803 Ge-
neral Wellesley began the war by storming Abmadnagar,
which fell into his bands. Comingup with the united forces
of Sindia and Bhonsle to Assal, a village situated at the
confluence of the Kallna and the Juha, he gave battle. The
odds were tremendons—four thousand five hundred Eng-
lish agaipst fifty thousand Mabrattas. At the first shot
Raghuji Bhonsle fled. Sindiasoon followed. The Mahratta
artillery remained firm for a time and did great execution.

But, when the infantry broke, the battle was
23rd Sept. lost, and ninety-eight cannon remained in the
victor’s hands. The loes on the English side
was very severe. More than one-third of those engaged
were either Ekilled or wounded. Buat a victory bad been
gained more splendid than any recorded in the history of
the Dakban. SBurhanpur and the fort of Asirgarh were
taken by Stevenson. Wellesley marched into Barar and
defeated the Raja at Argam. Gawlighar next
1803 fell into his hands. This forced Raghuji Bhonsle
Ap. to come to terms. On the 16th December, he
signed the treaty of Deogaon. By this treaty
RBaghuji ceded to the English the province of Katak,
including Balasore. All the territory west of the Wardba
and southof Gawilghar was given to the Nizam. All claims
on the Nizam were renounced. No subject of a pation at
war with England was to be entertainred without the con-
sent of the English Government. A resident was to be
received at Nagpur. )

206. §india defeated.—Meanwhile, the English armies
had been vo less successful apainst Sindia’s.possessions.
General Lake captured Aligarh, (Aug. 29), and advanced

to Dehli. Sindia’s army was commanded by one

1803 Lonis Bourquin, a Frenchman. The English
Ap. charged with the bayonet, and Sindia’s army was
unable to withstand the fury of the onset. General

Lake entered Debliin triumph, and took the aged blind
emperor, Shah Alam II, into his protection. Agra was
next captured. And by the decisive victory at Laswart
(Nov, 1), the French batialions in Sindia’s army were
broken up, and all Sindia’s territories south of the Cbam-
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bal, with Agra and Dehli, were placed in-the power of
the English Government. The armyin Gujarat captured
Broach and Champanir. Bundelkband was over-run by
Colonel Powell. Sindia, vanquished at every point, desert-
‘ed by the Raja of Barar, his splendid army almost anni-
bilated, was forced to sue for peace. On the 30th Decem-
ber be signed a treaty on much the same lines ‘as that of
Deogaon. All the territories between the Jumna and the
Ganges, and all north of the Rajput states of Jaipur and
Jodhpur were ceded to the English and their allies. The
cities of Agra and Dehl, the capitals of the Mughal empire,
thus fell into the hands of the English. -They also received
Broach in Gujarat, Abmadnagar was given to the Peshwa;
and an extensive district to Nizam. Bundel-

khand was taken by the English, in exchange for 1803
the districts in the Makratta country tbat had  A.D.
been ceded for the support of the subsidiary force

by the treaty of Basin. The same conditions were made
with reference to Enropeans, and to Sindia receiving a
resident at his court, as in the treaty of Deogaon. This
treaty is known as The treaty of Sirjl Anjengaon,

CHAPTER VI.
Tee TEIRD MamRATTA WiR.
The third Mahratta war, Indor taken.
Tank Rampura captured, ' Bhartpur besieged.
Battle at the Mckhundra Pass.] Sindia joins Holkar,
Retreat of Monson. A change in English policy.
Holkar captures Muttra. Peace with Sindia.

Holkar defeated at Farrakabad.| Peace with Holkar,
Battle of Dig.

207. ‘The third Mahratta war—~1804—1805.— Within
four montbs Sindia and Raghuji Bhonsle had been
thoroughly defeated and had been glad to swe for peace.
The rapid and victorious career of the English had startled
the whole of India. Holkar had been waiting to see what
turn events were likely to take, so that when the one side
or the other was exhausted, he might throw bhimself in
and obtained & preponderance of influence. But before he
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"«could make up bis mind what fo do, he found that fhe
Finglish had nealized their object. and thet Sindis and
Bhonsle. had been cempletely reduced.

208. Gavse of the war.—1Thg Epglish bhad no. desire
to go to war with Jaswant Rag Holkar, He was an

- illegitimate son, and his lagitimate brother hed been set
aside: But the English had nothing to de with that. So
long 8s Holker kept within his own fexritories the English.
would pot-interfere. Flolkar pretended at fixst that he
‘wanted peage. :Shortly aftexwards he hegan to make the
wost extranagant and jinsulting demands,; and addressed
a letter to.General Wellesley of the mest.threatening kind.
He entered Rajputana and collected chauth. As by the
last treaty with Sindia the Rajputs had hecome allies of

April 1804 &he, English, the  English, were bound to

i % rprotect them fcom their enemies. Halkar

Dec. 1805 Tebcalled on to mitbdraw. He refused.

: Waz wan .declared, $he .object beivg to
utierly ownsh aut a power, that, 8o lopg asif existed, was
dikely to disturh the peace.of the Empire.

209, Planof the garnralgn.—Helkar was po mean foe.
His army had been greatly strengthened by fugitives from
the defeated armies, and -pow -numbered sixty thonsand
cavalry and fifteen thousand infantry, with one hundred
and ninety-two pieces .of artillery. General Lake was
ordered to advance sonthward into Rajputana, and Wel-
lesley to march-north from.the Dakhan.: Holker was thus
to be hemmed jn betweoen those twe armies. But there
was famine jn the Dakban and Wallesley .cauld mot move.
Colonel Murray -was, therefore, ordered from Gujarat with
a force sufficiept, to co-gperate with (Jenersl Lake. On
the arrivgl of General Lake in Rajputapa the traops of
Holkar beat a basty retreat. Holkar’s territory was $hen
invaded, and the fortress of Tank Rampura captured. The
xeins setting in, Colonel Monson was left to keep Jaswant
Rao in check, while General Lake returned-with the main
army to cantonments.

‘210. :Retreat .of Colanel . Monson.—Colenel Monson
orossed the Cbambal. As behoped to:be joined by Colanel
‘Murrey drom Gujarat, and by a feree which Daulas Rao
Sindia had promised to send from Ujjain, he advanced
through the pass of Mokhundra Jmto dolker’s territary.



HOLEAR DEPRATHI: 17z

Bat he soon begay: to: find: hitsself. in: difficulties: His:
supplies wore' radning short:  Treashery was'in his campy.
Reports were brohght to' him that Colonel Murray had.
falled back into Gujarat. He, therefore, retreated to the
Mokhuudra- Passj leaving the: irregalar davalry to follow.
The cavalry wore dispetsed by Holkar;, and the forces that
had beén sent by Sindia deserted tos the enemy. Ab tha
Pass: of Mokhundia the- English fores was attacked. by
the whole atthy of Hollme, but suoseeded in driving: them:
back. Ultimately, throagh many diffionlties, with rivers:
swollen,. marshy pliins flooded: and- roads in' which: the
catinon sank totleaxle-treewin mud; with' seaunty provi-
siotis' in his’ camp) and mach sickness' and many’ deaths:
ationp hiy men, and- withi. Holkar hardssing’ hig’ rear
Colonel Mdnwon a# length,- on' the 31at Augusty. led: the
wreck of hia drmy into Agrai- The sibk, the exhansted and
the wodnded- were left betinid and- were ont to- pieces.. The-
cartion and the bagwaze were left fast in' the mud: The
effest of this rebreat tended td dim the military lustre of.
tha English for a timo-and 6onsiderably to strengthen: Hol-
kat.- It gainod for hich ad slly in the Raja of Bhartpur,
and -even' the Jats and the: Rajputs were shaken' in their
allégiince to the: Buglish Government. One or two Bimi~
lar disasters would have raised: the whole of Iudia against
the English powag.

2i1.- Holkar defeatedi~—Holkayr next captured Muttras
Quiteral Lake hastened from’ Cawnpur while Holkar in thet
mdkt duridly whanes; and, by a rapid movement; led. his .
infantry to’' Dehiti for the purpose'of takiug the town: and:
sechring the psrwon of the Baiperor. Tlis English uader’
Coloasl Ochterlony gallantly defended the place, and after’
seven days the sieze-wasised. General linke'subsequent.:
ly made up to Holkar at Farakabad, and defeated him
General Fragser had, mesnwhile, besn rent aghinst the Rajar
of Bhiartpur, and had routed him ia a great battle foughd:
at D1 (13th Nov,) ;; andi the for¢: of Dig itselE
was sibsequently taken. Holkar’s dominions 23rd Deos
had alsb fallen into the-posstesion of the Engs 1804
lish. Au arthy from the Dakban bud reduced:  Aw:
Chandar add othér fortiesses;: whilee Colonel
Murray with his army from'Guojarat had taken' possession
of mdor. The: only strong place yot to betaken was
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Bhartpur. It was considered an impregnable fortress. For
three months the English forces besieged it. On four oceca-
-gious they tried to take it by storm ; but failed, sustaining
a loss of over toree thonsand men. While they were pre-
10th April paring to make another attack, theRaja came to
18054.p. terms. and paid twenty likhs of rupees as the
: price of peace. Sindia, observing the success
of Holkar, threw off his allegiance to the British, plandered
:and detained Mr. Jenkins, the Resident, and marched with
an army to the Chambal. Thither Holkar retreated on
the fall of Bhartpur and received a hearty welcome,
212. Non-intervention policy,—Meanwhile, a new
* spirit had come over the British nation, and a new policy
was to be adopted. The brilliant successes in tha second
Mahratta war had dazzled the public in'England. Within
a very few months, the English, by force of arms, had
come into possession of the capital of India, and had re-
duced the whole of Central India to dependence. Bat this
new war with Holkar began to alarm the people at home.
A class of politicians arose that condemuned the system of
conquest and annexation,—that condemned the sabsidiary
system. The advocated “‘a policy of non-intervention.”
The native states, they said, oaght to be allowed to settle
their own quarrels, They might call in the assistance of
the neighbouring states, and thus large armies might be
contending on the froatiers of the English possessions.
Bat the English should not interfere. They should have
a strong military force ever ready to act on the defensive,
and no more. The Marquis of Wellesley returned to
Eugland, and Lord Cornwallis was sent out as Governor-
General, to carry out this new policy. He died soon after
lauding in India, and Sir George Barlow, the senior Mem-
ber of Council, sncceeded him .in office. The cost of the
recent wars had been very heavy. Peace was now wanted,
peace at any price. Sindiasaw that, from the low condition
into which Holkar’s troops had fallen, there was little
hope of his being finally successful. He, therefors, mg.de
terms with the Boglish. Gwalior was restored to him,
and the Chambal was made the boundary line between his
“possessions and those of the English. A pen-
23rd Nov. sion of four lakhs was given him, and jaghirs
were bestowed on his wi'fe and his danghter.
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218. Holkar sues for Peacs.—Holkar fled into the
Panjab, where he hoped to find the Sikhs ready to assist
him. He was greatly disappointed. Closely followed by Lord
Lake, he would soon bave been utterly crushed, had not
the new policy saved him. He no sooner asked for peace
than he got it on the most favourable terms.* All his terri-
tories that had- been taken from him by the English were
restored—even that territory north of the Chambal which
the English bad at first reserved for themselves. Holkar
was to return to Malwa by a prescribed route. In further
pursuance of this new policy, Sir George Barlow annulled
the protection treaties that had been formed with the
Rajputs, an act that, considering the good services render-
ed by the Rajas of Bunda and Jaipur, amounted to a
breach of faith, with those states. They were thus left to
be plundered by the Mabrattas. The Raja of Bhartpur

. and the Rajput state of Ulwsr would likewise have been
abandoned had it not been for the protests of Lord Lake.

Thus England, after having so utterly subdued her
enemies in India, that she could have established a perma-
pent settled Government in the country, and secured for
it a lasting peace, by her narrow, unstatesmanlike policy,
alienated her allies ; and by her weakness in restoring to
her enemies, Holkar and Sindia, the forts and territories
they had lost, placed in their bands & power, that they
were soon to use for their own aggrandisement,and tbat
involved India in anotber sanguinary war. But before
entering on that war, we must trace the growth of the
English power, that had now become paramount in ithbe
land.
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CHAPTER I

Eariy Encrisg Vovaces—1577 a.p, To 1707 ;A.D.

Early voyages. Bombay given to the English,

Charter granted by Queen Fort St, George builk.,
Elizabeth, Fort St, David built.

The East India Company. Factory on the Hugli.

Massacre of Amboyna, Fort William, a Presidenoy.

The United East India Company.

214. Early English Voyages.—Af the time when the
Portuguese were doubling the Cape of Good Hope and
establishing their supremacy in the eastern seas, England
held & very inferior position as a maritime power. But,
during the reign of Queen Elizabeth, one of England’s
greatest sovereigns, (1558-1603), the ntmost energies of
that conntry wers called forth to keep foreign invaders
from its shores, and, before Elizabeth’s death, England
had become one of the firat naval powers in Europe. The
Portoguese had discovered the way to India round the
Cape of Good Hope, and, according to the ideas prevalent
ab that time, they alone had the right to sail by that route.
The English were desirous of engaging in the eastera trade,
and they determined to try to find a passage to India other
than that by the Cape. One expedition was sent into the
north-eastern seas to try fo discover a way round the
north of Asia; but the brave crew were driven on the
coast of Lapland and perished from cold -and famine.
Other expeditions were formed to reach India by sailing
round the north of Ameriea; but those and many subse-
quent expeditions proved unsuccessful. In 1577 Francis
Drake, & very celebrated sailor, left England, crossed the
Atlantic, passed through the Straits of Magellan, and, sail-"
ing thence across the Pacific, landed at the Spice Islands.
He was well received there, and he returned home by the

11
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Cape of Good Hope with a rich cargo. With the excep-
tion of Magellan, Drake was the first man that had sailed
round the world, and his return to England was hailed
with the greatest joy. Voyages of discovery then became
all the rage. Thomas Cavendishb, a gentleman of great
property, sold his estates, that he might fit out an expedi-
tion and sail round the world as Drake had done. At the
same time, a company, named the Levant Company, tried
to carry on trade with India by way of Syria and the
Mediterranean ; but, from the amount they had to pay for
the transport of their goods, they were unable to compete
in the market with the Portnguese, who carried their
merchandise by the Cape. The only route, therefors, left
open to the English, was by the Cape, and they resolved
to go that way, even though they ran the risk of having
to fight the Portuguese in eastern waters.
215. Origin of the East Indla Company.—In 1599 an
1599 Association, with a subscribed capital of £30,000,
was formed for trading to the East, and, on the
4D Jast day of that year, a charter was granted by
Queen Elizabeth “fo the Governor and Company of Mer-
chants of London trading fo the Bast Indies,” giving them
the monopoly of the trade in those regions for fifteen years
—a, concession that was extended in perpetuity by Eliza-
beth’s successor, James I. This was the origin of the
East Indla Company. The first expedition sailed to the
Moluccas. The commander was not very particular as to
the means taken to obtain merchandise. When he found
he could not purchase pepper and spices to advantage,
he seized a Portuguese ship richly laden with calicoes and
other valnable goods, transferred the merchandise to his
own ships, andtsailed for Eugland. In subsequent expedi-
tions the English became mere pirates, now attackiog the
Portuguese, now captaring Chinese vessels laden
» 1607 with silk. In 1607 Captain Hawkins was sent
aAp. oubto India, to solicit commercial privilegesfrom
the Emperor, Jabdngir; and in 1615 Sir T. Roe
visited the great Mughal with a similar object. By this
time permission had been obtained to erect factories af
-Surat, Ahmadabad and Kambay ; and in 1612 the Com-
pany had been formed into a Joint Stock Company
managed by a Governor and dimctors. The Company
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bad many difficulties to contend with. The Portuguese
and the Dutch, who had possessed settlements in the east
prior to the arrival of the English, could not but regard
the latter with suspicion and batred. They put every
possible obstacle in the way of the English obtaining goods.
The Portugnese attacked their ships; but, as the naval
power of that people was weak compared with that of
England at this period they invariably suffered defeat.
The hatred of the Dutch .culminated in the * Massacre of
Amboyna,” when ten Englishmen were executed

on a groundless charge of conspiracy, and in 1623
spite of a friendly treaty that bad been concluded  A.p.’
between the Datch and the English Companies.

Nor was the Company disturbed by foreign powers alone.
Private adventurers sprang up, who cried out against the
trade of the east being monopolized, and who persisted in
carrying on trade there, thongh it was anlawful for them
to do so. To those adveatnrers, who were for the most part
roving pirate captains, the Company gave the name of
“snterlopers.”’ A rival Company was also started. But the
strivings and contentions between the two Companies were
go disastrous to both, that they amalgamated under the
name of ** The United East Indla Company.” The

United Company was formed, as the firstone had 1708
been, on the Joint Stock system, with a certain  A.D.
number of shareholderas. The shareholders elec-

ted twenty-four of their number as Directors, to arrange
and manage all matters coonected with the Company’s
trade aud policy ; and this arrangement, with some modifi-
cations, continned to be the Government of British India
till 1858, when the anthority of the Company was transfer-
red to the Crown,

216. Early English Settlements.—Surat for a con-
siderable time remained the principal seat of the English
settlement in India, and it was not until 1662 when the
island of Bombay came into their possession,
that the seat of the Presidency on the west coast 1625
was transferred to that town. The earliest settle-  a.p.
ment on the Coromandel Coast was at Armagon,
some miles south of Nellore. At Masulipatam a facterye
was afterwards erected. The Company were likewise
desirous of having some place of strength to proteot their
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trade, and, when the Raja of Chandragiri gave them a
piece of land at Madraspatam, they erected a fort there,
which became the seat of & Presidency on the east coasts
and called it Fort St. George. The Dutch bad previously
established a settlement at Pullcat. The French, too,
anxious to have a share in the good things going in the
East, formed a Company, and, after considerable trouble,
fixed on Pondlcherry for their settlement and soon raised
it to a very prosperous state. No love was lost between
those rival nations. The English, out of hostility, pur-
chased from the Raja of Nursinga, Tegnapatam, a place
only twelve miles south of Pondicherry, and built a fort
there, * Fort St. David,” which, as we shall see, soon
became famous in Indian history.

It was some years after the English had established
themselves at Madras that they obtained a footing in
Bengal. An Eoglish medical gentleman having cured

Shah Jahan of a dangerous illness, the Emperor,
1656 out of gratitude, allowed his countrymen to erect
A.p. a factory on the Hugll. From this year ships
regularly visited the Hugli, though the trade was
still under the saperintendence of the authorities at Fort
St. George. The Company met with opposition from the
native rulers of Bengal such as they had not experienced
elsewhere, and, misjndging the strength of the power with
which they would have to contend, they resolved to wage
war against the Great Mughal and the Nawab of Bengal.
Ten armed vessels and six companies of soldiers arrived
in the Hugli; butthey wersrepulsed. Subsequently, the
English burnt forty ships in the harbour of Balasore.
Aurangzeb was then Emperor. Enraged at this violent
proceeding, he ordered & general attack on all the Com-
pany’s settlements. Surat, Masulipatam and Vizagapatam
were soon redoced, and Bombay was besieged. The Eng-
ligh, thereupon, sued for peace in the most humble way,
and Auraogzeb, desirons of retaining the commercial
advantages his country obtained from traffic with foreign
lands, allowed the trade to be resamed.
217. Pollcy of the Company.—From this time the
®policy of the company was changed. They resolved to
have something more than the privilege of erecting facto-
ries. ‘It was laid down as a determinate object of policy
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that independence was to be established in India, and domi-
nion acquired.” The company, therefore, held
themselves ready to purchase any land they 1698
could obtain, and secured the Zemindarship of  A.p,,
Calcatta, ‘where they erected a fort, called Fart
Willlam, which was made the seat of a Presidency in 1707..

CHAPTER II.

Tre ENGLISE 1IN MabRAS.

The English and French at war,| Disputed suceession.

Fort St. George taken by the| Anwar-ud-din,
French. Chanda Sabib,

Dupleix. Dugleix-fath-abad.

For many years after the building of Fort William the
English were allowed to carry on their trade in peace,
Wars were raging around them. The Mahrattas were
scouring the country and levying chauth from Gujarat to
Bengal, from Tanjore to Dehli. Nadir Shah was crossing
the Indus and capturing Dehli, massacring the inbabitants,
and carrying off the peacock throne to Persia. But the
Eoglish were little disturbed by those events. They were
busied over their cash books and ledgers, and, ever careful
to pay their rent, they were allowed to go on amassing their
profits free from molestation.

218, The French and English at war.—Bat this quiet
was to be distarbed. England went to war with France,
and the French resolved to attack her factories in the East.
Fort St. George was at that time the most important
settlement on the Coromandel coast. Outside the fort
native villages bad sprang wp with amazing rapidity.
Thousands of weavers had settled there, and the trade
bad become very counsiderable,

219. Fort St. George taken by the French.—In 1746
8 French fleet appeared off Madras, commanded. by
Labourdonnais, Governor of the Maanritius and Bourbon.
The English were ill-prepsred to receive them. They
. [ ]
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had yet to learn the arts of war. After a resistance of
five days, during which two or three houses
1746 were destroyed and four or five men killed, the
A.p. English surrendered their fort and warehouses.
Labourdonnais sailed for Pondicherry, premising
to restore the fort to the English on their paying a
moderate ransom. But Dupleix, the Governor of Pondi-
cherry, had set his heart on driving the English out of
India, and establishing the French influence. e accunsed
Labourdonnais of having taken brihes from the English,
and refused to acknowledge the engagements made by
him.* Daupleix seized all the booty he conld find in Fort
St. George, aud, carrying the English and their Governor
off as prisoners of war, entered Pondicherry in triumph.
The effect of this was fora time disastrous to the. English.
It lowered them as a fighting people in. the eyes of the
nativey, and added greatly to the power and prestige of
the French. The Nawab of the Karnatic, dréading the
growth of the latter power, sent ten thousand troops to
capture Madras. But they were met by a French force of
only four hundred men with two guns, and were utterly
routed. Then was again seen, what had formerly been
discovered by the Portuguese at Cochin, that hordes of
ill-disciplined Asiatics were powerless in a contest with the
woll-trained arms of Europe. Another and important
discovery—that natives when drilled and led by European-
officers 'made splendid soldiers—was soon afterwards made
by Dupleix, and both the English and the French at once
took advantage of the discovery. The Eoglish Govern-
ment was transferred to Fort St. David. The 'war was
carried on with varying success, until it was brought to
a close by the treaty of Aix-la-Chapelle in 1748. By this
treaty, Madras was restored to the Company.
220. Disputed successions,—The year 1748 was an
eventful year in the history of India. Muham-.
1748 mad Shah died at Dehli, Sahu died at Satara,
AD and the rule of the Peshwas began. Ahmad
Shah invaded the Panjab. The great Nizam-ul-
Muik died at Haidarabad. The death of Nizam-ul-3lnlk

* When Labounrdonnais returned to France he was thrown int.o
prison, where he was kept for three years. He died soon after hig
liberation,
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led to important events in the Peninsnla. While the
Mugbal power was in the ascendant and the emperor at
Debli had the means to enforce his commands, all the-
" viceroys in the provinces held their appointments subject

to his will and could be dismissed at pleasure. Bat on
the decline of the Maghal empire after the death. of
Aurangzeb, those viceroys set up independent states, and
‘though they sent presents to their .nominal: sazerain- at
. Dehli, and paid large sams to obtain titles or honours
from him, they became in veality independent hereditary
sovereigns. Nizam-ul-Mulk had established his

power at Haidarabad and claimed aunthority over 1712
the Karnatic, The first Nawab of the Karnatic  a.n.
bad been appointed by him. On the death of
- the Nawab an adopted son bad succeeded without making
any referenco to Haidarabad. Nizam.ul-Malk, therefore,
marched to Arcot and appointed a new Nawab of the
Karnatic, npamed Anwar-ud-din (1794). By the death of
Nizam-ul-Mulk, Anwar-ud-din lost his sapporter, and one,
Chanda Sahib, a member of the previons Karnatic family,.
applied to the French to place him on the throne of the
Karnatic. At the same time a dispute arose regarding the
succession at Haidarabad. The eldest son of Nizam-ul-
Mulk was at Dehli. The second son, Nasir Jang, seized
the treasury and won the army to his side by a lavish
distribution of money; while Muzaffar Jang, a grand-
son, produced a will by which the Nizam had bequeathed
the kingdom to him. Mauzaffar Jang joined Chanda Sahib
and applied to the French for help. Notbing could be
more pleasing to Dupleix than this. A man of great abi-
lity and boundless ambition, Dupleix saw the possibility
of founding & Eunropean empire in India. Could he be
successful in this contest, he might take the place of the
Great Mughal in Southern India, and have a Nawab of the
Karnatic and & Viceroy of the Dakhan ruling
under him. The united armies marched into the 1749
Karnatic, defeated Anwar-ud-din at Ambur,and  a.p.
left him dead on the field. They then advanced
to Arcot, and Chanda Sahib was proclaimed Nawab of
the Karnatic. Muhammad All, the son of Anwar-ud-din,
fed with the remnant of his army to Trichinopoty.

22t Duplelx-all pgwerful In Southern India.—Good
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fortunes till followed Dupleix. Jinji, the strongest fortress
in the Karnatic—the scene of many a contest between
Mahratta and Mughal—was taken by his distingnished
General, Bussy. Nasir Jang was shot by his own followers,
Chanda Sahib aud Muzaffar Jang proceeded to Pondicherry
where they were received with the wildest joy. Salutes
were fired, and & ‘ Te Deum’ was sung, Muzaffar Jang was
installed Viceroy of the Dakhan with the greatest pomp.
Dupleix was appointed Governor of India from the Krishna
10 Cape Comorin, was entrusted with the command of seven
thousand horse, and presented with money to the value of
twenty lakhs, and also with many valuable jewels. Chanda
Sabib was appointed Nawab of the Karnatic
1750 wunder the authority of Duplein. Muzaffar Jang did
4.p.  notenjoy his high position long. On his return
’ to the Dakhan his troops. mutinied and he was
killed. Bussy, who bad gone with him, appointed Salabat,
Jang, & younger son of Nizam-ul-Mulk, his successor amid
the acclamations of the army. Dapleix’s policy had been
completely successful. He was now practically the ruler
of the Karnatic and the Dakhan. The natives had been
dazzled by his suceess. To commemorate his triumph, he
erected a columu bearing an inseription proclaiming his
glory to all the nations, and built & oity around it aod
called it Dupleix-fath-abad, <. e., “The City of the Victory
of Dupleix,”

CHAPTER III.

Tre ENGLISH TRIUMPHANT IN THE KARNATIC. °*

Devikottah taken. Dapleix-fath-abad destroyed.

Clive at Arcot. The English trinmphant,
Clive takes the field.

222, Devikottah taken.—The English bad been almost
altogether inactive during this period, They bad been
anxious, however, to establish a settlement at Devikottah,
mear the mounth of the Koleroon, snd they took advantage’
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of a dispute that arose in Tanjore as to the swccession to
accomplish their object. An exiled member of the reigning
Tanjore family promised to give them this seftlement and
to pay all the expenses of the war, if they would place him
on the throne. The English sent an expedition to Tanjore,
but, on the Raja offering to cede Devikottah, they im-
mediately changed sides, and even agreed to keep the
claimant whom they had at first supported, a close prisoner,
providedthe Raja allowed him four thousand rapees a year.

223. Clive at Arcot.—The English bad acknowledged
Muhammad Ali, Nawab of the Karnatic, and had sent small

detachments to his assistance again and again; yet they
conld not, in the face of the Treaty of Aix.la-
Chapelle, wage war against the French. But the 1751
instinct of self-preservation roused them now to  A.D.
put forth every effort. » Dupleix was all-powerful
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in the south of India. Muhammad Ali was closely besieg-
ed in Trichinopoly by Chanda Sahib, and was on the point
of capitulating. Were Muhammad Ali to surrender,
Dupleix would use Chaunda Sahib to drive the English out
of Southern India. The safety of the English depended
-on the fate of Mubhammad Ali. Larger detachments were
-sent to Trichinopoly, and many skirmishes took place
‘between the French and the English. In one of those, a
young captain, named Robert Clive, who had come out asa
clerk in the Company’s service, greatly distingnished him-
self. Clive was at.that time only twenty-five years of age.
He proposed to the Governor of Madras to send an expedi-
tion against Arcot, the capital of the Nawab. The garrison
left there by Chanda Sahib was small. If the English
could capture Arcot, it would force Chanda Sahib to
-send large detachments from Trichinopoly for its recovery,
end the siege of Trichinopoly might be raised. The
anthorities at Madras agreed to the proposal, and Clive
was appointed to the command. With two hundred
Europeans and three hundred sepoys Clive marched from
Madras. He had only eight officers, and of those only
two had ever been in action, and four of the others were
mere clerks like himself, who, fired by his spirit, had taken
to arms. The weather was stormy ; but through thunder,
lightning and rain they pressed on and when their ad-
vance wag reported to the garrison at Arcot, the latter
-evacuated the fort, and Clive and his men entered with-
out striking a blow. The fort wasin Clive’s bands, but
he knew well he would not be allowed to remain in
andisturbed possession of it. He at once began to collect
provisions, to repair the walls and to prepare for a siege.
The garrison, baving recovered from their panic and
-baving been reinforced so that they now numbered *three
‘thousand men, approached the city. Clive issued from
the fort during the night, slew great nombers of them
and returned without the loss of & man. The result of
the capture of Arcot was as Clive had anticipated. When
thenews reached Trichinopoly that the capital and favonr-
ite residence of the Nawab was in the hands of the Eng-
lish; there was the wildest excitement. Chanda Sahib
at once sent.an army of four thousand men under his son,
+Raja Sahtb, which was strengtheqed by one hundred and
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fifty French sent from Pondicherry, and other forces that
Raja Sahib met on the way. When he reached Arcot his
army was ten thousand strong. By this time the little
garrison under Clive had been greatly reduced by sickness.
There were but one hundred and twenty Europeans and
sepoys remaining, and of the eight officers only four
survived. For fifty days this little band held out. Hunger
pressed them. The sepoys came to their commander
*“ not to complain of their scanty fare, but to propose that
all the grain should be given to the Europeans, who
required more nourishment than the natives of Asia. The
rice-water, they eaid, was enough for themselves.” The
bravery of the defence astonished the besiegers. They had
been accustomed to look upon the English with contempt.
They had seen them carried off prisoners by the French.
They hazd believed they had none of the qualities of
warriors: They now saw they had madea '
mistake. Morar! Rao, 3 Mahratta leader, who 1751
was ab Ambur, and had been watching the  A.D.
struggle, declared he would help the English

since he saw they could help themselves, and advanced
to their aid with six thousand men. Raja Sahib heard of
his approach. He threatened Clive, and when menaces
were of no avail, he tried to bribe him: But Clive rejected
his bribes with scorn and,defied him to do hia utmost.
Raja Sahib determined to storm the fort. The day select-
ed was doring the Muharram. The Muhammadan army,
filled with religious enthusiasm and dronk with bbang,
rushed on the trenches with scaling 1adders in their hands;
but they were repulsed at every point. Thestruggle lasted
for an honr. Four hundred of the enemy lay dead. The
garrigon lost but five men. When the sun rose next day the
Mubammadan army was gone. The siege was raised.

224. Clive takes the fleld.—Reinforcements were im~
mediately sent to Clive from Madras, and he took the field.
He effected a junction with Morari Rao, and hastened to
attack Raja Sahib, who was at the head of a force |
of five thousand sepoys and three hundredFrench. 1751
He came up with Raja Sabib at Arnl, defeated  a.p.
him, and got possession of his baggage and
cannon, Clive’'s army was greatly strengthened by six
hundred sepoys, who desgerted from Raja Sahiband were
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taken into the English service. Conjeveram fell without a -
blow. Clive returned to Fort St. David, The object of
the campaign bad been gained. The siege of Trichinopoly
‘languished. Muhammad All was acknowledged Nawab
of the Karnatlc.
£225. Duplelx-fath-abad destroyed.—Had Clive had
the full charge of the war, or had the other English officers
possessed any thing of his energy and ability, it would soon
have been brought to a close. - But thenatives said Cljve’s
soldiers were different from the other English soldiers,
and, while they fled before Clive, they were not afraid to
advance even against Fort St. George in his absence, and
to lay waste and plunder the European residences in the
suburbs. Clive hastened from Fort St. David and again
-defeated Raja Sahib, killing more than one hundred of the
French that were in his army. On the way Clive passed
Dupleiz-fath-abad and razed the pillar and town to the
ground. The pillar with its vaunting inscription had been
seot up to dazzle the natives and to impress them with the
greatness of the French power. No measure could tend
 more to lower this power in the eyes of the Hindus, than
the destruction of the city and the pillar that had been
erected to proclaim it.

226, TheEnglish trlumphant.—Elatedbythosesuccesses
the Governor of Madras determined to send = strong
detachment to relieve Trichinopoly which was still besieg-
ed. At this time, Major Lawrence, a very distinguished
officer, returned from England and assumed the chief
command. Clive accompanied him to Trichinopoly. The
recent successes of the English bronght them many allies.
Morari Rao had already joined them. The Regent of Maijsur
sent fourteen thousand men ; and troops were sent by the
Raja of Tanjore. The army besieging Trichinopoly re-
treated to Srirangam, an island formed by branches of
the Koleroon and the Kaveri, and was in its torn besieged.
Attempts were made by the French at Pondicherry to
velieve it but without success. Chanda Sahib sarrendered
to the Raja of Tanjore, who promised to spare his life.
‘ But the Raja basely violated his promise and put

May him to death. The French also surrendered.
1952 The officers were allowed to go on parole,
t. e, they were allowed fo go free, cn a promise
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that they would not take up erms egain dating the waw.
The soldiets, four hundred ih number, were taken prisvhers
to Fort St. David. The English were now trinmphans ih
the Karnatic. The French interests seemed to be 2uined.
But a quatrel soon broke out bstween the English and
their allies as to the possession of Trichinopoly, which
ended in the Regent of Maisar and Morari Rao going over
$0 the French, and the Raja of Tanjore tetiting: to his
‘home. Major Lawrence defeated the French at Bahue.
Clive with & baad of raw recrnits and fivé hundred
newly levied sepoys took Covelong snd Chingleput. - Clive
soon afterwards returned to Eagland.

CHAPTER IV. ,
AFFAIRS 1N THE KARNATIC.1752 4.0 10 1756 ap.’
Biege of Trichinopoly con- Fall of Dupleix.
tinued. ) War renewed. .
Northern Circars ceded to Clive returns to India.
the French, Geriah captured.
Peaoce of Pondicherry. Affairs in Bengal.

227, The war vontinued.~~The war Wis centintied.
The French stréngthened by the Mahrattas and - Maisar
troops again Jaid siege to Trichinopoly. - Trichinopoly was
considered the key of the Carpaticc Could Dupleix ¢ap-
ture it, he might accomplish his threat and reduce Mdadras
to a fishing village. For eighteén months the allied artmies
surrounded the city, and during that time much valour
was displayed on both sidess While the contending forces
were thus nearly equally balanced in the Karnatie, the
French were accomplishing great things in the Dakhan.
Buesy. as we have seen, had accompanied Salabat Jang
$o Haidarabad. To Bussy, Salabat Jang ewed his ]
throne. Withont Bussy, he counld not keep it. 1752
Heg, therefore, ceded to: the French an extepsive 4.7,
range of territory on the doastof Coromandel, and .
Orissd, including the Northern Circars, for theé support of
the French troops. The French' thus acquired & largor
territory in India than had ever beén possessed by any
European power. Thimnew territory, with land formerly

12
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ceded by Muzaffar Jang to Dupleix, extended from the
Gundlacama uorthward o the pagoda of Jaggannath,
some six bundred miles, and yielded a revenue of eighty
1skbs annually.

Meanwhile, this war between the French and the Eng-
lish in India led to dissensions between their respective
Governments in Enrope. Since the Treaty of Aix-la-
Chapelle the Epglish and the French bad been at peace in
Europe. This war in India was, therefore, an anomaly,
s thing that the people in England could not well under-
stand. The English were desirous of peace. The opera-
tions at Trichinopoly had been as yet very indecisive and
might still be very prolonged. Trade was being interfered
with. The English offered to acknowledge Salabat Jang,
Viceroy of the Dakhan, if the French would acknowledge
Muhammad All, Nawab of the Karnatic. But Dupleix
claimed to the Nawab of the Karpatic himself, and he
would enter into po agreement without that being
acknowledged.

228. Treaty of Pondicherry, Fall of Dupleix.—Nothing
was left for it but an appeal to the home authoritiee.
The English Directors called on the English Government
to take up the quarrel as a pational one. The French
Directors grumbled that those wars were interfering with
their profits. The English blamed Dupleix as being the
cause of the war; for it was by his money,that Chanda
Sahib bad been liberated from Satara. The French dis-
approved of this system of encroachment followed by
Dupleix, which, while it added to his glory, emptied the
coffers of the Compapy. Dupleix therefore was doomed.
He must be sacrificed to prevent a war between the two
countries. A Freoch envoy was sent ont to supersede bim
and make peace with the English Company. At Pondi-
ckerry a treaty was signed, by which both sides agreed to

renounce all pative government, and to give up

1755 interfering with native states. All territory that
AD. the French possessed in excess of that held by the
English was to be restored. Dupleix returned to

France a roined and broken-bearted man. He survived
his disgrace nine years, and died in abject poverty on the
10th November 1764. A peace bad been concluded. But
it was goon to be broken. The Epglish felt it their duty
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to establish Muhammad Ali as Nawab of the Karnatic, £nd
to assist him against the Poligars and others that refused
to acknowledge his anthority. The 'French retained
possession of the Northern Circars, and, when.Salabab
Jang, acting on the advice of his nobles, tried to throw off
the force of Bussy, the latter marched to Haidarabad and
quickly put down the opposition. . o
229. Clive returns to Indla,—By this time Clive had
retarned to India, as Goveraor of Fort St. David.
The first war Clive was engaged in, on his retura, 1756
was against a pirate fort, named Gerfah, situated  A.D.
on the Malabar coast. Early in the century a '
pirate chief of the name of Angria began to scour the seas,
and daring the pist few years his fleets had become the
terror of all merchant vessels. Admiral Watson bom-
barded the town from the sea. Clive attacked it from
the land. The pirate fleet in the harbour was burnt, the
fort captured, and the booty divided among the soldiers.
Clive then proceeded to Madras. He had been there but
a very short time, when the news of a terrible tragedy in
Boengal reached him. The Nawab of Bengal had captured
Calcatta, and one hundred and twenty-three English
-prisoners had been stifled to. death in the Black Hole,
Clive and Watson wers immediately ordersd to Calcatta.

CHAPTER V.

Deocnine or Tee Frencg Power v e KarNaric—
1757 a.p. To 1761 a.p.

Count de Lally. Pdndicharry destroyed.

Fort 8t. David destroyed. Jinji taken.
Battle of Vandivash. Death of Lally.

230. Fort St. Davld destroyed.—War broke out again
betwean Eagland and France, and on the 25th April 1758
a Frenoh flest nnder Count de Lally, who had been appointe
ed Givernoe-Graaeral of the Franch possessions in [adia,
arrived at Ponlicherry, Ssarcely had Lally laaded his
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troops when he set oub for Fort St. David, forcing the
natives and their cattle inte his service. Within a few
: weeka the fort fell into his hands, and it was level.
1758 led with the ground. Elated by this success, Lally
A.D. formed the grand design of driving the Eaglizh
. . opt of ladia, Bnssy was ordered to leave the
Dakhan and come to his assistance. Lally would seiza
Madras and then march to Beegal. But the very first step
he had taken was rmioous to his cause. No sooner was
Bassy’s back turned on the Northern Cirears than the Raja
of Vizianagaram ravolted, and sent to Calcutta for help,
Colonel Forde was despatched to his aid, He defeated
Conflans, . Busny’s successor, and prepared to recover the
English factorjes on the coast.

23l. Qverthrow of the French.—Count de Lally and
"Bussy marched to Madras, eccupied Black Town and laid
siege fp Fort St. Gearge. Bat, an English fleet arriving
in the roads, Lally beat a hasty retreat and the siege was

raised. The English, in turn, took the field uander
1759 Colonel Coote, ronted the French at vandivash
A, and took Bnssy, prisener. Karikal fell into theip
. hands and Pondicherry itvelf wags invested. The
garrison held out bravely till January 1761, when, being
‘reduged ta the utmost, starvation, Lally nad his
1761 troops sarrendered. The town and fortifications
a.p.  suffered the fateof fort St. David. JinJi next
fell, and, with the loss of that fortress, the mili~
tary glory of the Freunch ip the Karnatic was broaght to
an end. Colonel Forde drove the French out of the
Northern Circars, and Salabat Jang, having lost his protec-
tor, was thrown into " prison by Nizam Al, who ascended
the throne of Haidarabad.

232. Death of Lally.—The fate of Lally was most sad.
He had been sent out to Ladia to drive the English out of
the country. Buld, ableand daring as he was, he had lost
all. Qa his retam. to, France, the Freach, furioua st the
loss of their possessions in the East, cried out against the
Government, . The Government, to save their own repata~
tion, resolved to make a viotim of Lally. Frivolous ¢harges
wera tramped up against him, and. he was thrown inta
the Bastlle, a state prison in Paris.- He waa tried by the
Parliameot of France and condemngd to immediate execu-
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-tion. The unhappy meu,'on hearing his sentenics, exelairh.
igd, “Is this the reward of forty-five ‘years’

gervice P und tried te stab himself to:the heart 1766
w_iﬁh:a pair of compasses. His mouth 'was gagged, a:b.
‘and he was taken in n common eart to'the place

“of execution. Thus fell the third 'great -lender of the
mrmies of the French East India Cotnpany. The French

East India Company censed o bxist in 1769.

CHAPTER VI,

Tse Enerisa 18 Benean.1700 'A:.D. 70 1760 inn y

Alivirdi Khan, Umachand,

. Siraj-nd-danlah, . . Battle of Plassey.
The Black Hole, Mir Jafar, Nawab,
Murshidabad taken. 1 'Defeat of the Dutoh,
‘Chandarnagar taken; ‘| *Cfive returms to England.

238. The English settlements in Bengal had thitherto
held but & secondary place to ‘those in the Karnatic.
JFarruk Siyar had .granted the Compainy several commercial
-advantages, and given them permission to purchase eight
villages aronund Calcutta, and exeroise lordship over them.
But Murshid. Kuil Khan, -the first Nawab of :
Bengal, Bihar and Orissa, and, from whom Mar- 1700
shidabad takes its name, quickly saw that such.  a.p.-
.an incrense of territory would give the English
-control over the port, and forbade the Zemindar 1725
to sell any land to them mmder pain of his bigh .A.»
displeasure. Under Murshid Kuli Kban’s sne-
cersors $he ponsession of the English greatly im.: 1740
proved, and, when AMvirai Khan uinrped the a.D.
throne, he took the English under his protection.

234. - Siraj-ud-daulah.—Alivirdi Kban tlied in April
1756, and was sucoeeded by his grandson, Siraj-ud-
.deulab, - He was not quite twenty. years bf 2ge, and was
eruel and profligate, insolent and self-willed. His mind,
-neaturally wesk, was obscured by intemperance. His ecom-

- penions were the dreps of society, who pleased him by
' their fattery :and buffoonery. Before he nscended the
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hited the English, and at once preceeded to pick a quarrel
with them. A rich Bindu, whom he bad wished to rob
of his wealth, bad fled to Fort William. England and
France were about to draw the sword. The French had
a settlement at Chandarnagar; ard Drake, the Englich
Governor, mindful of the'fate of Madras, began to repair
the fortifications of Fort William. An order was sent to
him by Siraj-ud-daulah to. deliver up a refugee, and to
demolish the new fortifications. Drake replied that be
counld not in honour deliver up a fogitive that bad songht
his protection, andithat he bad built no new fortifications,.
but bad only repaired the ramparts against a possible
attack from the Frencb. The young Nawab was wild with
rage. He plundered the Epglish factory at Kasimbazar’
and took all the Englich officers priconers, among whom
was Warren Hastings. Hé then marched to Calcutta at
the bead of fifty thonsand men. '

285. The Black Hole of Calecutta.—Wkhen the news
of Siraj-ud-daunlabs’approach reached Calcutts, the English
were panic-stricken. The women -and children were
-quickly put on board the English vessels, and the captains

(_immediately weighed enchor and steered two miles down
’the river. Two boats were left. Thée Governor, frantic
with fear, jumped into the one and made after them. The
military commander followed in tbe other. The soldiers
and officers, thus basely deserted, elected Mr. Holwell, a
civilian, as their leader, and they resolved to defend the
Fort to the last. For forty-eight hours they held out.
During that time they could easily have been rescued by
the ships, but not a vessel was sent to their assistance
Holwell was forced to negotiate. The soldiers, worn ont
with heat and watching, broke into the arrack stores and
got drunk, The Nawab’s soldiers forced their way into
the Fort. The garrison surrendered. Siraj-ud-daulah
entered the fort in triumpb. He had formed the most
exaggerated idea of the treasure to be found there, snd
great was bis disappointment when he obtained only balf
& lakh. He sent for Holwell and expressed his resent.. .-
ment at baving found ro little money in the treasure; but
he promised Holwell protection. The joy of the prisoners,
op hearing that their lives were safe, was excessive. But
.this joy was soon to be dispelled. 4Only one place could
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be found in which to confine them. It was a room, not
eighteen feet square, with only two small windows with
iron bars—a room, benceforth to be known as the Black
Hole of Calcutta. Into this small apartment, on a Lot
June evening one hundred and forty-siz buman beings
were forced at the point of the bayonet, and the door was
shut. We may pass over the snfferings of those poor un-
fortunates during that awful night. Suffice it tosay, that
the ghastly forms of only twenty-two men and one woman
crawled cnt of that den into the light of a vew
day. Theremaining one hundred and twenty-three 1756
were corpees. The question as to whether Siraj-  A.p.
ud-davlah was to blame for this awful tragedy
bas been much discussed. The probability 1s that he was
not. The priconers bad been left in the charge of the”
officers. Sirsj-ud-daulab himeelf had gove to sleep, and
10 ove dsred awake him. But next morning when the
survivors were bronght to him, be was utterly callous, and
seemed only anxious to dircover where the English had
secreted their tressures. Holwell ard four others were
sent off to Mursbidabad in cbains. The remainder were
- allowed to go on board the English vessels. Siraj-ud-
daulab returned exultant to bis capitsl, and addresced a
most glowing acconntof his victory to the Emperor at Debli.

286. Clive recovers Calcutta.—Thenews of the tragedy
of the Black Bole reached Madras in Angust, and a cry
for vengeance arose from every lip. Within forty-eight
bours the Government resolved tosend an expedition into
Bengal; and in October Clive and Watson set sail with
nine bundred English infantry and fifteen hundred sepoys.
Clive was put at the head of the army. Watson com-
manded the navy. It was December before the fleet reached
the Hugli. Clive at ovce landed bis forces, captured
Budge-budge, routed the garrisop that Sirsj-ud-daulah
had left in Fort Willam, recovered Calcutta, and stormed
and plundered Hugll,

287. Chandarnagar, captured.—Meanwhile Siraj-ud-
daulab had released bis prisoners. He bad begun to feel
be had made a mistake in driving the English merchants
from the conntry. Trade bsd bteen interrupted and his
revenue bad consequently diminiched. He was anxions to
make peace with the Egglish, yet be dreaded their power.
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. Watbson was opposed to entering on negotiations, declaring
. that the Nawab ought to be “ well thrashed.” But Clive,
.in view of the French war ‘that was pendnig,-thought it
wise to make peace; and an agreement ‘was come to, by
which the English trade was o be restored; compensa-
tion was to be given .to the sufferers for the losses they
had :eustained at the capture of Calcutta by the Nawab;
@nd permission was granted to the English to fortify Fort
William. . But<the Nawab bad no intention of fulfilling
this engagement if he could avoid it. He sent entreaties
to Bussy .in the Nortbern Circers to come to hisaid against
the English. (Clive and Watsen heard of this. They at
once attacked 'Chandarnagar, the Frepch settlement in
Bengal, captoret it and took five hundred European troops
-prisoners. :

288. ‘Conspiracy against Siraj-ud-daulah.~ The wices
and follies of Siraj-ud-daulah had, meanwbile,alienated all
-clagses of his subjects from him. A powerful ecenspiracy
was formed to put-him off the throne. The Jeaders were
Baja Raldurlabh, the finance minister, Jagat Seth, the
richest banker in India, and Mir Jafar, the Commander-in-
‘Chief. Communication was opened between the conspira-
tors and Clive, and the.latter readily fell in with the
scheme. Clive believed .the Nawab to be a villain that
-could mot be trusted, and declared that either he or the
English must fall, An-agreement was come to by which
.Clive-promised to assist the conspirators, .and, in return,
Mir Jafar; who was to be praclaimed Nawab, was to give
tthe English ariny, the navy and oivilservanés, compensation
for their services. The plot was laid. But time was needed
to make the necessary preparations for carrying it owb
wsaccessfolly. Clive, therefore, wrobe Siraj-md-danlah what
he called “soothing” letters, expressing the'utmost friend-
wship ; while, at the same time, the same bearer would be
-carrying-other letters for Watts, the English Agent, assut-
ing him that an army would be sent to Mir -Jafar's aspist-
ance. Communications between the English and the
"Nawab were carried 'on through one, Umachand, a crafty
Bengali merchant, who had suffered considerable loss :om
the capture of Calcutta by the Nawab, He kmew all the
threads of the plot, and had the lives -of the couspirators
-entirely in his powenn Umachang svddenly threatened do
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divulge the whole conspiracy unnlesa he were promised
thirty lakbs, and insisted that this should be inserted im
the treaty made between the English aud the conspiratora.
The Committee did not know what to do. But Clive was
quite equal to the occasion. Umachand did not deserve to
got the money ; but were he to go to the Nawab and reveal
what he knew, all wounld be lost. Clive, therefore, pro.
posed that the money shouald be promised him, but, at the
same time, resolved that be should never receive it. Twa
treaties were drawn up, one on white paper, tbe other on,_
red. In the former no mention was made of Umachand,
while the latter, whieh was fictitious- and the one to be
shown him, cootained the stipnlation demanded by him.
A new difficulty arose. Watson would be no party to such
8 deceitful transaction, and Umachand would detect the
absence of Watson’s name. Clive was not to be baffled,
To hia dishonour he forged Watson’s signatnre.

.. 239, Battlg of Plasse‘y.-—All was now ready for action
Watts fled from Mum}idabad. Clive declared war and
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marched to Kasimbazar. Siraj-nd-daulah aad Mir Jafar
with an immense army advanced to Plassey. The two
armies approached within a few miles of each other. It
had been arranged that Mir Jafar should bring over his
division of the army to Clive’s side. Clive waited, sent
messages to Mir Jafar, but Mir Jafar never came. Clive
was placed in a most difficnltsituation. His army consist~
ed of three thousand men, ooly seven hundred and fifty of
whom were British, with nine pieces of artillery. The
army of the Nawab consisted of fifty thousand infantry,
eighteen thousand cavalry, with fifty pieces of artillery.
Clive oalled a council of war, and was one in a majority
that voted not to engage in battle. Sabsequently, he
retired into a grove, aud, after aa hour’s reflection, came to
the conclusion that Coote, (para 228), who had declared
himself ia favour of engaging the enemy, was right. Next
day Clive crossed the river and marched for Plassey.

The Nawab’s army was well covered by a grove, and

remained on the defensive. Their canunoun did

1757 little injury, while Olive’s artillery was very

Ap.  effective, Several of the Nawab’s chief officers

wore killed. Mir Jafar separated his troops from

the Nawab. Clive immediately charged. The enemy broke
-and flad in the utmost coafasion. Siraj-ud-daulah, with
two thousand horse, retreated with all possible speed to
Marshidabad. The teats, baggage aad caanoa of the
eaemy fell into the hands of the Vietors, whose loss in this
‘memorable battle amounated to twenty-two killed and fifty
‘wonnded. Next day, Clive salated Mir Jafar as Nawab
of Bengal, Bihar, and Orissa.
| 240. Death of Siral-ud-daulah.—Mir Jafar proceeded
to Murshidabad. Oa his arcival, Siraj-ud-daalah let him-
self dowa from a window of his palace at night, and with
-ouly two attendants sailed ap the river for Patna. He
was captured and broaght backto Marshidabad ; and there,
in a room in what had once been his own palace, he was
murdered by Miran, the son of Mir Jafar.

241, The Company rewarded.—Meanwhile Clive.
-arrived, and proceeded to arrauge for the settlement of
the terms of the agreement. Umachand was now to learn
how he had been deceived. He was informed that the
paper he had seen was but a trick, gud that he was to get,
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nothing. The shock was too much for him. He fell back
insensible, and died, a few months afterwards, a drivelling
idiot. The treasury of the Company was soon well filled. -
A hundred boats, laden with eighty lakhs in silver, sailed
down the river to Fort William, with flags flying and
trumpets blowing. All the servants of the Company
received rich rewards. Clive himself acknowledged that
be bad received ‘sixteen lakhs. On the news of those
succesges reaching England, Clive was appointed Governor
of the Company’s possessions in Bengal.

242, Shuja-ud-daulah Invests Patna.—Mir Jafar,
however, was not to remain’ in undisturbed possession of
Bengal, Bibsr and Orissa. In 1758 the eldest son of the
Great Mughal, known as the Shahzada, claimed those pro-
vinces, and, being supported by Shu)a-ud-daulah, Nawab
of Oudbh, the Mahrattas, the Jats and some French under
Law, amounting in all to forty tbousand men, invested
Patna. Mir Jafar, in terror, wisbed to buy them off ; but
Ram Narayan, the Governor, beld out, and when Clive
advanced with bis small army the besiegers fled. Great
was the joy of Mir Jafar, In gratitude be bestowed on
Clive, in the name of Jaghir, the quit-rent due by the
Company for the territory around Calcutta, estimated at
an apnuoal value of about three lakbs. The company thus
became the tenants of their servant.

248. .The Dutch defeated.—The gratitudeof Mir Jafar
did not last Jong. He felt how insecure his position was.
The Englisb had raised him to power. They might take
the power from bim. The French were now powerless in
India; but the Dutch bad & settlement at Chinsurah.
They  might belp bim. He. intrigned with the Dutch.
They sent to their pettlements in the East Tndies for troops.
Seven large sbips soon arrived i the Bugli from Java,
with one thousand five bundred troops on blard.

Clive, regardless that England and Holland were 1759
at peace, attacked them by Jand and sea, defeated  a.D.
them and forced the chief of the settlement of
Chinsurah.to engage to build no fortifications, and to keep
1o more armed men than what were necessary to serve as
police. Three monthe after this Clive sailed for England
(1760).
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CHAPTER VII.
Mir Kasim.~~1760 a.p. vo 1765 a.0.

) Shuja-ud-d;inlab invedes Bihar.| War with Mir Kasim.

Mir Jafar deposed. Mir Jafar restored,

Mir Kasim. Maasacre of Patna.

Death of Ram Narayan. First sepoy mutiny,.
Disputes with Mie Kagim. Battle of Baxar.

- 244. Thenext five years during which Clive remained
a$ home, form a dark page in the history of the English in
India, and have left on the East India Company “ a stain
not wholly effaced by many years of just aud humane
governmernt.” - :

'245. Patna besleged.~—Scarcely had Clive turned his
back on India when the Shahzada, now became Shah
Alam 11, assisted by the Nawab of Oudh, laid elaim to the
province of Bthar, and advanced to Patna. Ram Narayan,
the brave- Hindu, who had . defended the city when pre-
viously attacked, again proved traue to the English, and
held the town until Colonel Calliaud came to his relief.
The' Emperor then made & rapid mareh for Marshidabad,
Calliand followed. The former wheeled, bastened back to
Patna and again besieged the town. Captain Knox with
one thousand two hundred sepoys burried from Burdwan
to its relief. Patna was three hundred miles distant from
Bordwan., But, by forced marches under a scorching
April sun, Knox in thirteen days came up with the
besieging army and defeated #. He next crossed the river
and attacked the Nawab of Parnfa, who bhad come to
assist Shah Alam with thirty thousand men. The natives,
strnck with the daring of this little' army, crowded the
walls of Patna to witness the issue of the battle. For six
hours the struggle continned, and it ended in the total
defeat of the énemy.

248. Mir Jafar deposed.—Itwasnowquite clearto the
English that Mir Jafar was unfit to rule. He bad lost the
very little reason he ever possessed. The money in the
trensury was exhausted.” The troops were clamouring for
their pay. The company’s treasury also was empty, and

¥ Mir Jafar was unable to pay the balgnce of his debts to them
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Vansittart, who had succeeded Clive, as Governor, pro-
ceeded to Murshidabad, deposed Mir Jafar, and conduct-
ed him for safety to Calcutta. Mir Kasim, the old man’s
son-in-law, was appointed Nawab. In return, Mir Kasim
_made over to the Company the revenues of Burdwan, Mid-
napur and Chittagong, which then furnished one-third of
the revenue of Bengal. He promised to pay the Company.
the debts due to them by Mir Jafar, and to make over five
lakhs of rupves towards the expense of the war in the'
Karnatic. In addition to this, the servants of the Com-
pany personally received large sums of momney, ranging
from thirteen to fifty lakhs of rupees. Such was the
price Mir Kasim paid for his crown. Such were the means
nsed by the servants of the Company to become rich.

247. Mir Kasim.—Mir Kasim was & man of a very
different stamp from his father-in-law. He proceeded at
once to dismiss the worthless fovourites that had surronnd-
ed Mir Jafar, and to call in all arrears of rent that had
accomulated under his weak government. He revised the
land asgessment, abolished a host of useless and expensive.
offices, and called on the provineial officers to give up the
wealth they had amassed by extortion and plunder. One
of the first of thosd officers to be attacked was Ram
Narayan, the defender of Patna, whom the English had
promised to protect from his enemies. Charges were
trumped up against him. Ram Narayan appealed to
Calcutta. Vavsittart shrank from condemning a man
whose guilt had not been proved ; but the majority of the
council sided with Mir Kasim. Ram Narayan was handed
ever to him. The unfortunate Hindn wasat once despoiled
of the little wealth he had secured, His friends and
officers were tortured to make known where his supposed
treasure was concealed ; and, when but little treasure was
forthcoming, the brave Ram Narayan was put to death, a
victim to disappointed greed. No act of the administra.
tion of Vausittart, did more to weaken the English in.
fluence in India than this. The nobles of Bengal had
been wont o place confidence in the promises of the Eng-
lish. They now saw them band over a friend who bad
been faithful to them, and whom they_ had promised to
protect, to bis most bitter enemy. The friends of the
English could no longer trust them. Their enemies were

13
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emboldened, and, amongst the latter, Mir Kasim himself
was soon to be enrolled.

248. Mir Kasim makes Monghir his capital.—Mir
Kasim was soon in a position to meet the wants of his army
and to fulfil his obligations to the Company. He was a
man of ability and a maun of will. He resolved to be
Nawab in reality as well as in name. Murshidabad
would not suit his purposes as = capital. It was too near
Calentta. All his movements could be too easily watched.
He removed the seat of his Government to Monghir, a
distance of three bundred and twenty miles from Calentta :
Defence works soon sprang up around that city. Anarsenal
was built within the walls, and cannon and muskets of a
superior kind were manufactured. Within three years he
had at his command fifteen thousand cavalry and twenty-
five thousand infantry, trained for the most part by men
who had. deserted from the Company’s service. He was
no less active in improving the administration of the
country and in consolidating his Government. But Eng-
lish greed and English oppression and extortion were soon
to lead him to take up arms on behalf of his right’s and
in the unequal contest he was to lose his throne,

249, Mir Kasim quarrels with the Calcutta Council.
~<Under an old imperial firman, the merchandise of the
Company was allowed to pass up and down the country
duty free, by virtne of & dastak or permit, signed by the
President. After the battle of Plassey, the servants of the

Company claimed the same privileges for their private-

»

trade. The grossestabuses followed. Every boat that had

the English flag flying, could pass the tolls unchallenged,
while the transit duties on native goods were heavy. Every
servant, every agent of the Company had his dastak, and it
wag said that the youngest boy in the service could make
two thousand rapees per mensem by selling passes to the na-
tives. Every native trader began fo hoist the English flag,
and, if the officers of the Nawab made the slightest attempt
to stop & boat with his flag flying, there were carried off to
the next factory or sent to Calcutta in chains. Nor was
this all. The English carried on their trade in the most
tyrannical way, forcing the natives to bny dear and sell
cheap. Trade was thus disorganized, The Nawab was
robbed of his revenues. What wonder that he should apply
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to Calentta for redress! Vansittart, accompanied by Warren
Hastings, proceeded to Monghir. They felt that outrages
80 gross could * bode no good to the Nawab’s revenues, the
quiet of the country or the honor of England.” They were
well received ; and an agreement was come to, by which the
Company’s servants were fo pay a duty of nine per cent.
The duty Mir Kasim’s own subjects had to bear was about
twenty-five per cent. On Vansittart’s return to Calcuita
he encountered the most violent opposition from his
colleagues. They declared he had betrayed them by
surrendering their right to trade free of all duty, and
resolved that they wounld pay no duty except on salé and
that only at the rate of two-and-one-half per cent. Mir
Kasim, thereupon, removed all transit duties whatever,
and thereby gave his own subject equal privileges with
" the English. When the news of this reached Calcutta,
" the rage of the councillors knew no bounds. In vain did
Vansittart and Hastings uphold the right of the Nawab
« to give his own subjects equal privileges with foreigners.
The Council by a majority resolved to -call on the Nawab
' to annul his decree, and to inform bhim that he bad greatly
wronged the power that bad placed bim on the throne. The
Nawab refused to re-impose the daties. Both sides prepared
for war. Ellis, the Company’s agent at Patna, suddenly
attacked and captured that city. When Mir Kasim heard
of this, he ordered the capture of every English- ‘
man in Bengal. Mr. Amyatt, a member of the 1763
Council, was taken and killed by the Nawab’s. A.,
officers, Patna was recovered, and Ellis and many
other Englishmen fell into the hands of Mir Kagsim.

250. Massacre of Patna.—Mir Jafar was brought oub
of his place of retirement. The old man, now seventy-two
years of age, and a leper, readily promised to give the
Company all they wished, and they re-instated him on the -
throne. An army of six hundred and fifty Europeans and - -
one thousand two hundred sepoys left Calcutta. On the
2nd July Murshidabad was captured, A month later
they came up with the Nawab’s force at Gerlah. Never
did troops fight better than those of the Nawab; but, in
the end, the Europeans and sepoys had the best of it, and
the Nawab’s army ,retreated, leaving all their guns and
stores behind them. In November the Nawab was again
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defeated at Udwanullah, Monghir next fell. Mir Kasim,
wild with rage, informed the English if they advanced
further, he would put Ellis and the other prisoners to

death. But Mir Kasim must be overtbrown even

1763 thongh the prisoners should be murdered, and

ap. Ellis and his companions were willing to meet

their doom. The English army advanced. Mir
Kasim kept his word. He ordered the prisoners to be
slanghtered. His officers refused. They were willing and
ready to fight the English in battle ; but they wounld not
be the murderers of defenceless men and women. They
were sepoys, not executioners. A fitting instrument was
found in one, Walter Reinhardt, better known by his nick-
name, Sumru. This ruffian ordered the soldiers to mount
the roof of the prison and fire on the prisoners. The latter
seized bottles, chairs, anything they could lay their bands
on, and fought with the energy of despair. But not a’
single pérson escaped. One hundred and fifty defenceless
soldiers, civilians and women lay dead in that prison honse
on that woeful day.

251. Mir Kasim, a fugltive.—The massacre of Patna
thrilled with horror the whole British empire. Mir Kasim
hoped it wonld frighten the English into making
with him. But vengeance was the cry. Within a month
Patna was stormed and taken, and Mir Kasim and Sumra
were fagitives at the court of the Nawab of Oundh.

252. First Sepoy mutiny.—Shuja-ud-daulah wished
to secure Bihar for bimself. The time was opportune for
his accomplishing his object. The forces that had advanced
to Patna bad expected to be liberally rewarded for their
services. They received their ordimary pay. Provisions
wero scanty. The English froops threatened to desert to
the enemy. An entire battalion of sepoys actually went off.
But Munro, who had arrived with reinforcements, went
after them, took them prisoners and blew eight of them
from the guns. The matiny was quelled.

253. Battle of Baxar.—Shuja-ud-daulah, accompanied

by Shah Alam IL and animmense army,advanced

1764 into Bihar. Munro marched against them. The

AD. two armies met at Baxar, and Shuja-ud-daulah,

having been utterly defeated, fled into the Rohlilla
country. Shah Alam IL joined the English. The battle
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of Baxar was one of the most important events in the
history of the English conquests in India. It broke up
the power of the Nawab of Oudh, who, after the Nizam,
was the most powerfal of the Mughal vieeroys. It threw
into the power of the English the provinces of

Oudh, and established them as the greatest 1765
power in India. Shnja-ud-danlah did oneeagain  awd.
take the field. But at Korah he was again de-

feated, and, seeing that his cause was hopeless, he entered
the English camp and threw himself on their mercy. . ,

CHAPTER VIIL

Cr1veE’s SECOND ADMINISTRATION.
s« 1765 4.0.~1767 a.p.

The Divani of Bengal, Bihar | Clive reformsthe CivilService,
and Orisga granted to the | Reforms the Military Service.
English. Clive returns to England.

. : ’

254. On the day the battle of Korah was fought Clive
arrived in Calcntta. At home he had been received with
the greatest enthusiasm. He had been raised to the peerage.
The great Lord Chatham bad spoken of him as & ¢ heaven-
born general’ and a ‘man who, bred to the labour of the
desk, had displayed a military genins which might excite
the admiration of Froderick the great of Prussia’ He
had entered Parliament.

255. Cllve, Governor and Commander-in-Chlef.—
Reports of the disgraceful proceedings of the Company’s
servants in Bengal reached England.. The same ships
that bronght the news of brilliant victories won and con-
quests made, also brought tidings of the army being in
matiny and the Company’s exchequer being empty ; while
from each ship there landed yonng servants of the Com-
pauy, bringing with them fortunes that enable them to
vie with the richest noblemen in the land in the magnifi-
cence of their honses and the laxury of their tables. The
Directors began to fear for their dividends. This system
of private trading and selling of thrones must be put an

LS
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end to. All eyes were turned to Clive as the only man
fitted to bring order out of this chaos. But Clive had been
previously thwarted by the Council at Calcutta; and
Sullivan, the chairman of the Company at home, was his
enemy. He would not return-unless he was entrusted
with independent powers. The Directors had but one
course lefti open to them. Clive was appointed Governor
and Commander-in-Chiel in Bengal, and a chairman
friendly to Clive was elected.

258, Clive’s forelgn policy.—Such was the position
Clive held when he landed at Calcutta, and be resolved to
use his powers to crush out the evils that had crept into
the administration of the Company. Mir Jafar had, died
while Clive was on his way out, and the Company’s ser-
vaunts had placed an infant son on the throne, in return for
which they had received fourteen lakhs. Clive proceeded
to Allahabad, where Shah Alam and Shula-ud-daulah
were prisoners in the English camp. To Shuja-ud-danlah
he restored his provinces, Allahabad and Korah were
. given to Shah Alam, who conferred on the English the
Diwani (i.e., the right of collecting the revenune) of Bengal,
Blhar and Orlssa, in retorn for a yearly payment of
twenty-six lakhs, thus giving them a legal right to admi-
nister provinces that had been aetually under their control
for some time. The infant Nawab of Bengal was pensioned,
and his descendants still live at Murshidabad, as pen«
sioners and subjects of the Crown.

257. Clive reforms the Civil Service.—Clive bad so
far been eminently successful in his foreign policy ; but he
bhad a much more formidable difficulty to encounter in
vectifying the abuses in the civil and military services,
The servants of the Company had hitherto received ex-
ceedingly small salaries. They had, however, been allowed
to trade on their own acoonnt and to receive presents
from the natives. In their haste to become rich they had
not always been very scrupulous as to the means used to
acquire their wealth ; and, as their private interests often
olashed with those of the Compauy, the interests of the
latter frequently suffered. The Board of Directors, while
Clive was in, England, had forbidden their servants to take
presents. Clive now put their resolution in force. He
forbade the servanta of the Company to trade or to veceive

[
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presents and made each man sign an engagement to that
effect. The wrath of the civilians was extreme. They tried
to resist Clive, but in vain. His ivon will and strong resolu-
tion won the day. They had to yield. Bat their. wrath
against him for so interfering with them pursned him to
his grave. Clive felt, however, that the salaries were too.
small, He drew up a scale of salaries snch that the Com-
pany’s servants could live in comfort and, in the course of
years, save a sufficient competence for old age. - To meet
this extra charge to the Company, he set apart the revenue
derived from the monopoly of salt.

258, Clive reforms the Milltary Service.—Clive next
turngd his attention to the army. The troops when on
gervice had been accustomed to receive what was called
* double batta.” This was nominally a subsistence allow-
ance, bat the amount ¥as excessive. Clive proceeded to
stop it. The officers mutinied. Two hondred resolved to
resign in one day. England depended on her army for her
existence in the country. The Mabrattas were advancing.
The officers thonght Clive must yield and continue the
double batta. But they misjudged their man. As each
officer resigned he was arrested, Clive sent to Madras for.
others to fill their places. Within & fortnight the mutiny
was quelled and the ringleaders were punished.

259, Clive leaves Indla.~Clive had now aceomplished
the work he bad been sent out to do. Ho get sail from
India for the last time early in the year 1767,

@ poorer man than when he returaed toit eighteen 1767
months before. At home, the servants of the  a.p.
Company, civil and military, from whose rapacity
he had rescued Bengal, persecuted him with the utmost
viralence and rancour ; but the Court of Directors passed a
resolution, ¢ that he had rendered meritoriouys services o
his country.” Clive died in 1774 :

[ X1



- 152 BRITISH INDIA.

CHAPTER IX.

Rise or Hapar ALr.—Tae First Matsor Waz.
1766 a.p. 0 1769 a.p.

Haidar Ali, " Battle of Ambur.

Triple Alliance. The English at Bangalore.
Nizam Ali deserts the English, | Haidar recovershisterritories.
Battle of Trinomali. Treaty of Madras,

260. Triple Alllance.—A few months before Clive left
India, the English entered into an agreement with the
Mahrattas and Nizam Ali to attack Hatdar All of Mai-
sur. The rise of Haidar Ali was & sign of the times.

This adventurer was a “‘Muhammadan soldier of
1767 fortune. His grandfather had left the .Panjab
ADp. and come into the Dakhan as a Fakir. When
Haidar was born in 1702 his father was a
petty officer of police. A few years later the father died,
and the mother and her son were taken care of by her
brother who was a Naick. Haidar is said to have served
in the French army. Subsequently, he gathered together
" a band of lawless men, in the same manner as Sivaji had
formerly dome, and lived by plunder. He was present
with the regent of Maisur at the siege of Trichinopoly,
and received an allowance for every man he bronght into
the field. Gradually, by tricks and treachery, he raised
himself to the throne of Maisur. He was now intrigning
with the French, and it was on this account, that the
English were led into the alliance with the Nizam and the
Mahrattas.

261. The first Malsur war,—Haidar was to be sur-
rounded on all sides. But he knew the enemies he had
to deal with. He quickly bought off the Mahrattas; and
Nizam Ali was soon induced to turn his arms against the
very force that had been sent from Madras to his aid.
Fortunately the English army of seven thonsand men
with sixteen guns was commanded by Colonel Smith, a
very distingnished officer. The united forces of the
pnemy were sgventy thonsand men, Smith retreated. Af

(2
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Changama Haidar attacked him, but was Xbpulsed.
Smith continued his retreat until he arrived at Trinomall.
Haidar followed and besieged the town. At the same
time, Tippu, son of Haidar Ali, with five thonsand horse,
: carried fire and sword to
the gates of Fort St.
George. The English army
at Trinomali was soon re-
duced to. extremities. Fa-
mine might have done its
work and given the confe-
derates a victory, but they
would not wait its slow
operation. Confident in
/ their superior
. e numbers they  26th Sep. .
made an attack. But Smith, by an able move- 1767 a.p.
ment of his troops and by the skilfal way in
which he used his artillery, gained a complete victory.
A strange occurrencer happened in connection with the
pursoit. Haidar, feeling certain of suceess, had brought
the ladies of his zenana mounted on elephants {0 witness
the battle. They had been drawn up in a line in the rear,
and now that the battle was lost orders were sent for them
to retreat from the field. But one of the ladies exclaimed,
“This elephant has not been instructed so to turn, he fol-
lows the standard of the empire ;” and, thongh the bullets
were flying around her, she refused to move before the flag
had passed. )

262, The Northern Clrcars granted to the English.—
Nizam Ali had not expected to be defeated. He had hoped
to march to Madras and recover the throne of the Karnatic.
He now began to fear he might loose what he already
possessed. He, therefore, deserted his new ally and made
peace with the English, confirming fo-them the grant
of the Northern Circars made two years previounsly. :

263. - Haldar victorious.—Smith was unable to follow
ap his victory. Haidar laid siege to Ambur.

Captain Calvert gallantly defended the place for 1767
twenty-six days, when Colonel Smith, coming to  a.p,
his 2id, defeated the besiegipg army ontside the

fort. Elated by this  success, the Madras Government
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resolved to invade Maisur. Colonel Smith was sent against
Bangalore ; while Colonel Wood invaded the fertile country
lying along the foot of the.Ghats. . The latter soon accom-
plished his object. All the country between Dindigal, Pal-
ghat and Vanlambady fell into his hands. The Bombay
Government likewise sent troops into the west coast; and
Mangalore, Onore, and, other places were taken, Haidar
had thus in & veryshort timelost one-half of his possessions.
He at first put forth all his strength to recover his territory
in the west, and was wholly successful. He next proceeded
to Bangalore. Bub he did not consider "himself strong -
enough to run the risk of a general action. He would fain
indeed have made peace ; but the .demands made by the
Madras Couneil were so enormons that he resclved to
continne the struggle. Meanwhile, Colonel Smith had
been superseded by Colonel Wood, and Haidar, seizing an
opportunity that was given him, fell upon Colonel Wood’s
army by surprise and put them to rout. He then marched
into the low country, destroyed or took prisoners the small
companies that had been stationed thronghout the district,
and recovered the whole of his lost possessions. Haidar
then formed the daring resolve of attack in Madras. With
8ix thousand cavalry and two hundred choice infantry he
made the wonderful march of one hundred and thirty -
miles in less than four days, and suddenly appeared within
five miles of that city. -
264. Treaty of Madras.—The Madras Council was
panic-stricken. Colonel Smith was not far away, They
could easily have held the fort till he came to their'
. 1769 agsistance, but fear had got the mastery over
Ap.  them. They concluded a peace with Haidar, by
which both parties were allowed to retain the
possessions they had held before the war, and they mutually
engaged to assist each other in all defensive wars. *
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CHAPTER X.

-
Bewcar: WarreN Hasrings.—1767 a.b. mo 1775 ap.

Double Government. Reforms the Law Conrts.
Famine in Bengal. Treaty of Benares.

Hastings, Governor of Bengal, | Rohilla War. [tration.
His administration. Results of Hastings’ adminig~

265. Double Government.—The Company’s affairs in
Bengal bad again fallen into a bad way. The rich provin.
ces of Bengal and Bihar had been granted to Clive in 1765.
Those provinces were placed under 'a double govern-
ment. Theadministration of justice and the collection of the
revenue were left in the hands of native governors and agents,
who, in the name of the Nawab, oppressed and fleeced the
people. The English garrisoned the country, and so long as
the native agents bronght a good round sum to the English
treasury, the English in no way- interfered with the civil
administration. The native officials preyed npon the people.
The agents of the Company fell into their old ways and
quickly amassed fortunes; while the sums paid into the
Company’s treasury became smaller and smaller. Matters
were brought to a climax in 1771. A famine
and pestilence visited Bengal, and the people died 1771
off in hundreds of thousands.  Reports reached  a.p.
England that the officials were bolding back the
rice in order to sell it at famine prices. The Directors
were indiguant. They determined on introducipg radical
reforms into the administration, and to this end appoint-
ed Warren Hastings, a man of great ability and Indian e
experience, and up to this time certainly a man of probity,
Governor of Bengal.

266, Warren Hastings.—From 1771 to 1783, the
history of India centres round this great man. Hast.
ings was born in 1732. He landed in India for the first
time in 1750. He was taken prisoner by Siraj-ud-daulah
at Kasimbazar. He fled to Clive when he heard of Clive’s
arrival in the Hugli, and, as a volunteer, served under
that commander in his victorions march on Calentta.
Subsequently, he rose to be g member of the Council at
Caleutta, and was one of the minority that upheld Mir
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Kasim’s right to give his own subjects the same com-
mercial privileges that the English enjoyed. He return-
-ed to England in 1764, and so high an opinion did the
Directors form of his ability and uprightness, that in
1769 he was sent out as Second Member of Council at
Madras.
267. Hastings, Governor of Bengal—Reforms.-—
Hastings entered on his office, as Governor of
1772 Bengal,in April 1772, and at once proceeded
AD to take the administration of the country out of
the hands of the natives. The land revenues first
secured his attention. To put them on a better footing,
he let the lands to the highest bidders amongst the
Zemindars. English Collectors were appointed over
districts, and in the civil and criminal conrts of their
districts they were supreme. Two courts of appeal were
established at Calcutta, which was now made the capital.
Over the one, the Sadr Dewanl Adalat or chief civil conrt
the Governor, himself, presided. The other, the Sadr
Nizamat-i-Adalat or crimival court, was presided over
by a pative judge appointed by the council. The Nawab’s
allowance was reduced to sixteen lakhs a year. The pen-
sion list was also reduced. Hastings drew up a simple
code of Hindn and Mahammadan law for the regulation -
of the courts, and put an end to the ancient custom of the
judges receiving one-fourth of the amount in dispute in
civil cases. Many local taxes that pressed heavily on the
people were abolished. The inland duties were revised
and reduced to a uniform level. Those and other acts
reflect the highest honour on Hastings, and point him
* outb as pre-eminently the ablest and most successful states-
man that ever governed Bengal. '

268, His forelgn pollcy.—Hastings in his foreign
policy was equally successful, though the rightness of the
means taken to accomplish his ends is open to question.
His first alliance was with Shuja-ud-daulah, the Nawab of
Oudb. Shah Alam II. had left the English protection and
gone off with Sindia to Dehll. The Mahrattas had over-
run Rohlikhand, The Rohillas had promised to pay the
Nawab of Oudh forty lakhs of rupees for his protection.
In 1773 Narayna Rao, theqsPeshwa, was murdered at

" Puna, and in consequence of tixis,cthe Mahrattas returned

’
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bhome. The Nawab claimed the forty lakhs The Rohillas
denied they had made such a promise. Those circom~
stances gave Hastings a splendid opportnuity ef replenish-
ing the Company’s treasury. .

Shah Alam had left the English pratection. Hastings
annonnced that by taking that step he bad forfeited his
claim to the annnal grant of twenty-six lakhs given to him
by Clive, for the Divani of Bengal, Biharand Oriesa.
Korah and Allahabad bad also to ba disposed of. Shah
Alam had surrendered those provinces te the Mahrattas ;
but the Mabraltas so near at band would become a
continuous source of danger to Bengal..

269, Treaty of Benares—Hastings and Shuja-ud-
danlah met at Benares and entered into a freaty, by which
Korah and Allababad were restored to the Nawab, in retnrn
for which the Company received fifty lakhe of rupees.
Hastings agreed to furpish. a brigade to invade -
Robilkhand, the expenses of maintaining which 1774
were to be met by the Nawab, and, at the end. of .a,n.
the campaign, the Compeny were to receive an.- )
additional forty lakhs of rupees. The fortress -of Chunar -
on the Ganges was likewise ceded to the Company.

270. Rahilkhand Invaded.—Colonel Champion march-
ed with his brigade into Rohilkhand, and near Katra
put to rout forty thousand Rohillas under Rahmat Khan.
" So long as the battle remained dounbtfnl, Shuja-nd-danlah’s
troops kept ab a safe distance. But, when the Robhillas
broke and fled, they rushed in and plundered the camp.
The disciplined Epglish troops kept their ranks, and,
looking with disgust on their worthless allies, said to each
other, “ We have the honor of the day and these banditti
have the profit.” The Nawab’s troops were let loose over
the country to murder, plunder and commit every species
of atrocity. Rohilkhand was subdned, and from eighteen
thousand to twenty thousand Rohillas were forced to leave
the country. 1t was unfortunate for the good name of
Hastings and the honov of England, that he should bave
‘bad as allies such monstera of cruelty. But Hastings
did all he could, by sending strong representations from
Calcutta, to prevent such barbarities, and therefore, he
can hardly be held responsiblefor the atracities.committed
by his allies, .

14
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‘271. Results of Hastings’ Policy.—During those two
years Dastings bad proved bimself to be possessed of the
greatest administrative ability. He had reduced taxation,
and yet, in addition to ove crore of rupees received in cash,
be bad added forty-five lakhs to the annual income of the
Company. Tbe law Courts had been purified. Trade

bad revived, and millions of people bad obtained

1773 seturity in their possessions and been made con-

AD-  tented, peaceful and happy. Meanwhile, the Regu-
lating Act bad been passed in England, which

placed Indis under an entirely new form of Government. ;'

° CHAPTER XL
Trr Secosp Marsur Wag. 1780 a,p. To 1784 ap.

Haidar at war with the Mahd The English Power in danger.

rattas. Sir Eyre Coote.
The English capture Mahe. Battle of Porto Novo.
The second Maisur war. ‘War with the Dutch,
Incapacity of the Madras Coun+| Death of Haidar AlL
cil. ’ Treaty of Mangalore.
Battle of Pollior.

272, Haidar All defeated by the Mahrattas.~—Scarce-
ly bad Haidar Ali signed the peace of Madras when the
Mahrattas invaded his territories in overwhelming num.
bers. By the peace of Madras the English and Haidar
bad agreed mutuslly to assist .each other against their
enemies. Haidsr, therefore, applied to the English for
help against the Mabrattas. But no assistance would the
English give, and Haidar, defeated at every point, was
forced to cede to the Mabrattas & great part of hie nor-
thern possessions, and to pay fifteen lakbs as the price of
peace. This desertion of him in a time of difficulty, when
even his very throne was endangered, rankled in Haidar’s
mind, and, for several years following, he steadily gathered_
around bim a large and well trained army, so that, when
s fitting opportunity should arise, he might take his
revenge, and if possible drive the English dut of the south
of India.

e
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273. Haldar regovers his lost territories.—Madu Rao
died in 1772 and Haidar at once took advantage of the
disorders at Pana to recover his lost possessions. Coorg
was subdued. Haidar offered a reward of five rapees for
every head that was bronght to him, and not until he had
been presented with, and paid for seven hundred heads,
did he give orders to his men to desisb from the carnage.
Calicut foll into his hands without a blow. Gooty, the
strong fortrass of Morarl Rao, was captared, and all the
territories Haidar had ceded to the Mahrattas were
recovered. In 1778, his kingdom extended as far north
a8 the Krishna.

274. The second Malsur War.—In this year the first
Mahratta war broke out. England also went
to war with France. The Madras Government 19778
eaptared Pondichercy. Mahe on the west coast  a.p.
was the only other French possession in India.

The country around Mahe belonged to Haidar. When
the English aivanced aud captared that town, Haidar
was indignant. Schwartz, the celebrated Missionary, was
sent to Maisar to make peace with Haidar; bus, though -
Haidar received him kindly, he rofused to be reconciled.

Haidar had other aims. The Eaglish had as yet been
very uusuccessfal in the firsb Mahratta war. Now was his
time to ravenge their former desertion of him, He entered
into an alliance with the Mabrattas and Nizam Ali. With
ninety thousand men, the finest army that had ever been
seen in Southern India, he burst through the pass
of Changama and proceeded to lay “waste the 1780
Karnatioc. The Goveraor and the Conncil of Fort  A.D.
St. George wors but ill-qualified to meet sych :
an emergency. News had reached them that Haidar was
preparing an army for the invasion of the Karnatic. Taey
would not bslieve it. Nor wera any- praparations made
against such a possible contingeacy. Reports were broaght
that Haidar had actually pa;sed Ohangama and was car.g-
ing fire and eword throughout the cou.ul;ry ; bat the dall-
headed Governor would nob credit such & report, unkil
Conjeveram had been taken, most of the forts of Mahan.
mad Ali had baen treacherously sucrendered, and dark
colamns of smoke mingled with flame were seen mhhm Y
fow miles of Madras,
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275, 'The. battle of Pollllor.-=8ir Hector Munre, the
hero: of Baxar, (1764), was Commander-in-Chief with five
thousand ‘men; and Colonel Baillie with two thousand

. eight hundred men was ou his way to-occupy Gautar. It
was desirable: that those two armies should be united.
Bhillie wheelod. Munro weunt out to join him. Haidar
threw his army between: them. to prevent a union. Af
Pollllor Baillie’s force was: -cut to pieces, and his stores
and guns. fell into the haads of the enemy. Baillie himself
and: two- handred Europeans were taken prisouers, and
sent to. Seringapatam, where they were treated with the
greatest cruelty. Munro was only two miles distant when
Baillie was defeated- Had he advanced to the assistance
of the latter, the result-of the battle might have beea very
diffarent. ‘On hearing of Baillie’s defeat and eapture,
Muoro retreated to Madras. Haidar advanced to Vellora
and captured it. :

. 278. Hastings sends' re-inforcements.—Never wag
the English power in Indix in greater danger of being over~
thrown than nown The Mahrattas under Nana Farnavis
and Siodia had become strong, and were engaged i a not
unequal contest with the English in Central India. Haidar
was all bub master of the Karnatie. Bhonsle of Barar was
meditating an attack on: Bengal,and, had he carried out
his design, Bengal might have fallen into his hands. Buk
the genius of Hastings saved the empire. . When the news
of Baillie’si defeat reached Calcutta, Sir Eyre Coote was ab
once sent o Madras by sea with: five hundred and sixty
Fluropean troops, while Colonel Pearce; ‘with an avmy of
sepoys, was ordered to march to the scene of danger, a dis-
tance of abopt seven hundred miles. Pearce had to advance
through Bhonsle's territories; and Bhonsle was as yet an
enemy. Bat, before the Knglish army rsached Barar,
Hastings, by » large bribe; had succeeded in withdrawing
Bhonsle from the Puna confederacy, and, when Pearce
entered his territories, instead of meeting with opposition,
he found himself strengthened by two thousand Mahratta
-horse. The Raja of Berar, as Hastings said, had been ¢on.
verted from “an osteusible enemy into a declared friend,”
and Bengal had been saved - from s state of dangerous
alarm, if not from actual invasion, and all the horrors of &
predatory war.”
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277. Battle of Porto Novo.—When Sir Eyre Coote
landed at Madras, Vandivash, the scene of his former vie-
tory over Bussy, 1760, was besieged, and was L
being defended by a young lientenant, named 1781
Flint, with all the courage and skill of 3 second  4.p.
Clive, Coote bastened to Flint’s relief. At the . .
mere news of bis approach, the enemy retreated and the
siege was raised.  Other forts were gimilarly relieved.
While Coote was resting his troops at Perto Novo, he
beard that Haidar had advsnced with an army of ten times
his numbers to prevent his refurn to Cuddalore. ‘Nothipg
could bave snited Coote better. He had all along been
anxious to meet Haidar in & regunlar battle, but Haidar
bad always evaded him. . With the utmost skill Coote led
his men to the attack, and aftersix hoprs fighting carried
ell before bim.: .When Haidar, who was gtanding on an
eminence, saw bis army flying, he could scareely believe
bia eyes : nor could. he be- moved from the spot, till his
attendants by force mounted him on a swift horse, which
cazried him. quickly ou4 of danger. - S

278, Second Battle of Pollllor.—~Pearce had, meane
while, advanced with his..szmy from Bengal, and Coote
joined him at Pulicat. Haidar bad defeated Baillie the .
year before at Pollilar. Hawing a superstitions belief in
the day that Battle was won being for him a lueky day,
be attacked Coote and Pearce at the same place and on
the same day of the yesn. The English soldiers, ,, .
marching over theunburied bones of their conntry- - 1781,
men that had fallen .the year before, gained a  AD.
victary, though not neerly gq decisive 9 one as o
that of Porto Novo. Those successes were followed up
by a great victory st Sholinger, Sept: 178], in which
Haidar lost five thonsand men, while the English lass was
but one bundred men. The war between Haidar and the
English continued with varying success.. Haidar captured
Cuddalore. Coote egain relieved Vandivash. .,Near. the
Kaoleroon the English sustained a grest disaster. Colonel
Braithwaite, at the head of the troops that bad taken.
Negapatam, allowed himself to be surrounded by Tippu,
and after a straggle for twenty-six hours wae forced to
sorrender. On the other band, the garrison at Tellickeri,
which had heen besieged for eighteen months, issued from
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their defences, and captured ope thousand two hundred
of Haidar’s troops togetber with their stores, guns, and
ammunition. Coorg and Malabar, thereupon, rose against
Haidar.

279. Battle of Arnl.——Meanwhile, Hastings had noé
- been jdle. He had succeeded in concluding the Treaty of
Salbai with the Mahrattas, and by that treaty not omly
were the Mabrattas withdrawn from the side of Haidar,
but they bound themselves to see that Haidar restored
his conquests to the English and to the Nawab of the
Karnatic. Haidar, therefore, felt very anxious as to his
future, and even meditated withdrawing from the Karnatic;
' ~ when a French fleet arrived with three thousand
1782 men. Strengthened by those, Haidar again laid
AD. siege to Vandivash. Again the news of Coote’s
arrival brought relief to the. town. At Arnt

Haidar and the French was defeated.

280. Character of Haldar—Of the many Indian
adventurers we read of, Haidar Ali is one of the most
remarkable. Unable to write or read, with no influence
_derived from birth, he worked his way to the throne of a
mighty kingdom, and governed it with great ability and
political wisdom, though without any regard to honour
or principal, or even humanity. -He died on the 7th
December 1782, weary, as he said, of waging war “ with a
nation, whom he might have made his friends, but whom
the defeat of many Baillies and Braithwaites would never
destroy”

281. Tippu Sultan.—Tippu was on the west coast
when the news of his father’s death reached him. He at
once hastened to Seringapatam, where he was proclaimed
sovereign, and found himself at the head of an army of
one bundred thousand men, with three crores of rupees
in the treasury, besides immense wealth in jewels. Peace
was fortunately made between England and France, and
all the French in Tippu’s service were at once recalled.
Tippu marched into the west coast and captured Bednor
and Mangalore. Colonel Fullerton on the other hand
took Dindigal, Palghat and Coimbatore. He was on his
way to attack Seringapatam, when be was stopped by the
Governor of Madras, who had foolishly sent envoys to
Tippu suing for peacé. Tippu’s pride was gratified. The
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English bad come to him .as suppliants. - What more} conld
be desire. They must be humiliated to the utmost degree,
Not until Mangalore was in his possession and

only after much entreaty would be agree to a 17847
peace, by which- each side retsined its former a.D.
possessions. This treaty is known as the Treaty s

of Mangalore,

282, War with the Dutch.—A# this period war broke
out between England and Holland. Sir Hector Munro
was immediately sent against Negapatam, the
chief Dutch colony. He captured it ag also. 1781
Trincomali in Ceylon and other Dutch possessions.  A.D.
Those were finally made over to the English by
the peace of Versailies in 1783.

CHAPTER XII.,

Tae GoveRNORS-GENERAL OF Briise INpa.
WagrereN Hastings. 1774 A.p. 70 1785 ap,

The Regulating Act. Chait Singh.
Dissensions in the Caloutta| The Begams of Oudh.
Counoil, Pitt’s Bill.
Nundkumar, Hastings resigns.
Sir Elijah Impey, Death of Hastings.
- .

288. The Regulating Act.—The Regulating’Act was
passed by the Epglish Parliament in 1773 and came into
force in India in 1774. By this Act the Governor of
Bengal was made Governor-General, and, assisted by a
Council of fonr Members, was entrusted  with supreme
power over all the British possessions in India. A
Supreme Court of Justice was established at Calcutta,
presided over by & Chief Justice and other three Judges,
with powers independent of the Governor-Ggneral in
Council. Warren Hastings was appointed the first Gov-
ernor-General, The first Members of Council were Mr. °
Barwell, & friend of Hastings, and Mr. Francis, General
Clavering and Colonel Monson. The last three were
sent out from England, The first Chief Justice was Sir
Eljjah Impey. . :
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v !,;; 284, Dissensions In the Councli.—~No sooner bad the

PR,

tbree councillors from England taken: their seat at the
Council table, than they began to show an intense batred
towards Hastings. Regardless of his great experience and
his knowledge of the wante of the eountry, they strenn-

- ously opposed all his measures. As each Councillor bad a

vote in Council, the three from England could always form
& majority, and thus for twe years the Governor-General
was almost powerless. The first canse of dispute had re-

-ference to the treaty of Benares. The triumvirate in the

" Conngil, led by Francis, ealled on Hastings to produce sll

- v

letters, public and private, that had passed between him
and bis Agent at Ondh. Hastings refused. The majority
in Council recalled Hastings’ Agent, ordered the brigade
sent into Rohilkand to be withdrawn, and threatened to
withdraw the troops from Oudh, unless the Nawab at once
paid up .all monies due by bim. Shaja-ud-daulah died
the following year, and was succeeded by bis young eon,

.Asaf-ud-daulah. Francis, with his majority, immediately

pressed down upon Asaf-ud-daunlab, forced bim to sign a’
treaty by which be snrrendered to the Company the re-
venues of Benares—the Zemindar being made a feudatory
Raja, paying an ennoval tribute of two lakhs and a balf
to the company— and raised by rapees fifty thousand per
mensem the subsidy which bhis father had agreed te pay
for the English troops stationed in Oudh. Nor was this
all. The young Nawab bound himself to pay to the Eng-
lish thedebts due by his father ; while, at the same time,
Francis forced bim to pay to bis father’s widow almost
the whole of two erores of rupees which his father had
left in the treasury. Againetsuch barsb proceedings Hast~
ings protested, but in vain, The Nawab was left with an
empty treasury, an army clamouring for pay, and a heavy
debt to the Company. ‘

285. Nundkumar.—~The power of Hastings was appa-
rently gone. The natives were not slow to discover thia.
The trinmvitate were ready to listen to any tales against
the Governor- Genersl, and, like bundreds of crows pecking

L+846 & wounded eagle, came hundreds of.infprmers to blast

the fair name of Hastinga. *Chief amongst those was a
Brahman, named Nundkumar, who had many years before
this been described by Clive and Hastings as the worst
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man they knew in Indin. 'He aceused Hastings of baving
taken bribes from the wife of the late Mir Jafar. Ne-
thing could have pleased Framvis more than this. He
brought -the charge against Hastings in the Council.
Hastings treated it with scorn. Francis insisted thab
Nundkonwmar should be heard. . Hastings denied the right
of his aolleagues to sit as his judges, and left the Counoil,q,
followed by Barwell. Suddenly the news ram through
Calcirtta that Nundkumar had been arrested on a charge
of f)gggg:;y, and cast as a common felon into the eommen /
ghol.  The four judges of the High Court tried the case.
A jury of twelve Englishimen was gmpannelled: a unani- §
mous verdict of guilty was given; and tH® four judges
agteed to the senbence that Nundkumar should be hanged.
Ia the early morning of the 5th Augnst the sentence
was earried ont on the maidan outside Oalcutta, in the
presence of an immense crowd of Hindus. The sentence
was considered & severe one by the natives, forgery,
though at that time a capital crime in England, not being
regarded so by the Hindas. Hastings has sometimes been
acgused of having procured the execution of Nundkamar
to sgragn himself ; but Hastings himself declared that he
had in no way countenanced the prosecution. The majoris ¢
ty in the Couneil, who wers Nundkumar’s friends and who <
might have saved him, took mo steps to do so. On the
-other hand, when the convicted man sest a petition to the
‘Conncil, Frabis himeelf demanded that the paper should
be burned by the common hangman. The fate 8f Nund-
kumar struck torror into all the natives, and during the
rest of Hastings’s rales in India no one was daring enough
ta raise his voice against him. By the death of Monson
Hastings was enabled to secure a majority in Council, and,
* thereby, to acquire a power which he:alone at that time
bad the ability to mse for the good of the country.

286. Chalt Singh.—~War had . already broken out
between the Bombay Government and the Mahrattas ; and
in 1780 Haidar Ali again invaded the Karnatic. The
expenses of those wars were enormous, and Warren Hast-
ings, was forced tq nse every means in his power to proeure
money.. He firsf turned “to Chailt Singh, the Raja of
Benares. In 1775, as we have seen, Asaf.ud-daulah had
-transferred the vight of collecting the revenue of that
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Zemindary to the English. Chait Singh was appointed
Raja, as a vassalof the Company, and was bound to aid them
‘with men and money when called on to do so. Hastings
demanded five lakhs of rupees and two thousand horse.
But Chait Singh pleaded poverty, and delayed to send the
men or the money. Hastings proceeded to Benares to
enforce his demand, and Chait Singh was put under arrest.
He was exceedingly popular among his subjects. They
rose in arms and attacked the sepoys that had been placed
as a guard over their Raja. The sepoys had forgotten
to bring their ammunition with them and were cut to
pieces. During the tumult the Raja quietly slipped out of
the palace, and escaped to Ramnagar on the opposite side
of the river. Hastings was now in the utmost peril. He
had bat a handfal of men with him, and the Residency was
surrounded by an armed infuriated mob of many thousands. -
But His presence of mind did not desert him. He secretly
sent messages to the nearest garrisons, and even wrote out
and despatched the terms of a treaty he was making with
Sindia. During the night he withdrew to the fortress of
Chunar. The brave Popham was the first to come to his
assistance. ~ Chait Singh’s army, now forty thousand
strong, was defeated. Chait Singh fled to Gwaliar, where
he lived for twenty-nine years. The troops seized the trea-
sure and divided it amongst themselves. Hastings, thus
balked in his object of securing money to fill the Company’s
treasury, consoled himself by appointing Chait Singh’s
nephew, his successor, and by demanding from him twice
the amount of tribute that had been hitherto received.
287. The Begams of Oudh.—Hastings was more suc-
eessfal in accomplishing another object of his journey.
Asaf-ad-daulah of Oudh had never paid his debts. He
complained that by the treaty of 1775 he had been
deprived of the money that properly belonged to the State,
and that, instead of its having been given to the Begams,
it should have beean given to him to pay his soldiers and
the debts due by his father to the Company. He had no
money now. Indeed he was more involved in debt
1781 than ever. The only way in which he could see
A.p. relief might be obtained, was by taking, from the
Begams the money they should never have pos-
sessed. The Begams were but ill-disposed towards the
[ 4
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English, They bad gesisted Chait Singh in the late insur-
rection. Hagtings agreed to the proposal of Asaf-nd-
danlabh. The Begams were forced to yield up seventy.six
lakhs, which were handed over to the company.

288. Pitt’s Bill.—These measures were condemned by
the Court of Directors. Indian affairs had likewise been
discussed in Parliament, and a Bill, introduced by Mr. Pitt,
bad been passed, by which the power of the Directors was,
to be confided to three of their number who were to form
a Secret Committee. The authority of the Directors was
thus confirmed : but (1.) a Board of Control consisting
of six members was appointed by the Crown to 4
exercise supreme authority, the President of the: 1784
Board being directly responsible to Parliament. a.p.
(2.) No alliances were to be formed with native
states, nor was any war to be entered on, except in self-
defence, without the consent of the Court of Directors.
(3.) The Governor-General’s Council was reduced to three,
one of whom was to be the Commander-in-Chief, and the
other two,'Bengal civilians. Similar Councils were estab-
lished at Madras and Bombay. (4.) No seryant of the
Company was to engage in any monetary transaction with
native princes,

289. Hastings resigns.—Hastings resigned. On the
1st February 1785, be sailed for Epgland. In England,
Hastings was at first received with great favour by the
king, the ministers and the directors. But his inveterate
enemy, Francis, who was now in Parliament, pursued him
even there. The great orator, Burke and the leaders of
the Whig party turned against bim, and impeacbed bim,
for his conduct in India. After a trial which lasted over
seven years (13th February 1788 to 23rd April 179 5),
he was folly and honourably acquitted. Once thereafter
did Hastings appear in public. In 1813, be was rum-
moned before the Houses of Parliament to give evidence
on Indian affairs. In both places the noble, grey-baired
old man was offered a chair while giving his evidence, an
honour but seldom granted, and, on leaving the House,
both Lords and Commons rose to do him honour.
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CHAFPTER XIIL

Lorp Cornwairis: Tee THirD Mnsu; ‘Wae.
1786 a.n. 0 1793 A

Polioy of Lord Cornwallie. Bangalore stormed.
Tippu over-runs Coorg, | Battle of Arikera.
Tippu attacks Travancore. Retreat; of Cornwallis.
Tripartite Alliance, Seringapatam attacked.
War with Tippu. Peace of Seringapatam.

290. Leord Cornwailia.—On the departure of Warren
Hastings from India, Mr. McPherson, the Senior Member
of Council, ected as Governer-General, until the arrival of
-Lord Cornwallis in 1786, ' It was felt that, nnder the new
form of Governmentin India, it would be better to bave
a Geovernor-General, who was not a servant of the Com-
pany. Hastinge, great though his ability was, had again
and again been forced by the epposition and intrigues
of the servants of the Company who had at one time been
his equals, to make .compromises with them, and his
anthority bad thereby been weakened. By appointing an
English nobleman, altogether unconnected with the Com-
pany, and in no way fettered by lecal ties, these evils conld
not arise. Lord Cormwallis, a nobleman of great military
and diplomatic ability, was, therefore, appointed Hastings’
successor, with powers to aot, if necessary, independent]y
of the epiniop of bie Council. Lord Cornwallis was resalv.
ed to carry out the policy Jaid down in Pitt’s Bill, and
to avoid by every possible means war with the native
States. But circumstances arase that prevented him from
carrying ount these intentiops. .

291, Tippu's religious wars,—~The treaty of Manga-
lors, 1786, had scareely been coneloded, when Tippu
wrote to the Frenoh at Pondicberry that be was only
waiting for an opportunity to crush the Mahrattas and the
Nizam, and to extermipate the English, From that time
be proceeded to strengthen his army. He atfacked the
native Christians of Kanara, and foreed ithirty thonsand
of them to profess the Muslim faith, Coorg was over-run,
and seventy thousand persons of all ages and both sexes
were carried off to Seringapatam and forced to become
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Muosalmans. Elated by his success he no longer acknow-
ledged the Emperor at Dehli as his Suzerain, but assumed
the title of Padishah himself, and pablic prayers were
offered for him instead of Shah Alam II.

292, Tippu defeats the Nizam and the Mahrattag.—
The growth of Tippn’s power was a sonrce of danger to
the Nizam and the Mahrattas. They, accordingly, formed
an alliance against him, but Tippu had the best of it in
the war that followed, and a peace was concluded, where-
by Tippu agreed to pay forty-five lakhs of rupees as the
tribute due by Haidar, and to restoreall the territory he'
had taken during the war. In return, they acknowledged,
bim Governor of almost the whole of Indie south of the
Tangabhadra. .

298. Tippu attacks Travancore.—After those success-
es, Tippu, paffed up with pride, began to look upon himself
as a second Mubammad, whose daty it wes to extend the
Mauslim faith by every means possible. He led his army
into Malabar against the Nayars, and gave them the choice
of death or conversion to the faith of Islam. Thousands’
true to their faith suffered death. Thousands fled to the
jungles. Many took shelter in Travancore. Eight thousand
temples were levelled with the ground. Tippm uext
attacked Travancore. The Nayars that had fled before
him had obtained shelter there. The Raja of Travancore
hed purchased two forts from the Datch, which Tippu
maintained were within his provinces. The Raja had
also built a wall for the protection of his State, which
intercepted Tippu’s advance to a portion of his own terri-
tory of Cochin. At the head of fourteen- thousand men
he attacked the fortified wall. A breach was effected,
and Tippu's soldiers mounted the walls. But, being
suddenly fired on by a small compaay of Hindus, a panic
seized them and they turned and fled carrying with them
Tippn and his train. Those behind were forced off the
walls into the ditch below, and Tippu was carried over
the confnsed mass of dead and struggling men that filled
up the gap. Tippu received bruises which lamed him
for life. His palanquin, jewels, seals and rings fell into
the hands of the victors. Two thousand of the flower of
hisarmy lay dead under the walls. Enraged and humili-
ated at this catast,rop_he,‘ Tippu sent to Seringapatam for

15
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battering trains. On their arrival he quickly demolished
the fortifications and converted Travancore into a desert.

294. The third Maisur war.—The Raja of Travan-
core was an ally of the English, and they were bound to
protect him from this Maisur tyrant. Both Nizam Ali
and Nana Farnavis were in mortal dread of Tippu’s in-
creasing power. The former had just ceded Gantur to
the English and received a subsidiary force at Haidarabad.
The latter liked the English little, bat he loved Tippu
Jess. A Tripartite Treaty was entered into, by which the
“English, the Mabrattas and the/Nizam agreed mutually.
to defend each other from their enemies and to unite their.
forces to crush-Tippu. On the conclusion of the war, the
claims of the two latter on the territories of Maisur wera
to be granted to the fullest extent. War was declared.
In Jannary 1791 Lord Cornwallis arrived at Madras to
take command of the army himself. Within a month
after his arrival he set out on his mareh, and, by a clever
movement, arrived on the high plain of Maisur withons.
Tippu knowing of his approach. Bangalore was taken

by assanlt. The English army then advanced to

1791 Seringapatam. Tippuin the greatest state of

A.D.  excitement, ab the prospect of bis capital being

taken, ordered the foul words of insult to the

English with which the walls were covered to be washed

off. The prisoners were murdered that no tales might be

told of the miseries they had suffered. On the approach

of the English, Tippu drew np his army in the most skilfal

mianner at Arlkera. But he was completely defeated and.
had to take refuge inside the walls of his capital.

205. Retreat of the English.—Complete success
would now have crowned the campaign. Bat the English
commissariat was in a bad way. Provisions were scauty.
Tippu had laid waste the country. The oxen were reduced
to mere skeletons. Disease, more deadly than war,
invaded the camp. Cornwallis' was forced to retreat
Jeaving his heavy siege train behind him. The day after
the retreat was begun Harl Punt appeared with hig
Mahrattas. Had he come sooner, Seringapatam wounld
have fallen'; but the Mahrattas had been busy plundering,
heedless of the assistance they should have been giving to
their allies. -
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266. Cornwallls again advances.—Lord Cornwallis
remained in Bangalore till fresh troops and all necessary
equipments shonld arrive from Madras. He employed the
army in the interval in taking the hill forts or droogs,
considered impregnable by the people of Maisur, and
in over-rnnning the Baramahal. In January 1792 his
arrangements were completed, and he again set oub for
Seringapatam. The campaign was begnn on & scale not
seen in India since the days of Aurangzeb. The infantry,
battering train, field-pieces and baggage moved in three
parallel columns, while a hundred waggons loaded with
liquors, and sixty thousand bullocks belonging to the
Brinjaris or hereditary oxen-drivers loaded with provi-
sions brought up the rear. The natives were struck with
amazement at the resources of the English. Tippu is said
to have exclaimed, “ It is not whati I see of the resources
of the English that I dread, but what I do not see.” The
Nizam’s army of eight thonsand men, gaily dressed but
badly armed, and ‘Hari Punt’s small body of Mahrattas
accompanied the English. Tippu awaited their arrival.
His defences consisted of three lines protected by three
hundred cannon, the earth works being eovered with
prickly plants through which it seemed impossible for
man or beast to penetrate. During the night Lord Corn«
wallis himself led his men to the attack. Befors morning
the enemy’s redoubts were taken, and the English had
gained a footing on the island on which Seringapatam
is built. Tippu’s loss in this attack was four thonsand
men, while probably four times that number'took advan-
tage of the defeat to desert.

207. Peace of Seringapatam,—Tippu was bewildered.
He began to fear he might lose his crown and his king.
dom. The siege works of the enemy were being advanced
with the utmost expedition. It was now only a question’
of time and Seringapatam must fall. Nothing could save
Tippu bat prompt submission. One of the English pri-
soners was sent to Lord Cornwallis. The Governor-Gene-
ral offered peace on condition, first that Tippu should
surrender one-half of his territories to be divided between
the English and their allies ; second, that he should pay
three creres and thirty. lakhs of rapees ; third, that all -
prisoners shonld be set free ; and fourth, that Tippu should
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deliver to the English his two sons as hostages till the
treaty was fulfilled. Tippu assembled his officers in the
great mosque. The terms of peace were read and the
question was pat by Tippu, * Shall it be peace or war? *
No alternative was left. Their only hope of retaining any
power or territory was by accepting those conditions, and
Tippu put bis signature and seal to them that very day.
The Mahrattas and the Nizam, though they had given no
assistance to the English during the war, received equal
shares with them of the treasmre and territory. ‘“The
Mahrattas extended their boundary to the Tungabha-
dra; the Nizam to the pennar; while the English secur-
ed to themselves the Baramahal on the east, Dindigal
on the south, and a Jarge extent of territory on the
Malabar coast, including Tellicherry and Calicut. The
Peace of Serlngapatam was finally concluded on the
18th March, much to the disappointment of the English
soldiers, who had hoped personally to have freed
1792 . . their captive conntrymen from their dungeous,
A.p. and to have revenged the sufferings they had
endured. Buat an opportunity of punishing

Tippu was still to be granted them in 1799.

CHAPTER XIV.

Lorp CorNwALLIS : Tag PERMANENT REVENUE SETTLEMENT.

1793 a.n.
Mode of collecting the revenue. Cornwallis reforms the civil
Rise of the Zemindars, courts,
The Permanent Revenue Sottle- | Changes in the criminal eourts.
ment, Natives excluded from high

offices under the Company.

298. Brilliant as were the successes of Lord Corn-
wallis in the war against Tippu, and great the credit those
successes reflected on him, the fame of his administration
rests still more on the changes he introduced into the
revenne and the judicial institutions of the country.

' 299. The Revenue.—From time immemorial all the
land in the country was the property of the Raja or the
L 4
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Emperor; and his revenue was chiefly obtained fram re-
ceiving a cortain proportion of the produce. To delermine
the proper share to be paid by the ryot, the great financier,
Todar Mall, in the reign of Akbar, bad all the lands
measured and taxed according to their fertility. Agents
were appointed to collect what was due as the Emperor’s
share, and great power was given them, even to the levy-
ing soldiers, in careying oot their work. As was the case
in almost all Hindu institntions, the office of collector
became hereditary, and in course of time the collector’s
power became so great, that he set himself up as a Raja
or Zemindar, and became entire master of the district.

Hastings, as we have seen, did not acknowledge those
Zemindars as masters or proprietors of their districts, but
simply as collectors of revenue, and he formed out the
lands to the highest bidder. But this system bad proved
a fuilure. The agents who thus secured the land had no
certainty of retaining it. They might be turned out in
favoor of still higher bidders. The eomsequence was,
neither agents nor ryots would expend their money in
improving the soil. The land, accordingly, deteriorated.
The crops became poorer and poorer. The Government were
forced to make remissions and their revenune suffered.
When Lord Cornwallis landed in Calcutta, he declared
“ that no class of society appeared to be flourishing except
the money lenders, and that both cultivators and land-
lords were sinking inte poverty and wretchedness.” The
Court of Directors resolved to remedy those evils. Im
April 1786 they wrote, condemning the system of letting
ont the revenues to men who had no interest in the land
except to squeeze a8 much money as they could out of the
ryots, and ordered that the land should be restored to the
old Zemindare, and engagements made with them. The
settlement was to be made for ten years, and if it shonld
prove satisfactory, to be then declared permanent.

800. The Permanent Revenua Settlement.—In 1793
the permanent settlement was promulgated. The Zemin-
dars were created the landlords or proprietors of the soil,
and were made responsible for a fixed permanent revenue
to Government. A large and rich class of landlords was
thus created, who, safe in the possession of their estates,
might be expected to advance cultivation, and thereby add
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to theswealth of the conntry. But in the settlement the:
interests of the ryots where somewhat overlooked. They
could base a claim to the land dating centuries before the-
Zemindars existed : and though from this time the
Zemindar was appointed as only the medium through
which the resident cultivators paid their rent to the
Government, still these oultivators have gradually dimin--
ished in nombers, and the ryots are now almost exclusively
at the mercy of the Zemindars. The result of the settle-
ment has probably been good on the whole. The revenue
of Bengal and Bihar has increased. Cultivation has been
extended, and generally the people are more comfortable
and happy.

801. Cornwallls reforms the Civil Courts.=Lord
Cornwallis also introduced changes into the judicial insti-
tutions of the Presidency. - The English Colleotor had
hitherto not only administered the revenue of his collecto-
rate bat had acted also as judge, and magistrate. The
duties of the Collector were from this time limited to
matters affecting the revenue, and he was placed under a
Board of Revenue; while judges were appointed over civil
courts that were established fn the districts. Changes were
also made in the criminal courts. Cornwallis placed ‘the
whole administration of the country into the hands of the
Company. Under his rule no native could hope by industry
and ability 1o rise to high employment in the service, not
. even in the judioial department. How different from the
present rale, by which there is almost no office under the
Crown whioh the native may not aspire to and ultimately

ain.

In 1793 Liord Cornwallis returned to England and was
succeeded by Sir John Shore. Early in that year France
and England again went to war, and Pondicherry was
taken by the English for the third time.
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CHAPTER XYV.

Sie Jorn Smore (Lorp TeranMouTH.)
1793 a.p. 10 1798 a.D. "

Sir John Shore's Peace Policy. | The Oudh succession,
War bétween the Mahrattasand | Vizler Ali.
the Nizam. Saadat Al

302. Sir John Shore.—Sir John Shore, a servant. of
the Company, was appointed to succeed Lord Cornwallis.
He had shown the greatest ability in the preparation of
the Permanent Revenne Settlement, and to him as much
credit was due as to Lord Cornwallis for the promulgation
of that measare. He was & man of the highest honor and
probity, and was considered by Mr. Dundas, the President
of the Board of Control, to have a peculiar fitness for the
high and responsible office to which he was appointed.
Sir John Shore was pledged to a non-intervention policy.
The strictness with which he adhered to that part of Pitts
Bill of forming no alliance without the consent of the Homse
Board greatly weakened the English authority, and set
both the Mahrattas and Tippu free to carry out thein
gchemes for their aggrandizement. .y

803. Battle of Kurdla.—The Mabratta leaders, for the
last time, assembled under the banner of the Peshwa and
attacked Nizam Ali. The Nizam applied ‘to the English
for apsistance. By the Tripartite treaty formed against
Tippu, each of the allies was bound to protect the others.
from their enemies. The Nizam and Nana Farnavis bad
both been parties to this treaty. They were now at war.
with each other. “Whom was Sir John Shore to help ? The
Mahrattas would be certain to crush the Nizam and their-
power would become a great danger to the English. Sir °
John Shore, bowever, stuck to his instructions and remain-. -
ed nentral. The Nizam, confident of victory, marched
from Haidarabad, the dancing girls in prophetic
songs glorifying his triumphs, and the soldiers 1795

- confidently declaring that they would plunder  A.p.
Puana. But at Kurdla they were ntterly defeated. )
The Nizam fled for refuge to the fort of Kurdla, where
3



176 * BRITISH INDIA.

after being besieged for two days, be agreed to cede to
the Mahrattas territory yielding thirty-five lakhs a year
and to pay up all arrears of tribute.

804. The Oudh succession.—The chief event in the
administration of Sir John Shore was the change he made
in the Oudh succession. In 1797, Agsaf-ud-danlah died.
His rule had been as weak as it had been oppressive.

-Money had been wrung from the ryot and had been
squandered in wasteful laxury and debanchery at the
capital. The presence of the British brigade was the only
power that prevented internal anarchy or foreign invasion.
On the death of Asaf-ud-daulah, Sir John Shore recogniz-
ed Vizler All as his snccessor. Subsequently, it was re-
ported that this Vizier Ali was not a son of the late Nawab,
but the offspring of a man of the lowest caste. Sir John
Shore proceeded to Lucknow to investigate the case,
After the most careful enquiry he found that Asaf-nd-
daulah had left no legitimate heir, and Saadat Ali, brother
of the late Nawab, was placed on the masnad. Vizier Ali
was sent to Benares, and a liberal pension was allowed
him. In 1798, Sir John Shore, who had been created
Lord Teignmouth, sailed for England. Sir John Shore’s
settlement of the Oudh revolution gained him great favor
with both the English and the Natives, becanse they felt
that “ the right had come to the rightful” But, in his
policy with the Nizam and Tippo he showed great weak-
ness, and, although on leaving India he declared that
Tippu would certainly avail himself of any fair opportunity
to re-establish the power and reputation he had lost in his
former contest with the English, he had taken no efficient
steps to keop the army in a state of readiness for such an
emergency.
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CHAPTER XVI.

Marquis oF WELLESLEY-——FOURTH ‘Musmz Wae.
1798 a.p, To 1805 aA.p.

Pesace Policy abandoned, Tanjore under the English.
The Subsidiary System, The Karnatic under the English,
War with Tippa. North-West Provinces ceded.
Beringapatam taken, The Marquisof Wellesley’s suc-
Death of Tippu. cessful policy.

305. The Marquls of Wellesley.—Lord Mornington,
better known by his subsequent title, the Marquis of Wel-
lesley, succeeded Sir John Shore. He had been but a short
time in India when he saw that the policy of trying to
maintain peace by a balance of power, that is, by not allow-
ing any one State in India to become so powerful that it
might swallow up another State, must be given up, and
that the only security for British interests was to establish
the British as the paramount power in the land. The
French influence was at the moment very strong. The
Nizam and Sindia had both of them French armies in their
service. Tippu’s forces were being drilled by French
officers, and Tippn was trying to form an alliance with
Freoch to drive the English out of the Peninsula. The
Marquis of Wellesley proceeded at once to counteract this
French influence and to bring about the fall of Tippu.
To this end, he first formed an alliance with the Nizam, by
which the Nizam agreed to receive a subsidiary force of six
thousand men with artillery.

308. The Subsidiary System.—This system, which
was introduced so largely by the Marquis of Wellesley,
may be briefly described. Under it the native states surren-
dered their international life, that is, they counld form no
alliances either offensive or defensive without the consent
of the British Power. They could not entertain a French-
man in their service. They had to maintain a force com-
manded by British officers, the charges of which were met
by the assignment of territory to the English. Inreturn,
the English pledged themselves to defend those states,
from foreign enemies. Such was the nature of the treaty
with the Nizam. The F)‘rench sepoys at Haidarabad were
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accordingly disbanded, and a subsidiary force under Eng-
lish officers was stationed there. The Governor-General
tried to form a eimilar treaty with Nana Farnavis and
subsequently with Sindia, but neither of them wounld
listen to his overtares, althongh they continued on friendly
terms with the English. They feared Tippu ; but they were
not prepared to become feudatories of the English power.
807. War with Tippu.—Meanwhile, Tippn had been
strengthening his forces by every means possible. His
army, magaificently equipped and well-drilled by French
officers, was now in a high state of efficiency, and it was
well known he was only weiting an opportunity to lead his
soldiers against the English. In 1798 the storm burst.
Tippu had sent envoys to the French in the Mauritius
proposing an offensive and defensive alliance. The Gover-
nor of that island, in the wildest joy at the prospect of.
forming an alliance with the mighty Raje of Maisur, issned
a proclamation making known the objects of the mission,
and calling on the citizens fo enlist ander the banners of
Tippu. This proclamation reached Calcutta. The news
also arrived that the great Napoleon Baonaparte had land-
ed in Egypt, and it was raumoured that a French expedition
was actually on its way down the Red Sea, bound for
India. Tippu likewise received an embassy from the
Mauritins and enrolled himself as a citizen of the French
Republic. There was nothing for it but war. The
Marquisof Wellesley set out for Madras that he

1799 might be near the scene of operations. General
A.Dp.  Harris, the Commander-in-Chief, at the head of
eighteen thousand men withone hundred and four

cannon, marched from Madras. He was joined by & force
of sixteen thousand men belonging to the Nizam, which,
under British officers, formed now an effiecctive body of
troops. General Stuart was ordered to march from Malabar
and join the main army. Tippn’s policy was plain enoagh-
He must if possible prevent a union of those armies. He
hastened first to meet General Stuart and took him by
surprise at Sedasir; but was defeated with a loss of two
thousand men. He next hurried on to meet the army
advancing from Madras; but, at Mallavelll, thirty miles
from Seringapatam, Tippu's troops fled before the charge
of the English iafantry, and Ti.ppn was forced to seek
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safety behind the walls of his capital. General Harris
followed and took up his position outside the city, and was
soon joined by the Malabar force under General Stuart.
Tippu, now driven into his capital with. little ‘chance
of escape, lost all presence of mind. Instead of taking
means to defend the town and protract the siege, he gave
himself up to grief and despair. He sammoned his conncil
and asked them what was their determination. »
“ To die along with you” was the unanimousreply. 1799
Astrologers were consulted, and the Brahmans, awp.
whom he had so hated and persecuted, were sent
for. Large snms of money were given to them to perform
incantations, by which the fall of his kingdom might be
averted. Prayers were ordered to be offered in Muslim
mosques and Hindu temples. But Tippu’s doom was.
near. He sent to General Harris asking for peace. Peace
was offered, but on such terms as to reduce Tippu to the
position of a nominal Raja, like the Nawab of Bengal.
Tippu, enraged at such a proposal, resolved rather to die
thsn add one more to- the number of Rajas, who were
pensioners of the  infidel” English- :
308. Death of Tippu.—General Harris, meanwhile, con-
tinned to bombard the town. On the 3rd May a breach
was effected. The following day, Sir David Baird, who had
formerly been a prisoner for four years in the dungeons
of Seringapatam, at the head of four thousand men;
stormed the breach, and in a few minutes planted the Eng-
lish flag on the battlements. Tippu’s troops fought with
the utmost bravery. It was of no avail. The English
forced their way. The city was taken. Under a low
gateway where the fight had _been the thickest, amongst
a mass of dead and dying, lay Tippu, scarcely distinguish.
able in death. His body was carried to the palace and
buried with royal honors in the tomb erected for his father.
808. Character of Tippu.,—Thus ended a short but
while it lasted, & powerful and vigorous dynasty. It has
been said “ Haidar was born to create an empire, Tippu to
lose one.” Tippn, unlike his father, was a considerable
scholar. He carried on a large correspondence himself
" and wrote an account of his own exploits. In his policy
of religious intolerance, of waging religions wars on all
sides and compelling tl:e people to become Munsalmans.

'
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he was a marked contrast to Haidar, who, earing little
for religion, granted the utmost toleration to his subjects.
The crnel way in which Tippu treated his prisoners, and
the bitter enmity he showed to the English have led him
to be regarded as a monster of cruelty. Bat when the
English- entered his territory they found the lands well
cultivated, the people happy and strongly attached to their
govereign, indicating that within his own kingdom his
power and influence had been used for good.

310. Results of the war.—The family of Tippn was
deposed and his two sons were sent to Vellore, a liberal
pension being allowed them. O©anara, Colmbatore, and
the Wynaad were taken possession of by the Hnglish.
Territory adjoining the province of Haidarabad was given
to the Nizam. This territory was sabsequently ceded to
the English to meet the expense of maintaining a subsi-
diary force, and ifi consequently became known as the
“Ceded Districts.” An infant son of the old Maisur
family was declared Maharaja of the remaining territory.

Sil. Tanlore brought under English rule.—The
Marquis of Wellesley next turned his attention to Tanjore,
For years the people of Tanjore had been groaning under
oppression and mis-government. The caltivators were
ground down by the renters and frequently the servants
of the Raja would carry off the whole crops while the
ryots looked helplessly on. In 1786, it was reported that
as many as sixty-five thousand of the inhabitants fled from
the district. The Raja died, and there was now a dispute
as to the succession. The Madras Goveroment were asked
to settle the dispute. The Marquis of Wellesley did so
by taking the government of the counntry into his own
hands, and giving a pension to each of the claimants.

812. The Karnatic' taken over by the Englishi—
Affairs in the Karnatic were equally bad. The aged
Muhammad Ali died in 1795, and was succeeded by
Umdut-ul-Umra, his eldest son. In the late war with
Tippu, this Nawab had again and again put obstractions
in the way of the Marquis of Wellesley, and, on the cap-
ture of Seringapatam, treacherous corresponderce between
him and Tippu had been discovered. On the death of
Umdat-ul-Umra in 1801 all civil and military authority
was taken from the Nawab’s fan'xily, and the entire ad-
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ministration of the Karnatic was transferred to the English,
As in the case of Tanjore, a liberal pension was granted to
“the new and nominal Nawab. Thus, during these three
eventful years, the Madras Presidency was extended from
- the Coromandel coast to the Malabar coast and southward
to Cape Comorin; while on the north it reached as far as
the Krishna and the Godaveri.

313. North-West Provinces ceded to the English.—
The Marquis of Wellesley had also to interfere in the
affairs of Oudh. Saadat Ali was oppressing his subjects
very much. ' His armiy was not . kept in the efficient state
promised by the subsidiary treaty. There was danger of
an invasion by Zaman Shah, a descendant of Ahmad Shah
Abdali. The Governor-General, therefore, forced  the
Nawab to cede thdse territories now comprising a great
part of the North-West Provinces, for the maintenance
of a force sufficient to defend the country.

814. The Marquis of Wellesley’s Policy.~—The remain-
ing years of the administration of the Marquis of Wellesley
were occupied with. wars with the Mahrattas. In- 1805
he returned to England. The Marquis of Wellesley was
a statesman of the highest order. Having none of the
narrow ideas of the servants of the company, who regard-
ed their own interests as all-important, he -identified
British interests with those of Indfa, and, instead of
stooping to intrigue irn attempting to adjust a balance of
power amongst the native states, he established the Bri-
tish Sovereignty as the Paramount Power in the land.
He was the founder of the Indian Civil Service. He
oonsidered that a counting house training was not at all’
suitable for men that were to be administrators of pro-
vinces and. judges of courts. He, therefore established a
College at Calcutta, where the young servants of the
Company might stady History, Political Economy and the
Indian Languages on their arrival in' the country. The
Marquis of Wellesley was of small stature and was known
amongst his friends as * the glorious little man.” And
go long as the History of the British Power will remain,
go long will this glorious little man occupy oue of the
highest places amongst the goodly rol of statesmen, that
have extended and consolidated that power in India.

...‘__;_'_

16
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CHAPTER XVIL

Lorp CornwALLIS: Si2 GEOrRGE BaRLOW,
1805 ap Tq 1807 a.p.

Non-intervention policy, The Vellore mutiny.
Death of Lord Cornwallis. Causes of the mutiny.

" Sir George Barlow. Missionaries interdicted.
Peace with the Mahrattas.

315. Death of Lord Cornwalls.~—Great and glorious
had been the administration of the Marquis of Wellesley.
He had raised the British name and influence from the low
position into which i6 had fallen in India, had added very
extensively to the British possessions, and had firmly estab-
lished the British power as paramountin the land. Buat
his policy, successful though it had been, and the only
policy that could have brought peace to the  country, was
condemned by the Board of Directors in England. The
Governor-General, in the face of an Act of Parliament,
had engaged in war against prince after prince from Cape
Comorin to the Satle}. He had brought vast territories
directly under British rule, and had concluded treaties
with sach powerful rulers ag the Niaam and the Peshwa, by
which they maintained subsidiary forces and acknowledged
the English power as their Suzerain- The responsibilities

. thus tbrown on the Company were enormous. The expenses
of the late wars had emptied their treasury. The new alli-
anees might lead them into further wars. The Directors
became frightened, and requested Lord Cornwallls to
proceed to India as Governor-General. Lord Cornwallis
was opposed to the policy of Wellesley, and no sooner had
he landed at Calcutta than he made known the change of
policy that was to be followed. He set out for the upper
provinces to arrange peace with Holkar and Sindia; but
during the journey his health gave way, and he died at
Ghazipur on the 5th October 1805.

316. Sir George Barlow—Peace-at-any-.price policy.——
Sir George Barlow, tke Senior Member of Council, assumed
the office of . Governor-General. He had steadily assisted
and strongly upheld the Marquis of Wellesley in his policy
of establishing the British as the gmmonnt power. Buat
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now all was changed. As a servant of the Company he
felt it to be his duty to obey their instructions to the
letter. He quickly concluded a peace with Sindia (paras
212,213). Theugh Lord Liake had Holkar in his power
and was on the point of ntterly erushing him, a treaty was .
also coucluded with him, by which Holkar’s territories
were restored to him. Nor was this all. The Rajput States
had done greatservice to the English during the Mahratta
wars, and the English had promised to protect them from
their enemies. Sir George Barlow, notwithstanding the
protest of Lord lake, broke faith with the Rajputs,
annulled the treaties and handed the Rajputs over to be
ravished and plundered by Holkar’s brigands. Lord Lake,
thereupon, resigned in disgust and sailed for England. The
Court of. Directors wanted Sir George Barlow to go still
farther, to annul the treaty of Basin and the treaty with
the Nizam; but to his eredit be it stated that he refnsed
to perpetiate such folly.

817. The Vellore mutiny.—hile peace was thas being
prooured at any price in the nobth of India, the -
whole of the Peninsula was thrilled by the news 1806
that the sepoys at Vellore had mutinied and killed  a.p.
their officers and many of the Enropean soldiers.
On the capture of Seringapatam, the two sons of Tippu,
who had been taken prisoners,” were removed to Vellore,
where they lived on a liberal pension granted them by the
Company. At Vellors there was a garrison of three hun- _
dred and seventy Europeans, and one thonsand five hun-
dred native troops. Many of the sepoys belonged to Maisur,
and had formerly served under Tippu. Early on the
morning of the lst July they seized the main guard, took

. possession of the powder magazine and attacked

the Europeans in their barracks, firing at them 1806
through the venetian windows. Theoffieer’s quar-  A.D.
ters were next attacked, and thirteen of the offi-

cers slain. The survivors, officers and men, tried to fight
their way to the gate, bat in the attempt the officers were
killed. Sergeant Brodie then took the command, and un-
der cover of & bastion of the gateway maintained a brave
defence. When the news of the mutiny reached Arcot,
Colovel Gillespie ab the head of the 19th Dragoons, with
two field guny, gallopec‘i off to the relief. Soon a cloud of
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dust was seen in the distance. Nearer still it came. The
hearts of the little band that'were so gallantly defending
themselves beat high. A company of their own country-
men was coming to their aid, and far in front of the relief
party came the commander galloping as if for life, up to
the gate of the fort. A robe made of the soldier’s belts
was let dawn and Colonel Gillespie was pulled up the wall.
The, field guns were brought up to the gate, a breach
was quickly made, and not until between -three hun-
dred and four hugdred sepoys had paid with their lives
the penalty of their treachery, did the English soldiers
desist from the earnage. . .

3818. Cause of the mutiny.—An investigation was st
once made, and the cause of the mutiny discovered. The
Commander-in-Chief with the consent of*Lord Willlam
Bentinck, the Governor of Madras, had introduced several
innovations into the army regulations. The sepoys were
1o Jonger to appear on parade with ear-rings or their dis«
tinctive caste marks. They were to shave theif chins and
trim their beards after § certain model, and, what irrita-
ted them still more, they were no longer to wear"their tur-
bans, but a kind of head dress that somewhat resembled
a Eoropean hat. A rumonr was circulated that those
changes were introdmced as preliminary to the sepoys all
being forced to become Christians, This rumour the fol-
lowers of Tippun’s family greatly encouraged, and whenever
a sepoy appeared, he was mocked and upbraided by the
Muhammadans for wearing this hat, which was regarded
a8 a symbol of Christians belief. Such were the causes that
led to the mutiny. No' doubt the Tippu family had also
much to do with it. They and their followers longed for
the restoration of their house to the throne of Maisur, and,
when the mutiveers took possession of the fort, the royal
flag of Maisur was hoisted on the flag-staff.

319. Results of the mutiny.—The members of Tippu’s
family were ab once removed to Caleutta. Several of the
ringleaders in the mufiny were execnted; others were
dismissed the service. The new regulations were can-
celled, and the Governor of Madras and the Commander-
in-Chief were recalled to England.

320. Mmssionarles Interdicted.—Religions _interfer-
ence with the sepoys had led to this mutiny. Sir George
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Barlow deemed it right, in the interests of the Company
to stop the labours of Carey, Ward and Marshman, the
distingnished missionaries of Serampore, lest they too
should be eonsidered as interfering, with the religious
beliefs of the people. He was evidently unable to see
the difference between a Goverument forcing a change
of religion on a country, and private individuals preach-
ing a new religion or discussing religions  questions with
the people. )

Lord Minto, who had been President of the Board of
Control, was sent out as Governor-General, and Sir George
Barlow was appointed Governor of Madras.

CHAPTER XVIIL

‘Lorp Mixro: 1807 A-‘h 1o 1813 A.D:
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Amir Khan, Mautiny at Madras,

Rise of the Sikhs. .| The Tent Contract.

Nanak Shah, The Mauritius captured.
. Gurn Govind, Renewal of the Charter,

Banda,

321, Lord Minto—1807—1813,—Lord Minto came out
to India intending to carry out the peace policy. He had
goarcely been a few weeks in Caleutta when the riot and
anarchy prevailing in Bundelkhand attracted.his attention.
Buudelkhand had been given to the English for the sup-
port of the subsidiary force at Puna. The weak Sir George
Barlow, rather thanigo to war, had allowed this fair pro-
vince to be over-run with banditti. A hundred and fifty
castles were pow held by as many chiefs, who were at
constant war with each other. Those chiefs maintained
their power by plunder and violence, and, thereby, con-
verted one of the richest provinces of India into a «desert.
Lord Minto felt such a state of affairs to be discreditable
to the English Government, and gave notice ofhis inten-
tion to lead an army into the district. Many of ‘the petty
chiefs yielded at once, pnd when the fort of Kalinger,
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which the great Mahmad of Ghazni had failed to capture,
submitted, peace and prosperity were restored to the
district.

822. Amir Khan,—Other circnmstances arose that
compelled Lord Minto to abandon the non-intervention
policy. Amir Khan an adveotorer, had raised himself to be
chief of the Patans, and possessed the will, if he had had
the ability, to re-establish the Afghan anthority in the
country. In the name-of Holkar he claimed from the
Raja of Barar certain jewels that the Raja had reeeived
from him, and invaded the country to enforce his demands.
He was defeated by the Raja’s troops, and, when he heard
that Lord Minto had despatched a force to the Raja’s aid,
ke quickly returned to Indor.

823. The French scare.—Dauring this *time fear of a -
French invasion seized the Government, and embassies
were sent to Kabul and Teheran to conclude treaties, by
which the French should not be allowed to march through
Persia and Afghanistan, . But, as the French, scare died
away, nothing came of those. It was otherwise with an
embassy that was sent to the Sikh chief, Ranjit Singh,
¢ The Lion of Lahor.” And here it may be well to trace

“ the rise of the Sikh power. R

824. RiseoftheSlkhs~The word Sikh means disciple
or devoted follower. The Sikhs were originally a religious
gect. the followers of their founder, Nanak Shah. Nanak
Shah was born in 1469. From childhood ke gave himself
much up to devotion} and to practising sausterities. He
visited almost all the sacred places in India and went even
to Mecca. He hegan to preach about 1490. He was more
a reformer than the setter up of a new religion. Hisgreat
aim was to reconcile the two great faiths of the Hindus
and the Muhammadans in one religion. He ealled on the
Hindus to cast aside their idols and return to the worship
of the one God. He called on the Muhammadans to abstain
from killing the cow and to desist from religious persecu-
tion. Love to God and love to our fellowmen was the docr
trine he inculcated. The third Gura, or ¢ spiritaal leader,’
after Nanak Shah, was murdered by the Maohammadans
in 1606. The Sikhs, who up tothis time had been an in-
offensive peaceable sect, took to arms under Har,Govind,a
son of the muordered Gura, and nnmercifully pab to death

L4
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every one that they suspected of being concerned in the
murder. From this time, the Sikhs began to form them-
selves into bands of eoldiers, and, when Tegh Bahadur,
the ninth Garu, also fell a victim to the Mubammadan
persecution, Guru Govind, his son, who was the tenth and
last Guru, formed them into a natian of warriors. He
saw that to contend successfully with the Muhammadans,
the way must be left open for all clagses of the Hindu
commanity to join his standard. He, therefoxs, abolished
all caste distinction. All that subscribed to his creed
were on & level, and advancement depended on merit.
He changed the name of his followers from Sikh to Singh,
‘lion;* thus giving them the honorable title hitherto
granted only to Rajputs. All Gurz Govind’s disciples
were required Always to carry steel in some shape or other;
to wear a blue dress ; to allow their bair to grow ; and to
exclaim, when they met each other, “Success to the state
of the Guru! Victory attend the Gurun.” The Sikhs,
henceforth, instead of acting on the defensive as they had
done under Har Govind, began to propagate their faith hy
the sword, Many were the battles fought between them
and the Muhammadans. But in 1708 Gurn Govind’s
forces were utterly broken up, and he had to flee under
cover® of the night from Chamkour. His children were
massacred, his followers mutilated in the most cruel way,
and he, himself, was forced to lead the life of a wanderer.
On the death of Guru Govind, Banda, a great friend of
the Guru, took up arms. Gathering the scattered Sikhs
together, he entered Sarhind, avenged the massacre of
Grovind’s family by putting the governor, his family and
almost all the inhabitants of Sarhind to the sword. He
polluted all the mosqgues of the city, and subdued all the
country between the Satlej and the Jamna. Banda was
subsequently defeated by the Emperor and pub to a
borrible death. The Sikhs wete hunted like wild beasts
from one fort to another, and every means was taken, not
only to destroy their power, bnt to exterminate the race.
A proclamation was issued from Delhi ordering the death
of all professing the faith of Nanak, and offering a reward
for every Sikh head. The few Sikhs that escaped this
order fled fo the hills in the north.east of the Panjab.
Nothing more was heard of them for thirty years, when
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they suddenly issued from their fastnesses and seized
some of the plunder Nadir Shah was carrying
1738 off to Persia. From that time the Sikhs formed
AD. themselves into'a kind of republic. There were
. many chiefs, each with his followers; but, at
their Guru-Mata or national conneil, a military leader
was always selected, Their history for many years
is one of varying success. At one time we find them
masters of Lahor ; at another time we read of them being
defeated with a loss of twenty-thousand men by Ahmad
Sbah. On the death of that Afghan monareh, dissen-
sions broke ont at Kabul, and, as the House of Timur
had fallen from its proud position in India, the Sikbs,
with determined courage and indomitable perseverance,
again, over-ran and conquered Lahor and Sarbind. But
they were no longer the united body they had been
under Guru Govind. Every chief was desirous of increas-
ing his own power and, territory. This led to contis
nual internal wars. And, when in 1805 Holkar, fleeing
before Lord Lake, sought their assistance, only
1805 a few of the chiefs attended the Guru-Mata that
AD. was summoned, and those that were absent,
threatened to resist any resolution this Council
(which was the last that was held), should decide on.

325. Ranjit Singh of Lahor.—The most powerful
chief -at that time was Ranjit Singh. He had assisted
Zaman Shah, when he entered the Panjab in 1799 and,
in return, had been rewarded by a grant of the town of
Lahor. He had gradunally extended his power, until hig
authority was acknowledged thronughout the Panjab as far
as the Satle]. Between the Satlej and the Jumna lay the
province of Sarhind, which for the most part was under
Sikh chieftains. Ranjit Siogh claimed authority over
them, and they applied to the English for protection. It
was on this account, as also to secure an alliance with
Ranjit Singh, that Mr. (afterwards Lord) Metcalfe was
sent to Labor. The mission was wholly saccessful. A
treaty * to establish perpetnal amity between the British
Government and the state of Lahor” was concluded ; and
80 high an,opinion did Ranjit Singh form of the English
from the bearing of young Metcalfe, that, until his death

in 1839, be remained their constant and firm ally. The
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Sikh states between the Satlej and the Jumna were taken
under the protection of the English, and a garrison was
left at Ludhiana. Thus, after six years, the policy of the
Marquis of Wellesley was again adpoted, and the British
standard advanced from the Jumna to the Satlej. '

326. Mutiny at Madras.—Meanwhile, Sir George Bar-
low had been making himself very unpopular at Madras.
He had been called on by the Court of Directors to reduce
expenditure in that Presidency. He, therenpon, proceed-
ed to abolish the Tent Contract, by which the officers
were furnished with a fixed monthly allowance for provid-
ing tent equipage to their regiments whether they were
in the field or not. The officers mutinied and encouraged
the men in rebellion. A Skirmish actnally took place
between a mutinous regiment marching to Seringapatam
and a body of faifhful sepoys and English troops. Lord
Minto axrived at Madras, and by energy and tact put down
the mutiny. Sir George Barlow was recalled.

827. The Mauritius captured.—There was peace in
India during Lord Minto’s administration. But as the
Indian trade was being greatly interfered with by French
men of war from the Mauritins and Bourbon, expeditions
were fitted out, and those islands were captured. The
Manritins still belong to the English; but Bourbon was
restored to France in 1814. Lord Minto returned to
England in 1813, and died the same year.

328. Renewal of the Charter.—In 1793, the Com-
paony’s Charter had been renewed for twenty years. It
now came np again for consideration and was
again renewed for other twenty years.. Trade 1813
with India was thrown open to the whole nation.  a.p
The Company were allowed to have the monopoly
of the trade only with China. The interdict on mission-
aries was removed.
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CHAPTER XIX.
Tae Marquis o HasriNs (Loep Morra).
1813 a.p. 1o 1823 a.p.
War wite Nepan. 1814 a.n. 1o 1816 a.p.

Nepal. : Kumann conquered.
‘The Ghurkas. Sir David Ochterlony.
Awmar Singh. Battle of Makwanpur.
Maloun taken. Peace declared,

829. The Marquis of Hastlngs.—When Earl Molra,
better known by his subsequent title, the Marquis of
Hastings, landed at Calcutta, there was peace in India;
but it was like the calm that often precedes the storm.
Within a very short time wars were raging from Madras
to the Himalayas, from Orissa to Gajarat.

8380. War In Nepal.—The first war was in Nepal. The
valley of Nepal is sitnated in the southern slopes of the
Himalayas. It is bounded on the south by & lower range
of the mountains from whose base stretches the broad
belt of marshy plain known as the Tarai, which shuts
Nepal off from Hindustan. From a remote period this fertile
valley had been inhabited by an industrious and peaceful
Hindu people called Newars, who devoted themselves to
trade and commerce, and, in religion, wera followers of
Buddha. Bat about 1767, ten years after the battle of
Plassey, a race of Rajputs and gra.hmans from Kashmir,
who called themselves Ghurkas, over-ran this happy valley,
massacred every Newar of distinetion, committed the mosé
horrible atrocities on the inhabitants generally, and ook
posseseion of the land. The Ghurkas formed themselves
into & nation of warriors and began to make raids on all
the territories around them. They had the daring even
to invade Tibet and plunder the temples of the sacred
town to Lassa. But this brought vin upon them a large
army from, China, which forced- them to restore their
plunder and to pay tribute. They invaded British terri.
tory and gradually absorbed ome village after another.

. ! ¢
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Sir George Barlow and Lord Minto had remonstrated in
vain ; but rather than go to war they both had allowed
the Ghurkas to remain in possession of the lands they
had stolen. It was calenlated that, during -the quarter
of a century preceding the arrival of Lord Hastings,
a8 many as two hundred British villages had been added
to Nepal. Finally, the Ghurkas claimed and annexed two
large territories in Oudh, and as there was no donbt that.
those belonged to the British, Lord Minto, before his de<
parture, called on the authorities at Khatmandu to restore
the territories, otherwise war would be declared. Lord
Hastings had succeeded Lord Minto, before an answer was
received, and, as thé Nepal Government again asserted their
right to the territories, Lord Hastings fixed a day when
they must be given np to the English. The day passed.
The Nepal Government remained obstinate. An army
was at once ordered to tfke possession of the district:
This had a wonderful effect on the leaders of the Ghurkas.
They summoned a council. Amar Singh, their most
renowned general, declared against going to war. “ Fight-
ing against the Newars,” he said, “ was like hunting deer.
but fighting against the Eoglish would be like battling
with tigers,” Bhim Sein Thapa, the chief minister, held a
different opinion. Alexander the Greatcould not pevetrate
the fastnesses of the mountains. The English had not been
able to capture!Bhartpar, which was but the work-of men’s
bands. How then could they reduce their strongholds
which were the work of the great Creator ? Instead of
yielding, the Ghurkas must extend their frontier to the
Ganges. War was resolved on. In true Ghurka fashion,
an army was at once sent into the distriet that

had been taken possession of by the English, and 1814
when they had killed eighteen policemen, they  a.p.
retorned to their stronghold in the mountains.

831, Capture of Maloun.—Four British divisions,
amounting in all to thirty thousand men, with sixty
guns, entered Nepal at four different points. The eastern
column advanced on the capital Khatmandu ; the western
colnmn on the Satlej; and the other two between
those. The operations of the year 1814 were anything but
successful. One of the divisions commanded by General
Gillespies the hero of Vellore, advanced against the

»



192 BRITISH INDIA.

fortress of Kalinga and fried to take it by storm. Bub
" it was repulsed and the brave bat full-hardy commander
was killed. An attempt was pext made to take the fort
of Jaytak, but without success. The division of the army
acting on the east fled before the Gharkas. It was
different with tbe division in the west, which was com-
manded by General David Ochterlony. He was a General
of the Clive stamp. He had acted under Sir Eyre Coote
against. Haidar Ali, and had gallantly defended Dehli
when attacked by Jaswant Rao Holkar. The work
assigned to him was the capture of Maloun. This for-
tress was sitnated high up the Himalayas, on a shelf of
the mountain, with steep precipices of two thousand feet
on two of its sides. Three ranges of hills, with deep
-valleys between, had to be crossed before Maloun could be
reached, and on each range were strong fortresses. The
Ghurka army "was ander Amhr Singh, the general that
had declared against going to war. The difficalties
General Ochterlony had to overcome were enormous.
He had to march an army up those mountains; slong
narrow passes and precipices, and through intricate defiles;
to make roads by blasting rocks and knocking down
- obstructions ; and to drag his heavy guns with him. For
five months, with extraordinary patience and daring, in
the face of snow-storins and tempests, he pressed on,
taking fort after fort, until he reached Maloun. The
Ghurkas, entrenched behind stockades, fought with the
utmost valour. The British charged with the bayownet,
drove the enemy before them and secared the outposts.
Amar Singh then came to terms, surrendered the fort,
and was allowed to depart with the hononrs of war.

382. Battle of Makwanpur.—On the fall of Maloun,
_Jytak surrendered. On the east, the Ghurkas were
defeated near Almora, and Kumaun was conquered.
Bhim Sein Thapsa, thereupon, was glad to sue for peace.
The terms offered were, that all the conquests of the
Ghurkas west of the Kali, should be surrendered, together
with the whole Tari, and that a resident should be
received at Khatmandua. Amar Siogh, who had arrived
at Khatmandu, advised the Regent to refuse such terms,
and to fight to the bitter end. The war was renewed.
General, now Sir David Ochterlony, was appointed to the

. e
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command. The Ghurkas were defeated at Makwanpur,
and the fort of Harlharpur was captured.

338. Peace of Sigaull.—Sir David Ochterlony then
advanced to Khatmandu. Bat the defeat at Makwanpur
hasso mach alarmed the Nepal Government, that
they hastened to comply with Lord Hastings’ 1816
former terms, and = peace was concluded at  a.p.
" sigaull. In the territories taken by the English
are now sitnated the hill stations of Simla, Masuri,
Landour and Naini Tal. -

.

CHAPTER XX.
Tare MarQuis or Hastings. Tar Pinpapr Was.
1813 a.p. To 1823 a.D.

The Pindaris, Treaty with Sindia.

Chitu and Kharim Khane Peace with Amir Khan,
Their mode of warfare. War with Holkar, -
Hastings resolves on war. Battle of Mahidpur.

Plan of the campaign. ) Extirpation of the Pindaris.

334. Rise of the PIndaris—While Sir David Ochter+
lony was bringing the war in Nepal to a close, the Pin-
daris made incursions into British territories. The origin
of the Pindaris is lost in obscurity. They first come into
notice as a low class of free-booters attached to the Mah-
ratta armies daring the wars of the eighteenth centary.
Their object was universal plunder. They were bound to
no chief, except to him who for the time held oat the
highest prospects of rich booty. They were the off-scour-
ings of the Hindus and the Muhammadans and were bound
together by only one tie—that of plunder. On the con-
clasion of peace with the Mahrattas, they continued their
ravages under two notorious leaders, named Chitu and
Kharim Khan. At one time, we read of them making
depredations in Rajputana, at another making raids into
the territories of Holkar and Sindia, and again, entering
the Dakhan and plondering the territories of the Nizam
and the Raja of Nagpur. They generally - invaded a
country in bands of from one to four thousand, ard, when
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they crossed the frontier, they divided off into small
parties of two or three hundred. They advanced with
such rapidity that their entrance into and plander of a
village were the first news the unfortanate villagers had
of their approach. They took no tents nor baggage with
them. They carried only their arms, and they slept on
their gaddle cloths. Both men and horses were accustomed
s make long marches. They never halted except to
refresh themselves, or to plander or commit the vilest
atrocities on women. They lived on the grain they obtained
ig passing through the country. All that they found of
value in the villages they either carried off with them or
destroyed. On Lord Hastings’ arrival in India in 1813
there were no fewer than fifty thousand of those Pindari
robbers living by plunder in Central India.

835. Hastings resolves to extirpate the Pindaris.
In 1815 twenty-five thousand of those Pindaris entered
the Madras Presidency and destroyed over three hundred
villages on the Coromandel coast. Another band swept’
the Nizam’s kingdom, while a third entered Malabar.
Other Pindari raidds on English territory followed in
1816-17. Lord Hastings saw that there never could be
peace or security in India till this predatory people shonld
be extinguished. To lead an army against them in the
kope of engaging them in a regular battle was not to be
thought of. To utterly crush this people they must be
surrounded and hemmed in, so that they could have no
means of escape. Tho Mahratta powers were knmown to
look with a kindly eye on the Pindaris. Lord Hastings
fnade preparation, therefore, not only to extirpate the
Pindaris, but also fo sottle thoss Mahratta powers.

886. Plan of the campalgn.—Lord Hastings called
together the armies of the three Presidencies, numbering
in all about one hundred and twenty thonsand strong, by
far the largest army the English had ever put into the.
field. General Hislop, with the Madras army, was to cross
the Narbada and drive the Pindaris north towards the
Chambal, where the Governor-General, himself, at the head
of the Bengal army, would be waiting to receive them.

337. Peace with Sindla and Amir Khan.—Means
while, the relations between the \English and Sindia,
Holkar and Amir Khan must be settled. They three
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were known to be well disposed towards the Pindaris, and
they harboured them in their territories. Sindia, especial-
ly, was secretly intrigning with the Peshwa and the Nepal
Ministry to form a combination against the English. His
correspondence with Nepal was intercepted and presented
to him in open Darbar. Sindia was undone. He was
. forced to enter into & treaty, by which he pledged himself
to assist the English against the Pindaris, and to prevent
any new gangs being formed in his territory. The
territory of Ajmir was ceded to the English so as to
strengthen their influence in Rajputana, Negotiations
were next opened with Amir Khan, who agreed to disband
his army, to sell his guns to the English, to prevent any
predatory gangs from being formed ia his territory and to
oppose the Pindaris, In return he was confirmed in the
jaghirs he had received from Holkar, He became a feuda~
tory prince, the fonnder of & Muhammadan dynasty, which
_is still represented by the Nawab of, Tonk in Rajputana.
338. Holkar subdued.—Holkar’s territories were in
a different condition., Jaswant Rao had pgone mad, and
after his death, Tulsa Bal, the queen-mother, who acted
as regent for the yonng prince, Mulhar Rao Holkar, was
at the mercy of the ermy. The military leaders resolved
to wage war agaiust the English and advanced to Mahid=
pur. Tulsa Bai was with the army and was anxzious to
make friends with the English, who, under Sir Thomas
Hislop, had moved up to give battle. Her troops, infuriat-
ed at her, carried her to the banks of the river, cut off
ber head and cast her mutilated body into the stream,
Sir John Malcolm led the English army to the attack.
Holkar’s artillery did great execution; but the sepoys, not-
withstanding the heavy fire, continued steadily to advance.
‘The batteries were taken. Holkar’s infantry fled, and the
cavalry, who had remained inactive, galloped off the field.
The entire camp, with sixty-three guns and a large
quantity of ammunition, fell into the hands of the
victors. Holkar was glad to sue for peace. Certain 1818
territories were ceded to the English. The grants  A.D. -
already made to Amir Khan were confirmed.
Holkar’s state. was made a subsidiary state under
British protection. In other respects the young Mulhar
Rao Holkar was treated as en independent prince, subject
. »
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to the advice of a British Resident. Thisis known as the
Treaty of Mandeswar. .
. 339. Extirpation of the Pindaris.—The position of
- the Pindaris was now desperate. They had expected the
Mahrattas to help them ; but now no Mahratta would dare
to give them even a place of shelter for their families.
Kharim and Chitu had still twenty-three thousand men
between them, but what was such a force as this against
the armies with which they were surrounded ? In what-
ever direction they turned they were met by the English
forces. Defeat followed defeat. One gang made their
escape to the south leaving all their baggage behind them.
Many fled to the jungles and perished miserably. Others
songht refuge in the villages, and the villagers, mindful
of the sufferings they had inflicted on them, killed them
without mercy. Kharim surrendered, and received a
small state beyond the Ganges in Gorakpur. Chitu was
" hunted by Sir John Malcolm from place to place, till, with-_
out a follower left, he plunged into the jungle
1819 near Asirgarh and was devoured by atiger. The
aD.  fort of Asirgarh was taken by General Doveton.
Those of the Pindaris, who survived, mingled
with the population, and within a very few years no trace
of their once dreadful gangs was to be found.

CHAPTER XXI.

Tae Marquis oF HasTings. OVERTHEEROW oF THE PEsnwas.
1813 a.p. 10 1823 A.D.

Trimbakji Dainglia. Office of Peshwa abolisked.
Murder of Gangadhar Sastri.; { Death of Baji Rao.

Treaty of Puna. The Raja of Satara hands over
Battle of Kharki. the Government to tke
Appa Sahib of Nagpur. English.

Battle on the Sitabaldi Hills. Effects of the conquest.

‘Nagpur annezed. Lord Hastings retarns to -
Battle of Koregam. England.

340. Ever since the treaty of Basin (1802) Baji
Rao, the Peshwa, had maintained an English subsidiary
L ]
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force at Puna. He had no love for the English and wounld
gladly have dispensed with this force. - But to maintain
it was to him a necessary evil ; for, withount it, he had no
security of maintaining his position against the other
Mahratts leaders. For ten years he oppressed. all the
smaller chiefs that had taken up arms against his house,
and by extortion and miserliness amassed a fortune of
five crores of rupees. :

. 841, Trimbakji. Dainglla~—~ About 1813 Trimbakji
Dainglia rose to notice at this court. He was originally a
spy; but, by his ability, and by pandering to the Peshwa’s
vices, he gained & eomplete ascendancy over his mind.
He hated the English with the intensest animosity, and.
induced Baji Rao to intrigné with Sindia and Holkar to
overthrow the English and to reanite the Mahrattas under
the Peshwa’s anthority. He next -tnrned: to Gujarat.
There was a dispute between the Peshwa and the Gaik-
war as o the possession of Ahmadabad. . Gangadhar °
Sastrl, the Gaikwar’s Prime-minister, nnder the guarantee
of English protection, was sent to Pupa to settle the
dispute. At the instigation of Trimbakji, the Sastri was
murdered whex leaving the sacred shrine of Pandharpur.:
The murder of such a distinguished Brahman under such
circumstances produced the greatest exeiterment.. Mounts
stuart Elphinstons, the British Resident, demanded the
-snrrender of Trimbakji, and he was sent as a prisoner to
the fort of Thana on the island of Salsette. Within a
year he made his escape. A fellow countryman took
service as a horse-keeper under one of the English officers
in the fort, and, as he led his master’s horse up and down
under the window of Trimbakji’s cell, he sang a Mahratta
song telling him how he might gain his freedom. Trim-
bakji got over the walls, was joined by a company of horse-
mon that were waiting for him, and fled for refuge to the
Blils in Khandesh. Large sums of money were secretly
sent to him by the Peshwa, and he used it in raising forces
to act against the English. Elphinstone remonstrated,
and finally forced Baji Rao to sign a treaty at Puna,
compelling him to cede Ahmadnagar and other territory,
to deliver mp Trimbakji, and to hold no communication
with any power but the English. :

- 842. Battle of Kha:kl.—-—Bnt Baji Rao had no inten~
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tionof abiding By the Treaty of Puna.. He sct out ostensibly
on a pilgrimage to varions sbrines, and returned to Puna
- with an enormous number or cavalry in his pay. He began
to repair hig fortresses and to serengthen his garrisons,
Elphinstone was not deceived as to Baji Rao’s hostile in-
tentions, but as he did not wish to hasten a rupture, he
prepared very cantiously for his defence. He removed
the British forces, which consisted of two thousand sepoys
and eight hundred Europeans, from Puna to Kharkl, a
village four miles distant. He himself followed. That
very day the Mahrattas 'under Baji Rao and his Com-
mander-in~Chief, Bapu Gokla, attack the British force
at Kharki. Though the Mahratta army numbered eighteen
thousand horse, and eight thousand foot, with fourteen
pieces of artillery, they were easily defeated. The same
might the Resideney was burned. A force under General
Smith wae, meanwhile, on its way back to Pans, and on
"its approach Baji Rao lost heart and fled,

848. Nagpur taken by the English~—Meanwhile, the
Raja of Nagpur had been secretly intrigning with the
Peshwa. Raghuji Bhonsle died in 1816. Appa Sahib wag
appointed regent and finally became Raja. To secure the
ald of the Evglish he entered into a subsidiary treaty.
Notwithstandiog this, he secretly took part in the con-
spiracy to overthrow the English, With true Mahratta
eunning he went to Mr. Jenkins when he heard of the
Residency at Puons haviog been burned, and denounced
Baji Rao’s ingratitude ; while at the same time he himself
was plotting to act similarly against Mn, Jenkins. He
secretly accepted the honorary title of commander of the
Peshwa’s army, and on the 25th Novemben he prepared
to attack the residenoy at Nagpur. The residency was

sitnated on the Sitabaldi Hills. There were no

1817 European troops there as there had been ab

a.p. Kharki. The sepoys, however, fought with the

, £ preatest bravery; and the Bengal cavalry under

Captain Fitzgerald oharged the enemy with sach force

that they fled before them. Another army of Mahrattas

had, meanwhile, been defeated at Jubbulpur. Appa Sahih
was arrested and sent to Allahabad; but on the way he

" made his escape, and for many years he was a fugitive

4n the Vindhya and Satpura mountains, He finally found
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refuge in Jodhpur. A grandson of Raghuji was placed
on the throne, and on his dying without issne in 1853
Nagpur was annexed to the British possessions.

844. ‘The Reshwa deposed.—The Peshwa bad still
about thirty thousand men with him. ‘With these he fell
on a detachment of sepoys mnder Captain Stannton at
~ Koregam. The sepoys were wearied with a long
. night’s march, and they could obtain neitherfood 1818
nor water. Their only hope of safety was in  aw.

giving battle. During the whole day the battle

raged, Staunton and Dr. Wyllle leading on the men with
the greatest bravery. At nightfall the spixit of the enemy
was broken. Next day they refused to renew the battle
and disappeared. Baji Rao fled to the Karnatic. Satara
wag taken (10th Febroary 1818), A proclamation was
issued, declaring that Baji Rao and his family were exclud-
ed from all share in the Government, Baji Rao at last
surrendered, A pension of eight lakhs of rupees per
annum wag granted to him, Bithaur, nesr Cawnpur,
was given him a8 a residence. He died in January 1851,
Trimbakj# was captured and retained as & prisoner in
Chunar till his death. Aften the surrender of Baji Rao,
the Raja of Satara was restored and seated on the throne
by the British authorvity. He immediately issued a pro«
clamation giving over the government to the British
Resident. All the Mahratta country was soon thereafter.
pubdued.

848. Results of the war.—The policy of the Marquis
of Hastings was not altogethen approved of in England.
But the resnlts have shown the wisdom of it. The centre

-of India, which for half a century had been a scene of
arnarchy and rapine and bloodshed, was now restored ta
peace and order. Villages that bad been plundered and
destroyed were restored, and fertile fields that had been
made & desert soon waved with golden corn. Liord Hastinga’
returned to England in 1823, He willalgaya be remembered
a8 the Governor-General that carried ont the Marquis of
Wellesley’s policy to its legitimate conclusion, and firmly
established the British Government as the Paramonnt
Powey in India.




200 BRITISH INDIA.

CHAPTER XXII.

Lorp Amperst. Tae First Borvese Wag.

1823 a.p. 10 1828 A.D.

Barmeee war. Sepoy mutiny.

Rangoon taken. Jat Rebellion.

Battle of Pagan. Bhartpur captured.

Peace of Yendabu. Resuits of the fall of Bhartpur,

346. Lord Amherst, who succeeded the Marquis of
Hastings, had scarcely assumed the reins of Government.
when he found himself involved in a discussion with the
Court of Ava. About 1753 Alompra, an adventarer like
Haidar Ali, had rescned Burma from the yoke of Pegu and
founded a dynasty at Ava. Since then the Government of
Ava had been going on steadily adding to its territories. -
In 1787 it annexed the independent state of Arakan, and
treated the inhabitants so cruelly, that thousandp fled for
protection into British territory. The Government of Ava
demanded that those fugitives should be surrendeved.
Successive Governors-General had refused to do so. In
order to avoid war, if possible, they had sent several mis~
sions to the Burmese conrt, but those missions had been
interpreted by the Burmese as a sign of fear. Each suc-
cessive mission had been treated with more indigunity than
its predecessor, and the language of the Court had become
‘more and more insolent. In 1822 Maha Bandula, the
great national hero, over-ran and annexed Assam and
entered Cachar. This, together with the aniform success of
the Burmese arms during the previous fifty years, so puffed
them up with pride, that from the king to the beggar the
whole community was anxious to go to war with the
English, of whose power they knew absolutely nothing.

847. Origin of "the Burmess war~The Burmese
were not long in giving effect to this determination They
claimed the island of Shahpurt which had always been
considered as belonging to the Company, and sent a thou-
sand men, who took possession of the island- Maha
Baundala was sent into Argkhan to :h-.ive the English out of .
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Bengal and to bring the Governor-General &\ Ava, w@
in golden chains which he took with him fo: &
Lord Amherst, anxious to avoid war, addresse
the king. In reply,the Governor-General was informe
no further communication should be sent to the ““ golden
feet,” but that he might sent a petition to Maha Bandula.
War was declared 24th February 1824. An expedition
was fitted out under the command of Sir Archibald
Campbell and sailed for Rangoon. The Burmese proved
a most despicable enemy. At the first discharge
of the British guns the Burmese soldiers tookto 1824
flight, and the inbabitants of Rangoon retired to  a.D.
. the jungles, taking -with them their flocks and
herds and stores of grain. When the British troops Janded
they found the town deserted. The rain setting in, they
had to remain in Rangoon and obtain their supplies from
Madras and Calcutta. At Ramu, in Chittagong, Bandula
annihilated a small body of sepoys that were sent to guard
the frontier. On the arrival of the British troops at
Rangoon, -Bandula was recalled to take the command
" against them, In December he appeared at the head of
sixty thousand men. The DBritish force was soon surround-
ed with stockades.. The Burmese burrowed themselvesin
holes they dug behind those. The British took the stock-
. ades by storm and Maha Bandula fled to Donabu. There
he collocted his scattered army, and constructed stockades
and other defence works. Karly in 1825 the British
force advanced up the river. On their arrival before
Donabu a fow' shells were fired. Next day the heavy
guns were brought into position and began to play upon
the Burmeso camp. But there was no response. Bandula
“had been Lilled by one of the shells fired the night before.
The courage of the troops had failed them, and they were
gone. Prome fell withont a blow. At Pagahn a Burmese
army of eighteen thonsand strong was put toflight
by two thousand British troops. The success of 1826
the fereigners struck terror into the people. The  a.n.
Burmese began to look npon them as demons that
were invincible, Stories were spread abroad that the
English fonght in spite of ghastly woands, and that they
had doctors, who, after the battle, picked np arms and
legs and replaced them on the rightful owners,
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348. Peace of Yendabu.—The king was forced to
sue for peace. At Yendabu a treaty was signed,
1826 by which the king of Ava agreed to cede Assam,
AD. Arakan and Tennasertm to the Company, to
pay a crore of rupees towards the expenses of the

war, and to receive a British Minister at his Court.

849. Sepoy Mutiny.—A matiny of sepoys broke ont
- ab Barrackpur in connexion with this war. The mutineers
were quickly surrounded, and on their refusing to march
were fired on and sabred by the European troops. Many
were killed on the spot, and several of the ringleaders
were afterwards tried and executed. .

850. Political Importance of the Burmese war—
The first Barmese war waa not in iteelf an event that could
cause any alarm to the English Government. Bat the
varions States in India had not yet had time fo settle
quietly down under the mew Government under which
they had been placed by Lord Hastings. There were still
many Mahrattas, Jats, Pindaris and Rajputs, who wounld
be ready ab any signal to join a powerful leader, if any
prospect of final success presented itself. The course of
events in Burma was, therefore, watched by the natives
with the greatest interest, and the news of the defeat at
Ramu, was known in the bazaars before it reached the
Council Chamber. :

851. Difficulties at Bhartpur.—~Suddenly a difficulty
arose in the Jat state of Bhartpur, which had been under
British protection from the time of Lord Wellesley. The
Raja died in 18235, leaving a son named Bulwant Singh.
He was only seven years of age, and his uncle was
appointed to act as regeut. But a cousin of the boy
Raja, having gained over the army, put the regent to
death, cast the little prince into prison and ascended the
throne. Sir David Ochterlony was the British Resident
at Dehli. Ho at once recognized what a dangerous effect
this would have on the whole of India if not at once put
down, and ordered a British force to advance against the
usurper and support the rights of the infant prince. Lord
Awmberst, however,countermanded the advance. SirDavid
Ochterlony, therenpon, resigned, and died some iwo
wonths after,

852. Capture of Bhartpur.—The result of Lord
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Amherst’s action was to give courage and boldness to the
usnrper, who now declared he would hold Bhartpur in
defiance of the Governor-General. Jats, Pindaris and
others flocked to his standard. Yord Amherst saw the
mistake he had made, and the Council at Caleuntta were
unanimous for war. To engage in an attack on Bhartpur
was an important affair. Bhartpur had successfully with-
stood the attacks of the English before. It was looked
upon as impregnable. Where the English to fail

again to take 1t, their power might be shaken in 1826
India. Should it fall before them, their power  a.p.
would be more firmly establish than ever. An

army nnder Lord Combermere advanced to Bhartpur. The
heavy artillery made little impression on the mud walls,
and the commander resolved to mind them. Ten thon-
sand pounds of powder were put into the mine, The train
was fired. A terrific explosion was heard. Vast masses
of bardened clay and rock were sent flying into the air
The British force rashed into the breach and bayonetted
the defenders. The fortress that had withstood Lord
Lake was captured. , The usurper was imprisoned and the
young Raja re-established on the throne.

CHAPTER XXIII.

Lorp WiLLiaM BeNTINCE—Social Rerorms.
1828 ap. T0 1835 A.p.

Coorg annexed. Changes in the Company’s
Affairs in Maisur. Charter.

Reforms. Russian intrigues.

Abolition of Sati, Treaty with Ranjit Singh.

858, - Lord Willlam Bentinck.—Lord William Ben.
tinck was the next Governor-General, Twenty-two years
before this he had been .Governor of Madras, and had
been recalled, becanse he had sanctioned the changes in
the army regulations that led to the Vellore mutiny. His
administration was not rendered famous by any great war ;
but the reforms, social and judicial, that he introduced
into the country, mark the seven years of his rule 48 ome-
of the brightest periods in the history of India.

s
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354. Coorg annexed.~~Both Coorg and Maisur were
being shamefully misgoverned, and Lord William Bentinck
was forced to interfere. The Raja of Coorg was mad and
was inflicting the most cruel barbarities on his subjects.
The English deposed the Raja, sent him as a prisoner to
Benares, and, “ in consideration of the unanimons wish of
the people,” annexed the territory. =~ )

3855. WMalsur put under English administration.—
On the downfall of Tippu, & Child of the former dynasty
was placed on the throne of Maisur. Daring his minority
the country was well governed by an able minister, named
Purnia. But the young Raja, when only sixteen years of
age, took the government into his own hands, quickly

squandered his treasares, and, when the treasury was:

empty, oppressed his subjects. In 1830 the people
revolted. The English Government sent a force to put
down the rebellion, and, when -peace was restored, took
the management of the couniry into their own hands,
giving the Raja a handsome pension. In 1881 the
adopted son of the Raja was restored to the ancient
throne of Maisur. :
} 856, Reforms.—Durimg the peaceful reign of Lord
| William Bentinck the judicial courts were reformed; the
vernacular languages were substituted for Persian in all
civil and criminal courts; the extra allowances given
' to the army, when on service, were abolished ; the village
. revenune system was introduced into the North-West
Provinces ; natives were much more largely employed in the
public service. The study of English was introduced into
all government schools; and the most active measures
were taken to suppress the Thugs. Lord William Ben-
tinck also laboured fo establish steam communication
between England and Indian via the Red Sea. But of all the
reforms with which his name is associated, that by which
he will be best remembered, and for which a grateful
posterity will ever thank him, was the abolition of Sats.
3857. Changes In the Company’s Charter.~—I1n 1833

the Company’s Charter was renewed. From that time’

the Company ceased to be a trading corporation, and

became a ruling body. The monopoly of trade with China

was consequently abolished, and liberty was given to Euro-

peans to reside and trade and acquire property in India
e
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858, Treaty with Ranjit Singh.-——We have seen (para.
323), how the Government of India became afraid lest the
French should invade India by marching an army
through Persia and Afghanistan, and how embas- 1833
sies were sent to Teheran and Kabul to enterinto  A.Ds
defensive treaties with those Courts. In 1833a
new scare frightened the Government—fear of Russia,
That power had been adding considerable to its territories
in Central Asia, and was intrigning with the Afghans
against the English. It was desirable, therefore, to be on
friendly terms with the chiefs in the Panjab and the north-
west of India. Lord William Bentinck, accordingly, set
out for the Satlej in the greatest state, and had a meeting
there with Ranjit Singh, which led to a treaty being made
with him as also with the Amirs of Sind. In May 1835

-Lord William Bentinck left India.

CHAPTER XXIV.

Lorp AvuckraNp. TrE AfGHAN WA_n.
1836 A.p. To 1842 aD.

’

Disorders in Afghanistan, ' j The Khiljis revolt.

Herat attacked by the Persians,| Sir Robert Sale at Jalalabad,
The Afghan War. Uproar in Kabul.

Tripartite Treaty. Murder of Macnaghten,
Kabul taken, ) Retreat of the English,

Dost Muhammad sarrenders, War with China,

859. The kingdom -of Kabul under Ahmad Shah
Abdalli or Duorrani rose to be one of the most powerfal in
Asia. It included the greater part of Afghanistan, Kash-
mir, Balk, Herat and Sind, and contained & population of
fourteen millions. But under Shah Shuja<nl-Mulk dis-
orders broke out in the State. Mahmnud, the brother of Shah
Shuja, drove him from the throre. Mahmuod in turn was
mardered by the Barakzal tribe of Afghans, to whom he
owed his elevation. The country was, thereupon, divided
Kabul and Gbazni fell fo the lot of Dost Muhammad

18
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one of the Barakzai chieftains. Shah Shuja fled to the
English at Ludhiana. i
3860. Russianv intrigues.—Meanwhile, the Shah.of
Persia, ali the instigation of Russia, advanced
1837 against Herat with an army forty thomsand
A.p. strong. The Heratis, under an English officer
named Eldered Pottinger, gallantly defended the
town,and in the following year the Persians were forced
to retreat with disgrace into their own territories. Nor did
the Russians iotrigue with the Persians alone. Their
agents were sent to Kabunl, and under their influence
Dost Muhammad declined to enterinto a treaty with Mr.
(afterwards Sir Alexander) Burnes, who bad been sent
thither by the Governor-General with that object. .
861. Cause of the Afghan war.——The sitnation "of
affairs in Afghavistan now seemed to Lord Aunckland to be
very serions. With Afghanistan and Persia united in a
confederacy and supported by Rossia, the North-west of
India would be liable to invasion at any moment. To
preserve peace int India, it was necessary that Afghanistan
should be friendly to the English. Shah Shuja was be-
Lieved to have a larger number of sapporters in Afghanis-
tan than Dost Muobammad. It was, therefore, resolved to
: replace Shah Shaja on' the throne. A tripartite
1838 treaty was entered into between him, Ranjit Singh
A.p. and the English. “The army of the Indus” was
Aat once formed under the command of -Sir John
Kean, and set out for Afghanistan, takinig Mr. Macnaghten
“with them as British envoy at the Court of Shah Shuja.
862. The English advance.—After meeting with a
slight resistance from the Amirs of Sind, on account of
which Karachi was taken, the army proceeded under
many difficalties through the Bolan pass to Kandahar,
which' they reached in May 1839. Shah Shvja was at
once proclaimed king. But it was observed-that very fow
of the Afghan chiefs attended the ceremonies,—a certain
indication that Shah Shuja’s cause was not so popular in
Afghanistan as the British had been led to believe. While
the troops were resting at Kandahar, the news reached
them of the death of Ranjit Singh, by which both Shah
Shuja and the English lost a valnable friend.
863, Kabut taken=The British army pushed on to
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Ghazoi and captared it. On the 7th Angust, Kabul was -
reached ; and; as Dost Mohammad had fled to Bhokara,
the British army occupied the town-without resist-
ance. Within a few weeks the army wad strength- 1839
ened by a division that had advanced through . 4a.p.
the Khalbar pass, capturing Ali Masjid and
Jalalabad on its way. The object of the campaign had
now apparently been accomplished.  Shah Shuja was again
supreme in Kabul. The English had no desire for con-
quest. A great part of the army was, therefore; ordered
back to India, a small force being left under General Sale
and General Nott to garrison the country. Liberal rewards
were bestowed on the conquerors. Lord Auckland was
made Earl of Auckland; Sir-John Kean, Lord Kean of
Ghazni ; while Mr. Macnaghten and Colonel Henry Pot-
tinger were made Ba.roneé. ’ '
864. Dost Muhammad surrenders.—That portion of
the army that was sent back to India affacked Kelat
on their way, and many severe encounters took place
before the country was reduced to a state of quiet. The
last encounter was at Parwan, in the Panjshu-valley, near
the Gorband pass, where General Sale gained a complete
victory.. Dost Muhammad. then presented him-
self at the English camp with only one attendant, 1840
and surrendered. He was sent to Ludhiana and  a.p.
allowed a pension of two lakhs a year. For some
time the Afghans appeared to be satisfied with British
oecupation. Large sums of . money were distributed
amongst the chiefs, and so long as money was forthcom-
ing there was no want of loyalty to the British and Shah
Shuja. But the British could not be doling out money
for ever, and as the contributions diminished the loyalty
of the Afghans waned. The order and regularity of
British administration did not sait their wild and lawless
natures. They began to get tired of British rule : to get
tired of their nominal sovereign, Shah Shuja. Conspi-
racies were formed. Outbreaks took place. The Khiljis
and others occupying the passes, being no longer kept
friendly by bribes, gave the utmost trouble. Notwith-
‘standing all this, the. Enropeans at Kabul seemed to have
no anxiety as to their own safety. On the other hand,
the officers brought up theirwives and families from the
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plains of India, that they might enjoy the ecol climate of
Kabul.

865. The Afghans disaffected.~~The Afghans became
more and more disaffected. In October the Khilji chiefs
revolted. Sir Robert Sale left Kabul to put down the

rebellion and re-open communications with Jala-

1841 1labad. After a long struggle he forced his way

A.p.  through the passes and reached Jalalabad, but

found the place so weak that he had at once to
throw up defence works. The gallant way in which Sir
Robert Sale defended;himself in this town, when again and
sgain assailed by overwhelming pumbers, was one of the
most heroic events of the war, and gained for the defen-
ders the name of ““ The illustrious gafrison.”

.866. Insurrection at Kabul.—Meanwhile, sad events
were taking place at Kabul. The English forces, at the
request of Shah Shaja, bad removed from a strong fortress
named the Bala Hissar, where they might have been able
to hold out against any rebellion, to cantonments quite
unprotected three miles from the city. Sir Alexander
Burnes and other officers lived in the centre of the city.
On the 2nd November there was an uproar in the streets
of Kabul.  Sir Alexander Burnes and the other English
officers were besieged in their houses. They sent to the
- cantonments for a battalion of infantry and two guns. Bat
General Elphinston, an old man, who had succeeded to the
command, delayed. He was afraid to offend Shah Shuja.
From eight o’clock in the morning till two in the afternoon
Sir Alexander Burnes and thirty.two others maintained
their defence. But still no aid was sent to them. The
mob at length forced their way, and twenty-three persons
including Burnes, fell vietims to their fury., This insar-
rection in the city, which might easily have been snppress-
ed when it first broke out, spread over the country, and
the whole Afghan nation was soon up in arms against the

English.

' 867. The English In difflculties.—Brigadier Shelton
with a detachment, occopied the Bala Hissar. The British
force was five thousand five hundred strong. Had such a
force been led under an able General against the enemy,
most probably they would have been rewarded with a
victory. But in the British camp there was divided
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council. Shelton recommended " a retreat to Jalalabad.
Sir William Macnaghten urged that the army should
remain at Kabnl. And General Elpbinston did nothing.
Meanwhile, the Afghan tribes, were hurrying from all
directions to Kabul, aud hemming in the British on all
sides, Akbar Khan, theeldest son of Dost Muhammad,
put himself at the head of the Afghans. First one fort
wag taken and then another. Shelton left the Bala Hissar,
and joined the main body. Provisions were ranning
short. There was but one road by which supplies could
now be brought, and the Afghans occupied the village of
Bemaura through which this road lay. It was necessary
for tha safety of the army that this village should be taken.
Shelton was sent ont with a considerable force to storm
it. Bat the soldiers had become completely demoralized.
They fled before the Afghans and roshed back to the
cantonments in the ntmost disorder.

868. Sir Willlam Macnaghten shot—The British
army was daily pressed closer and closér. Provisions
could not be obtained. Famine must follow. Sir William
Macnaghten entered iuto megotiations with Akbar Khan.
Arrangementa were made for an interview, which was to
take place in an open epace near the cantooment. On the
23rd December, Sir William Macnaghten advanced thither,
accompanied by other three officers. Sunddenly they were
surrounded. Macnaghten was shot by Akbar Khan. His
body was hacked to pieces and his head carried away
and exposed in the bazaar of Kabul. Of the three officers,
one was killed on the spot, the other two were made
prisoners. Sach base treachery wonld have stirred up the
indignation of most armies, and raized from every lip a ery
for vengeance. Buat with this army and its leaders it was
otherwise. They wonld still put faith in Afghan promises.
They would surrender their guns and treasure to the
murderers. They would band over bostages to their care
and retire to India, trusting to Akbar Khan and his
associates to supply them with all things necessary on the
journey. - :

869. Retreat and massacre of the English.—On the 6th
January, the British forces commenced their retreat from
Kabul, leaving Shah Shaja bebind them. They still num-
bered four thonsand five hundred fighting men, with about

A
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twelve thousand camp followers. It was the middle of
winter and snow was falling. They issued from
1842 their cantonments in the most disorderly way.
aD. At two o’clock next morning the last of this strag-
gling mass reached their first place of encamp-
ment, only five miles distant from the cantonments. The
cold was severe, and several died during the night. Next
day they proceeded on their way. Then commencedaseries
of treacheries, such as are perhaps unparalleled in history.
As the retreating multitude marched through the passes,
the Khiljis maunned the heights and poured on them a des-
tructive fire. In the terrible Kurd Kabul passes as many as
three thousand perished. Akbar Khan followed in the rear
breaking every promise he had made. More hostages were
demanded by him. More hostages were given. The wives
of the officers, amongst whom were Lady Sale and Lady
Macnaghten, were handed over to Akbar Khan as the
only chance of saving their lives, General Elphinston him-
self surrendered. The remainder pressed on. Thousands
died from cold and hunger. Thousands were shot down by
the bullets of the Afghans. Some deserted to the enemy.
Of the sixteen thousand five hundred that left Kabul, only
one, a sargeon, named Brydon, smcceeded in reaching
Jalalabad, and making known the direfal tidings of the
utter annihilation of the army.

870, First Chinese War.—1840 —1842.~ During Lord
Anunckland’s administration there was war with China, con-
sequent on oatrages that bad been offered to some British
ships by the Chinese authorities, who were engaged in
putting down the smuggling of opium from India into
China. An Indian force, under Sir Hugh Gough, greatly
distinguished itself in the war, which ended in the Chinese
surrendering Hong-Kong to the British, and in four ports
being opened to British Commerce.
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CHAPTER XXYV.

Lorp ErLienBoroveH, THE ArgEAN WAR.
1842 A.p. To 1844 a.p.

General Pollock sets ont for| Warin Sind,.

Kabul, Annexation of Sind.
Akbar Khan defented. Troubles in Gwaliar.
Kabul entered in triumph. Battle of Maharajpur.
Ghazni utterly destroyed. A council of Regrency appointed.
The prigoners restored. Dangers in the Panjab.
The British army returns to
India, ‘

871. Lord Ellenborough.—The news of the sad end
of the Afghan army had reached Caloutta only a few:
weeks before Lord Ellenborough arrived there, to take
the place of Lord Auckland, as Governor-General (28th
February 1842,) The news of the treacherons marder of
the envoy and of the ntter destruction of sixteen thou.
gand men, filled every Englishmen in India with shame,
and with a desire to wipe ont the disgrace that had fallen
on the British arms. '

872. The Afghan war renewed.—General Sale, with
his illustrious garrison, was stiil holding out bravely ab
Jalalabad. Anarmy was assembled at Peshawar to proceed
to'his relief, and, under General Pollock, they entered -the
Khaibar pass. Akbar Khan, with the keen eye of 5 great
general, determined, if possible, to overthrow Sir Robert
Sale before Gieneral Pollock could come to his aid. With
an army of six thousand men, he advanced to Jalalabad,
closely besieged the town and kept up a continuoas. fire on
the -parapets. Sir Robert Sale had one thoumsand tbree
hondred and sixty infantry, with artillery and cavalry.
He resolved to give battle. The garrison issued from
the town. Captain Havelock quickly drove in Akbar’s
advance. The whole army then charged with such impet-
nosity, that Akbar’s forces gave way at all points and fled.
Their camp and tents were set on fire. Their artillery,
which incladed four gnns taken from the Kabnl army, fell
into the hands of the victors. Meanwhile, General Pollock

»
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had forced his way throngh the Kbaibar pass, and shortly
after the defeat of Akbar joined General Sale at Jalala.
bad. About the same time, General Knott, who had
been gallantly roaintaining his position at Kandahar, was
re-inforced by General England, who had led an army
through the Bolan pass.

373. Anarchy at Kabul.— Meanwhile, Kabnl was in a
state of anarchy. The supporters of Shah Shuja, (the
Durranis), were fighting against the supporters of Dost
Mohammad, the (barakzais), and Shah Shuja shut him-
self up in the Bala Hissar. The Barakzais called on Shah
Shuja to lead them against the English. He appeared
outside his fortress and was immediately shot. At this
crisis Akbar Kban arrived at Kabul, and succeeded in
writing the two factions. Shah Shuja’s son fled for
refuge to the British camp.

874. Kabutl re-taken.—About the end of Augusé the
British forces at Jalalabad and at Kandabar set out for
Kabul. The former had to pass through the Tezeen
valley, where so many of their countrymer had perished
80 miserably eight months before. The remains of their
maurdered, comrades still strewed the ground, and the sighé -
infuriated the soldiers. Akbar Khan came out to meet
them. They roshed onr his forces and drove them before
them, giving them no quaner. On the 15th September
they entered Kabul in trinmph and the British flag again
floated over the Bala Hissar. General Knott soon joined
General Pollock. On his march from Kandahar he utterly
destroyed the fortress of Ghazni.

875, The prisoners recovered.—The only anxiety the
British now had was as to the fate of the prisoners. But
this anxiety was soon allayed. Akbar Khan with his
usnal treachery had sent them off to Turkestan to be sold
asslaves. They had succeeded in bribing their keepers,
who allowed them to escape, and Sir Robert Sale had soon
the gratification of leading his wife and daunghter and the
other nnfortunate prisonera back to the British camp.,

876. Kabul bazaar destroyed.—The fortress of Istae
ufe, whither a large number of Afghans had fled, was
next stormed, and an immense amount of property that had
been carried from Kabal, was recovered. The great bazaar
ot Kabul, in which the head of Sir William Macnaghten

* .
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bad been-exposed, was blown up by gunpowder as a
punishment to the city. Nothing more remained to be
done. Vengeance had been taken for the murder of the
envoy and the massacre of the soldiers. The hononr of
the British arms had been vindicated. Shah Shuja was
dead. The army was led quietly back to India. Dost
Muobammad was set at liberty, and the 'Afghans were left
free to manage their own affairs in their own way.

377. Annexatlon of Sind.—Scarcely had the Afghan
war been brought to a close, when Lord Ellenborough
was forced to interfere in Sind. During theearly occupa- -
tion of Afghanistan by the British, the Amirs had been
friendly, but, after the retreat from Kabul, they had
shown considerable hostility. A Resident had been sent to
Haiderabad, and a subsidiary force had been stationed
within their territories against their wishes. In 1842
Sir Charles Napler was appointed to the command of the
subsidiary troops, and a treaty was concluded between
the Amirs and the Commissioner, Major Outram, by
which "the Amirs agreed to cede & certain amount of
territory, and to furnish fuel for the English steamers on
the Indus. The Amirs had most unwillingly consented
to this treaty. The day after the treaty was signed
they attacked Major Outram’s house. Sir Charles Napier
quickly brought up his forces. He defeated the
nnited armies of the Amirs at Mianl. The follow- 1843
ing month another victory, gained at Haldar~-  A.D.
abad, was followed up by the capture of Mirpur
end Amarkot (the birth-place of Akbar.) The rest of the
country was soon subdued. The Amirs were sent ag
prisoners to Benares, and Sind was annexed to the British
possessions.

878. Troubles In Gwallar.—Danlat Rao Sindia died
in 1827. His successor died in 1843, leaving a widow
only twelve years of age. She adopted a little boy, a
relative of the family, as successor. A dispute arose as to
who should be regent. The young Maharani supported
the claims of Dada Khasjt; bat Lord Ellenborough caused
one, Mama Sahib, to be appointed chief minister. Within
.three months, the young widow dismissed the nominee
of the Governor-General, and appointed Dada Khasji to
the office. The army of (‘}waliar was large out of all propor-
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tion to the’ necessities of the State, and absorbed nearly
two-thirds of the revenune. Their pay was greatly in arrears.
They bacame iusolent and tarbulent, and, as the dominant
power in the State, they might at any time prove danger-
ous to the British Government. At the same time dis-
orders bad broken out in the Panjab. There were seventy
thousand Sikhs in arms there, and they might at any time .
cross the Sutlej. Were the armies of Gwaliar and the
Panjab to unite, Hindustan might be over-ran and the
British power imperilled. To’ prevent the possibility of
such a contingency, it was necessary that peace and order
should be restored in Gwaliar, ~

An army was got ready under Sir Hogh Gough ; and the
Governor-General, himself, set out with.it from Agra. It
was thought that the mere knowledge that an English

. army was on the way to Gwaliar would be sof-
1844 ficient to induce the anthorities there to subrmit.
A.Dp. It proved otherwise. Even though thesuthorities
had had the will, they had not the power to do so. -
The chiefs and soldiers saw that their very existence de-
pended on their defeating the English and advanced to
Maharajpur. to give battle. They fought long and well,
but were finally defeated with the loss of their gnns and
ammanition. On the same day, another division of the
Gwaliar force was met at Punniar by an English army .
under General Grey, and with a similar result. The Maha-.
wani was forced to submit. The pension was allowed her. A
-<council of regency was set up, which was required to act
on the advice of the Resident. The army was reduced to
8ix thousand cavalry and three thousand infantry with'
thirty-two guns; and territory was ceded for maintaining
a contingent, henceforth known as the Gwaliar Contingent.
Since that time the Maharaja of Gwaliar has been a faith-
ful feudatory of the British Government.

379. Lord , Ellenborough recalled.—Lord Ellen~
borough was recalled. He had had mauny differences with
the Court of Directors.: -But the ability and energy he had
displayed had raised him high in the estimation of many in
India. He had vindicated the honour of his country’s name
in Afghanistan ; and suppressed a disorder in Gwaliar,
which, had it been allowed to continue for another year
aud the Gwaliar army had joined the Sikhs, would bave so

L 4
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endangered the empire of India that it could scarcely have
been saved without a miracle. »
’

CHAPTER XXVI
Lorp Haepivge. THE Firsr SIER WaE.

1844 A.p.-70 1847 .

The Khalsa, . Battle of Aliwal.

The Sikhs eross the Satlej. Battle of Subraon, . .
Battle of Mudki, The British Advance toLahor.
Battle of Firuzshahr, ; Peace concluded.

Golab Singh. N - Bocial reforms.

3880, The Khalsa—Ever since the death of Ranjit
Singh in 1839 the Pynjab- had been in a state of utter
disorder and anarchy. One murder had followed another
in the royal household. At last, Dhalip -Singh, an infant
son of Ranjit Singh, was set up as Rajs. The. chief
Sirdars formed themselves into a council of state, known
a3 the Khalsa, “the saved or liberated,” and earried on
the whole Government of the country. But the army of
the Khalsa grew turbulent. They clamoured for an in-
crease of pay and committed the grossest ontrages. The
Khalsa had to yield to the troops, and the army became:
the dominant power in: the state. The Soldiers obeyed
their officers; bat in every regiment there were punchayets
or committées of five, who directed the affairs of the
army. Guru Govind had promised that wherever five .
Sikhs were assembled he would be in the midst of them.
Hince, those Committees of five in each regiment were
considered to be directly under the gnidance of the in-
visible Guaru,.end their united opinion gunided the whole
action of the army. - ) ‘

. 88l.  The First Slkh war.—The regent mother ap.'
pointed her own brother and Lal Singh, her ministers:
but the former' offended. the Khalsa, aud was tried and
condemned to death by the punchayets. . Lal Singh
_and the regent mother were in a sad way. The soldiers
became more and more clamorous for money, aiid there
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was no money to give them. To keep them engaged,
they were sent against Mulraj of Multan, and he was
glad to purchase peace at a cost of eighteen lakhs of
rupees. This gave Lal Singh and the Mabarani only a
short respite. The Khalsa army was soon as turbulent
as ever. The only way to prevent them sacking and
plundering Lahor, was to send them across the Satlej
to plunder Dehlil and Benares. The utmost care was
taken to inflame the minds of the soldiers against the
British Government, and they met at the tomb of Ranjit
Singh to remew their vows of fidelity to the
1845 Khalsa and to the forthering its greatness. Tet
A.D, Singh wasappointedtothe commandofthe Khalsa
army. On the 11th December they crossed the
Satlej, to the number of sixty thousand eoldiers, forty
thousand armed followers with one hundred and fifty large
guns. The Sikh army bad been greatly under-rated by the
British Government. Trained as they were by Eunropean
officers, and bound together in a common religious brother-
hood, they were capable of presenting an opposition such
as no other native army had ever shown., But while the
soldiers in the army were eager to overcome the British,
Lal Singh and Tej Singh were not. They wished to see
the Sikh army crippled, for, until it was crippled, they
themselves ¢ould reyer hope to obtain the power at Lahor
they desired. Their treachery throughont the war which
followed saved Hindustan. : :

882. Battle of Firuzshahr.—When the Sikhs crossed
the Satlej, Sir John Littler was at Firuzpur with ten
thousand troops and thirty-one guns. The Sikbs might
easily have surrounded him and aunihilated his force : bat,
for some nnexplained reason, instead of doing this, their
army was divided into two parts;and Ial Singh with
thirty thonsand men and forty guns advanced to Mudkl
Meanwhile, Sir Hugh Gough, the Commander-in-Chief,
and Sir Henry Hardinge, the Governor-Geuveral, were
hurrying to the front with a large force to relieve Littler.
Sir Hugh Gough came up with Lal Singh at Mudki and
gained a doubtful victory. Next day, Sir Henry Hardinge
joined the army, and placed himself under Sir Hugh
Gough as second in command. The Sikhs bad retired
to Firuzshahr and were strongly entrenching themselves

L4
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there. Sir Hugh Gough resolved ‘to attack them. 'Leav-
ing the sick and wonnded at Mudki, he set out for Firuz.
shahr without lnggage or camp equipage. On the 2lst

KAFIRISTAN
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B Engrish Milea ""?:._.
R.AJ P UTA NA

December he arrived in front of the Sikh entrenchments,
and was strengthened by a force of five thonsand

five hundred men with twenty-two guns, which 1845
Littler had sncceeded in bringing from Firazpur, = AD.
In the afternoon the attack was made. The

British ‘were ordered to charge right np to the muzzle of
the cannon and carry the batteries at the point of, the bayo.
net. The fire of the Sikhs was overwhelming; and mowed
down the assailants as they advanced. British “ guns were
dismounted and the ammunition was blown into the air:
squadrons were checked in mid career; battalion after
battalion was hurled back with ghattered ranks, and it wag
not till after sunset that portions of the enemy’s positions

19 »
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were finally carried.” Darkness and the obstinacy of the .
contest threw the English into confusior'; and men of all
regiments and arms were mixed together. During the
early parb of the night, which has been well described as a
- night of horrors,” the Sikhs kept up a murderous fire.
At midnight the Governor-General led a division of the
army against one of their heavy guns, which he succeeded
in gpiking. The morrow was looked forward to with the .
greatest anxiety. But, unknown tothe British, there were
‘bitter quarrels and many desertions in the Sikh camp
during the night, and the trgasury of Lal Singh was plun.
‘dered by the soldiers. Next morning when Sir Hugh Gough
Ted his men to the attack, he met with a comparatively
feeble resistance. The.army that had defended their posis
tion the day before, with a courage worthy of a Roman
legion, were now, on account of the cowardice if not trea-
chery of tbeir commander, seen flying with all speed to
the Satlej. The British were thus victorious; but the
victory had been gained at & tremendous cost. ' As many
a8 two thonsand four hundred and fifteen of their army lay
-dead on the field, and of those one hundred and three were
‘officers. Sir Huogh Gough was unable to follow up his
victory. In the two battles of Mudki, and Firuzshahr, he
had lost one-fifth of his men and had exhausted his ammn- -
fitian. He was compelled, therefore, to wait for reinforce-
-ments and sapplies. This delay on the part of the British
gave the Sikhs time to gather theirscattered forces. Within
a month they again crossed the Satlej under Golab Singh
of Jammu, who had been summoned to supertede Lal
Singh. Sir Harry Smith was sent against him with a
. small force, but at Baddiwal he was out-flanked, and the
greater part of his baggage fell into the hands of the Sikhs.
This partial snccess gave confidence to the Sikhs.  Their
army waa soon strengthened by an additional fonr thousand
men. - At Aliwal they awaited the advance of Sir Harry
Smith, whose force had been increased to eleven thounsand
men. 'The Khalsa army fought with unfliaching courage ;
but in the end they were forced to flee leaving sixty-seven .
guns behind them. Many found a watery grave in trying
to cross the Satlej. . .
383. Battle of Sobraon.~Sir Harry Smith joined Sir
Hugh Gough, and the latter resolved to cross the Satlej
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and teke possession of the Panjab. The Khalsa army hkad
thrown up a series of the strongest defence works af
Sobraon. They consisted of semi-circular entrenchments.
with the river for their base, and were sarrounded by a
deep ditch ; while, on the opposite side of the river, was
another encampment, with heavy guns so placed as to
“sweep the left bank. The two encampments were con-
" nected by & bridge of boats. The British army advanced
"to the attack. -They brought with them their heavy guns, °
to pour.in a continnous fire. of shot and shell, after
which they were to carry the entremchments by storm.
The -Sikhs were prepared to conquer or die for their
" Khalsa. No wonder then that Sobraon proved to be one
of the hardest fought battles in the history of British
. India. Early in the morning of the tenth February a
‘dense for gverhung the battlefield. At eleven o’clock the
fog rolled up like a curtain, and the great guns were
opened on the enfrenchments. For two hours those heavy
guns played on the Sikh encampment but with little effect.
Sir Hogh Gough, thereupon, gave orders to charge. Again
- and again were the British forces rolled back under the
murderous fire of the Sikhs. Again and again did they
- advance to the attack. At length the Sikh entrenchment
was pierced in three places. The traitorons Tej Singh fled
acroes the bridge, and then the bridge was broken. Sham
Singh, a veteran, resolved not to outlive & defeat. Clothing
himself in white garments,.he called on the troops to fight
for their Guru, and, rushing at their head against the
British bayonets, met the -death he had coveted. The
Sikhs, pressed on three sides, were driven into a confused
mass. But they contested every inch of ground, and, finally,
as the bridge had been broken, they preferred to plunge
into the river to surrendering to the victots. There had
been no such carnage in India since the battle of Panipat.
The Sikh loss was estimated at eight thousand men. "
The English lost two thonsand three hundred and eighty-
three men. Bot a complete victory had been gained.

884. Peace of Lahor.—Three days latter the British
army crossed the Satlej and advanced to Lahor. There
the Governor-General dictated his own terms of peace,
which, ander the circnmstances, were exceedingly moder-
ate. The terms were, (1) The. Jalandhar Doab was.

)
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annexed ; (2) Dhulip Singh was acknowledged Raja of
Xahor, with a conncil of regency who in all matters were
to be directed and controlled by an English resident;
(3) the Sikhs were to pay the expenses of the war; (4)
a British force was to be stationed at Lahor to support
the new Government. .As the government was unable to
fulfil the third stipulation of the peace, the province of
Kashmir was sold to Golab Singh of Jammu for one
* crore of rupees. Rewards were liberally bestowed on the
army for their success in the war. They received the
thanks of both Houses of Parliament. Sir Henry Hardinge
was created Viscount Hardinge, and Sir Hugh Gough,
Lord Gougb. Sir Harry Smith was made a Baronet. A
present of one year’s batta was given to every soldier in
the army. : .

885. Reforms.—For two years after this war there
was peace in India, and Lord Hardinge applied himself
with heart and will to the advancement of the good of the
country. He gave a great impulse to the project of con-
structing railways. Lord William Bentinck bad put an
end to sati within British territories, but the immolation
of woman, human sacrifices and infanticide were still
common in the native states. Lord Hardinge used all the
influence of a paramount power to induce the native states
to abolish such customs, and with great success. Sunday
labour in Government offices was abolished. Octroi duties
were done away with. Natives were largely employedin
the public service. Lord Hardinge lefg Calcutta in March
1848.

) - CHAPTER XXVII.

Lormr Dacvousie. Tez Seconp Sikg War.
1848 a.p. T0 1856 a.p.

Mulraj, Viceroy of Multan, Battle of Gujarat.
Mr. Vans Agnew. The Panjab annexed.
Captare of Multan. Form of Government,
Battle of Chilianwalla. Reforms,

886. Lord Dalhousie, the new Governor-General,
landed at Calcntta in January 1848. He was only in
his thirty-sixth year. He bad sat in the Honse of Com-
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mons ‘for some years, aud, as President of the Board of
Trade, had shown pre-eminent ability and fitness for busi-
ness. For eight years he ruled India, and the effects of his
administration were seen in the happiness and peace he
Jbrought to the millions of inhabitants in the land. Lord
Hardinge, on leaving Caleatta, had intimated a belief that
he had secured peace to India for the next seven years.
But he had not been seven months out of the country
when all was again in a blaze. The Sikhs had been. defeat-
ed in war, but they had not been subdued.

887. The second Slkh war.—A Sikh, named Muilraj,
was Viceroy «of Multan. He .had been. called on by the
Khalsa so far back as 1844, to pay one crore of rupeea
a8 succession duty., But, though he had succeeded in
getting the amount reduced to one-fifth that sum, he
still delayed payment. Now that the first Sikh war was
over and an English Resident was stationed at Lahonr,
he could no longer avoid falfilling his obligations. He,
therefore, resigned the Government of Multan. The
English Resident and the Council of Regency accepted
his resignation, One, Khan Singh, was appointed his
snccessor, and Mr, Vans Agnew, a Bengal civilian, was
sent with him to introduce the new revenue eystem that
had been adopted at Lahor into Multan. Mulraj visited
Mr. Agnew and submitted his accounts for the year.
Mr. Agnow called for the accounts for the past six years.
Mulraj agreed to comply with Mr. Agnew’s request : but,
as he left his preseme, there was a frown on his brow that
foreboded no good. Mpr, Agnew proceeded with Mulraj
to inspect the establishments in the citadel. On returning
he was stabbed, when passing through the gate of the fort.
Mulraj at once galloped off to his own residence, and Mr.
Agnew and another officer were cat to pieces. Mulraj then
occupied the citadel and proclaimed a religious war against
the English,

Lord Gough was anxious to postpone military operations
till the cool season, But Lieutenant Edwardes, !
{afterwards Sir Herbert Edwards), & young officer 1848
of the ntmost energy and daring, with Colonel  a.D.
Cortland, raised a corps of Pathans and Biluchis,
defeated Mulraj in two engagements, (Kineri and Sad-
dosam), and shut him np in Maltan. Had a sufficiently
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strong force been at once sent to Edwardes™ aid, the
rebellion might have been easily quelled. To delay is
dangerous. And, on the present occasion, it was pre-emi-
nently so. The inactivity of the English Government
gave courage to the vebels. The rising quickly spread.
A plot to murder all the English at Lahor was discovered. .
The Maharani was at the bottom of it and she was sent
as a prisoner to Benares. :

Subsequently, a British force, undér Genera] Whish,
wag sent to assist Edward’s against Multan. A Sikh army
of five thousand men under an influential chief, named
Sher Singh, was also sent to co-operate with those. Bub
no sooner had General Whish opened his guns on Multan
than Sher Singh led his army over to the side of Mulraj:
and proclaimed a religious war against the English. General
Whish was forced to retire. Immediately the whole of
the Panjab, was in.arms. Lord Dalhousie now saw thaf
the Sikh war must be fought over again. And he deter-
mined that it should be followed by the annexation of the
Panjab to the British possessions. In October 1848 he set
out for the Panjab. At a farewell entertainment given
him at Calontta, he said, Unwarned by preeedent, nnin-
fluenced by example, the Sikh, nation has called for wan,
and, on my word, sirs, they shall have it with a vengeance.”
. 388, Multan captured.—In November the army which
had been assembled under Lord Gough at Firuzpur
crossed the Ravi. At Ramnagar they came up with the
enemy and gained a doubtful victory: Omn the 3rd Janu-
ary, General Whish, whose numbers had been strongly
reinforced, carried Multan by storm after a tremendous
.cannonade, and Mulraj was forced to retire within the

. citadel. With heroic bravery Mulraj Lield out

1849 amidst a continuous storm of shell and shot,
a.p.  until there was not a roof left standing in the
citadel ; and not until his soldiers called on him
to 1éad them against the besiegers or give up the fortress
did he surrender. The body of Mr. Vans Agnew was dis-
interred, carried through the breach by which the assail-
-ants had entered to the highest point of the citadel, and
there buried with military honours.

389. Battle of Chillanwalla.—Meanwhile, & mosat san-

‘guinary battle had been fought bgtween the Commander-
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in-Chief and Sher Singh. The latfer had taken up a strong
position at Chillanwalla, with jungle in front so dense that
it was impossible for cavalry to penetrateit. In the after.
noon, Lord Gough eame upon Sher Singh somewhat nnex-
pectedly, and ordered his men to the attack. One division
of the English under General Campbell, (Lord Clyde), sue-
ceeded in carrying its poing, Another was driven back with
a terrible loss, The Sikhs fought like demons. The battle
raged till dark, when the English became the masters of
the field. The Sikhs taking all their haggage with them
encamped tliree miles distant. The battle of Chilianwalla

. was one of the most sanguinary in the history of British

India. Both sides claimed a vietory, Both sides fired salutes
in honour of it, The British captured twelve guns, But four
of their guns and the colours of three regiments were car-

ried off by the Sikhs. The British loss was two thousand

four bundred officers and men, The result of this battle
. was such as toraise the power of the Sikhs bigh in the eyes

of the world, and to lower the reputation of the English

cavalry, who had behaved in the most cowardly way.

3800. Battle of Gujarat..~W hen the news of this disas-
ter reached England, all was alarm and indignation. Lord
Gough was ab once recalled and Sir Charles Napier sent
ouf to take the command. But, before the news of Lord
Gough’s recall reached India, he had retrieved his fame
by the crowning victory of Gujarat, (22nd February),
known as ¢ the battle of the guns,” becanse it was won
chiefly through the mse of artillery. In this battle the
Sikbs were untterly defeated and pursued for fifteen miles,
Their camp, standards and fifty-three guns fell into the -
hands of the victors. The Sikh army was rednced fo a
mere wreck. All hope of successfnl resistance was gone,
Sher Singh and Chatar Singh with many more of the Sikh
chieftains surrendered, ) )

391. Anngxatlon of the Panjab.—Lord Dalhousie issned
& proclamation declaring the kingdom of the Panjab at an
end. A pension of five lakhs a year was given to Dhulip
Singh, and for years he lived in England as an Engligh
land-owner. The celebrated jewel, the Koh-i-nor, was set
apart for the English erown. Lord Dalhousie was created
& Marquis. The leaders of the rebellion were deprived of
their jaghirs, The people in the Panjab were disarmed,

y ’



224 BRITISE IXDIA.

The lands were leased and the land-tax was redaced ; and
more than thirty thonsand of the Khalea army exchanged
the sword for the plough-share. Transit duties were
abolished. Slavery and dacoity were put down with a high
hand, and all the weight of the Government was employed,
and employed euccessfully in stopping infanticide. Roads
and canals were constructed throughout the length and
breadth of the land. The Government introduced into the
province ¢ was the greatest triumph under the company’s
rule, and did honour to European civilization,” Many of
the Sikh soldiers that had fought 80 bravely at Sobraon
or Chilianwalla enlisted under the British flag, and daring
the sepoy mutiny of 1857 were the first to assist in recover-
ing Dehli from the hands of the mutineers,

CHAPTER XXVIII.
Lorp Davmousre. Marerial ProGRESS.
1848 a.p. T0 1836 a.0.

The second Burmese war. Oudh annexed.
Annexation of Pegu.”. Barar ceded.
Nagpur annexed, Material progress.

Last renewal of the Charter. Lord Dalhougie's death,

892. The second Burmese war.—Three years after
the conquest of the Panjab, Lord Dalhousie was most reluc.
tantly forced into a war with Barma. The English mer-
chants were g0 oppressed by the Burmese officials, that
they laid their complaints before the Indian Government
and asked protection. Lord Dalhousie gent Commodors
Lambert in the war-ship Foz to enquireinto the complainta.
The Governor of Rangoon, on the arrival of the English
ship, forbade all communication with it. Some Enropeans,
however, got on board and succeeded in getting a letter -
which Lambert had brought from Lord Dalhousie to the
King at Ava, conveyed thither. The Governor of Rangoon
was, therenpon, dismissed, but the new Governor treated
the English bven worse than his predecessor.

893. Annexation of Pegu.~—Commodore Lambert seized
one of the king’s ships. The Burmese opened fire og him
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from their stockades ; but the stockades were soon demo-
lished, and Rangoon was blockaded. A force of eight
thonsaud men was sent from Calcutta. Rangoon was
oaptored, and the great pagoda carried by storm. Basin
and Prome next fell before the English, and the Burmese
troops retreated to Upper Burma. Meanwhile, the reign-
ing king at Ava had been deposed, and his balf--
brother placed upon the throne. He eagerlysued 1852
for peace. Pegu was added to the British posses-  AD.
sions, and a Chief Commissioner was appointed
over British Barma.

894. Annexatlon of Nagpur.—Nagpur had been a
feadatory state since 1818. 1In 1853 the Raja died, leaving
no issne. He had no son of his own and he had- 1853
refused to adopt & son as heir. Lord Dalbousie )
thereupon annexed Nagpur to the British posses- -D-
sions, and it now forms part of the Central Provinces.

895. Renewal of the Charter—In this year, the
Company’s Charter was renewed for the last time
under certain new c¢onditions, the principal of 1853
which were :—The number of the Court of Diree-  a.p.
tors was reduced from thirty to eighteen, of whom
six were to be nominated by the Crown. Appointments in
the Civil Service were thrown oper to cqmpetition. A’
Lieatenant-Governor was appointed over Bengal, and the
Company’s Sadar Courts were amalgamated with the high
Courts in the Presidency towns. -

896. Annexation of Oudh.—Lord Dalhousie a!ao an«
nexed the large and populous kingdom of Oudh.

Oudh was eonquered by the Envhsh in 1764, but 1856
Lord Clive restored it to the Nawab Vizier. In  A.D.
1801, a large part of the kingdom was ceded to
Lord Wellesley, to provide the means for maintaining an
efficient army to defend Hindustan against the Mahrattas
and Afghans. From the time of Lord Wellesley the
Government of Oudh had been of the most shamefal and
tyrannical kind. Although the British gnaranteed the
protection of Ondh from foreign enemies, the Nawab
maintained an army of seventy thousand men. - The pay of
those men was small, and, as a nataral consequence, they
plundered the people and committed the most horrible
afrocities. KEvery successive Governor-General had called
y
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on the Nawab to reform his Government. Lord William
Bentinck had even threatened to take the administration
of the country into his own hands. But things went on
as before. The Government was one monstrous system of
corraption. Offices were sold to the highest bidders, and
the purchasers recouped themselves by plander and extor-
#ion. Lord Dalhousie and the Court of Directors resolved
to put an end to such a Government. They, therefore,
annexed the kingdom of Oudb. The king was removed
to Calcutta ; and thas the sovereigoty of the kings of Oudh
was brought to a close.

397. Barar ceded.—At Haidarabad too, Lord Dal.
housie had to interfere. The British Government had
advanced large sums of money to meet the expenses of
the Nizam’s Contingent and the Nizam had delayed to
liquidate the debt. Lord Dalhousie, therefore, compelled
the Nizam to cede the province of Barar, which had been
given to Haidarabad on the overthrow of the Raja of
Nagpur in 1803. Since then Barar has been under
British admibistration ; put all surplos revenune is handed
over to the Nizam’s treasury.

368 Materlal Progress.—Lord Dalhousie’s name is
not associated only with the large annexations he made to
the British possessions. He introduced reforms into every
part of the adfinistration, and his influence was felt in
every province and in every department of Government.
The first railway in India was opened in 1853, and
railways and telegraphs were soon carried all over the
country. During Iord Dalhéusie’s administration, four
thousand miles of electric telegraph were constructed and
two thousand miles of road made. The Ganges canal, the
longest in the world, was opened. Most important schemes
of education were set on foot. The Indian Universities
were established and the Presidency College at Calcutts
was founded. A gheap and uniform rate of postage was
introduced, and a great scheme of Public Works, to be
carried on by borrowing money, was planned.

In 1856 .Lord" Dalhousie sailed for England. He had
Iaboared incessantly for eight years for the good of India.
His bealth had given way under so mach work and so
much anxiety. Four years after bis return to England be
sank into an esrly grave. He left bebind him a name

-
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that will ever have a place in the first rank of the Gover-
pors-General of British India, - e

CHAPTER XXIX.

Lorp Caxwixg. THE Skrov M}mx;
1856 a.p. Yo 1858 a.p.

Canses that Ied to the mmtiny. Battle of Cawnpur.

First ont-break at Barhampur. Massacre of Womer..

Out-bresk at Mirath. - Recovery of Dehli. .
Dehli taken by the rebels. Relief of Lucknow by Havelock.
Sir Joha Lawrence in the Panjab.] Oudh and Rohilkhand subdued.
Mutiniee at Lacknow and Jhansi| £ir Hogh Roee in Central India.
The Nana Sahib. Baitle of Gwaliar.

Massacre at Cawnpur. Peaco restored.

Havelock ad $o the Political changes,

. 889. Lord Canning was the last Governor-General.
During the first years of his administration a storm burst
over the plaina of Hindustan, that shook the British
power to its very foundation, that led to the abolition of
the East India Company, and placed India directly ander
Her Majesty the Queen of Greal Britain and Ireland.
Lord Canning was forty-four years of age when he arrived
in India. He had held high office under the English
Gevernment, and had proved himself to be an able and
safe administrator.- He was on that account sent out to
India to carry ont to completion the great works of moral
and material progress that had been begun by Lord
Dalhougie. On Lord Canning’s arrival in India all was
peace; and no one could have imagined that, within a few
montbs, the*whole of Hindustan from Calcutta to the Pan-
jab wonld be in a state of open rebellion, But so it was.

400. Causes that led to the mutiny.—Mauch has been
written as to the canses that led to the matiny. No doubt
the various annexations made by Lord Dalhousie may
have indirectly helped towards it. Bat the assertion of
Sir John Lawrence, that the approximate cause of the
mutiny was the cartridge affair and nothing else, has been
confirmed by the most ample evidence. Early in 1857 a
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dangerous story got abroad. A. mnew rifle, called the En.
field rifle, was being introduced into the native army. It
required new cartridges, and those weregreased in England
with the fat of the pig and the cow. The Indian military
authorities ordered the cartridges to be made at Calcutta
in & similar manner. The sepoys on many a hard fought
field had proved themselves brave under fire, and true to
their salt. " But they were superstitions and eredulous to
the highest degree. They regarded the locomotive trains
and the telegraph as caused by magic ; and, when the rail-
ways were being laid and the telegraph wires were being
put up, they believed that the English were binding India
with chains. This new rifle was to them another mystery,
and reasons were at once sought for, as to why the Eng-
lish should introduce it intothe army, and thereby destroy
their caste by asking them to use cartridges greased in
this way. Reasons were soon forthcoming from their ex-
cited brains. They had conquered India for the English.
" The English now wanted them to conquer Persia and
China also. Caste was to be abolished. They were to
be forced to become Christians, and to eat of the cow and
the pig as the English did. This story of the greased cart-
ridges was soon carried from Calcutta to Benares, and
thence to Dehli, Agra and Mirath; and on its way many
extraordinary additions were made to it. Soon there was
- a restlessness throughout the whole native army. The
soldiers became haughty in their bearing, and did not
show their officers the same respect they had hitherto done.

401, The out-break of the mutiny.—The first open
out-break took place at Barhampur, where the 19th native
infantry refused to receive the cartridges. The regiment
was marched out to Barrackpur and disbanded, and two
of the leaders were hanged. On the 3rd May, there wasa
blaze at Lucknow ; but Sir Henry Lawrence, the Commis-
sioner of Oudh, with a European regiment which he had
with him, quickly put out the flame. And now it was
thought the restlessness and disquietude of the soldiery
would pass away. For seven days there was calm. Onthe
10th May, the storm burstin all itsfury at Mirath. Mirath
ig situated about forty miles from Dehli. Tt was one of the
largest military cantonments in Hindustan. There were
three native regiments stationed there—two of infantry and

-
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one of cavalry. There was also a European force suffi.
ciently strong to put to ront many times their number. Not-
. .withstanding the presence of the European force, the sepoys
at. Mirath became even more insolent thau the sepoys at
other stations, aud one day when the cartridges were handed
oub to them,~—not the new cartridges that had been greased,
‘but. the same kind of cartridges that they had hitherto
used—oighty-four of, their number refused to take them.
After being tried, seventy-four of them were sent to gaol.
The next day was Sunday, the 10th May. From early
morning there was a commotion in the town. The sepoys,
taunted by the citizens for allowing their comradesto be
sent to gaol in irons, became excited, and the excitement
grew to a frenzy. Joined by the rabble, they attacked the
gaol, set the prisoners free, murdered every European,—
man, woman, and child—they conld find, and,
when they had plundered andset fireto the station, 1857
they set off to Dehli. Meanwhile, the Furopean  4.p,
force, which could easily have quelled the mutiny,
was, through the incapacity and imbecility of the General,
kept within its cantonments which were a considerable
distance from the native lines. In the-evening, they were
led down to the mative barracks; but, when they arrived
there, they found the lines deserted and the sepoys gone fo
Dehli, Had the General been a Gillespie, he would have
galloped off after the rebels. But no. He kept his men
where they were, and the morrow saw the mutiny in &
regiment become a rebellion against the British Govern-
ment, with the old Mnghal, Babadur Shah, proclaimed
sovereign of Hindustan.

402, Dehliin the hands of the rebels.—Monday at
Dehli was even worse than Sunday at Mirath. The news
reached Dehli that the rebels were coming, and before any
preparations gould be made to oppose them, they were on
the bridge and entering the city. They were soon joined
by the Dehli sepoys, who shot dewn their officers. Bahadur
Shah, fancying thatthis revolt would lead to his being re-
ingtated on the throne of Babar,placed himself at their
head. The Europeans in the palace were murdered. The
great powder magazine was in the centre of the city, in
charge of Lieutenant Willonghby and eight others. They
resolved to defend it to the last, and, in case, of no relief

20
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‘coming to them, to blow it up. - The gates, were barricads
ed, and cannon, loaded with grape, were so placed as to
-‘comma.nd the approach to the magazine. On came the
“seething mass of rebel sepoys and rabble citizens, and the
" ‘grape from the cannon made terrible havoc of them. At
-last the ammunition was expended. The eight could not
‘leave their guns to bring more. The rebels were forcing
‘their way on all sides. A train which the defenders had
laid to the magazine was fired by Conductor Scully on a
signal by Willoughby. Saddenly there was a tremendons
‘poport and an upheaving and sliaking of the eafth. A
‘dense cloud of smoke was seen rising in the air. The
‘powder magazine was blownup, and with it fifteei handred
of the rebel host. Willoughby was scorched and maimed,
‘bot succeeded in reaching Mirath, where be died from hig
wound six weeks after, while all the world was ringing
with his praise. .Scully, who fired the train, was never
seen again, By night-fall Dehli was lost to the English.
Those that had sarvived the day’s disasters were forced to
‘flee for their lives under cover of the night, and the saffer-
ings they endured in the days that follwed are most touch-
“ing to read of. All this while the English force, which
-might hiave saved them, was kept &t Mirath. Thus though
"¢ the greased cartridges” cteated the panic and brought
-gbout the mutiny, it was the ircapacity of the military
‘authorities at Mirath that raised the revolt in Hindustan.
403. SirJohn Lawrence In the Panjab:—Dehli in the
“hands of the rebels ! The news was carried from station to
‘gtation. The sepoys, mad with excitement and fear, rushed
on their officers, put them and every European they met to
‘the sword, and hurried off to the Muglal capital or some
‘other centre of the mutiny. But, wherever the Europeans
were in force, the country was either saved or the mischief
“of the rebels reduced to the minimum. I# the Panjab Sir
John Lawrence and'the noble band of herves and statesmen
he had with him were celled ‘on to perform a task almost
‘superhuman: - The Panjab had been but recently conquer- -
» ed, and to maintain order and support the law, it had been
garrisoned with sepoy regiments fiomi Bengal. Those
. Bepoys, who had been stationed there to preserve the peace,
broke out in open mutiny. Fortunately, the Sikhs them-
gelves mindful of the suﬂeringg they had endnred when
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unfer their chieftaing and realizing the blessings they
enjoyed under the new Government of the Chief Commis- .
sioner, proved true to the British and were eager to be led
against the rebels, Sir John Lawrence was able, there-
fore, not only to suppress the mutiny in the Panjab,
but also to send forward reinforcements of brave Sikhs,
ammunition and baggage, to the aid of those that had
assembled near Debli, and who were awaiting additional
strength before storming’ that city. -+ - - .

404. Mutiny at Lucknow.—While Sir John Lawrence
was accompliching such great things in the Panjab, his
brother, Sir Henry Lawrence, was winning an immortal
pame at Lucknow. .Ever since the blaze at Lucknow on
the 3rd May, Sir Henry Lawrence had looked forward to
the probability of a general rising, and had made prepara-~.
tions accordingly. All the European non-combatants were
brought within the walls of the Residency, and defence
works were thrown up and preparations made to with-
stand a siege. On the 30th May the sepoys mutinied as.
Sir Henry had anticipated, and when they failed in their
attack on the English they hurried off to Dehli.

405. Mutiny at Jhansl.—At Jhansi a dark crime was
committed. - The sepoys mutinied, and as at other places
shot their officers.. The survivors: took refuge in the fort
and held out with the utmost bravery, till the Rani soclemn-
1y swore she would spare their lives :and conduct: them in
safety to another station if they would surrender. The
brave little garrison accepted her terms, and now that the
Rani had them in her' power, she butchered in cold blood
every one of them, men, women and children, to the
number of fifty-five, in revenge for the Brifish Govern-
ment not having allowed her to adopt an heir.

406. Massacre at Cawnpur.—But more treackerous
and darker still were the crimes’perpetrated at Cawnpur
on the banks of the Ganges. Cawnpur was ab one time a
great iilitary station, and large numbers of European
troops were kept there. But, with the advance of the
British frontier from the Chambal to the Satlej and thence
to the Indus, the European forces were located further to
the north-west. Near Cawnpur was Bithanr, the residence
that had been granted to Baji Rao, the last Peshwa. -
His adopted son, Dhundu Pant, better known.as the Nana

)
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Sahib, was living there, and although he pretended to be
exceedingly friendly to the English, and entertained the
English officers in the most hospitable and courteous way,
he was stiil burning with a desire to have revenge on the
British Government, because they had refused to continae
to him. the personal allowance of eighty lakhs a year
which they had paid to Baji Rao. In May 1857 the
European force at Cawnpur consisted of sixty-four artil-
lery men, and the officers that comamanded the native
regiment, which numbered three thonsand five hundred
sepoys. Old General Wheeler was in command. No man
in India knew the sepoys better than he did. He had led
them under Lord Lake against their own countrymen,
and against the Afghans and the Sikhs in the late Afghan
and Sikh wars. And while the officers of each regiment
believed ithat, thoagh other regiments might revolt, their
own men who had hitherte ever proved true to their salt
and fought with the nutinost valour under the British flag
would not, General Wheeler had no such confidence, and
he made preparations to meet the coming storm. Some
old barracks, that had formerly been occupied by British
troops, were selected by him as a place of refuge for the _
Eoropeans. Earthworks were ordered to be thrown up
and provisions to be collected, so that they might'be able
to stand a siege.

On the 4th June, the same mad terror seized the sepoys
at Cawnpur as at other stations. A wild and wicked
report was circulated amongst them that the English had .
mined the parade ground, and that on a certain day the
sepoya were all to be assembled and blown into the air.
Maddened with fear they flew to arms, and when they
had somewhat spent their rage they set off to Dehli. The
. treachery and deceit of Nana Sahib were soon apparent.
He thought he saw, as in a dream, how this rebellion
might be used for the re-establishment of the Mahratta
power. When he heard of the mutineers having gone off
to Dehli he at once set out after them, and by promising
large sums of money prevailed on them to return ta
Cawnpur. He put himself at their head. Their gauns
were soon got into position, and a destructive fire was
poured on the English entrenchments. For three weeks
the siege continued; but the Nana Sahib and Tantia

e
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" Topl, his General, notwithstanding their overwhelming
numbers, were unable to carry the entrenchments by
storm. Atlast, on the 23rd June, the Nana Sahib offered
to give a safe passage to Allahabad if General Wheeler
and his men would lay down their arms. The defenders
were most unwilling to doso. They feared to trust them-
selves in the power of their besiegers. They would rather
have fought to the bitter end. But there were many -
women and children there, and the only chance of safety
for them wags to accept the Nana’s terms. On the morn~
ing of the 27th June, the garrison left their entrenchments
and marched to the river, where forty boats were awaiting
them. By nine o’clock four hundred snd fifty persons
were crowded into those boats, and they left their moorings
to sail down the river. - A signal was given. Suddenly a
murderous volley was fired orn the occupants of the boats
from both sides of the river. The thatched roofs of the
boats were set on fire and the flames spread from boat to
boat. Many of the passengers were. murdered in the
river. Many who tried to escape were shot. The women
and children, to the number of one hundred and twenty-
four, were carried off to & honse near the head-quarters of
the Nana Sahib. Of the whole garrison that left the
entrenchments only four survived fo tell of the massacre
that had taken place, - :
407. Havelock takes Cawnpur.—Retribution for this
most terrible erime was not long delayed. Colonel Neill
with the Madras Fusiliers pushed on from Calentta, and
joined General Havelock at Allahabad. General Havelock
had already greatly distingnished himself in the Afghan
and Sikh wars ; and doring the next few weeks he was to
make & name for himself that will last as long as the His-
tory of the British in India. The news of the massacre of
Cawnpur reached General Havelock. . He had only two
thonsand men with him, but forward he at once set, and
after several victories, two of which he gained in one day,
he arrived on the 15th July within eight miles of Cawnpur.
On the evening of that day, the Nana Sahib filled his enp
of iniguity to the brim. His army bad been defeated. In
vevenge, the English women and children whom he had in
his possession, and who now numbered two hundred per-
sons, were ordered by him to be put to death, and after

A}
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being literally hacked to pieces, their mangled corpses
were thrown into a well. Next day Havelock, who as yet
knew nothing of the butchery that had taken place, advan-
ced, and driving Nana Sahib’s forces before him at the
point of the bayonet entered Cawnpur. There the English
army beheld the bleeding victims, but the murderers were
gone. Bithaur was at once taken, and Havelock set out
for Liucknow, leaving Neill at Cawnpaor.

408. Capture of Dehll.—Meanwhile, the English force
on the ridge ontside Dehli had been holding its own, though
unable to attack the city. On the.23rd June,.the centena-
ry of Plassey, the ntmost effort was made by the insurgents
to dislodge the British, as a prophecy had been given forth,
that at the end of one handred years the British Raj
would come to an end. The fight eontinned for hours,
but the rebels were forced to retire with the loss of one
thousand men. Similar actions. took place during the next
two months. On the 14th September, the British forces,
which had been strengthened and mow mnumbered eight
thonsand men, made their final assault on the mighty city.
A breach having been effected, they rushed in, and after
continnous house-to-house fighting for six days, the city
was taken, and this, “ before a single soldier of the many
thousands that were hastening from England to uphold
the supremacy of the British power, had seb foot. on the
‘ghores of kndia.” S T

409. The Emperor of Dehll a prisoner.—On the 21st
September, Captain Hodson captured Bahadur Shah at
the tomb of Humayun, and brought him back to Dehli,
‘On the following day, he arrested two of the king’s sons and
brought them away in a native carriage. When approach-
ing the city, he was surrounded by a large and tumultuous
crowd, and fearing they might try to rescue his prisoners,
he took out his pistol and shot them dead. Old Babhadur
Shah was subsequently tried and found guilty of murder
.and treason. He was transported to Rangoon, where be
died four years after. Thus passed away the last relic of
the Mughal sovereignty. ' ,

410. Rellef of Lucknow.—The capture of Dehli was
-the turning point in the history of the mutiny. But there
was still much to be done before guiet could be restored.
The Residency at Lucknow was besieged. Havelock had
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advanced more than once from Cawnpur to its relief, but,
from the weakness of his force and disease and sickness
amongst his men, he had been compelled to retire. During
this time the good and noble Sir Henry Lawrence had been
holding the Residency against the besiegers, and inspiring
every man and women there with his own daring and re-
solution. Bub on the 4th July, he had been killed, leaving
as a dying council to those around him * never surrender.”
And they had never surrendered. And now (16th Sept+
“ember) while the British troops were forcing :their way
throngl the streets of Dehli, General Outram joined Have-
lock at Cawnpur with one thousand four hundred men.
‘With the most generous chivalry, General Outram, though
General Havelock’s senior, took the second place in com-
mand, that the latter might have the privilege of relieving
the besieged at Lucknow, for whom be had already dared .
8o much. «On the 20th September Havelock crossed the
Ganges. Six days thereafter he cut his way through: the
streets of Liucknow and entered the British entrenchments
in trinmph. The garrison was thus relieved ; but the siege
was not raised. For four months longer the robels held
the city. :

411,  Suppresslon of the mutiny.~-By .this time, Sir
Colin Campbell, (Lord Clyde), who left England at a day’s
notice to take the chief command; had arrived in India, and
had put to rout the Gwaliar Contingent, that had revolted
under Tantia Topi, and had recovered Cawnpur. Lucknow
next fell before him and the rebels were put to flight. In:
the general campaign that followed, they were everywhere
hunted down, and the British sovereignty was restored in
Oudh and Rohilkhand. At the same time, Sir Hugh Rose
with a small but well appointed force, advanced from
Bombay, captured fort after fort, gained victory after vie-
tory, and, when he had taken Jhansi, stormed Kalpi, the
chief arsenal still in the hands of the rebels, and scattered
a force of two thousand men under Tantia Topi, he con
cluded he had restored order to Central India. It was not
so. Tantia Topi had only disappeared to re-appear ab
Gwaliar, where he succeeded in so corrupting the forces of

" Sindia, (who with Dinkar Rao, his minister, had remained
a staunch friend of the British Government), that they
yose in rebellion and Sindia was foresd tn taka fa ficht
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This rebellion was but short-lived. Sir Hugh Rose hasts
ened to Gwallar and put to rout the rebel forces. In the
action, the Rani of Jhansi, who was fighting on the side of
the rebels in male attire, was slain. Tantia Topi retreated,
accompanied by six thousand men. Two days later, Bri-
gadier Robert Napier, (Lord Napier of Magdala), with six
hundred cavalry and six field guns, dashing in amongst the
fugitives carried off all their artillery. For two months
more Tautia Topi evaded the British troops, His hiding
- place was then discovered. He was taken, tried, convicted
and hanged. The rebellion was quelled, Itonly remained
for the victors to temper justice with mercy, The leaders
in the rebellion—such as could be secured—were punished,
The ignorant and misguided instruments of their bratality
were forgiven. The faithfal were rewarded, The Nana
Sahib, the greatest of the miscreants, escaped, and, it is
supposed died in Nepal. '
- 412, Political €hanges.——Great political changes follow.
-ed from the mutiny. By an act of Parliament, the East
» India Company was abolished, and India was
2od Angust  placed nuder the directcontrol of Her Majesty
185 Queen Viotoria. The administration of India
A.D. was entrusted to a Secretary of State, aided
. _ by fifteen Members of Council, eight of whom
must have served ten years in India. The Board of Con-
trol was thus abolished, and Lord Canning by virtue of
the change in the Government from the Company to the
Crown, became the first Viceroy in India.‘ ‘
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CHAPTER XXX.

Events sUBSEQUENT T0 THE MUTINY—IMPERIAL RULE.
1858 a.p. 70 1881 A

The Queen’s Proclamation. War in Bhutan.

Right of adoption allowed. Bir John Lawrence’s Afghan
Lord Elgin. Lord Mayo, Policy.
The Wahabis. ‘Lord Lytton.

Bir John Lawrence, The Afghan War.

418. ‘The Queen’s Proclamation.—On the 1st Novem-
ber 1858 the proclamation of Her Most Gracious Majesty
Queen Victoria was publicly read at all the prin- -
cipal stations in India, and was franslated into all the
Vernacalar languages. It has been called the Magna
Charta of India. It proclaimed the transfer of the Gov-
ernment of India from the Company to the Crown. It
made known that the British Government had no desire -
or intention of interfering in any way with the religion
or caste of the Hindus. It confirmed all existing treaties.
rights and usages, and proclaimed a free pardon te all
rebels except such as had been implicated in the murder
of the British. It concluded with these words:—¢1It is.
Our earnest desire to stimunlate the peaceful indusiry of
India, to promote works of pablic utility and improve-
ment, and to administer its Government for the benefit of
all Our subjects residenb therein. In their prosperity will
.be Our strength ; in their contentment Qur security ; and
in their gratitade Our best reward. And may the God of
all power grant to Us and to those in anthority under Us,
strength to carry out those Our wishes for the good of
Our people,”

414. Death of Lord Canning.—In the following year,
Lord Canning held a grand durbar at Agra, and publicly
announced that native rulers, in defaunlt of natural heirs,
would be at liberty to adopt sons who would succeed to
the Government of their several states. In March 1862
Lord Canning left India. He was one of the most labori~
ous and conscientious statesmen that ever ruled India.
He died within a few months after his return to Epgland
and was buried in Westminister Abbey.

)
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415. Lord Elgin.—Lord Elgin succeeded Lord Car-
ning as Viceroy. His reign is associated with two moun-
tain expeditions that cost much blood and money, and
the results of which were but little commensurate with
the cost. The one was against a colony of Hindustani
fanatics or Wahabls, who, ever since 1831, had settled
in the mountains in the north-west, and were eonstantly
making raids on DBritish territory. They were soon
brought to reason by General Carnock and his army of
eight thounsand men. )

416. Sir John Lawrence.—The second expedition,
against Bhutan, arose from a somewhat similar cause.
A mission was sent to the Bhutanese Government to seek
redress for the raids made on British territory. The
envoy was treated with insult. War was declared. Lord
Elgin, meanwhile, died, and Sir John Lawrence, of Pan- -
jab renown, succeeded as Viceroy. The Bhutanese were
soon brought to their senses, and were forced to deliver
up some British subjects whom they had carried off into
slavery. Since them there has been peace on their
frootier.

The policy adopted by Sir John Lawrence with refer-
ence to Afghanistan has been much discussed. There was
a fratricidal war in that country. <At one time Sher Ali
was recognized as Amir of the whole of Afghanistan.
But when Afzal Khan, his elder brother, drove him out
of Kabul and he had to flee to Kandabhar, Sir John Law-
rence, recognized the congueror, as raler of Kabul, and
Sher "Ali, as ruler of only Kandahar. Subsequently
Sher Ali recovered the whole of the country and was
again acknowledged Amir; and everything was done to
secure bis friendship. For Russia was again intriguing
and advancing for into Central Asia, and the policy of Sir
John Lawrence was to secure a friendly Afghanistan asa
bulwark against Russian aggression. Sir John Lawrence
retarned to England in 1869. He was raised to thePeerage.
Ten years later he died; and was buried in Westminster
Abbey. He wasd one of the greatest statesmen of this
century, and no man has done more for the good of India
than he did., )

417. Lord Mayo.—Lord Mayo succeeded. Shorily
sfter his arrival he had an interview with Sher Ali a¢
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Umballa which tended much to ‘strengthen the bond of
friendship between the British Government and the Amir.
In 1872 Lord Mayo visited Burmsah, and spent some time
there in' taking a survey of the improvements that had
been made since the days of Lord Dalhousie. On his way
back to Calcutta he visited the Andamans, and there his
life ended in a tragedy. While going- on board .his ship
in the dusk of the evening, he was stabbed by an. Afghan,
who had been sentenced to penal servitude for life on
account of a murder he had committed, and who now, in
-his blind revenge, put an end fo. the life of one of the
most promising and most popular of Viceroys. -

418. ' Lord Northbrook succeeded Lord Mayo, and “he,
in turn, was succeeded by Lord Lytton in 1876. Lord
Lytton ruled as Viceroy till 1880. Two events took place
duoring his period, that no doubt will become landmarks
in the future History of India.—The visit of the Prince of
Wales in 1875-76, and the Proclamation at Debhli on the
1st Janvary 1877, of Her Majesty Queen Victoria as
Empress of India. =~ -~

419.. Afghan War.—During Lord Lytton’s administra-
tion the friendship with Sher Ali was broken. The latter
received a- Russian embassy at Kabul and refused to
receive an English embassy. War was declared. Sher
Ali was forced to flee into Russian territory, where he died.
Yakuob Khan was placed on his father's throne, and a
British Resident was stationed at Kabul, The nproar of
1841 at Kabul was repeated. The Resident, Sir Louis
Cavagnari, and his staff were massacred. Yakub Khan
was forced to abdicate. An avenging force was sent into
Afghanistan. As on the previous occasion, Kandahar fell,
Ali Masjid was successfully stormed, and Kabul captured.

420, Lord Ripon sncceeded Lord Lytton as Viceroy.
The English troops were again withdrawn from Afghanis-
tan. " Abdur Rahman, the eldest son of Dost Muhammad,
was recognized Amir of Afghanistan.
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First Charter to the East India COmpPanY....ccevseorcsvorsoeacrses
The United East India Company formed we.ceeescessesns canennses
Madras captured by the French

Dapleix at the zenith of his powereesse -

Clive at Arcot ... senene
Treaty of Pondicherry e

The Black Hole Tragedy .
Battle of
Battle of Vandivash .c.....ce0ee e
Defeat of the Dutch at Chinsura cesorsace oenes
Massacre at Patna...oe...r

Battle of Baxar oeen

Battle of Korah : . .

Treaty of Madras ...ess s
The Regulating Act
Treaty of Benares. . i

Battle of Porto Novo........ e

of Mangalore

Pitt's Bill

Peace of Seringapatam
The Permanent Revenue Settlement
Fall of Seringapatam
The Vellore Mutiny -~
Capture of Maloun savore

Peace of Sigauli ......
Battle of the Sitabaldi Hills e
Battle of Jabulpur ... 0res woases
Battle of Mnhidpnr sasecserstel
‘Treaty of Mandeswar
Capture of Rangoon vane vons
Battle of Pagahn ‘... ove
Treaty of Yendabu
Capture of Bhartpur. [
Massacre at Kabul.e cennne
Retreat of the British wve

Kabnl re-capt s
Sindh d : o ee
Battle of Mahara]pnr )
Battle of Sobra

Battle of Clnlmnwal]a
The Panjab d o
Pegu d oo

Nagpur d ... ..
Oudh d . .
The Sepoy Mutiny.
The East India Company abolished
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A,

ABor1eINES, of India, pars. 2.

ABUL Fazrn, a learned Minister

*, of Akbar, 128; founds a new
faith, £b. ; assassinated, ib.

ADoPTION, right of conceded by

. Liord Canning, 414,

ArcHaNs, found a dynasty at
Ghor, 65; dynasty of Slave

kings, 73-7 dynasty of the
Khiljis, 78,

Amamxsrm desoription of, 859;
canse of war with, 361 ; Bri-
tish occupation of, 862-8; in~
surrection at Kabul, 366 ; wmur-
der of Sir Alexander Burnes,
ib.; divided councitn the Eng-
lish camp, 367; negotiations

" with the rebel clnefs, 868 ;
advance of the avenging army
under Pollock, 872 ; his victory
at Tezeen, 374 re-oacnpa.txon

of Kabul, id.; recovsry of the|’

prisoners by Sale, 375 ; return
of the avenging army to India,
876.

,Aenw, Mzg. VANs, gent to in-
* troduce the new revenue
gystem into Mnltan, 887 ; his
. murdenr, b,
Acx1, the God of fire, 11,
A GN1EULAS, legend of, 5.
AnArya Bai, 185.

ABMAD Span ABDpALL the Af.

ghan congueror, 83.
*ArX-LA-CHAPELLE, treaty of, 219.
" AKBAR, son of Humayunn,his birth,

119 ; proclaimed Padishah; 122;

takes the reins.of Govern-

ment from Bairam, 123; his
policy, 124; Intermarriages
21

ALBUQUEBRQUE,

with the Rajputs, 125; wars
and conguests, 125.6; his cha-
racter, 127'; his religion, 128;
the revenue settlement intrqe
duced by him, 129; other re-
forms, 130.

AEBaw, son' of ‘Aurangzeb, his
rebellion, 147 ; the forged
letter, sb.; his ﬂxghb 148, -

AxBAR KBAN’, eldest son  of
Dost Mohammad, rallies the
Afghans against the British
force, 867 ; mnegotiates with
Macnaghten, 368 ;3 his base
treachery, 369; further trea-
cheries, ib. ; routed by General
Sale, 872 ; defeated at Tezeen,
874.

Ara-un-piN, Governor of Korah
and Oudh, resolves to invade
the Dakhan, 80; assassination
of his uncle, ib. ; usurps the

- throne of Dehli, 81; the siege
of Chitor, 82; expeditions of
his general Kafur, 83-4; mage«

sacre of his Mughal converts,
85 ; his death, ib,

ArrHONSO D=,
Portugnese Viceroy in India,
110 ; takes Goa, ib:

ALEXANDER THB GREAT, invades
the Panjab, 30; passage of
the Jhelum and defeat of
Porus, ib. ; dealings with a
gecond Poms, 4b. ; hie soldiers
refuse to advance, ib,; his
retreat and death, ib.

Avivirol KEAN,usarps the throne
of Bihar, Orissa and Bengal,
Z_’b33 ; favourable,to the English,
10,

ALLAHABAD, ancient name of, 23
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Aroupra; the adventurer who
rescues Burma from the yoke
of Pegu and founds. the dy-
nasty of Ava, 346.

ALvVAREZ CABEAL, the distinguish-
ed Portuguese admiral des-
patched to maintain supre-
macy in the eastern seas, 109 ;

_.hig dealings with the Moors,
4b. ; his alliance with the Baja

. of Cochin, ib.

Auag SiNGH oF NEPAL, declares

' against going to war with the
English, 330; surrenders at
Maloun, 331 ; advises a re-
newal of the war, 3b.

AuMEEBsT, Lord, Governor.Gene-
ral of India, 346; forced into
a war with Burma, 4. ; captare
of Bhartpur, 352,

AMiR KHAN, the Afghan adven-
turer, ebief of the Patauns, his

. treaty with the English, 337;
foundet of theTonk Dynasty, b,

AMYATT, & member of Vansit-

. tart’s council, murder of, 249.

ANaNGPaL, in whose favour his
father Jeipal resigned the

_ throne of Lahor, 64,

ANDRa, the greatest of the Raj-
put dynasties, 49; branches

. of, 50-1.

ANGRIA, the rebel pirate chief of
Geriah, 229; the pirates sur-
render to Clive and Watson, §b.

Area- SaHIB, made regent at
Nagpur, 343;  his treachery
towards the English, accepts
the title of commander of the
Peshwa’s .army, ib.; attacks

INPEX.

Axryang, home of, 4; thefr dig
tribution, 4b. ; their conquests,
sh.; date of their invading
India, 4b.; their religion and
social condition, 11.

ARYAvVARTA, meaning and use of
the name, 4,

Agor KBaN,brother of Nur Jahan,
133 ; proclains Bulaki em-
peror, 138, .

ASoEA, Maharaja of Magadha,
who became a convert to
Buddhism, 40; ediots, ib.; the
vast extent of his kingdom,
4b. ; sends missionaries to digs
tant parts of India, ib. ; under
his successors the Magadha
kingdom attains to great emi-
nence, 41.

AssaM, ceded to the Knglish,
346.

Assar, battle of, 205.

Avuckranp, Lord, Governor-Ge-
neral of India, 359; forms
tripartitd treaty with regards
to Afghanistan, 361 ; declares
war agsinst Dost Muliammad,
tb. ; first war with China, 370,

Avranezes, one of the four sons
of Shah Jahan, 141; uses his
brother Morad for his own
ambitious projects, 142; vic-
tory at TUjjain, ¢b.; defeats
Dara, ib, ; deception ; and ime
prisonment of Morad, ¢b.; pro-
claimed Padishah, 144 ; defeats
Shuja, ¢b.; exeoutes Dara as
an infidel, 82; his policy, 145;
his religions perseontions, 146 ;

S cesaful against the Rana

. unsuccessfully the residency

on the Sitabaldi Hills, ib.; finds| -

_ refuge in Jodhpur, b,

ABAxAN, an independent state,
annexed by the court of Ava,
846; ceded to the British, 348.

ARIKBRA, battle of, 204,

ARcor, oapital of the Nawabs of
the Karnatio, 223 ; capture and
defenoce of by Clive, 13,

of Udaipur, 147 ; hisson Akbar
revolts, 4b.; intrigues against
Akbar foiled, ¢b. ; his froitless
operations against the Msah-
rattas, 148; captures Bijapur
and Golkonda, 149 ; his death
and character, 150-1.
Ava, dynasty of, founded by
Alompra, 846; war declared

with, 847,
[ 4



JND EBX,

. B. .

BABAR, founder of the Mugal
Empire in India, 113 ; descent
and early life, 4b.; invades
India, 43, ; defeats the Rajputs
under the Rana of Chitor ab
8ikri, 116; his death, ib.

Bapapovr SHAE, eldest mon of |-

Aurangzeb, 152; his reign, $b.

BAHADUR SHAE, last titular king
of Dehli makeg common canse
with the rebels, 402; made
prisoner, 409; transportation
and death, b.

BaruInt Kinenoy,rise of the,101; '

broken up into five States, ib.
. Batrax KnAN, regent and minis-
ter of Akbar, 122 ; kills Hemu,
ib. 3 hig fall and death, 123.
Bast Rao, Second Peshwa, 178 ;
extends the Mahratta power,
4b. ; dealings with the emperor
of Dehli, 179; attempted ‘in-
vasion of the Dakhan, 180 ; his
death, ib.
Bair Bao,

opposed by Nana Farnavis, ¢b.;
under the control of Daulat
Bao Bindia, defeated by Jas-
want Rao at Puna, id.; takes
refuge in British territory, 201;
signs the treaty of Basin by
which the Peshwa’s indepen-
dence is sacrificed;, 202; in-
duced by Trimbakiji Dainglia
to intrigne with Sindia and
Holkar against the English,
341; murder of Ganghadar
Bastri, ib,; Trimbakji’s sur-
render demanded by Mr, El.

phinstone, {b.; ithprisonment |.

and escape of Trimbakji, 4b.;
treaty of Puna, $b. ; his pretend.-
ed pilgrimage, 312; defeated
by the English at Eharki, ib.;
appoints Appa Sahib, of Nag-
pur his Commander-in-Chief,
343 ; deposed, 344; final set-
tlement and death, ib,

80N oF RacaANaTH|
Rao, last of the Peshwas, 201;|

Barasr Basr Rao, Third Peshwa,
181 ; his schemes to gain.the
supremacy, b,; removes the

_capital to Puna, b.;. invades
Maisur and the Karnatio, 182;
his death, 183,

BaNDa, leads the Bikhs to ven

geance, 324; put to a horrible

death, b,

BaNcaALoRE, taken by assault by
Lord Cornwallis, 294.

Bagag, ceded to the English,397.

Barrow, Sir George, Governor-
General, 316; his policy, ib. ;
his annulment of protective
treaties with the Rajput states,
213; interdicts wmissionaries,
320; appointed Governor of

dras, £b.

Basy, Portuguese fort, 110,

Basi, treaty of, 202.

Benages, treaty of, 269,

BeneaL, legal right to, obtained
by Clive, 256; placed under
““double Government,” 265 ;
famine in, b, ; administration
taken out of the hands of the
natives, 267,

BeNtiNCcE,LordWilliam,Governor
of Madras, recalled in conse-
quence of the mutiny at Vel-
lore, 319; appointed Gover-
nor-General, 253; ,annexes
-Coorg, 354 ; takes the Govern-
ment of Maisur ont of the
hands of the Raja, 355; xe~
forms he introduced, 356; re-
turns to England, 358.

BAnHlAupnn, sepoy muliny at

Breivsen TrAPU, chief minig-
ter of the Nepal Government,
wages war against the English,
330 ; sues for peace, 832 ; peace
of Siganli concluded, 333.
BrarTPUR, the siege of, 210;
peace with the Baja of, $b.
Brack Hore of CALCUTTA, tra-
gedy of, 235,
BoarD o¥ CoNTROL, created, 288
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BRARMANS, rise 0 12,

BraRMANAS, the, 13.

Bropre, Sergeant, his bravery
during the Vellore mutiny, 317.

Buppma, his parentage and
youth, 35 ; his converts, 38.

Buppuisw, 39.

BUNDELKHAND, ceded to the Eng-
lish, 321 ;over-run by banditti,
tranquillity restored by Lord
Minto, ib.

BURMA, origin of the first war
with, 346 ; eapture of Rangoon,
sb.; panic at Donabu, 347;
second war with, 392; peace of

: 3Yenda.bn, tb. ; Pegu annexed,
93,

C.

CapEsia, the battle of, 60.
CALCUTTA, the Zemindarship of,
obtained by the Company, 217;
Fort William erected and made
the seat of a presidency, 3b.;
surrender of the fort, 235 ;
tragedy of the Black Hole, 4b. ;
recovered by Clive andWatson,
236, .
CaxicuT, the Zamorin of, 107-8.
CaxrBeLL, 8ir Colin (Lord Clyde)
takes the chief command, 411.
Cannmg, Lord, last Governor-
General, 399 ; the capses of the
tiny, 400; b the first
Viceroy of India, 412; at the
Agra Durbar, proclaims “ right
of adoption,” 414; departare
and death, ¢b, *
Castes, division into four, 16.
CAWNPUR, masgsacre at, 406.
CHANDARNAGAR, captured by
Clive and Watson, 237,
CeaNDA 8AmHIB, applies to the
French to place him on the
throne ef the Karnatioc, 220;
proclaimed Nawab under the
authority of Dupleix, 221.
CHILIANWALLA, battle of, 369
CarToR, sioge and capture of, 82,
124,

INDEX,

Crave, Robert, hiz early history,
223; captures Arcot, ib.; his
defence at: Arcof, ib. ; campaign
after the raising of the siege;
224; returns to England, 226 ;
returns to India, 229; cap-
tures Geriash, 4b.; ordered to
Calcutta with Watson, tb. ; re-
covers Calcutta, 236; joins
against Siraj-ud-danlah, 238 ;
deceives Umachand with a
sham freaty, ib.; wins the batile
of Plassey, 239; appoints Mir
Jafar, Nawab, 240; appointed
Governor of the Company’s
possessions in Bengal, 241;
departs for England, 243 ; re-
turns to India, 254 ; his policy;
255 ; reforms the civil service,
257 ; reforms the military ser-
vice, 258 ; leaves India for the
last time, 259.

CoueerMERE, Lord, ecaptures
Bhartpur, 252.

Cookg, annexed, 354.

Coote, Colonel, routs the French
at Vandivash, 231.

CorNwALLIS, Lord, - Governor-
General of India, 290 ; his con-
templated-policy, ¢b.; war de-
clared against Tippu, 294;
dealings with Nizam Al and
the Mahrattas, 297 ; his perma-
nent revenue settlement, 300 ;
reforms the civil courts, 301;
returns to Engln.nd, [{.5

Darnousie, Lord, Governor-Ge-
neral, 386; resolves on the
conquest of the Sikhs, 387;
annexes the Panjab, 391; re-
forms intrcduced, b.; created
Marquis, sb.; dealings with
Burma, 392; annexes Pegu,
893 ; annexes Nugpur, 394;
annexes Oudh, 396; Barar
ceded, 397; progress made
under, 398 ; retarns to Eng-
land, 4.

4



INDEX.

Daga, eldest gon of Shah Jahan,
141; oppeses Anrangzeb, 142 ;
his defeat and death, 144, |

DARHAN, tract of country so
ocalled, 4; early history of, §2

, —6; first invasion of by the
Mubammadans, 80; history
during the early Muhamma-
dan period, 10053 invaded by
Aurangzeb, 149,

DeaLI, captured by Kuth-ud-din,
€9; becomes the first of the
Muhammadans who reigned

at, 73 ; sack of by Nadir Shah, |

156 ; seized by the mutineers,
402; recapture of, 408.

- DEvIKoTTAH, ceded to the Eng-
lish, 222,

Dosr MumAMMAD, one of the
Barackzai chieftains, 359; ut-
terly defeats Shah Suja, ib.;
surrenders to the English, 364.

DRaviDIANS, the, 8,

PDorLRIE, aims at driving the
English .out of India, 2193
Chanda Sahib appliea to him
for aid, 220; appointed Go-
vernor of India from the
Krishna to Comorin, 221;
erects & column to commemo-
rate his viotories, fb.; colomn
razed by Clive, 225; his f

. ond death, 228, '

Doren, English capture Dutch
possessions in India, 262,

E.

East INpia CoMpaNy, origin of,
215; difficulties that had to
be contended with, ib.; “the
United East India Company,”’
ib. ; policy -of the Company,
217; Charter remewed, 328;
changes in the Charter, 857 ;
Charter renewed for the last
time, 395 ; Company abolished,
413.

Erein, Lord, Viceroy of India,
415 ; ganctions two mountain

b

v

expeditions, against the Waha-
bis and against Bhutan, ¢b. ;
his death, .
ErreNBorovGH, Lord, Governor-
. Genersl, 871; annexes Sind,
377 ; reduces Gwaliar to trane
quillity, 378 ; his recall, 879,
ErpnINgToNE, Mr. Mountstuart,
British resident at Puna, 341 ;
demands the gurrender of
Trimbakji, ¢b.; concludes the’
treaty of Puna, ¢b,; removes
the British from Puna te
Kharki, 342.

Forr ST. Davip, built, 2163 des-
troyed by Lally, 230.

ForT ST.GRORGR, site of obtained,
105; enlarged, 218; seized by
the French, 219.

ForT WILLIAM, see Calcutta,

France, form. an East India
Company, 216 ; capture Fort
8t. George, 218; defeat the
Nawab’s army, 219 ; siege of
Trichinopoly, 223-7; Fremch
East India Company ceases to
exist, 232, -

G.

GaAzNI, house of, 61; empire
transferred to Ghori, 65.

GERIAR, pirate fort of, expedi-
tion against by Clive and
Watson, 229,

Gnogt, house of, 65; origin of

. the name, ib.

GHoRI, Muhammad, invades
India, 66-8 ; murdered, 70.

GBURKAS, the, 330,

GolA, captnred by Albuquerque,

10,

@Goopard, Colonel, gment by
Warren Hastings against the
Mahrattas, 194; his retreat
to Bombay, 195,

Govuen, Sir Hugh, takes the field
agningt Gwaliar, 880 ; swin,
the babtle of Maharajpur ib.
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drives the Sikhs from Firuz.
Shahr, 382 ; commands at Ram-
naggar and Chilianwalla, 388
"—8; recalled, 390; retrieves
“his fame by the victory of
Gujarat, 1b.

Guptas, dynasty of, 84.

Goru GoviNp, his work among
the Sikhs, 324,

GusaraT, defeat of the Sikhg at
the battle of, 390.

GWALIAR, capture of the fort, 196,

H.

HaiparR Awvi, the rise of, 260;
intrigues with the French, ib. ;
the triple alliance, ¢b; repuls-
ed by Colonel Smith at Chan.
gama, and at Trinomali, 261 ;
routs the English forces under
Colonel Wood, 2633 treaty of
Madras, 264; applies to the
English for aid against the
Mahrattas, 272; aceessions of
territory, 273; invades the
Karnafic, ib; defeatsthe Eng-
lish at Pollilor, 275; captures
Vellore, ib. ; defeated by the
English at Pollilor and at

Sholingar, 278; his character|-

and death, 280,

HarDpINGE, Sir Henry, Governor-
General, 882; places himself
second in command under Sir
Hugh Gough, ib.; reforms,
385 ; departure for England, ib.
HasTiNgs, Warren, appointed
Governor of Bengal, 265; his
previoas career, 266 ; his home
policy, 267 ; his foreign policy,
268; not to blame Ffor the
Rohilla agrocities, 270 ; results
of his administration, 271;
appointed first Governor-Gene-
ral, 283 ; strenuously opposed
by his council, 284; accused
by Nundkumar, 285 ; secures
a majority in the council, ib. ;
dealings with Chait Singh, the
Raja of Benares, 286; negotia-

INDEX.

tions with Agaf-ud-daulah, of
Oudh, 287 ; his measures cone
demned by the Court of Direc~
tors, 288 ; his return to Europe,
289; impeachment and acquit-
tal, ¢b.

HastiNes, Marquis of (Lord
Moira) appointed Governors
General, 329; remonstrances
with the Ghurka rulers, 330 ;
resolves to exterminate the
Pindaris, 835 ; aims at settling
the Mahratta powers, 337 ;
negotiations with Amir Khan,
b, ; his policy not altogether
approved of in England, 345 ;
returns to England, b,

HAverock, General, hig previous
career, 872; defeats Nana
Sahib at Cawnpur, 497 ; re-
lieves Lucknow, 410.

HEfégT, attacked by the Persians,
3l

Hinpus, ancient divided into
clans, 12,

Hisnor; Genersl, commands the
Madras Army against the
Pindaris, 836,

HobpsoN, Captain, arrests Baha-

dur Shah, 409; shoots the two

princes, ib.

Horkar, Jaswant Rao, 201 ; the
English declare war against,
208 ; the disaster of the Mo-
khundra pass, 210; Holkar’s
dominions fall into the posses-
sion of the English, 211 ; his
territories restored to him,
213.

HuegHwr, the factory of, 216,

1.

INDIA, anecient name of, 1;
original inhabitants of, 2;
langunages, 8 ; schools of Phi.
losophy, 14,

INDO-SCYTHIANS, 33,

INTERMARRIAGES between Mu-
hammadans and Hindus, 83,



IRDEX,

J

JaGHIRS, given to: the servants
of the Crown, 129 ; abolished,
130,

JAuanGir, son and successor of
Akbar, 181 ; his revenge on his
son Khusrsu, 132 ; his mar-
riage, 133; his death 136.

JeaANsI, mutmy at, 4G5,

Jans, faith of, 48,

K

KaBuL, reached by the British
“army of the Indus,” 368 ; in-
surrection at, 366 ; retreat of
British forces from, 362; ina
state of anarchy, 373; the
avenging army re-enters, 374 ;
Afzal Khan recognized by Sir
John Lawrence as ruler of, 416,

KAHROR, battle of, 34,

KAIKEY1, mother of Bharata, 25,

Kar1, the goddess to whom
human sacrifices were offered,
13.

KuaARkl, the battle of, 342,

KasuMi, sold to Golab Singh,
384.

KnaLsa, council of state among
the Sikhs, 880,

K1, family of, 78. :

KorgcaM, glorious defence of,

Kurpra, battle of, 303.
Kur-vp-pIN, slave king, 69, 73.
Kure-MiNag, erected, 74,

L.

LAHOR, of Kb ’s
followera at, 132 ; threatened
by the Khalsa army, 8sl.

Lawny, Count de, arrival ab
Pondicherry, 230 ; his siege of
Fort Bt. George, ib. ; defeated
by Coote, 231 ; his death, 232,

Lar SINGH, one of the two minis-
ters appointed by the Regent
mother at Labor, 381; his
treachery tawards the Sikh

)

VI -

army, b, ; his flight at Mudki
and Firuzshahr, 82; his trea-
sury plundered by the soldiers,
ib. ; superseded, b,

LAwanca Sir Henry, Commis-
sioner of Oudh, promptly sup-
presses the mutiny at Luck-
now, 401 ; lns de!euce of the
resxdenoy,

LAWRENCB, Su- John, his able
administration of the Panjab,
403 ; appointed : Viceroy, 413 ;
his policy wilth reference to
Afghanistan, ¢b.; his retire.
ment and death, 1b.

Lobi, the dynasty of, 9.

LuceNow, sepoy mutiny at, 401,
404 ; first relief of, second
relief of, 410,

LxTron, Lord, Viceroy of Indis,
419,

M.

MacNagETEN, William, British

envoy at Kabul, 361; urges
that the army should remain
at Kabul, 367; treacherously
murdered 368.

MapRas, site of,.granted fo the
-English, 105; surrendered to
the French, 219; restored by
the treaty of Aix-la-Chapelle,
b 3 treaty of, 264 ; mutiny af,
326. ’

Maeanna, kingdom of, 40; ex-

tension of, ib: ; a stronghold
of Buddhism, b,
ManasuarsaTa, The, an epic
poem, 26.
ManipprUB, battle of, 338,
MaBraTTAS, founder of their

power, 148; extent of their
kingdom, 162; rise of inde-
pendent families, }78 ; decline
and fall of the Mahratta power,
183 ; invade the territory of
Haidar Ali, 272.

ManDESWAR, treaty of, 338,

MAuRYaN, dynasty, 40, 41,
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Mavo, Lordy Vieceroy of India,

- 417 5 his visit to Burmah, ib, 3
assassination of, ib.

MeTcarFe, his mission to Ranjit
Singh, 325.

Miwzo, Lord, Governor-General,
821 ; suppresses the anarchy
in Bundelkhand, <b. ; his poliey,
322; despatches embassiea to
Kabul, Teheran and Lahor,
ib.; operations against the
French, 323; his war with
Nepal, 330,

Mrr JarIB, & leader in the con-
spiracy against Siraj-ud.dau-
lah, 238 ; his conduct at the
battle of Plassey, 239 ; made
Nawab by Clive, tb. ; deposed,
246.

Mir Kasru, appointed successor
of Mir Jafir, 246 ; his character
and policy, 247 ; makes Mon-
ghir his capital, 248 ; revenne
arrangements with the English
Government, 249 ; murder of
Amyatt, ib.; massacre of Patna,
250 ; escapes to Ondh, 251,

Mreard, mutiny at, 401.

MueHAL EMPIRE, Babar resolves
to establish a dynasty, 113;
Mughal worship, 115; 8ir T.
Roe sent as ambassador to the
court, 137; mortal blow in-
flicted on by Nadir Shah, 156-7.

MuramyMapans, divisions of, 6 ;

history of the founder, 57;
mode of conquest, 59; year
‘of computation, th.

"MuEAMMAD ALr, son of the
Nawab of the Karnatio, 220;
flies before Dapleix to Tri-
chinopoaly, ¢b. ; acknowledged
by the English as Nawab of
the Karnatio, 224,

MuBaumAD TAGELAK, his cha.
racter, 89 ; reduces the Dak-
han, ib.; paper money, 90;
removes the inhabitants of
Delhi to Deogiri, ib. ; his death

and oharacter, 91. '

INDEX,

MuULEAS, Viceroy of Multan, 387 ;
his feigned resignatiom, ib.;
murder of Mr, Agnew, ib.;
surrenders the fortress of
Multan, 388.

MuNRo, his punishment of the
mutiny at Patna, 252 ; gains
the battle of Baxar, 253.

Maisus, first war, 261 ; second
war, 274 ; third war, 294; mis,
government in, 855; governs
ment taken over by the
English, ¢b.; restored to the
adopted son of the Raja, ¢b.

N.
Nagrur, taken hy the English,
343

Na~A SAHIB, adopted son of Baji
Rao, pretended friendliness
towards the English, 406; his
deceit becomes apparent, th,;
besieges Cawnpur, tb.; his trea-
cherous proposals,ib.; massacre
on the Ganges, 1b.; defeated by
Havelock, 407 ; orders the mas-
sacre of women and children
at Cawnpar, b.; his escape and
supposed place of death, 411,

Narier, Sir Charles, his cam-
paign in Sind, 877; wins the
battles of Miani and Haidara-
bad, ib.; takes the command
of the army in Bengal on Lord
Gough’s reoall, 390,

Naritvana Rao, fifth Peshws,
188 ; murdered, <b.

NEerax, description of, 330 ; over-
run by Gharkas, b.; invaded
by the Chinese, sb,; Ghurkas
resolve on war against the
English, ¢b.; disastrous cam-
paign of 1814, 331; General
Ochterlony’s victorious cams
paign, tb, ; the fall of Maloun,
ib.; treaty of Sigaali, 333,

Nizax Avg, forced to cede terri»
tory to the Mahrattas, 167.

NizaMuL-MULK, important issues
of his death, 220,
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NuxpruMan accnses Hastings, PorTo Novo, battle of, 277.

£85; his infamons character,
ib. ; tried and executed, ib,

0.

OCHTEELONY, General, his victo-
rious campaign against Nepal,
33l; as resident at Dehli
adopts active measures on be-
half of the infant prince, 351 ;
resignation and death, ib.

OvpH, annesation of, 896,

OvTrAM,
takes second place under his
junior; Havelock, 410,

P.

PacARN, battle of, 347,
Panpus, The, 26. ..
Pavipar, first battle of, 99;
ond battle of, 122; third
; battle of, 158, 183.
'ANJAB, annexed, 391
.PATNA, captured by the Com-
pany’s agent, 249; massacre
of, 251. !
Peacock throne, 143, 156,

Pecvu, conquest of, by Alompra,|
46, ’

Peeuwas, hereditary Brahman
ministers, among the Mahrat-

. tas, 177; first, ib.; second and
greatest, 178 ; last, 201,

Prreiang, at the instigation of
Russia attack Herat, 360.

PiNpaeis, rise of, 334; their two
notorious leaders, ib,; their
mode of incorsion, ib,; extend
their raids to British territory,
335; Lord Hastings resolves
to exterminate them, ib., atti-
tude of Sindia, Holkar and
Amir Khan, 337-8; their ex.
tirpation, 839, .

PraAssey, hattle of, 239.

PoLLoCE, General, commands
the force sent to relieve Ge-
neral Sale, 372 ; defeats Akbar
at Tezeen, 374.

Poxpicurrry, treaty of, 228,

A )

Genersl,. generously |

PorrUcUESE, in India, 106-112;
massacre of, 140,

RB.

BAsPUTARA, invaded by Ala.ud-
din, 82,

Baspurs, states, 49.52; drive out
the Musalman Arabs, 60;
history of, 160-1.

BAMAYANA, account of, 28-25.

BanJir SINGH, celebrated Sikh
chief, 325,

REGuiATING AcT, 288,

RisHIS, of the Vedas, 10.

Rl;gg, Lord, Viceroy of India,

: Pe— war, 270.

"Rosg  Sir Hugh, his brilliant

campaign, 411.
RaNGANATE RA0, sixth Peshwa,
189; applies to the English
~ for aid,.191; granted a pen-
sionm, 197. .
BRussia; alarm at its sggression,
860; intripnes with Dost
Muhammad, 5.

SAcrIFICES of ancient Hindus, 13.

SaLe, Sir Robert, his gallant
defence of Jalalabad, 365,

SALBAT, treaty of, 197.

SaMBHAJL, son of Sivaji, 1725 im-
prisoned by his father, ib,; suc-
ceeds to the throme, 173; his
character, 174 ; his death, 4b,

SBAR ALaM, see Bahadur Shah,

Sual Ara¥ II.,, son of Muham.
mad Shah, 159 ; pensioned by
the British, ib,

SpaH JamaNn, third sonm of
Jahangir, 134; sent to the
Dakhan, b.; proclaimed em-
peror, 138 ; his sons, 141 ; his
death, 143,

SsAH SHUJA, driven from the
throne of Afghanistan, 359
restored by the English, 363;
deatib, 878,
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Suee SHAW, an Afghan ruler of
Bengal, 119; ascends the throne
of Dehli, 120; reforms, ¢b.;a
gtain on hig character, 1b.; his
death, ¢b.

Saxr SiNeH, an influeniial Sikh
chief, 387 ; battle of Chilian-
walla, 389; final defeat at

~ Gujarat, 390.

SHogg, Sir Jokn, (Lord Teign-
mouth,) his part ‘in the “ Per-

. manent settlement,” 302; the
chief event of his administra-
tion 304.

880IA’-uD-DAVLAH,invades Bibar,
242, 245, 253; defeated at
Baxar, 253 ; surrenders, b.

S1esuLt, Peace of, 333.

Smxus, rise of, 3824; form them-
gelves into a band of aoldiers,
4b.; form a kind of republic,
sb. ; apply to the English for
aid, 325,

Sinp1a, Mahadaji, distinguished
Mahratta leader, 186, 198; his
independeace acknowledged by
the English, 199 ; his death, ib.

Sieas.up-Daulah, grand son of
Alivirdi Khan, his character,
234 ; suoceeds to the thronme,
+b., hates the English, ¢b.;
wmarches against Calcufta, ¢b.;
captures the city, 235; author
of the tragedy of the Black
Hole, 1b. ; defeated at Plassey,
239 ; his death, 240.

B1vas, early life of, 164 ; his con-
quests, 163 ; kills Afxul Khan,
166; night attack om Shaista
Khan, 167; captures and
plunders Surat, 4b. ; agreement
of Purandhar, 168; erowned
at Raigarh, 170 ; death, 172.

BurAT, treaty of, 191; for a time
the principal of the English
settlements in Indis, 216,

Tl

Tas Mamar, Mansoleum erected
by Shah Jahan, 143,

INDEX.

TaxTiA Toei, Nana Sahib’s cele-
brated general, routed by Sir
Hugh Rose, 411; intriguee at
Gwaliar, ib.; captured, com-
victed and executed, b,

Tarxxora, battle of, 105.

THANESWAR, battle of, 63,

Tiuug, (Tamerlane) his invasion
of India, 93.

Trepv, son of Haidar AN, pro-
claimed sovereign, 281; his
successes over the Nizam and

" the Mahrattas, 292; looks
upon himsef as a second
Muohammad, 293 ; attacks, Tra-
vancore, sh.; tripartite
against him, 294; submits to
Lord Cornwallis, 297; death
and character, 308-9.

TeIMBAKJI, DainerLia, the able
minister of Baji Rao, 341;
implicated in the murder of
Gangbadar Sastri, . ; his re-
markable escape from prison,
b. ; his death, 344,

TuBANIANS, The 3.

V.

VaNerTraRY, Mr,, suoccessor to
Clive, as Governor of Bengal,
246 ; character of his admi-
nistration, 247,

Vascope-Gaua, arrives at Cali-
cut, 106.

VELLORE, mutiny at, 317; cause
of the mutiny, 318.

VI51ANAGAT, rise of, 102; fall of,
105.

VANDIVASH, battle of, 231.

W.

WaReAM, convention of, 193.

Warsox Admiral, joined
Clive, 139; destruction
Geriah, ib:

WELLESLEY, General, opens the
gecond Mahyatta war by the
capture of Ahmadnagar,ﬁ?s 3
wins the battle of Assai, ib.;
battle of Argam, $b.

’

by
of
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WerLesLey, Marquis of, Go-] Sahib, ib.; the massacre of
vernor-General, 305 ; abandons| Cawnpur, ib.
the “ Peace Policy,” +b.; intro- | Waiss, General, sent to assist
duces the pubsidiary system,| Edwardes against Multan, 387;
306; removes to Madras, 307 ;| forced Lo retire by the deser-
annexes Tanjore, 311 ; annexes| tion of the Sikhs, i, ; captures
the Karnatio, 312; his charac-| Multan, 388,
ter as a statesman, 314; his] WiLroveaBY, Lieutenant, blows
Policy condemned by the| wnp the magazine at Delhi, 402
Directors, 315 dies of his wounds, it .
WHERLER, General, Sir Hugh in X.
command at Cawnpur at the| Yenpasv, treaty of, 348,
outbreak of the mutiny, 406 ; .
his preparati for def 3 . z .
ib.; negotiations with Nana |ZaMINDARS, rise of, 299.
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